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• II – تحكيم حكومة الهند؛
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PRECIS 

©f 
wmspnhna elating 

to 
Affairs, 

from 1850 to 1872. 

CHAPTER I. 

Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India. 

1. Death of 
Syed Saeed and accession of Syed Majid 

to the govern 
ment of Zanzibar .—In November 1856 Colonel Hamerton, Consul and Agent 

at Muscat, reported the death at sea, between Zanzibar and Muscat, of His 
Hiiihness Syed Saeed, the Imam of Muscat, at the advanced age of 66 years and 
7 months. 

^In conveying this intelligence Colonel Ilamerton wrote— 

" 
All things here at 

present 
are 

quiet, and the government in the African possessions is 
administered by his son, the Prince Majid, who has ad- 

. • xu oo ̂  
ministered the government by order of His Highness in his 

year of 

"bis'age. 
18 now m C African possessions since the death of Prince Khalid, 7 th 

November 1854. 

<< 
i have been given to understand that His Highness has left 

a 
will, and 

a 
written 

statement of his wishes regarding the succession, and has nominated three persons,—Syed 
Mahomed bin Salem at Muscat, his nephew, and Syed Majid, his son, at Zanzibar, and Soliman 
bin Hamed, also at Zanzibar (a 

man 
of considerable influence), the 

same person who acted 
as 

reo-ent during the minority of the Prince Khalid whenever the Imam 
was 

absent from 
Zanzibar, 

as^executor?, 
and who 

are to carry out His Highnesses instructions. I 
am 

perfectly 

well aware what His Highnesses intentions regarding the succession were,—that Syed 
Thoweynee at Muscat should succeed to the government of his Arabian possessions, provision 
being made for certain of his 

sons as 
Governors of certain places in his Arabian possessions; 

and 
That 

the Prince Majid, whom His Highness considered in the place of his deceased son, 
Khalid, 

should succeed to the government of his African possessions, provision being made for others 
of his sons as governors of various places in his African possessions. This arrangement 
His Highness has 

frequently told me, with the blessing of God, he would 
see 

carried into 
effect 

if^God spared his life 
on 

his return from Muscat to Zanzibar; but it is 
now 

difficult to perceive what turn affairs may take. The Prince Majid, who,, since the death of Khalid, 

has administered the government in His Highness's African possessions, has given the 
fairest 

possible promises from the way in which he has acted 
on 

various occasions, and under 

some very 
trying circumstances of his perfect fitness and aptitude for the duties it 

was 
his 

father's intention should devolve 
on 

him. He has frequently shown 
a sense 

of justice and 
fair dealing in his decisions in difficult cases, which has elicited the admiration and astonish- 
ment of all. His administration has given particular satisfaction to the foreign residents." 

A letter to the Governor General from Syed ^lajid 
was 

enclosed by 

Colonel Hamerton. It briefly intimated his father's death and concluded— 

" 
My brothers, relations, and the great and old 

men 
of the city assembled together and 

recognized 
me as my late father's 

successor. 
I have thus become the ruler of the 

country and by the grace of God, and the favor of your Government, everything is 
right and tranquillity prevails throughout the kingdom, and the subjects 

are 
satisfied. 

I trust that Your Lord?hip will continue to show 
me 

the 
same 

kindness 
as 

\ our 
Lordship 

hitherto showed to my late father. 

" 
Pray o-ladden 

me 
always with any commission which Your Lordship 

may have to be 
executed here. I adhere to the treaties which existed between my father and the British 
Government." 

Government replied 
to the Prince, in 

general terms, expressing regret at the 
melancholy intelligence of his father's death, and, in forwarding the reply 

for delivery to him, observed to the Bombay Government— 

" 
From Lieutenant -Colcnel Hamerton's report it appears that the late Imam intended to 

leave his Arabian possessions 
to the government of another Prince, and those in Africa only 

to 
the government of Prince Majid. It is not said whether Prince Majid is to inherit sovereignty 
over" 

all 
■ 

but 
probablv, this was 

intended by the late Imam, and it is 
assumed by Prince Majid. 

Until however further and fuller information respecting the succession is 
received, 

no final orders' 

on 

the' 
subject 

can 
be issued by the Government of India, and, therefore, the Governor 

General's reply to Prince Majid 's letter is couched in very 
general terins."--C(m., 1st May 

1857, iVo^. 15-20. 
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Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India. 

No further correspondence regarding the succession to the throne of the 
deceased Imam appears to have been received from Zanzibar. Syed Majid 
remained in undisturbed possession of Zanzibar and the African possessions 

; his brother, Syed Thoweynee, ruled at Muscat, and 
a 

third brother, Syed 
Toorkee, at Sohar. 

2. Expedition fitted oijt by Sted Thoweynee 
against 

Zanzibar. 
His consent to abide by arbitration of British Government .—In Decem 
ber 1858 the Native Agent at Muscat informed the Bombay Government that Syed Thoweynee, the ruler of Muscat, 

was 
fitting 

out an 
expedition against his brother, Syed Majid, at Zanzibar. The 

cause 
of hostilities 

was 
said to be the 

failure of the latter to remit the 
sum 

of 40,000 dollars, which, by 
an arrange 

ment made in 1856-57, Syed Majid had agreed to pay 
annually 

to his brother. Captain Jones, the Resident in the Persian Gulf, 
was 

thereupon directed by the Bombay Government to proceed at 
once to Muscat and endeavor, by friendly 

counsel and remonstrance in the first instance, to prevent Syed Thoweynee 
from resorting 

to violence, and to persuade him, if he had any claim to prefer 
against his brother, to address the British Government 

on 
the subject. 

On the 3rd February 1859 the Bombay Government wrote that the report 
communicated by the Native Agent had been confirmed by 

an 
Arab officer in 

the Muscat service then at Calcutta. 

a 
The Arab Captain/^ they said^ 

" 
stated that Syed Thoweynee had been instigated by 

the French to attack his brother, who has incurred their displeasure by his honest desire to act up to his engagements with the British Government for the suppression of the slave trade. 

" 
It is not necessary to suppose that this is not the 

case. 
Judging, indeed, from the 

letters addressed to Syed Majid by the Governor of Bourbon, 
a copy of which accompanied 

ray letter to the l oreign Department, it is by 
no means 

incredible ; but it is evident that the general impression that Syed Ihoweynee is countenanced in his aggressive projects by the 
1 rench colonial authorities must strengthen his hands, especially in the absence of any indi 
cation of 

an 
opposite policy 

on 
the part of the British Government/' 

^ ith regard to the remonstrances that Captain Jones had been desired to 
address to Syed Thoweynee, the Bombay Government said that, should the 
latter persevere in his intention,— 

the fact that 
our remonstrance has been unheeded, while 

we 
have done nothing 

at Zanzibar to afford 
a 

moral support to Syed Majid, will tell in favor of Syed Thoweynee rather 
than against him; for there 

can 
be little doubt that there is at Zanzibar 

a 
party hostile to Syed Majid and his policy of good faith, and favorable to Syed Thoweynee and to the slave trade." J 

In order to hold Syed Thoweynee in check and to afford protection to British subjects 
at Zanzibar, the Assaye 

was 
ordered to that port. The instruc 

tions issued by the Bombay Government 
were 

approved by the Government of India.— ( Cons., 25^ February 1859, Nos. 46-50.; 

. 

before the reply of the Supreme Government could reach Bombay, 
news arrived there from Muscat, dated 27th January, 

to the effect that Sved Thoweynee 
was 

then 
on 

the point of sailing for Zanzibar with 
a 

force of 2,500 
men. 

^ 

llie Bombay Government, fearing that their instructions to the Resi- 
ent m the Persian Gulf would not reach him in time, despatched, 

on 
the 11th February, to Muscat the Vunjah with Lieutenant-Colonel Russell, Military Secretary 

to the Governor, 
as 

bearer of 
a 

letter to 
Syed Thoweynee, contain- 

ing remonstrances against the proposed expedition, and proposing that the matter should be submitted to the arbitration of the British Government. In 
a minute recorded by Lord Elphinstone 

on the subject, it 
was 

mentioned 
as a ground for the proposed intervention of the British Government,— 

" it must always be the interest of 
our 

Government to preserve the peace and to prevent mari time war among the Arab Chiefs, which 
soon 

degenerates into piracy." 
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Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India- 

Colonel Russell overtook Syed Thoweynee's squadron at Ilas-el-IIud, 
and found His Highness with 

a 
force consisting of 

a 
frigate, 

a 
large 

corvette, 
a 

brig and 
a 

troop ship; half 
a 

dozen buglas having gone 

on to Zanzibar with troops On reading the letter addressed to hirn 
by the Government of Bombay, Syed Thoweynee at once 

agreed to submit 
the differences with his brother to the arbitration of the British Government, 
and gave orders for the return of the expedition 

to Muscat, despatching 
a 

messenger 
ostensibly to recall the buglas which had sailed for Zanzibar. It 

was 
fortunate for Syed Thoweynee that he had 

so 
readily listened to the 

remon 
strances addressed to him; for Syed Toorkee, ruler of Sohar, had resolved to 
take advantage of his absence to attack Muscat—a project which 

was 
defeated 

by his brother's unexpected 
return. 

Syed Thoweynee delivered to Colonel Russell his reply to Lord Elphin- 

stone's letter. In it he intimated that he had followed His Lordship 
s 

advice, 
and hoped the Government would 

see 
that his claims 

were 
fully complied with. 

The claims, 
as 

mentioned by himself, 
were as 

follows: 

" 
Article first —that there shall be 

one 
consolidated State without any division, Zanzibar 

being subordinate to Muscat; and that the interests ot the 
one 

shall be identified with those 
of the other, 

as 
during the time of 

our 
father and forefathers. 

" 
Article second —has reference to a 

settlement effected by brother Mahomed bin Salem 
between us^ with the common consent of all parties, that he (Majid) should pay me 

annually 
a 

sum 
of forty thousand French dollars. In the event of Oman being involved in any hostilities, 

Zanzibar shall afford assistance, 
as 

it has always been the practice for Zanzibar to assist Oman. 

" 
Article third— the property of the orphans shall be given 

up 
by him (Majid) and 

deposited with 
a 

trustworthy person, in whose custody all parties 
may feel satisfied that it will 

be safe. 

" 
Article fourth —that brother Majid shall indemnify 

me 
for all the losses entailed upon me 

on account of the expense of despatching 
an army in consequence of his opposition and 

disobedience/' 

3. Preparations for resistance at 
Zanzibar, and state of affairs 

there .—In the meantime great preparations 
were 

being made by S\ed Majid 

at Zanzibar to resist the threatened aggression. He equipped five ships-of- 

war 
carrying 

a very 
respectable armament, and collected 

a 
force of about 

20,000 men, 
composed of Arabs, Beloochees, Mekranees, and others, and 

^as prepared 
to resist his brother to the utmost. The 

people of Zanzibar 
were unanimously in his favor, and it 

appeared probable that, had 
a 

collision actually 

taken place, the chances were 
in favor of 

a 
successful resistance. On learning 

that Syed Thoweynee had, through British intervention, been induced to return 
to Muscat, and that the Government of India had offered to arbitrate between 
himself and his brother, Syed Majid manifested the deepest gratitude 

to 
Government for having saved his country from anarchy and bloodshed. 

Regarding the means 
of resistance possessed by Syed Majid, Captain 

Rigby, Her 
Majesty's Consul and British Agent at Zanzibar, wrote— 

" 
His Highness Syed Majid had equipped five ships-of-war of the armament as per 

OI , 
& margin. In addition to these he has the fnsate Jictona, FiedmonteZ 

... 
36 " „ 

32 guns, which has her masts struck, and acts as a 
guard ship 

Artemisi 
... 

22 
„ 

f 
or 

'ihe Port of Zanzibar ; he is also expecting 
a new corvette ^Africa 

^ 00n<1 " 4 " 
of 22 guns from Bombay. 

"His Hi-hness 
"has 

about 1,400 irregular soldiers, composed of Beloochees, Mekranees, 

and Arabs from Hadramant, and 
a 

few Turkish gunners; most of the soldiers 
are 

distributed, fn 

ordinary times, at the towns and ports 
on 

the main land. Since the expectation of hostilities 
they have all been called to Zanzibar, with the exception of the garrisons of Keelwa and 
Mombass. 

^ ^ above His Highne8S has distributed about 20 000 American muskets 
and carbines to the African tribes and Sowahilis, the Comoro men 

and the Negro slaves. Most 
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Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India- 

of these people detest the northern Arabs, and would certainly have opposed Syed Thowevnpp 

, A 
N( f roe8 a 

1 
ncl Afneang, who have only lately learnt the 

u<e 
of fire-arms, have 

a ff rcat dread of the Arabs, and would probahly be easily conquered; but the Comoro 
men are 

brave and nevt to 10 
I cloochees and Mekrauees, would have been His Hi^hness's best 

defenders' 
The armed slaves, of whom many thousands 

were 
assembled from the plantations in the interior of tho island, 

were a source of great apprehension to the inhabitants, 
as 

the chief slaves -holders 
were 

strongly 
suspected, and, 

as 
will subsequently 

appear correctly 
so, of secretly 

corre 
sponding with Syed Ihoweynee and of promising 

to join him 
on his arrival." 

In 
describing 

the feeling of the people of Zanzibar 
as 

bein- almost unanimously 
in 

favor of Syed Majid, Colonel Righy expressed 
apprehensions 

rei,Mi(liiig the part that would be taken by the armed slaves, of whom there 
was a very 

large number 
on 

the island. Syed Majid had incurred tho resentment of all the slave-owners and dealers by his'efforts 
in favor of the aholituH 

1 of 
slavery, 

and their enmity might have led to their takin- the part of Syed ihoweynee. 
The largest slave-owners 

were men of the El Harth tube, and regarding these Captain Kigby 
wrote— 

" 
Tho P rinci pal tribe of Arabs residing 

at Zanzibar is the El Harth. The members of thi* tribe possess 
large landed estates and numerous 

slaves; they 
are the oldest 

Avlh ZZ 

the island, and appear to have always had 
an 

idea of some 

dly obtafnLg 
tre 

soverLn 

vk 

ing 8 

o^ 

h u m a n 
i 

tyt" '"f 

lie 1 
c h ie f 

ma n 
1 

o 
f t hi 

s t 
H 

ife 
il^nrAb^llk 

bTn 

S 

slh'm 

e 
a 

CllCS, 
^f^ 

1 ^ 

all tho principal inhabitants. Notwithstanding 
tins boh.vi 

w 

IlisHHmT. "'r 
with 

him with consideration, and allows all Ins 

'"jod/to n^rth^ W^ 

H c ™tiauea to treat 
makes him 

an 
annual allowance from his 

treasury 
of 1 200 German 

Crmv!'^ 'n *i ""l 

come to the knowledge 
of His Highness that tlds 

! ^ 

n 
; 14 has 

rec < !ntl y El Harth tribe, have been 

writing 

to 

S™rTh!!l 

'. 
. 

three 
or 

four others "f the 
and promising him the aid of their tribe and their 

shves'. 

1 ™ "' S "" t0 ' 
ietIlrone his bother, 

i believe that the design of these persons has been to embroil the 
qon<3 of ih 

a 
1 4 t 

a^Syed- 

Majid they ionnd 
a 

wiUing 

tooling 

ail 
interview 

wkhSyr/bi^ MiXon^o^the influcntiTrClS^of'tl 

Kl 
|rrr 

h 
H 

l 
tribe opposed to the intrin-ues of Abdnlli hin ^ 

^ ^ 
1113,1,111 

the utter ruin that would 

overtake 

the Araha 
n 

ll'?' 

aUd 
ex P Iained to him 

that trade would suffer, foreign merchants would I,,™ 

]" 

a 
. 
r 

cnsued 

' 

110 showed 

SS 
XteLWRKR 

.sssfsS™ 

It to be immaterial to them personally which side 
won Vw. 

I 

- 
0 
' 
bel ; 

evin S 
t in 

least of it, doubtful supporters of Syed Maiid thov 1 0111 K ln P' sa y 
and placed their services and those of their armed slaves at 

h!s 

disposal. 0 
' 

Syed Majid, 
who resided at Zan.iba 

^ L 

on 
' 

. 

^ S 
/ 

Cd 1!ur ̂ 1 '. 

^ther 

of latter. Since the death of the 

iSff 

8 to thc 

never attends his 

brotws^ h^lin'pult 

0 '''' 8 
' 
cxceptin 

"' the *"""&■ ho 
me , or sent me any message of welcome since 

mv . ut , v ,,i ' < 
- 
0< 
j 
c,ul0l,s 

- 
he baa never visited 

assnme power to . 
nterfere in public allairs 

, 
and some 

tie al'„ i 
•' attempted to hred into a 

buggalow 

. 
because the 
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• 
5 

Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India. 

i. nqp 

^ 
arrival of the Astaye 

a circumstance occurred, which showed the 

. _ t • 
er 

? 
^ 

U1 ^ 1 
About halt past 9 o'clock at 

night His Highness Syed Majid 
was 

returning by boat from his residence in the town on 
board the S/iaA Allum, and, 

on 
the 

in 
* 

th r h0US ? oi S ̂  ed 
a 

volley of muskelry 
was 

discharged 
at 

XV,- ] i e 

i 

10U 
!f 

; 
u u n • 

y a runm,,i ? nre 
was 

kept 
n P; and, 

as 
I 

was 
sitting 

at the window 1 heard the shot flying past the British Consulate. His Highness the following day ordered the Ariemse to occupy a 
position in face of Syed Burgash's house, and 

intimated 
to mm that he would 

no 
longer 

continue to pay him the monthly allowance of 700 Crowns, which 
ne had hitherto given him from his 

own 
treasury." 

The 
news of the abandonment of the Muscat expedition, and the arrival 

ot the Assaye, caused great consternation among the conspirators. Abdulla bin Salem and the chief 
men of the El Harth tribe tendered their submission 

to oyed Majid; l)ut he refused to receive them, and intimated to Captain Kin-bv his intention of deporting 
to Muscat four Chiefs of that tribe, and also 

"his 
brother, Syed Burgash. 

5. riigceedings 
OF the 

Feench 
at 

Zanzibar —Certain proceedings of 
the French at Zanzibar should here be noticed. 

When the expedition 
was 

daily expected at Zanzibar, the French Consul asked Captain Rigliy, Her Majesty's Consul, what he intended doins 
on 

the arrival of Syed Thoweynee. 

f ' 
I told hitn," says 

Captain Ri<jby, I should do my upmost to prevent his (Thoweynee's) 

• 
Nearly the whole trade of the 

I'l '-ding, by tlireatening him with the 
severe 

displeasure of 
port of Zanzibar paesea through the British Government, and warning him of the heavy 

^ 15riti8h !' 
est 

on5ibili ty he would incur if any British subject suffered 

' 111 
hfe 

or 
property* Upon this he (the French Consul) 

remaiked—' Why, 
we 

shall be acting exactly contrary to each other/" 
On hearing of Syed Majid's determination to deport Syed Bunjash, the 

French Consul, in "very violent language," threatened him with the inter 
ference of the French Government if he did not abandon his intention. The 
French Consul 

soon 
after took Syed Burgash with him to Syed Majid's house 

and made the brothers shake hands. 
At 

a 
dinner given at the French Consulate, at which Captain Eigbv and 

others 
were 

present, the French Consul spoke of Syed Majid in the most abusive and contemptuous terms, and said that Syed Burgash 
was " now 

under 
French protection" and could not be touched, and that— 

the question of the right of succession to the government of Zanzibar would have to be settled in Europe." 
With reference to this last remark, Captain Rigby, 

on a 
subsequent 

occa sion, pointed 
out that both parties (Syed Thoweynee and Syed Majid) 

had agreed 
to abide by the arbitration of His Lordship the Governor General of India, and that tiie matter would be peaceably arranged. Upon this the 

French Consul said— 

"1 have instructions from my Government, and- the French Government will 
never consent to abide by the result of any arbitration to which it is not a 

consenting party. We have treaties with the late Imam, and 
we 

have 
a 

right 
to make 

our 
opinions respected." 

At length Captain Bigby thought it best to come to a 
clear understanding 

with the French Consul regarding his proceedings 
; this he did in the presence of the Commodore of the French Squadron, who happened 

to be in Zanzibar at the time. Finding himself unsupported by the Commodore in the position he 
had assumed, the French Consul explained that there had been 

a 
misunder standing, and promised that he would not interfere in any way in the internal 

atfairs of the State. This satisfactory understanding 
averted the danger of 

an outbreak, which Syed Burgash, relying 
on 

French protection, might otherwise 
have 

attempted. 
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Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India- 

6 Claims of 
Syed Thoweynee against Zanzibar .—It is 

now 
time to 

examine at 
greater length the claim advanced by Syed Thoweynee of 

sovereignty 
over 

Zanzibar, and his demand 
on 

Syed Majid for an 
annual sub- 

sidy of dollars 40,000. The Bombay Government, when reporting the result 
of Colonel Russell's mission to 

Syed Thoweynee, remarked in 
a 

letter of the 
28th February, with reference to the claim put forward by the latter, 

"It will just be necessary to ascertain what 
are 

His Highness 
s 
claims against Ins btother, 

and how far they 
are 

supported 
or 

invalidated by the will of their late father, the Imam, and by 

the traditions and customs of Arab Chiefs. 

a 
Sved Thowevnee asserts his right of suzerainty 

over 
Zanzibar, and requires that his 

brother shall pay him 
a 

yearly tribute 
or 

subsidy. This Government has not on 
its records 

an authenticated copy of the late Imam's will, in the absence of which it is 
evident the Govern- 

ment of India will not be able to arrive at a 
decision 

in 
the case ; 

tor, it the imam lelt Zanzibar 
to hi* voun-er son 

subject 
to the payment of tribute to Muscat, the only points which will have 

to be considered 
are 

the amount of this tribute, and the degree of subordination due by 
Zanzibar to Muscat. 

" 
If however on 

the other hand, the Imam bequeathed Zanzibar and his African terri 
tories absolutely and in full sovereignty to Syed Majid, it may still be expedient to 
enquire whether, according to Arab custom, he had 

a 
right 

to do 
so 

At first sight it 
appears that if Zanzibar belonged 

to Muscat ab antiquo, the Imam had probably 
no 

right 

to divide his dominions; but that if he acquired it by conquest, 
or 

purchase, 
or marriage, 

he wos 
fully justified in disposing of it 

as 
might 

seem most 
expedient 

to him. 

" 
But there is another question besides that of right which is involved in this enquiry, 

viz., the power of Zanzibar to pay, and the power of Muscat to enforce payment. Zanzibar is 

a 
thriving and rising port destined apparently 

to become the commercial emporium ol Eastern 
Africa and to exert a very great influence over 

its future progress. Muscat, again, is 
a 

place ot 
limited commercial capability 

; but its geographical position, the superiority of the race 
by 

which it is inhabited, and the occupation by its ruler of Bunder Abbass, Kishm, and other 
Aaces in the Persian Gulf, give it 

a 
certain political importance and render it probably 

more than 
a 

match for Zanzibar. The British Government is interested in the prosperity of both 
these places, and it cannot be indifferent to the growth of a 

friendly and comparatively 
civilized Native power on 

the East Coast of Africa—a power which has shewn 
a most laudable 

desire to discourage the slave trade, and to promote the development ot legitimate 
commerce. 

At the same 
time it cannot be forgotten that the influence of Muscat in the Persian Gulf has 

been uniformly exercised in furtherance of objects which the British Government has at heart, 
viz., the suppression of piracy and of the slave trade, and the maintenance ot maritime peace. 
It would have been 

a 
grievous mistake to allow Syed Thoweynee to exhaust his resources in 

an attempt to re-annex 
Zanzibar to his dominions—an attempt which would probably have resulted 

in a 
desperate struggle both at Zanzibar and Muscat; for, 

as 
stated in the 8rd paragraph of this 

letter, another brother, Syed Toorkee, of Sohar, 
was 

watching his opportunity, and Was preparing 
to attack Muscat in the absence of Syed Thoweynee." 

With 
a 

view of clearing 
up the doubtful points in the discussion, and 

putting the Supreme Government in possession of all the facts of the case, 
the Bombay Government called upon 

Captain Eigby 
to submit 

an 
authenticat 

ed copy of the late Imam's will, and 
a 

report showing the date and 
manner of the acquisition of Zanzibar and the other African possessions of the late 

Imam; also, information 
as to the custom of Arab Chiefs with regard to succes sion and testamentary disposal of territory. The Bombay Government proposed 

to 
adjust the quarrel 

on 
the basis that the ruler of Muscat should 

abandon his pretensions of sovereignty 
on 

receiving 
an 

annual subsidy from 
Syed Majid. The Government of India, 

on 
the 30th May 1859, expressed 

an opinion that a 
settlement 

on 
this basis 

was 
desirable, the claims of Syed 

Toorkee being included in the settlement ; but they considered, from the in 
formation then before them, that the British Government could not put forward 
the subsidy from Syed Majid 

as a 
right 

on 
Syed Thoweynee's part. 

7. Captain Rigby's Report. Custom 
of Arab Chief 

with regard to 
succession .—In April 1859 

was 
received from Captain Rigby 

a 
full and clear 

6 
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J 

of India- 

El.— It is 
now 

time to Syed Thoweynee of jid for an 
annual sub- reporting the result 

ed in 
a 

letter of the 
iy the latter,— 

jlaims against his brother, 
father, the Imam, and by 

ir, and requires that his 
has not on 

its records 
an it is evident the Govern- 

if the Imam left Zanzibar aly points which will have 
i 

of subordination due by 

r 
and his African terri- 

ay still be expedient to 
do 

so. At first sight it 
1am 

had probably 
no 

right 

)r 
purchase, 

or 
marriage, 

to him. 

involved in this enquiry, 

•ce 
payment, Zanzibar is 

cial emporium of Eastern Muscat, again, is 
a 

place of periority of the race 
by 

Abbass, Kishm, and other 
render it probably 

more 
a 

the prosperity of both endly and comparatively 

las 
shewn 

a most laudable 

i 
of legitimate 

commerce. 
:■ 

in the Persian Gulf has 
Government has at heart, 

mance of maritime peace, 
exhaust his resources in 

an •uld probably have resulted 
the 3rd paragraph of this 
is opportunity, and was 

Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India- 

report 
on 

the points specified by the Bombay Government. The first subject 
alluded to 

by him 
was 

the custom of Arab Chiefs with regard to succession. 
On this subject he wrote— 

" 
There is 

no 
doubt that, according to many precedents in the Imam^s family, he did possess the right of dividing his dominions 

as 
he pleased, 

or 
of assigning 

any part of them to either 
of his 

sons 
during bis 

own 
life. The rights of primogeniture have never 

been recognized 
among the Imams of Oman. Syed Saeed himself 

was 
elected to be the ruler, to the exclusion 

of his elder brother, Syed Salem. The father of Syed Saeed, by 
name 

Sultan bin Salem, had 
two elder brothers living when, in I8U3, he succeeded to the chief rule ; and the father of Sultan, by 

name 
Ahmed bin Saeed, had divided his dominions during his own 

life, having 
appointed 

one son, 
by 

name 
Kees bin Ahmed, to be ruler of Sohar, and the youngest of his 

seven sons, 
by 

name 
Mahomed bin Ahmed, to be Sultan of Sink. 

"The 
son 

of this Mahomed bin Ahmed, by 
name 

Syed Hillal, is at present at Zanzibar, 
having left Muscat in command of one of the ships composing Syed Thoweynee^s expedition. 
He is, however, favorable to 

Syed Majid, and is married to a 
daughter of Syed Soliman, the 

Governor of Zanzibar. He inhprited the territory of Sink quite independent of Muscat, and 
many tribes of Bedouins paid tribute to him ; but about the year 182s he was 

dispossessed by 
the Sultan of Sohar, and has eince resided at Muscat, having married the sister of the 
late Imam, Syed Saeed." 

Again— 

" On my 
questioning Syed Hillal regarding the customs of the Chiefs of Oman regarding 

succession, he stated that no 
law of primogeniture is recognized; that might, coupled with 

the election by the tribe, is the only right; that, generally, 
on 

the death of 
a 

Chief, his 
sons disputed the succession, and that the 

one 
who had most influence with the tribe, 

or 
who gave 

the greatest hopes of being 
an 

efficient leader, 
was 

elected; that it was on 
this principle the 

late Imam 
was 

himself elected to the exclusion of his elder brother, and that anxious, therefore, 
to avert the disputes which he foresaw would otherwise 

occur 
amongst his 

numerous sons after his death, he bad, during his 
own 

life, divided his dominions amongst his three sons,—the Princes Thoweynee, Toorkee, and Majid,—leaving all the details of administration in their hands with 
the full understanding that they 

were to succeed to the full sovereignty of each alter his 

own 
death. That the late Imam considered this so 

plainly settled that he did not consider any 

■ 
written will on the subject necessary." 

* * * " 
Hy the accompanying genealogical 

• VjJ r a 
table* of the family of the Imams, it will be 

seen that if the 
ppencix 

. 
] 
aw 0 

f primogeniture 
or 

hereditary riirht prevailed, neither 
of the present 

sons 
of the late Imam has any right 

to succeed ; for two sons are 
living ot the 

Prince Hillal, the eldest 
son 

of the late Imam; also, two sons 
of Salem bin Sultan, the elder 

brother of the late Imam Saeed bin Sultan; and if the succession devolved 
as 

in the family 
of the Pacha of Egypt and 

some other Mahomedan States, Syed Hillal, the 
son ot the late 

Imam^s uncle, would have 
a 

prior right 
as 

the eldest of the family. And the fact that neither 
of these five members of the family has ever 

attempted to dispute the succession, proves that 
they considered the late Imam did possess the right 

to 
appoint his own 

successors.'' 

n 
the discussion, and 

the facts of the case, ubmit 
an 

authenticat- 
the date and 

manner )ossessions of the late 
with regard to succes- 5ombay Government 
ler of Muscat should 
annual subsidy from 
ay 1859, expressed 

an the claims of Syed 
isidered, from the in- 
could not put forward 
ee's part. 

[iief with regard to Lligby 
a 

full and clear 

8. C aptain R igby' 
s 

R eport. P osition of Z anzibar with regard to M uscat 
.—With regard 

to the subordination ot Zanzibar to Muscat, Captain 
Rigby wrote— 

<c 
From his bavins' appointed his second 

son to inherit the African dominions, and 
his third 

son to succeed him in the Arabian possessions, it 
was 

evidently not the intention ot 
His Highness that Zanzibar should be tributary 

to 
Muscat, but that the States should be 

entirelv independent of each other. The Prince Khalid 
was 

installed 
as 

ruler of the African 
dominions during his father's absence at Muscat, and, 

on 
his death, which occurred 

on 7t 
i November 1854, His Highness passed 

over two of his 
sons 

and appointed his fourth son, 
Prince Majid, 

to succeed his deceased brother in the government of the African dominions; and 
it 

was 
proclaimed to all the chief Arabs in open durbar that he was to be regarded exactly 

in the same 
position 

as 
Prince Khalid had held, and that he had succeeded to all his rights and 

the future sovereignty of Zanzibar and the African domiuions. 
Again— 

a ln answer to a 
question from me, whether the family of the Imam considered that 

Zanzibar 
was to remain in any way 

dependent 
on 

Muscat, Syed Hillal replied that, nccording 

to \rab custom, wherever the Chief took up his abode, that was 
considered 

as the seat ot 
7 
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Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India- 

^ovei-nment; 
that, consequently, when the late Imam removed from Muscat to Zanzibar and made 

the latter place his peimanent abode, Muscat became in a measure a 
demuiencv of Zanzibar and, 

as 
such, 

was 
ruled by 

a governor subordinate to the supreme authority 
at Zanzibar 

• 
that the late Imam having appointed his elder and favorite son. Prince Khalicl, 

to succeed 
him 

at Zanzibar, whilst 
a younger brother, the Prince Thoweynee, 

was to succeed him at Muscat 
was sufficient proof that he did not intend Zanzibar to remain in any way subordinate to Muscat. 

. , 

"Sy^ Hillal being the eldest member living of the Imam's family, being the brother- in-law of the late Imam, and 
a man who bears the highest character in Oman, I think that his opinions are 

entitled to great weight. He 
was 

for many years the intimate friend of the late 
mam and 

is cognizant with everything that has taken place 
at Muscat and Zanzibar for the last 4 J years. Die question whether Zanzibar and the African dominions 

are to remain in any vv..v 
suboidin.ite to Muscat, 

is most important, because I brieve the French Government have 
7 ' some ̂ ' ie t negocmtions with Syed Thoweynee, and will stiongly endeavor to Invo Zanzibar declared 

a 
dependency 

of Muscat, and then obtain the 
cession 

of 
a port 

on he Atucan coast within the dominions of Zanzibar from Syed Thoweynee." 

ing the will of the late Im 

^C^ 

Imam.— Regard- 

•For a copy of this will, tufcap- 
y? 

succ 
^sion 

to his dominions; that the paper* appointing 

• 

jP';'" 

c s 0 
. 

S y« l Soliman bio Ahmed, 
J,1 Vyed 

Mahomed 
the payment of legacies distrilmtion 

s 
exe 

C"t"'8, refers solely 
to his domestie affairs, 

and Syed Hillal ,hv.it 
/^rtieula, Hn htfoit 

ti.at ■"****' 

his numerous sons to l,e 
exeeut,^ 

with 
that the late imam, having 

nominated none of 
Of the affeetion ids fa.her 

intSuM 
hi^ 

1 
T "f 

i 
6 P ""e1 Majid 

' Was a 
'W proof 

and fair deai.n. towards » 
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BY 

Z 
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S 
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and But about the year 1728 the c;isturbauces in 

Omin 1 
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Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India- 

by 
name 

Sheilch Ahmed bin M.ihomed; Patta 
was 

governed by the Sultan, Foom Amadi. 
This Chief died 28tli January 1S07, when the succession 

was 
disputed by his son, Fuom Alnte, 

and his son-in-law, Wuzeer, whose father had been assassinated by Foom Amadi. It ended 
in the triumph of Wuzeer, who 

was 
elected Sultan under the title of Sultan Ahmed. uzeer having obtained the assistance ot the Chief of Mombass, it 

was 
asrreed that Patta should, 

in future, be 
a 

dependency of Mombass, and that 
an 

agent of tbeMombass Chief should reside 
there. The followers of Foom Alote retired to Lamoo, which city refused to 

acknowledge 
the authority of the new 

Sultan of Patta, in consequence of which the Chief of Mombass 
marched against this city with 

a 
large force, but 

was 
defeated. 

(c 
In order to 

guard against future attacks from Mombass the inhabitants of Lamoo 
claimed the protection of the Imam Syed Said, and sent an envoy to Muscat. ̂ y 

ef 
| Said 

consented to send a 
Governor to Lamoo, and selected for this office one 

Khaleef bin Nassir, 
who, by order of the Imam, erected 

a 
fort there. 

" 
On the death of Ahmed bin Mahomed, Chief of Mombass, in 1814, his son, 

Abdulla, 
refused to 

recognize the suzerainty of the Imam, and, instead of sending the customary annual 
present to Muscat, he sent a 

suit of armour, a 
little guu-powder, and 

a few bullets 
as a defiance; shortly after Abdulla went to 

Bombay, aud 
was 

well received by the (lovernor. Af er his return the inhabitants of Brava, having requested his intervention, placed the town and 
district under his suzerainty. In ihe meantime the youngest 

son of loom Amadi, the late 
Sultan of Patta, by 

name 
Buana Sheikh, had gone to Muscat to claim the assistance 

o f 
the 

Imam, and returned with 
a 

force, which succeeded in obtaining the election of Buana Sheikh 

as 
Sultan of Patta under the sovereign 

authority of the Imam, Syed Said. In l 
v 
22, in 

con 
sequence of the encroachments of Abdulla, the Sultan ot Mombass, Syed Said, sent a 

naval loice 
to 

compel the submission of the Chiefs 
on 

the coast to his authority 
•, and the Chiefs of Biavv, 

Patta, and other places, by 
a 

formal act, acknowledged the sovereignty of the Imam. 
"About this time Mahomed bin Nassir, who had been appointed by the Imam Governor 

of Zanzibar, took possession of the Island of Pemha; and the Sultan of Mombass, Solimau 
bin Ali, fearing that Syed Said intended to attack his territory, placed 

the island and foit of 
Mombass under British protection, and the British flag 

was 
hoisted 

on 
the -ird December 1823 

with consent of the population. On the 7th February 1824) ( 
aptain Owen, in the British 

frigate Leven, concluded 
a 

convention, by which the port of Mombass and its dependen 
cies, including the Island of Pemba and the coast 

comprised between Melinda and the Ri\er 
Pangam, 

were 
placed under the protectorate of Great Britain under the following conditions 

; 

« 
Ist, that Great Britain should reinstate the Chief of Mombass in his former possession 

; 
" 

2nd, that the sovereignty of the State should continue to be exercised by the Chief 
of the Mazara tribe, and be hereditary in his family; 

"Zrd, that 
an 

agent of the protecting Government should reside with the Chief; 

« 
that the customs revenues 

should be equally divided between the two contract 
ing parties; 

« 
Mh, that trade with the interior be permitted 

to British subjects; and 

" 
Qth, that the slave trade shall be abolished at Mombass. 

The Eno-lish protectorate 
over 

Mombass not 
having been ratified by the British Go\ ern- 

ment in January 1828, the Imam, Syed Said, fitted out a 
considerable expedition aud sailed for 

Mombass, which surrendered to him, and, 
on 

the 11th January 1828, having taken possession of 
the fort and left 

a 
garrison, he proceeded with his fleet to Zanzibar, which he then visited for 

the first time. 

« 
From the above resume it is evident that the greater part of the African dominions of 

the late Imam were 
his own 

acquisition, and, although 
prior to his accession to power, the 

Imams of Oman had at various times exercised 
a 

nominal suzerainty over some 
parts ot it, 

vet he first consolidated the whole into 
one 

dominion extending for 
" 
llles the Last 

Coast of Africa, and including the rich Islands of Zanzibar, I'emba, and Moufea. 

11 Captain Higby's Heport. Annual tribute claimed by 
Muscai 

prom Zanzibar .—With respect to the annual tribute claimed bv Muscat, 
Captain Eigby wrote— 

"It does not appear that the late Imam ever 
alluded to such 

a 
payment either 

in 
writing 

or 
verbally; and that, if from what 1 have above slated, it 

is 
considered that the late Imam 

9 
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Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India- 

did intend his son, Prince Majid, 
to inherit his African dominions, that it was 

absolutely and 
in full sovereignty without requiring him to pay any tribute to Muscat, 

or 
show any mark 

of dependency. 

"The claim of Syed Thowcynee to this payment is probably founded 
on a 

promise made 
by Syed Majid 

to pay his brother forty thousand 
crowns 

annually. On this subject His Highness Syed Majid informs me, and he is confirmed by Syed Soliman, Syed Hillal, and 
all 

principal 
Arabs, that so m 

after the death of the late Imam, Syed Thoweynee sent his cousin, 
Syed Mahomed bin Salem, from Muscat to Zanzibar to represent to his brother that, 

as 
the 

revenues of Muscat are 
much less than those of Zanzibar, and 

as 
their father had been in the 

habit of assisting the Muscat Treasury with remittances from Zanzibar, he hoped his brother 
would continue to assist him ; 

and, in consequence, 
Syed Majid agreed to remit to his brother 

forty thousand 
crowns 

annually, of which 
sum ten thousand 

crowns were to be for the 
payment of the tribute to the Wahabees, ten thousand 

crowns to their brother, Syed Toorkee, 
the Sultan of Sohar, and the remaining twenty thousand dollars for himself; but that it 

was 
stipulated that the payment of the entire amount should be conditional 

on 
Syed 

Thoweynee abstaining from hostilities with his brother, Syed Toorkee; and that 
as 

Syed 
Thoweynee has violated this agreement, and never 

paid his brother, Syed Toorkee, any portion 
of the money, and has besides squandered it in creating dissensions amongst the Arab tribes 
and in making 

war upon 
Syed Toorkee, he has not remitted the amount for the past year. 

" It appears that no 
written agreement 

was 
made 

on 
this subject; it 

was 
all arranged 

verbally in open durbar. Arabs have a 
great aversion to 

writing 
: no 

records of any sort are kept at Zanzibar, the most 
important affairs 

are 
settled in public durbar without any 

written proceedings. On this account I have not been able to obtain any written documents bearing 
upon the various points of this despatch. I 

am 
informed that the paper left by the 

late Imam referring to the distribution of his private property is in the possession of his nephew, Syed Mahomed bin Salem, 
one 

of the executors, and who is 
now 

residing at Mecca. 
I understand that he is 

so 
annoyed with the proceedings of his cousin, Syed Thoweynee (he is 

the eldest 
son 

of the late Imam's elder brother), that he has expressed his determination of 
never 

returning to Muscat, and that he has purchased 
a 

house and property at Surat, where he 
intends taking 

up his abode 
on 

his return from Mecca. 

" 
But 

even 
supposing that the claim of Syed Thoweynee 

to the payment of the above forty thousand crowns 
annually 

were 
just, the warlike preparations to oppose the unprovoked 

aggressions of Syed Thoweynee have caused such 
a 

large outlay for the purchase of 
arms 

and ammunition, equipment of ships, payment of soldiers, &c., that it would be quite impossible 
for the Zanzibar Treasury 

to make any payment to Muscat for 
some years to come. 

The 
Custom Master at Zanzibar has given 

me the following statement of the income and liabilities 
of His Highness Syed Majid, viz.,— 

German Crowns. 
" 

Annual farm of customs 
... ... ... 

190,000 

" 
Do. for the Island of Pemba 

... ... 

6,000 
"Tax paid by the Mukhadim, original inhabitants of Zanzibar 

... 

10,000 

Total 
revenue 

... 

206,000 

There is no land 
or 

house-tax, 
or any other 

source 
of 

revenue. 
Besides the public 

revenue. His Highness has 
no resources, except 

a sum 
of 90,000 

crowns 
left to him by his 

father. The cost of the recent warlike preparations is not yet exactly ascertained; but it is 
known to much exceed 100,000 crowns, or 

two-and-a-half lakhs of rupees. His Highness 
owes 200,000 

crowns to Jairam Sewjee, the Custom Master at Zanzibar, for 
sums 

advanced to meet public charges, and also 50,000 
crowns on account of money advanced at Bombay for the building of 

a new 
corvette." 

12. C aptain R igbt's R eport. I ntrigues of S ted T howeynee 
.—After having 

consented to submit the question of his claims to the arbitration of the Governor General, Syed Thoweynee 
sent one 

ITamed bin Salem to Zanzibar charged with 
a 

letter to Syed Majid, 
to the effect that the bearer had been deputed 

to arrange all differences between the brothers. It 
was 

also discovered 
that Syed Thoweynee had secretly 

sent 40,000 dollars to Zanzibar to be 
expend 

ed in exciting the people to revolt against his brother. 
10 
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Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India- 

13. C aptain E igbt's R 
eport. 

P osition and prospects of Z anzibar.— The following observations of Captain Rigby, at the close of his interesting 
report, 

are 
worthy of being placed 

on 
record: 

" 
With the exception of 

a 
few of the great slave-proprietors of the Arab tribe of EI Harth, 

there is 
no 

party at Zanzibar favorable to 
Syed Thoweynee, and, 

even 
admitting that he might, 

after 
a 

bloody struggle, establish his rule 
over 

the Island of Zanzibar, the Sowahili inhabitants 
of the dominions 

on 
the main land would 

never 
submit to him; when nine of the bug-galows 

of his expedition recently arrived 
on 

the coast, the whole population 
was 

in 
arms 

against them, 
and they could not land to procure water at any 

point. The Sowahilis always associate the 
Muscat Arabs with the foreign slave trade. Syed Majid has far 

more power and influence 
on the main land than his father ever 

possessed. Captain Burton told His Highness that 
even on the shores of the Lake Tanganika, 600 miles inland, the Natives composed 

son^s in his praise 

as 
the great and just prince dwelling 

on 
the sea 

shore. Numbers of these people, the 
Munianise, visit Zanzibar every year to 

dispose of their ivory, and, finding justice and security 
with no 

fear, 
as 

formerly, of being seized and sold 
as 

slaves, they speak in praise of the prince far 
over 

the interior. 

" 
The question of the political relations of Zanzibar 

assumes an 
importance from the position this State seems 

destined to occupy as 
the chief power on 

the East Coast of Africa, 
and from the desiirns cf the French to encroach upon it and obtain 

a 
footing 

on 
the main 

land, the knowledge recently acquired that the interior is 
a 

fine, healthy country producing 
abundantly cotton, sugar, coffee, gums, &c., with 

a 
quiet agricultural population, will probably 

make the French still 
more anxious to obtain 

a 
footing. Their settlements at Nass Beh and 

Magotta 
are very 

unhealthy, and have disappointed all the expectations formed of attractinsr 
com 

merce to their ports. From possessing 
a 

commodious 
secure 

harbour and 
a 

salubrious climate, 
Zanzibar is rapidly becoming the emporium of the trade of all the east coast. Even the pro 
duce of the Portuguese settlements is brought to Zanzibar for shipment, to avoid the 
payment of the heavy duties levied at the Portuguese ports. When the officers of 
Her Majesty's steamer Lynx 

were 
recently 

at Tete, 300 miles up the Zambesi, they 
found the shops supplied with British goods, which had been conveyed through the con tinent by Arab caravans from Zanzibar, and undersold the heavily-taxed goods imported 
through the Portuguese Custom House. The Portuguese settlements 

on 
the east coast are in 

the last stage of misery and decay, and it is not 
probable that they will be able to retain them 

many years. Even at Mozambique, the seat of the Governor General, 
no 

Portuguese dare go 
five miles from the settlement, and were 

they not restrained by the fear of foreign intervention, 
the Arabs would dispossess the Portuguese in 

a 
day. It is probable that, 

ere 
long, the whole 

coast, 
as 

far 
as 

Delagoa Bay, will form part of the Zanzibar dominions ; the Arabs 
are 

forming 
settlements along the Mozambique Channel, and not 

long 
ago the Sultan ot 

Angozha, 
an island to the south of Mozambique, wished the Sultan of Zanzibar to declare Uim a 

feudatory, 

but the offer 
was 

declined by Syed Majid." 

14. Government consent to arbitrate with previous consent of 
both parties .—On 

receipt of Captain Rigby's report above snmmarized, and 
after 

a 
careful consideration of the 

correspondence that had passed, the Govern 
ment of India replied 

in the following 
terms to the Bombay Government 

(letter No. 4590, dated '11th July 1859; 
: 

After commenting 
on 

the insincerity 

of Syed Thoweynee's offer to accept arbitration, 
as 

evinced by his letter to 
Syed Majid, 

as 
well 

as 
by the 

proceedings of his emissary at Zanzibar, Govern 

ment refused to arbitrate in 
a case 

where it 
was 

manifest that one 
of the 

parties would be unwilling to abide by the arbitrament. Syed Thoweynee 
was 

to be warned that Government would hold him responsible for injury inflicted 

on 
British subjects, and that it 

recognized 
no 

pretension 
on 

his part to be the 
superior 

or 
suzerain of Syed Majid. The Government letter concluded 

" 
The Government of Bombay will judge whether it will be best to 

despatch 
a 

vessel to 
Muscat, with 

an 
officer specially appointed 

to make this communication to 
Syed Thoweynee. 

If 
a 

vessel and 
a 

trustworthy officer are 
available, the Governor General in Council thinks 

it will be best: 
"The vessel should then proceed 

to Zanzibar, with instructions to 
Captain Rigby, Her 

Majesty's Consul, to inform Syed Majid ot what has passed. 

" 
If Sved Majid is sfill disposed 

to 
make to his brother the annual remittance of 40,001' 

Crowns, and to continue it 
so 

long 
as fto 

aggression 
or 

unreasonable pretension proceeds from 
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Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India 

Muscat, this may still offer the 
means 

of bringing about 
an 

amicable understanding, and Captain Rigby would do well to encourage it. But the arrangement should not bear the 
character of 

a 
subsidy from 

a 
subordinate government to a 

superior 
one. 

It snould be 
a 

free gift 
on 

the part of Syed Majid, in accordance with the previous engagement, to which, 
although Syed Thoweynee has forfeited the right to claim execution of it, he is still willing 

to revert. 

" 
If by the above 

course we 
should not succeed in averting hostilities, and if 

a more authoritative arbitration should be found to be necessary, then the first step must be to obtain 
the formal consent and signature of both parties 

to articles of arbitration, obliging each to abstain from aggression during 
the arbitration, and to abide by the decision of the Governor 

General. 

" 
This would give the Government of India the right to enforce compliance with its award, and it 

seems 
likely that nothing short of it would 

secure 
compliance. 

The Governor General in Council has strong objections to 
entangling the Government 

of India in any 
negotiations and obligations of this kind, still, rather than that the dispute 

between the Chiefs of Muscat and Zanzibar should grow into open 
hostility, giving opportunity 

for the intervention of other powers, the Governor General iu Council is willing that the responsibility above described should be undertaken." 

15. P rogress of events in M uscat and Z anzibar 
.—Things continu 

ed in 
an 

unsettled condition in Muscat during the months of May and June, byed ihoweynee 
s 

emissary continued to urge upon 
Syed Majid "to 

accede to his master's demands, especially with regard to the payment of 40,000 dollars annually, the cession of the Port of Mombass 
on 

the coast of Africa, and the 
renunciation of the custody, 

as 
his father's executor, of the property of the 

young children of the late Imam. Captain Rigby 
wrote— 

I have 
a 

strong impression that Syed Thoweynee's only object in wishing to obtain possession of the Port of Mombass is to make it 
over to the French in 

some 
form. Captain 

^ 
sa y s —' There is, perhaps, 

not a more 
magnificent harbour iu the world than Mombass The surrounding country is fertile and healthy, there being 

no swamps nor stagnant pools. 
0 1 

Ihe Chiefs of the El Harth tribe and Syed Burgash 
were 

actively foment 
ing disturbances with the view of 

intidimating Syed Majid, 
and the latter 

_ _ ,. „ 

only hesitated to seize his brother and the prin- riLd LnHonST'" ci P al E1 Harth the fear of preeipi- 
Cons., 2oth February 1859. Nos. 46.50 

tating 
an 

outbreak, in which much innocent 

" nth June 
i8)9[ 

'' 
blood would necessarily be shed. On 

one oc- 
„ 

29th July 1859. 27-32 c. 
casion, when the Sultan proposed to seize Syed 

n | _ . _ , 

Pargash quietly, 
the latter 

was 
informed by 

the .b reneh Consul of the design against him.* 
a, 

,l 

ltu 
' 
le of the 

! 
[ai 

' 
th tribo became at length 

so 
threatening that Syed Ma,)id 

was 
compelled 

to 
adopt decisive 

measures 
against them, and, 

SpvpraW tv 
011 

1 J 

? 18 
—' 

116 arrested a11 ,heir principal Chiefs. Several ol them 
were 

released 
in giving 

security 
for their future good behaviour, 

hut five, who were the most active in 
fomenting disturbances, 

were 
confined in 

beTn' albXl"? 

'' WaS 

^ 
bdulla Bin Salem 

' 
who has alread y 

Chi^, 

of K 

(Para r? 
ra 

, 

ph 3) 
aS0 

? e0f tlle lnost infl iential and dangerous 
Chiefs of the tribe. On learning 

of the capture of their Chiefs, the El Harth 

Ftdt^tTt 

1 

^, 

their slaves 
' 

threatened to set fire to the town 
main 

0 
the bultan firm, however, they dispersed quietly. 

reported 

thlrs^ri! 

, 
0, 

1 
BvR(SMTi.-Onthe 21st October Captain Eigby 

v. fi j i -i 

l^urgash had broken out into open rebellion against hisj brother, and had. 
on the 8th idem, fled from the 

towf 

of W ter 

lZ 

taken up a 
strong position in the interior of the island. He 

was 

^oon joinJd 

by the 
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Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India. 

El Harth, by mercenaries from the Persian Gulf, and by African slaves from 
the plantations. It 

was not till the 12th that Syed Majid, with the habit of procrastination peculiar to Arabs, marched against his brother with 
a 

force 
of 5,000 

men. On the following day alarming 
rumours 

from the interior 
were received in Zanzibar. The shops 

were 
closed, and all who could do 

so com menced to remove 
their families from the town. Towards evening the town 

was 
in 

a state of anarchy. Shots 
were 

flying in every direction, and 
a 

British subject, 
one 

of the principal banian merchants, 
was 

shot dead at his 
own 

door, 
and another 

was 
dangerously wounded. Eortunately 

at this juncture Her Majesty's 
steamer arrived off the town, and, 

on 
the following day, Captain 

Rigby, accompanied by 
as many naval officers 

as 
could be spared, cailed 

on the Sultan, who 
was 

still inactive, and informed him of the outrages that had 
been committed 

on 
British subjects, and told the Chiefs, by whose advice Syed Majid 

was 
induced to refrain from taking active measures, that he 

would hold them responsible for the outrage. The result of this visit 
was that Syed Majid advanced with his whole force to attack the rebels. Syed 

Burgash had taken up a 
position in 

a 
large upper-storied 

stone 
building 

with several smaller buildings detached, the whole surrounded by 
a 

thick stone wall, which had been loopholed and otherwise prepared for defence. The rebels 
had three brass guns, and 

were 
evidently determined to show 

a 
firm front. 

The British officers, who had accompanied Syed Mujid's force, got two guns and 
some 

rockets in position, which they served themselves and succeeded in blow ing 
open the gates and inner-doors of the house. Syed Majid's troops could 

not be induced to storm the place, and the officers returned to their ships in the evening. 

17. Aid of British troops given to Syed Majid 
against Syed 

Burgash. Surrender of the latter .—Next day the Sultan, finding all his 
efforts fail to induce his 

own 
troops to storm the enemy's position, applied for the 

aid of British troops. Captain Rigby complied with his request, and 
a 

detach 
ment, 

some one 
hundred strong with 

a 
12-pounder howitzer, 

was 
disembarked from 

the Assaye and marched to attack the rebels. On arriving at their position, it 

was 
found to have been evacuated, and the building 

was 
accordingly destroyed. 

During the day intelligence 
was 

received that Syed Burgash 
was 

lying 
con cealed in his 

own 
house, which 

was 
immediately surrounded, and he 

was at length induced to surrender himself, and 
was 

taken to the Sultan's palace. 
Arms for 800 men 

and 
one gun were 

found in his house, and 400 muskets 
were also discovered in the house of Abdulla bin Salem, the El Harth Chief. Syed Majid returned to Zanzibar and 

was 
joyfully welcomed by the whole popu 

lation. On the following day Syed Burgash, in a 
public durbar, wrote out a formal engagement to quit the Zanzibar dominions for ever, never to plot 

or wage war 
against his brother, to proceed 

to any port fixed 
on 

by Captain 
Rigby, and always to act 

according 
to the wishes of the British Government. 

This engagement 
was 

signed by the British officers and Arab Chiefs present, and Syed Burgash took 
an 

oath 
on 

the koran to abide by it, adding in 
a 
loud voice— 

" 
I swear I will 

never 
a^ain listen to the advice of the French, 

nor 
of the El Harth, 

nor 
of 

any one 
except the British Government." 

Agreeably 
to the Sultan's request, Syed Burgash 

was 
received 

on 
board the 

Assat/e, which 
was to convey him to Muscat. The El Harth tribe, wiio had 

been heavy losers by their unsuccessful attempt 
at 

rebellion, made their sub 
mission to Syed Majid, and all 

seem 
quiet 

on 
the island. In reporting the 

above events to Government, Captain Kigby observed— 

" 
I am 

fully 
aware 

of the responsibility I have incurred by complying with the requisition 
of His Highness for the aid of Her Majesty's troops, and that I should not have been justified 
in doing 

1 so 
had it been 

a case 
of His Highness's subjects endeavoring 

to rid themselves of 
13 
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Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India- 

an 
unpopular 

or 
tyrannical ruler; but it was not so. 

Syed Bur^ash 
had been provided with 

a jarrre sum 
of money 

by the ruler of Muscat, pnrposely to stir up a 
revolution; he had also 

been generously provided by His Highness with 
a sum of ten thousand dollars, only the day before' 

he fled into the interior. With this money he 
was 

enabled to attract to him 
a 

great 
number of mercenary Arabs, who come 

here from the north, ea^er for any 
opportunity 

to 
rob and plunder; and it is at this season 

that they usually arrive here by thousands. Whilst 
the Sultan was at Beitel Ras he sent me a 

private note saying that he 
was 

certain the French 
Consul had instigated Syed Burgash to rebel. That day Her Majesty's 

steamer 
Lpix arrived here, 

and Lieutenant Berkeley informed 
me 

that the French corvette Cordeliere had sailed from 
Mozambique, it 

was 
supposed for Zanzibar direct, and it was, 

therefore, probable that 
on 

the 
arrival of the Cordeliere the French would openly protect Syed Burgash, 

as 
during the 

former visit of that vessel. The town was 
being rapidly deserted: 

no 
food of any 

description 

was 
procurable in the markets for several days; there 

are 
nearly five thousand peaceable 

British subjects residing here, who looked only to me 
for protection of their lives and property ; 

one 
respectable Indian merchant had been murdered, and I foresaw entire ruin and anarchy, 

unless the rebellion 
were 

speedily suppressed, for the savage 
passions of these semi-barbarous 

races were 
being aroused. These considerations induced 

me to afford the aid requested, and I 
trust that my 

proceedings, during what has been 
a 

period of great anxiety and responsibility, 

may meet the approval of His Lordship in Council.'^ 
On being informed of Captain Rigby's proceedings, the Government of 

India praised him highly for the sound judgment exercised by him throughout 

the whole transaction. 

• 
18. Commander Cruttenden's 

mission to Muscat. Consent 
of Syed 

Thowetnee to abide by arbitration of Government.— On receipt of the 
orders of the Government of India {vide para. 

14) the Bombay Government 
had despatched Commander Cruttenden, of the Indian Navy, in Her Majesty's 

steamer Feroze to Muscat in order to communicate the substance of the 
orders to Syed Thoweynee. That officer arrived at his destination 

on 
the 

12th September, and found that Syed Thoweynee had just returned from 
an expedition against his brother, Syed Toorkee, which had terminated without 

bloodshed, owing, it 
was 

said, to the remonstrances of the Resident at Bushire 
and the mediation of the Aboothabee Chief. 

On the day after his arrival at Muscat, Commander Cruttenden waited 
on the Sultan and informed him of the subject of his mission. The latter 

was greatly chagrined 
at the refusal of the Government of India to recognize him 

as 
his brother's suzerain, and seemed to think his 

case 
had been prejudged. 

He denied that he had acted in any way contrary to 
good faith, and said that 

all he wanted 
was a 

fair settlement of his claims against Zanzibar and his brother, whom he accused of exciting his brother, Syed Toorkee of Sohar, to 
rebel against by sending 

up to him about four months previously in 
a 

French 
vessel 

a 
quantity of treasure, powder, shot, and arms, all of which 

were 
landed. 

He complained that he had 
no one to represent his side of the question 

to Government, who heard such lengthened-details from the British Consul at 
Zanzibar of his (Syed Thoweynee's) 

acts that they could not 
help believing 

them. He denied the justice of the division of his father's property, declaring 
that he had left 

no 
will; that, had he done so, his two sons, 

Burgash and Faisul, 
who 

were 
with him when he died, would have been cognizant of it, and that 

if Syed Majid held Zanzibar, it ought 
to be 

on 
payment of 

an 
annual 

sum to 
the elder brother. Commander Cruttenden's report continued— 

" 
His Highness further accused his brother at Zanzibar of having 

c 
devoured' the shares 

of the late Irnam^s property left to the younger branches of the family, and of having failed 
to fulfil his promise of 

an annual payment of 40,000 German Crowns 
as 

guaranteed in the 
agreement made between them by Syed Mahomed bin Salem, and which agreement, 

in original, 
was now at Muscat. 

" I pressed to be allowed to see this document, but 
was 

told that it 
was 

in Syed Mahomed 
bin Salem 

s 
house, and that he was 

absent 
on 

the pilgrimage, but daily expected in the ship ̂ agof. The Sayof did arrive two days afterwards, but the Syed had remained behind. 
14 
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Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India. 

" 
On my 

asking His Highness if there 
was any clause in that paper stipulatino- that 

a certain portion of this 
sum 

should be paid 
to 

Syed Toorkee, who 
was to be left unmolested at oohar, he at first denied it, and then, with 

some 
inconsistency, 

said 'he had not seen 
the 

agreement/ 
I told him that I had always understood that his brother, Syed Toorkee, 

was placed 
in possession of Sohar by his father's express wish, and he denied it, saving that he had first conquered the place, and who had 

so 
good 

a 
right 

to 
it, therefore, 

as 
himself. ^ 

***** 
"Although I allowed His Highness to relate his various and manifold 

grievances at length, I declined entering into any discussion 
as to their merits, 

as 
I told His Highness 

it would be disrespectful 
to His Excellency the Governor General, who had consented 

to aibitrate, provided His Highness would give the required guarantee, and, strongly urging 
him to do this and to 

weigh carefully all I had told him, I took my leave." 
After waiting four days for 

a 
reply to the communication of the Govern 

ment of India, Commander Cruttenden 
was at length summoned to hear 

read over the reply which Syed Thoweynee proposed 
to make. This, however, 

he found to be anything but satisfactory, 
very indefinite, and in 

no way 
binding 

the Sultan to abide by the award of the Governor General. Commander 
Cruttenden bluntly refused to be the bearer of 

a 
letter having 

no 
specific 

meaning, and the Sultan, somewhat disconcerted at his refusal, agreed to give 

an 
engagement binding himself to abide by the arbitration. Accordingly, 

on 
the following morning, 

a 
letter 

was 
brought off, but it turned out to be couched in precisely the 

same terms 
as 

the 
one 

read 
on 

the previous 
day 

; it was, 
therelore, returned also. Next 

was 
brought 

a 
letter written and signed by the Wazir 

on 
behalf of the Sultan, This also Commander Crutten 

den refused to take, and at 
length Syed Thoweynee, by the advice of his brother, Syed Mahomed bin Saeed, gave the required guarantee, which 

was 
forwarded 

to Government. Captain Cruttenden placed but little faith 
on 

the sincerity 
of the Sultan, who had shewn himself extremely reluctant to enter into any engagement. He observed— 

" The award of His Excellency, he feels, will be final and conclusive, and he will have 
no further 

excuse for molesting his brother whilst his 
own 

position will probably 
not be bettered. 

" 
As regards Syed Toorkee, His Highness would not for 

an 
instant admit that he 

was 
inde pendent. He styled him his 

' 
wali' or governor, and, 

as 
such, considered himself fully 

em powered to exercise authority 
over 

him. 

" 
After the landing of the stores from the French vessel for Sohar, His Highness ordered Syed Toorkee to dismiss his present garrison, and replace them with some 

friends of his own, which Syed Toorkee refused to do ; 
and, consequently. His Highness prepared 

an 
expedition 

against him, which terminated, 
as 

before stated, without any result, Syed Toorkee is vet 
on 

the receipt of a 
monthly stipend from the customs at Muscat/' 

19. S econd outbreak of S yed B urgash .—Her Majesty's 
steamer Assaye, 

which had in the meantime proceeded 
on a 

cruise, but without Syed Burgash, 
for whom other arrangements 

were 
made, returned to Zanzibar 

on 
the 5th September. The presence of the vessel gave great confidence to the people, 

and the Sultan expressed himself 
as 

highly grateful for the moral support 
against foreign intrigue afforded by its arrival. Captain Rigby deemed it advis 
able to keep the Assaye at Zanzibar until the French Commander-in-Chief, 
who was 

shortly expected in the Cordeliere, had taken his departure, 
as, even if that officer did not interfere in the internal affairs of the State, it would be generally supposed, after what occurred during the previous visit of the 

Cordeliere, that he had designs hostile to the Sultan. Later, in September, 
Captain Rigby 

wrote that all 
was 

quiet 
at Zanzibar, and the El Harth tribe 

had become quite submissive. Events which had occurred in Muscat had 
com pletely detached them from Syed Thoweynee's side. It had 

rorae to the 
ears 

of 

* 
the latter that the El Harth had imposed 

upon him, and appropriated the money 
he had F^nt to Zanzibar for the purpose of exciting 

a 
revolution. Thereupon he 

seized 
a 

ship belonging to Abdullah bin Salem, Chief of the tribe, thus making 
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Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India- 

the El Ilarth his enemies at once. 
They had subsequently been extremely anxious 

to be reconciled to 
Syed Majid. The Muscat ship Caroline with Syed Thowey- 

nee's Agent, Ahmed bin Salem (a cousin of both Syed Thoweynee and Syed 
Majid), 

on 
board had at last left Zanzibar, This Ahmed Captain Eigby 

repre 
sented to be 

a 
dangerous and unscrupulous 

person. 
During the whole of his visit 

he had been intriguing with the French Consul with the view of gaining the support of the latter in his designs against Syed Majid. It 
was not until 

after the Sultan had remonstrated strongly against his intimacy that the 
French Consul, in open durbar, refused to shake hands with Ahmed bin Salem, 

or to take any further notice of him. Shortly after this, said Captain Hifjby, 
Ahmed bribed 

an 
Albaman jemadar of Syed Majid's to assassinate his master; 

but the plot 
was 

discovered in time. There 
was 

good 
reason to believe that Syed Burgash 

was 
privy to the attempted assassination, and the Sultan, there fore, determined to send him away at once. 

On the 9th October Captain Rigby reported that Syed Burgash had again 
been giving trouble in Zanzibar. One of Syed Majid's 

own 
ships had been prepared 

to take him to Oman, but, after delaying his departure 
on 

various 
pretences for several days, he at length obstinately refused to leave his house, 
where he collected 

some 
of Syed Majid's 

younger brothers and their mothers, 
and which he threatened to blow up with gun-powder if force 

was 
used. He 

was 
induced, however, to promise compliance with the order to embark, 

and, at his request, 
a 

buggalow 
was 

prepared 
to take him to Maculla 

on 
the 

Hadramaut coast, where he expressed 
a 

wish to go until he could ascertain what 
sort of 

a 
reception he would meet with from Syed Thoweynee. His baggage 

and provisions 
were 

embarked, but the night before his intended departure he escaped into the interior of the island, and took possession of 
a 

large country 
house belonging 

to his deceased brother, Khalid, which he commenced to fortifv, 
and openly declared his intention of opposing Syed Majid. Captain Rigby 
did his best to induce the latter to take energetic 

measures at once 
before Syed 

Burgash could entrench himself in his position and collect 
men 

by promises of 
pay and plunder. 

, 
The rebellion 

was not formidable, but, from the peculiar 
mode of warfare of the Arabs, it 

was 
probable that 

none of the Sultan's troops 
would dare to 

approach the stockade, and hence resistance could be prolonged 
for 

a 
considerable time. 

It 
was 

commonly reported in the town that Syed Burgash had not kept his promise ol 
embarking from Zanzibar, because he expected 

a 
French ship-of- 

war to arrive there. 

There is here 
a gap in the records of the Foreign Office, but it appears from 

a 
letter dated 27th December 1859, from Captain Jones, the Resident, 

Persian Gulf, that Syed Burgash arrived during that month at Bunder Abbas where Syed Thoweynee happened 
to be at the time. Under 

cover of the 
same communication. Captain Jones forwarded letters from the ruler Of Muscat denying tbat his agent, Hamed bin Salem, had been concerned in any intrigues against Syed Majid when at Zanzibar, and repeating the accusation that Syed Majid had aided Syed Toorkee with money and munitions of 

war.— 
(Com. Sth March 1860, Nos 21-22.J 

_ 

Writing 
on 

the 30th November 1859, Lieutenant-Colo- 
ne 

Rig 
iy reported all quiet 

at Zanzibar. The French Commodore in the Corde- 
here had arrived, and had shown due courtesy and respect to the Sultan After the Commodore's departure, the French Consul, who 

was 
supposed to be 

in 
correspondence with Syed Thoweynee, had continued his 

course of petty 
insult to the Sultan. 1 ^ 

In December 1859 Captain Rigby submitted 
a 

refutation of the allega 
tions made by Syed Thoweynee against Syed Majid, with regard to the latter having aided Syed loorkee with arms and money. He explained that the 
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Events preceding the arbitration by the Government of India 

payment of 40,000 dollars, which Syed Majid had agreed 
to remit annually 

to 
his brother at Muscat, 

was 
conditional upon the latter refraining from hostilities 

against Toorkee, who 
was to receive yearly 10,000 out of the amount so 

paid 

in order to enable him to meet the tribute due to the AVahabee Chief from the 
Sohar State. Out of the last half-yearly instalment paid by Syed Majid, Toorkee 
had received nothing, and the former, therefore, sent his brother by 

a 
French ship 

5,000 dollars to compensate him for the 
sum 

withheld by Thoweynee. No 
munitions of 

war 
had been supplied 

to Toorkee.— {Cons. \Qth March 1860, 
Nos. 11-15.) 
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CHAPTER II 

Arbitration of Government of India. 
20. D eputation of B rigadier C oghlan to enquire into the dispute 

between Z anzibar and M uscat .—On the 14th June 1860 the Bombay Gov 
ernment intimated that Brigadier Coghlan, the Political Resident at Aden, had 
left 

on 
the 31st May for the purpose of investigating and reporting 

on 
the complications existing between Muscat and Zanzibar 

on 
the 

one 
hand, and 

Sohar 
on 

the other. Associated with Brigadier Coghlan 
were 

the Beverend 
P. Badger, 

a 
Medical Officer, and Mr. Hormuzd Bassam, the latter gentleman 

being appointed 
as 

British Agent 
at Muscat 

as a 
temporary 

measure. 
Brigadier 

Coghlan 
was 

directed to proceed, in the first instance, to Muscat, and 
was 

fur 
nished with 

a 
letter to the Sultan of that place, intimating that he had been appointed 

to 
enquire into the matters in dispute between himself and his 

brother. The instructions issued to 
Brigadier Coghlan by the Bombay Govern 

ment were 
contained in 

a 
resolution dated 16th April 1860, of which the fcl- 

lowinsr is 
an extract: 

O 
" 

Resolved that the Political Resident be informed that this Government unreservedly 
grants to him authority to 

investigate and report, for the information of the Supreme Govern 
ment, 

on 
the relative positions of the rulers of Muscat and Zanzibar. It will be the duty of 

the Political Resident to ascertain what 
are 

the exact rights of the 
one 

in relation to the other by religious law, family customs, specific instrument, 
or 

force of circumstances. Having 

1 
arrived 

at a 
conclusion 

on 
this question, it will remain for the Political Resident to consider whether 

it is actuallv necessary that exact rights should be recognized, whether peace and tran quility 
may not more 

effectually be secured by inducing the antagonist parties to make 
mutual concessions, whether judicious compromise will not be of 

more 
real benefit to the 

interests of all concerned, both rulers and subjects, than any 
rigid adherence to 

pretensions 
based 

on exact 
rights. In other words, it will be for the Political Resident to ascertain what 

U riyht and what is expedient, and whether the parties 
can 

be induced partially 
to concede the 

• me 
for the purpose of permanently securing the other. 

" 
The Ri^ht Hon'ble the Governor in Council considers that the whole question is open 

to the investigation and discussion of the Political Resident; that it is the sole desire of the 
supreme Government to administer justice between the contendin<r parties, and that that 
hi^h authoritv will gladly av:iil itself of any facts 

or 
considerations which Brigadier Coghlan 

rnay be able to contribute towards the solution of existing complications. 

"The question of guaranteeing: 
to the Imam his Arabian possessions is 

one on 
which the 

Riu'ht Hon 'ble the Governor in Council would wish to be favored with the Political Resident's opinion. The Right Hon 'ble the Governor in Council is not aware whether any 
necessity 

exists for the grant of suoh guarantee, but the Political Resident may be requested 
to 

examine and report 
on 

the general question."—f Proceedings, Jjjril 1660-61, Nos. 26-29.^ 

21. B rigadier C oghlan's 
report. 

S ubordination of 
Z anzibar to M uscat 

.—Brigadier Coghlan submitted two reports of his proceedings, the 
first, dated 4th July 1860, written after visiting Muscat and previous to his 
arrival at Zanzibar ; and the second, dated 4th December I860, 

on 
the conclu 

sion of his labors. The first contained 
a 

statement of Syud Thoweynee's 

case, as 
represented by himself, and also the result of Brigadier Coghlan's 

enquiries 
in 

IVIuscat. A great portion ot the matter contained 
in 

the cailici 
is embodied in the later report, which treats as a 

whole ot the subject in dis 
pute between the two brothers. Previous to 

commencing his enquiries 
at 

Muscat and Zanzibar, Brigadier Coghlan obtained from Syed Thoweynee and 
Sved Majid 

a 
bond consenting 

to submit their 
case to the arbitration of thn 

Governor 
General, and expressing their entire willingness 

to abide by His 
Excellency's decision in the matter. A statement of their respective 

cases 
were 

also submitted by the two brothers. The first point touched upon 
by 

Brigadier Coghlan 
was 

the position of Zanzibar with regard to Muscat. 
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Arbitration of Government of India- 

On this subject he wrote: 

" 
I 

now 
proceed, in the first place, to state, 

as 
succinctly 

as 
possible, the various argu ments adduced in support of the claims of His Highness Syed Majid 

to the sovereignty 
of Zanzibar and its African dependencies. 

ei In the year 1807 His late Highness Syed Saeed, second 
son 

of Syed Sultan, 
was elected by the principal tribes of Oman to succeed his father 

as 
Sultan, his elder brother 

Salim acquiescing in his promotion to the supreme power. 
During his lifetime, Syed 

Sultan had taken from the Portuguese the islands of Zanzibar, Mombasa, and Pemba, 
a? also Kilwa and other places 

on the east coast of Africa. These remote possessions fell 
to 

Syed Saeed, 
as 

forming part of the kingdom of Oman 
• 
and, although the authority of his predecessor 

over several of them bad been but nominal, 
or at least precarious, and Syed Saeed may 

fairly be entitled to the merit of having extended and consolidated ti 
e empire in those parts, nevertheless it 

was 
undoubtedly in virtue of his election in succes sion to Syed Sultan that he acquired the right of sovereignty 

over the African depen 
dencies of Oman. 

" 
Syed Saeed during his lifetime ruled 

over the conjoined dominions of Oman and Zanzibar. The seat of his government for many years was 
Muscat; but about the year 1S40 His Highness selected Zanzibar 

as 
his permanent residence, committing the subordi 

nate rule of Muscat and other provinces to his 
sons or 

relatives. 

" 
On the 24th of July 1844, Syed Saeed addressed 

a 
letter to the Right Hon'ble 

the Earl of Aberdeen, then Her Majesty's Principal Secretary of State 
^for 

Foreign Affairs, wherein His Highness thus expresses his wishes regarding his two elder 
sons Khaled and Thoweynee (Hilal, the eldest, being entirely overlooked in the projected arrangement) 

: f 
And after 

us 
(on 

our 
death) 

we 
constitute and appoint 

our son 
Khaled 

to be ruler of all 
our 

African possessions, that is to say, all places 
on 

the continent of Africa between Magadosha, situated in about 2 W 
10' north latitude, and Cape DeWdo situated in about 10° 42 south latitude, with the adjacent islands 

now 
subject to 

our^ 
rule and under 

our 
dominion. And, 

in 
like manner, our son 

Syed Thoweynee 
to be ruler 

over all our 
possessions in Oman, in Arabia, in the Persian Gulf, and 

on 
the coast of Persia' Syed Saeed's object in writing this letter, 

as 
stated by Colonel Hamerton, 

was Mo ascertain whether he might look to Her Majesty's Government to guarantee the succession to his 
sons 

Khaled and 
Thoweynee.; According 

to Colonel Righy, 
no 

reply exists in the records of the Zanzibar Consulate either to 
Syed Saeed's letter above quoted, 

or to that from v.olonel Hamerton, which appears to have accompanied it. 

" 
Syed KlialeJ died 

in 
1834, and in 

a 
letter announeinar the death of the late Sved 

Saeed to Lord Aberdeen, dated Zanzibar, November 10th, IboG, Colonel Hamerton 
writes. All tilings here at present 

are 
qmot, and the government in the African 

pos- sessions 
administered by his 

son 
Prince Majid, who has administered the government bv order of His Highness 

since the death of Prince Khaled 
on 

the 7th November 'hot I have been given to understand that His Highness left 
a 

will and 
a 

written statement of his wishes regarding the succession. I 
am 

perfectly well 
aware 

what His Highness's inten- tionsrcgardmg thesuccessiou 
were: that Syed Thoweyuee, 

at Muscat, shoSld 
succeed to government of his Arabian possessions, provision 

being made for certain of his 
sons as governors of certain places 

in 
his Arabian possessions; and that the Prince Majid, whom 

invp 

W I 00 
"! 

1 

? 

61 in 
• 

P 0f hlS deceased 
son 

Khaled, should succeed to the government of bis African possessions, provision 
being made for others of his 

sons as governors of various 
places 

in his African possessions/ ^vernors 

" 
No written statement of the late Syed Saeed's wishes regarding the succession 

as mentioned by Colonel Hamerton, has 
ever been found; and the only will hitherto forth coming as executed by His Highness, makes 

no 
provision whatever of that nature but is confined almost exclusively 

to the disposal of his personal property. Colonel Rio-by however 
con rms 

Colonel Hamerton 
s statements regarding the promotion of Syed Maiid to the post which had become vacant by the death of his eMer brother Khaled, in these J 

lrds 

' 
The Prince Khaled 

was 
installed 

as ruler of the African dominions during his father's absence at Muscat; and 
on 

his death which occurred 
on the 7th November 1854, His Highness passed 

Sh 

r 
W 

lnl "LrnmTnt 

^ 
^ 

^ 
^ 

nt mine government of the African dominions; and it was 
proclaimed to all thp pbipf 

Khded'haTheld t'd 

rw 

t 
T, 

t0 bC 
. 

rCgardc<1 ^^ 
^ 

po 

Uiols Prtc 

government, acknowledged by all 
as 

the mrhtful heir f tl 
contlnuc! 

J 
to administer the 

father's act, 
as 

publicly proclaimed/ 
0 

sovereignty, by 
virtue of his 
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"It does not appear, however, that this substitntion of Syed Majid in the place of Syed 
Khaled 

was ever 
officially notified by His Highness Syed Saeed, either to the British 

or to any other foreig-n governments in alliance with him; and Syed Majid 
was 

unable to produce 
any native records attesting the arrangement 

as the act of the late sovereign. But the death 
of the latter 

was 
communicated by His Highness to Great Britain, France, and the United 

States of America; and letters of condolence were received by him in return from Her Most 
Gracicus Majesty the Queen, from Her Mnjesty's Principal Secretary of State for Foreign 
Affairs, from His Imperial Majesty the Emperor of the French, and from the President 
of the United States. The two former contain 

no 
recognition of Syed Majid's sovereignty; 

but in the reply of the Emperor of the French, and in that of the President oi the United States, His Highness is congratulated 
on 

his accession to Hhe supreme 
power/and to f 

the 
throne of the suitanry.' As 

no 
special mention, however, is made either of Muscat or 

Zanzibar 
in these documents, and Syed Thoweynee's position and claims 

are 
entirely overlooked, it is highly probable that the two above-named governments 

were 
unacquainted with the actual 

state of the case, and wrote under the impression that Syed Majid 
was 

the sole, rightful, and acknowledged 
successor to the sovereignty of all the dominions of his deceased father, Syed 

Saeed. 

" The foregoing is 
a 

fair statement of the facts adduced from extraneous sources in 
support of Syed Majid's right 

to the sovereignty of Zanzibar and its African depen 
dencies. His Highness himself rests his pretensions 

on 
similar grounds, namely, 

on 
the fact that, when his elder brother Khaled died, Syed Saeed appointed hira Governor oj Zanzibar 

in his stead, and notified the same to all the chiefs of Africa, 
as 

well 
as to the foreign consuls residing 

at 
Zanzibar; that he 

was 
duly recognized 

as 
such by them, and that he had occupied 

that position 
two years prior to the death of his father, which event occurred while 

on a voyage from Muscat to Zanzibar in 1856. His Highness then proceeds 
to establish his claim 

to the sovereignty of Zanzibar 
y on the ground of his having been elected thereto by the people. 

He writes: '"When I heard the report of my father's death, 1 called together my 
brothers and family (only those, of course, who 

were 
present at Zanzibar at the time,) and all 

the people in these parts from Sink (Delgado) to Marbat in order that they might recognise 

me. To this they all agreed, and they accordingly elected me to be ruler over 
them, and 

entrusted 
me 

with the direction of their affairs. He moreover considers that his sovereignty 

over Zanzibar and its African dependencies has already been acknowledged by the representa 
tives of the different foreign powers who were in alliance with the late Syed Saeed, and he alleges that 

a 
similar recognition 

was 
virtually made by his brother Syed Thoweynee through 

his agent Mahomed bin Salem, who, 
on the death of their father, 

was sent from Muscat by the former fully empowered 
to treat with Syed Majid 

on 
his behalf. The yearly grant 

which 
on 

that occasion he agreed 
to remit to his brother Thoweynee, Syed Majid maintains 

was a 
purely friendly subsidy, and by 

no means a 
tribute recognising iu any way the suzerainty 

of his brother Syed Thoweynee of Muscat. 
"Unfortunately 

no 
documentary proofs 

are 
forthcoming to decide the important question 

involved iu the above transaction. Syed Thoweynee contends that the grant 
was 

given and 
received 

as 
tribute, and the two brothers (who nevertheless 

now 
join in representing Mahomed 

bin Salem 
as a 

villain) confidently appeal 
to his statements formerly made in support of their opposite assertions. My original impression therefore is confirmed, namely, that the agent, 

for his own 
private ends, deceived both parties, accepting the yearly grant at Zanzibar 

as a fraternal gift from Majid to Thoweynee, and representing to the latter at Muscat that he had 8tipulated 
& for it 

as a 
tribute involving the recognition by his brother of his suzerainty 

over Zanzibar and its African dependencies. Two documents, however, indirectly bearing 
on 

this 
point, 

are 
attached in the Appendix. The first is 

a 
letter from Mahomed bin Salem at Muscat 

to Luddah, the Customs Master at Zanzibar, desiring him to pay to bearer the balance of the 

• 
Musaadeh/that is, the aid 

or 
subsidy granted by Syed Majid 

to his brother Thoweynee, 
The other contains the original order drawn up in Syed Majid's 

own 
writing, authorising 

the said Luddah to pay his brother Thoweynee every year 'a subsidy' of 40,000 
crowns. 

" 
All the arguments adduced 

or 
adducible in favor of Syed Majid's claims are, I believe, 

fully and fairly stated in the foregoing 
summary. 

They 
are 

based 
on 

the following grounds, 
viz.:— 

1. The will, 
or 

rather wishes, of His late Highness Syed Saeed. 
2. His recognition by foreign powers. 
3. His virtual recognition by his rival brother Syed Thoweynee of Muscat. 
4. His election 

as 
their Sovereign by the Chiefs of Zanzibar and its African depend 

encies. 

I shall 
now 

proceed 
to make 

a 
few remarks under these several heads. 
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"Although the tenor of the late Syed Saeed/s official communication to Lord Aberdeen, 

in 1844. is not 
absolutely conclusive that he comtemplated dividing his empire by constitut 

ing- Zanzibar and its African dependencies 
a 

separate kingdom under the sovereignty of his 
second 

son 
Khaled, and although there is still less certain ground for inferring that 

on 
the 

death of Khaled he purposed carrying out the same intention in behalf of his fourth 
son Majid, nevertheless, I 

am 
of opinion that the evidence 

on 
that side outweighs the argument 

on the other, that His late Highness, in his arrangements, actually made, 
or 

prospectively 
designed, had nothing 

more 
in view than to allot subordinate governorships 

to one or more 
of 

his 
sons 

under the paramount Sovereign of Oman. 

" 
Thus much conceded, however, the question arises whether the late Syed Saeed, in 

conformity with pre-existing 
usage, 

possessed the riijht of dividing his dominions, 
or 

of dispos 
ing of them at will. Syed Majid, during 

one 
of the Rev. Mr. Badger's official interviews 

with him, attempted 
at first to maintain that he had ; but on 

being requested 
to adduce 

one single corroborative instance in the past history of the rulers of Oman, 
or to explain how it 

fell out, if such 
was the recognised law on 

the subject, that the succession in the existing 
dynasty had 

so 
often been diverted from the direct line, and the supreme power 

successfully 
usurped. His Highness 

at once 
abandoned the argument 

as 
untenable, admitting that the sovereignty of Oman had hitherto depended 

on 
election, the principal tribes generally choosing 

the candidate who was 
either most beloved by them, 

or 
who possessed the greatest power to 

enforce his pretensions. His Highnesses testimony in this respect is in exact accordance with 
the account 

given by Syed Hilal, 
as 

reported by Colonel Rigby, of the mode of succession to 
the sovereignty of Oman: 

f 
Might, coupled with election by the tribes, is the only right.' 

And asain, 'The one who had most influence with the tribes 
was 

elected/ 

" 
Colonel Rigby seemingly admits the same > for in explaining his former 

use 
of the 

word 'election/ 
as 

applied 
to the succession of the late Syed Saeed, he says—'By the terra 

' 
election/ I mean 

that he was 
proclaimed and accepted 

as 
their ruler by the Arabs of Oman, 

to the exclusion of bis elder brother/ And further on—'The late Imam evidently considered 
that he possessed the right 

to 
dispose of his dominions 

as 
he pleased, from having, during 

his lifetime, disinherited his eldest 
son 

Hilal. But if the succe:*sor thus nominated 
were not acceptable 

to the people, I think they would refuse to accept him/ And a^ain—'I think if 

a 
ruler of Oman 

were to 
appoint 

as 
his 

successor a person who 
was not acceptable 

to the Arab 
tribes and chiefs, that they would refuse to 

acknowledge him, and elect 
as 

their ruler 
a person who 

was more 
popular with them/ 

" 
These admissions, however, 

are 
somewhat qualified by two or 

three examples adduced by the way in support of the opposite view. First, the case of Syed Hilal, just mentioned; 
but that instance proves 

nothing, 
even 

supposing that his being disinherited implied his 
ex clusion from the succession, since, if the succession 

was 
ultimately by election, his father at best could only have nominated him to the sovereignty, and his confirmation in that dignity 

would have depended 
on 

the temper of the tribes. 

" 
The next case is that of Ahmed bin Saeed, grandfather of the late Syed Saeed, and the 

first of the reigning dynasty, who, according 
to Colonel Rigby, 

' 
divided his dominions during 

his 
own 

life, having appointed his 
son 

Kees to be chief of Sohar, and his seventh and youngest 

son to be chief of Sink/ Although it is true that in after years, 
owing to the incessant struggles 

for the sovereignty, and the fierce strife of parties in Oman, the two small provinces above- 
named did eventually attain 

a nominal independence, nevertheless it is highly improbable, from 
the peculiar circumstances of his 

own 
accession to the supreme power, that Ahmed's original 

concession either contemplated 
or 

sanctioned their detachment from the paramount state. 
r 
lhey 

were most probably granted 
as appanages, but held 

on 
feudal tenure, their 

" 
syuds," 

or lords, being bound to render military aid to the suzerain whenever called upon to do 
so. 

" 
In another place, replying to a query whether the tribes of Oman, to whom the late Syed Saeed owed his election to the sovereignty, and who had co-operated with him in the 

extension and consolidation of the African dependencies of the kingdom, might not 
justly 

claim 
a 

voice in the disposal of those territories, Colonel Rigby writes—' The late 
linam succeeded in establishing his power over 

the east coast of Africa chiefly through 
the mutual jealousies and dissensions of the petty chiefs, who frequently 

sent envoys to iUu >cat to solicit his interference. I do not think that it would 
ever occur to any Arabs 

in 
Oman that they had any voice in the succession to the government of the African posses- 

sions on 
the ground supposed; 1 think they 

were 
regarded 

as 
being 

at the absolute disposal 
ut tie Imam; and the fact that all the property of the State, such as 

ships of war, arms, &c., 
\\ere 

considered 
as the private estate of the Imam, strengthens this opinion/ 

*1 

^VI 
118 ̂ re 

P^ ̂ ' 

ia ̂  ̂  
ie m utual jealousies of the native petty chiefs 

were 
undoubtedly 

u\ai e o jy the late Syed Saeed to extend his conquests in Eastern Africa; but it is equally 
certain that he acquired the sovereignty 

over 
Zanzibar, Pemba, and Mombasa, 

as 
also over 
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n 
Africa; but it is equally 

d Mombasa, 
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also over 
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several other localities on 
the African Continent, in virtue of his having been elected to succeed 

his father Syed Sultan, who had conquered them from the Portuguese. Hence, 
as 

the suffrages 
of the tribes of Oman contributed to invest the late Syed Saeed with supreme authority 

over 
those dependencies, it is but reasonable to suppose that the tribes at the present day claim the 

same 
privilege still. And further, 

as 
Syed Sultan does not appear to have arrogated to himself the right 

to 
dispose of the foreign possessions of the kingdom, there is 

no valid ground for presuming that his 
son 

could legitimately exercise that prerogative. 
"Moreover, the argument drawn from 

a 
comparison of t.he sovereign's right to dispose of the sovereignly, because the property of the State 

was 
considered to form part of his private estate, 

is fallacious. The sovereignty, 
as we 

have seen, 
depended 

on 
election, and, strictly speaking, 

the State property of Oman 
was confined almost exclusively 

to the fortresses of the kingdom, 
which 

a successor 
generally inherited, though 

not 
unfrequently obliged to coerce some of the garrisons to 

rc-ognise his supremacy. All other movable and immovable property, including what 
he originsally possessed, 

as 
well 

as 
what he had added thereto during his reign from the public 

revenue, were 
held 

as 
belontring 

to the private 
estate of his predecessor. Such undoubtedly is, 

and ever has been, the law of inheritance in the .succession among the Imams and kings of Oman, 
and it. serves to 

explain 
what otherwise seems most anomalous in the will of the late Sultan Sved 

Saeed. By that instrument the testator directs that, after the payment of certain legacies, 
all his property, including his ships of war 

(two only excepted, which 
are 

bequeathed 
to the "Treasury of the Mussulmans/' that is, to the State), his money, palaces, furniture, 

plantations, &c., shall be divided among his surviving children 'according 
as 

God has 
ordained in His law;' but 

no 
provision whatever is made for the succession, and 

no 
bequests 

devised from any property which, agreeably with pre-existing 
usage, was 

considered to be public, and, therefore, 
as 

belonging of right 
to his successor in the sovereignty. It 

was 
in 

accordance with this law that His Highness Syed Majid (who, never'heless, claims the sovereignty of the Zanzibar territories and all the rights appertaining thereto) only shared equally with his brothers in the inheritance left hy their father. Thus Colonel Rigby 
says— 

' 
The ships of war, guns, stores of every 

description, 
even 

the 
arms 

in the possession of the 
troops, 

were set down at a 
valuation, and charged against the 

new 
ruler 

as a 
debt due to his 

father's estate/ 

" 
The only logical inference deducible from the foregoing considerations is in strict 

accordance with the conclusion arrived at 
by the Reverend Mr. Badger after a 

careful inquiry 
into the laws which have regulated the succession among the Imams and kings of Oman for 
several centuries. He writes—' Among all the sovereigns 

* * * * not one occurs who 
is recorded to have assumed or 

exercised the right of nominating 
a successor, or of disposing 

of his territories by will 
or 

otherwise. On the death of 
a 

ruler, the member of his family 
who happened 

to exercise the greatest influence at the time, either put himself forward, 
or 

was 
put forward by the people, to succeed to the sovereignty. The claim 

was 
frequently 

disputed by other of the relations of the deceased, and intestine family 
wars 

followed, the 
strongest ultimately gaining the ascendancy; but even in such 

cases the right to the sovereignty does not appear to have been regarded 
as 

valid without the concurrence of the principal tribes/ 

" 
Having thus, 

as 
I conceive, fairly answered all arguments adduced in support of 

the contrary view, and proved 
as 

well by the admission of His Highness Syed Majid and 
of Colonel Rigby 

as 
by historical evidence, that the sovereigns of Oman did not, in 

accordance with pre-established law or usage, possess the right of disposing of their dominions, 
it results that the claims of Syed Majid 

to the sovereignty of the Zanzibar territories, 
as 

in 
any degree founded 

on 
the will 

or 
wishes of the late Syed Saeed, 

are 
invalid and nugatory. 

"1 proceed, in the next place, 
to consider the argument adduced by Syed Majid in 

behalf of his claims to the sovereignty, 
on the ground of his having been recognised 

as the 
ruler of Zanzibar and its African dependencies by several of th^ foreign powers which had 
previously been in alliance with his predecessor and tat'ier, the late S\ed Saeed. It is 

un- 
necessarv, 

however, to 
enlarge 

on 
that point, which has already been sufficiently discussed in 

paragraph 9 of this report; for even 
admitting that the alleged recognition has actually been 

tendered bv France and the United States of America, and subsequently by the Hanseatic 
Kepublic after 

a 
full investigation into the merits of the dispute regarding the sovereignty 

still pending between Syed Majid and Syed Thoweynee (which, at best, 
is every 

doubtful), 

the fact that the two brothers have voluntarily referred the settlement of their differences in 
that respect to the Right Hon'ble the Governor General, is 

a 
plain avowal of the existence 

of their rival claims, and effectually invalidates any such recognition unless eventually found 

to be in accordance with the final decision of the elected arbitrator. 

«The argument next adduced by Syed Majid, 
on 

the ground of his having been 
acknowledged "as sovereign bv his elder brother Syed Thoweynee of Muscat being based 

on one-sided evidence, is inadmissible. His Highness alleges that Mahomed bin Salem, the 
23 
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envoy of Syed Thoweynee, who 
was 

fully authorised to come to an 
understandiu^ with him 

on 
all public 

as 
well 

as 
private matters connected with the death of their late father, did fully 

recognise that Zanzibar and its African dependencies belonged of right 
to him; 

on 
the other hand, Syed Thoweynee disavows that any such concession 

was ever 
authorised 

or made by 
or for him, and unhappily 

no 
documentary evidence is forthcoming 

to verify the assertion of 
either party. For 

a 
similar reason, no 

satisfactory conclusion 
can 

be drawn from the contra dictory statements regarding the yearly grant of forty thousand 
crowns 

which Syed Majid 
agreed 

to pay to 
Syed Thoweynee, the latter affirming that his agent accepted it in his behalf 

as tribute ; whereas Syed Majid insists that it 
was 

given and accepted 
as a 

friendly gift, and on the express condition that he ehould be recognized by his brother Thoweynee 
as the supreme ruler of Zanzibar and its dependencies. The only two documents produced by Syed Majid 

in support of his assertions have already been described in paragraph 11. In the letter 
written by Mahomed bin Salem from Muscat to the Customs Master at Zanzibar, he does, 
indeed, speak of the grant made by Majid to 

Thoweynee 
as a " 

musaadeh/' that is, 
an 

aid 
or 

subsidy; but, 
on 

the 
one 

hand, it is by 
no means 

apparent that Syed Thoweynee sanctioned 
such a 

definition of the money; and, 
on 

the other, it is just the style which Mahomed bin 
Salem might be expected to adopt in writing 

to Zanzibar, supposing, what 1 believe to be 
now 

generally believed, that the said agent, in his transactions between the two brothers, had managed to deceive both parties 
to his 

own 
advantage. The other document, namely, Syed Majid's order to the Customs Master at Zanzibar to pay to his brother 

a 
"subsidy" of forty 

thousand 
crowns per annum, may go a 

certain way to indicate what His Highnesses 
own views were in bestowing the grant, but it fails to prove in any degree that Syed Thoweynee 

had accepted it in that light. His Highness, in his written statement, also alludes to a de claration which Mahomed bin Salem had drawn up, 
previous 

to 
quitting Zanzibar, for present 

ation to 
Syed Thoweynee 

on his return to Muscat. According 
to him it 

was to the following 
effect: '1, Mahomed bin Salem, ask of Majid bin Saeed an annual subsidy of forty 
thousand 

crowns in behalf of his brother Thoweynee bin Saeed/* No such paper is foith- coming; and the circumstances under which it is stated to have been prepared 
are so 

improbable 

as to throw considerable doubt 
on 

His Highnesses veracity. 
Summing 

up the foregoing considerations, I 
am 

led to conclude that Syed Majid's 
claims to the independent sovereignty of Zanzibar, 

as 
based 

on 
his alleged recognition by 

Syed Thoweynee of Muscat, through the medium of his agent and plenipotentiary, ^Mahomed 

bin Salem, must be pronounced untenable. 

" 
I shall 

now 
proceed to discuss the last argument urged in behalf of Sved Majid's 

claims, namely, his election 
as 

their sovereign by the chiefs of Zanzibar and its African dependencies. His Highnesses 
own statement to that effect, already quoted in paragraph 10, 

is 
fully confirmed by the testimony of Colonel Rigby, who believes that, if the suffrages of the princmal chiefs were 

taken, the majority would undoubtedly elect Syed Majid in pre ference to 
Syed Thoweynee. And again, referring 

to the meditated attack from Muscat in 1H69, the 
same 

officer writes—' When the invasion of the Zanzibar dominions by Syed Th'tweynee 
was 

expected, the inhabitants of the Sowahili 
rose en masse to support Syed Majid. Many tribes under their 

own 
chiefs 

came over to Zanzibar; 
every accessible point 

on the coast was 
occupied; and when some of the dhows which had Syed Thoweynee's troops 

on 
board endeavoured to procure wood and water, they 

were 
driven from every point at which they attempted to land, and at 

length 
were 

obliged, in consequence, to surrrender to Syed Majid 
s 

ships of war. At Zanzibar the Sowahili population and the natives of the Comoro Isles 
were all 

in arms to support Syed Majid, and I heard may of them state, 
as a reason for doing 

so, that the Muscat Arabs come here to 
kidnap their children and carry them away as slaves. 1 he Northern Arabs 

are 
feared and hated at Zanzibar/ 

<5 mu 
ng t0 anal ) rse 

the 
causes which led to this general preference of byed Majid to Syed Th.nveynee, there 

is no 
good 

reason to doubt the fact of its existence, 
lhat beino. the case, the question natarally arises whether such recognition 

ol his claims validly entitles Syed Majid 
to the sovereignty of Zanzibar and its African dependencies. 

"I have already pointed 
out (paragraph 14) that the supreme power over 

Oman 
was con erred )y 

election, and (paragraph 3) that, 
m virtue of that election. His late Hio-hness Syed Saeed acquired the right of sovereignty 
over 

the African dependencies of the parent State. It does not appear however (in fact it is highly improbable), that the people of those dependencies enjoyed the privilege of sharing in the election of the 
soverei-n 

Up 

The distinction between the import of the Arabic terms which I have thrniioimnf 
„ ,1 v .1 n . 

subsidy 
" and " tribute " is m .at e X] licit. The former denotes a 

gift accorded solely by 

thTwi^ 

of 

t^ ^ 

ktter implies obligation, and a 
proof of Bubjection to superior authority ^ lver > 
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to the period referred to, they were doubtless regarded as a conquered race, as subjects, not 
citizens, Tliey were ruled by local authorities generally sent from the seat oi government at 
Muscat, and, as a people, were not allowed any part in the public administration. For obvious 
reasons, such must necessarily have been the state of those countries on the accession of the 
late Syed Saeed. Their conquest by his predecessor was of recent date, and their subjection 
to Oman was, in many instances, merely nominal. Moreover, tbeir importance, both in a 
political and commercial point of view, was then inconsiderable, the Arabs valuing them moie 
as a nursery from whence they could readily procure an abundant supply ot slaves tlian for 
any other cause. Under such circumstances, it is not surprising that the people of Zanzibui 
and its African dependencies should have had no voice in the election of their sovereign. 

" But during the reign of His late Highness Syed Saeed, extending over a period of 
50 years, the general condition of those countries underwent a surprising chanfre : his 
sovereignty over them was firmly established ; large numbers of Arabs from Oman settled on 
the African mainland and the adjacent islands; agriculture and commerce were extensively 
promoted; and Zanzibar, which, in 1834, was described by the Commander of Her Majesty s 
ship Imogens as having r little or no trade/ possessed, in 1859, an aggregate trade estimated 
at £1,66^,577 sterling. Moreover, the revenue derivable from those dependencies has in 
creased in the same ratio. Colonel Rigby writes— f Twenty-five years ago the late Imam 
did not receive more than 50,000 Crowns of annual revenue from his Airican possessions. 
In 1847 it had increased to 185,000 Crowns, and at present the revenue amounts to ̂ 06,000 
Crowns/ In 1840 Syed Saeed removed the seat of government from Muscat to Zanzibar, 
ruling Oman mostly through a deputy; and it was doubtless owing to the presence and 
energy of the sovereign that the African possessions of the kingdom made such remarkable 
and social commercial progress. Those possessions are actually more extensive, and far more 
fertile and valuable in every way, than the Arabian territories, and their annual revenue 
exceeds the revenue of the latter to the amount of 77,000 Crowns, or about £ 16,000 sterling. 

"Such bein» the altered condition and circumstances of the African dependencies, it 
seems consonant with reason and justice (considering the form of government which prevailed 
in Oman) that the people of those countries should have a voice in the election of the 
sovereign. They accordingly availed themselves of the prerogative on the death ot the late 
Syed Saeed, and chose his son Syed Majid to be their ruler in preference to Syed Thoweynee 
who had succeeded to the sovereignty of the parent State. Regarded from one point of view, 
the act may be characterised as a national revolution, and as such Syed Ihoweynee, the 
sovereign of Oman, was justified in counteracting it, and in attempting to establish his own 
claims by an appeal to arms, if success Was unattainable in any other \vay. Apait fiom all 
consideration of the alleged cause which eventually induced him to project an invasion of the 
Zanzibar ierritories for that purpose, namely, the non-payment by Syed Majid of the stipulated 
sum of 40,000 Crowns after the first year, the custom in similar cases which had invariably 
obtained, especially in the family of the reigning dynasty on the demise of the sovereign, fully 
warranted Syed Thoweynee in regarding the attitude assumed by Syed Majid as an usurpation 
of the hereditary rights of the sovereigns of Oman. 

"Syed Thoweynee prepared accordingly to contest the sovereignty of the African 
dependencies with his brother Majid. With that object in view, he probably resorted to 
every available stratagem to secure ultimate success; and there can be little doubt that 
when his expedition sailed from Muscat, he had won over a party at Zanzibar, chiefly among 
the El Harth tribe, who were ready to co-operate with him. Syed Majid, on the other hand, 
made corresponding preparations to repel the invasion, and it may fairly be presumed that he 
was equally active in the use of all the intrigues sanctioned by Arab warfare to thwart the 
schemes of his antagonist. There is every reason, indeed, to believe that to this end he took 
advantage of the misunderstanding which existed at the time between Syed Thoweynee and 
Syed Toorkee of Sohar, and, by dint of persuasions and promises, succeeded in enlisting the 
latter on his side. 

«s,^ wa s the attitude of the belligerent parties when the Government of Bombay 
interposed to prevent a collision between them. At the solicitation ot the late Lord 
Elphinstone, Sved Thoweynee agreed to abandon the expedition to Zanzibar, and to refer his 
claims to the" arbitration of the Right Hobble the Governor General of India, Syed 
Majid at Zanzibar consenting, through Colonel Rigby, to abide in like manner by his 
Lordship's decision. 

ci The intrigues and counter -intrisues which followed this arrangement, and which in 
October of last vear resulted in an insurrection of the El Harth tribe at Zanzibar, headed 
In- Sved Buro-ash, call for notice, chiefly with a view to determine the culpability of the 
respective parties in fomenting them. Under the plea of recalling a part of the expedition 

2 5 
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which had preceded him to Zanzibar, Syed Thoweynee 
is 

severely censured for having attempted 
through his agent Hamed bin Salem, to settle the differences subsisting between himself and 
his brother Syed Majid, after he had consented to submit his claims to the arbitration of the 
Governor General of India. His Highness's explanation of that transaction is to the following 

effect: 
f 
After receiving the communication from Government through Colonel Russell, which 

induced 
me to abandon the expedition and to submit my case to the arbitration of the Governor 

General I understood that an 
officer would be sent to Zanzibar to institute the necessary inquiries; and 

as 
I deemed it desirable to have 

an 
agent 

on 
the spot to represent me, I decided 

to send Hamed bin Salem in that capacity. My intention in this respect 
was 

communicated 
to Colonel Russell. I do not deny having written the letter to Syed Majid, but I declare 
that it was one 

of friendship merely, and that any overtures which miorht have been made by 
Hamed bin Salem, in consequence of that letter, 

were 
by 

no means 
designed to set aside the 

final arbitration of the Governor General. My intention was, 
by previously establishing 

a 
more 

friendly understanding with Syed Majid, 
to render the task of arbitration easier, and the 

result 
more 

satisfactory to both parties/ Allowing for 
a 

certain degree of Native disingenuous- 

ness 
in this apology, it is not devoid of plausibility; and, further, it is very questionable 

whether Syed Thoweynee fully appreciated the extent of restraint which he had voluntarily 
incurred bv accepting the arbitration of 

a 
third party. On all such points of international 

law, Syed Majid had the advantage of Colonel Rigby's constant advice and guidance; whereas 
the British Agent at Muscat at the time 

was an 
illiterate Jew, who 

was as 
incapable of advising 

Syed Thoweynee 
as 

His Highness 
was 

naturally backward to consult him. 

" 
For the remaining charges brought against Syed Thoweynee, of having, through his 

agents and others, created disaffection at Zanzibar, and excited the El Harth tribe to rebel against Syed Majid, I must refer the Hon'ble the Governor in Council to my Muscat 
report, where His Highnesses vindication of himself is also recorded. On a 

careful review of 
the whole, it appears to me 

that, although Syed Thoweynee had not ceased to correspond 
directly with the disaffected at Zanzibar, and endeavoured to maintain 

a 
party there fa vorable 

to his ulterior views, nevertheless he is not 
justly chargeable with many of the actsalleged 

against his agents, 
nor 

with having instigated the rebellion of the El Harth in October 1859. 
I am 

confirmed in this conclusion by the opinion of Colonel Rigby, who, in writing of that 
tribe, says—' Their rebellion last year was not intended to favor either Syed Thoweynee 

or Syed Burgash, but with the hope of getting rid of the whole family of the late Imam, and 
then obtaining possession of the government. Moreover, the charges made against Hamed bin 
Salem, 

as 
Syed Thoweynee's principal agent, in fomenting the insurrection at Zanzibar, 

are considerably qualified by the friendly tenor of the letters addressed to that individual 
on his 

final departure for Muscat by Syed Majid himself; and Sooliman bin Hamed, His Highnesses 
Vizier, in whose integrity Colonel Rigby formerly placed great confidence, but whom he has 
since had cause to regard 

as a most 
unprincipled 

man, did not hesitate, in 
a 

letter to Syed 
Thoweynee, to 

imply that Colonel Rigby 
was 

in 
some 

degree responsible for the rebellion 
of 1859, and for the subsequent conduct of Syed Burgash. 

" 
The 

numerous 
charges made against Syed Thoweynee, of having acted throughout under 

French influence, 
were 

rebutted by His Highness in the manner 
already reported. I am 

further 
able to confirm his account of the paper submitted to him by the French Commodore De Langle 
by the admission of Syed Majid, who, in his written statement, relates that, 

on 
being appealed 

to 
by the former to do so, he had directed his Vizier, Sooliman bin Hamed, to draw up a 

docu 
ment of precisely the eame 

import 
as that described by Syed Thoweynee 

as 
having been handed 

to him at Muscat by the French Commodore. Equally inconclusive in proof of this general 
imputation is the statement of Colonel Rigby that 

' 
the French Consul 

was 
known to be carrying 

on a very active correspondence with Syed Thoweynee^. The letters from Muscat to the disaffected Arabs here (Zanzibar) 
were sent under 

cover to the French Consul. That 
no collusion existed in this matter between the parties referred to is evident from the tenor of the 

French Consul's official despatch 
to 

Syed Thoweynee, wherein he especiiilly requests His Highness 
* not to enclose any letters for the Arabs at Zanzibar in the letters which he may do him the honor to address to him/ Moreover, Syed Majid frankly acknowledged that he 

had 
no 

evidence to prove that his brother had been acting under the influence of the French; 
and Colonel Rigby himself, who had framed several of his inferential charges against Syed 
Thoweynee in that respect, 

on 
the assertions of the then French Consul at Zanzibar, 

now writes—■ From subsequent experience 1 have very little faith in anything the French Consul 
said 

on any 
subject/ 

" 
But if Syed Thoweynee is justly chargeable in any 

degree with having intrigued against 
Syed Majid after he had consented to refer the settlement of his claims to the arbitration of the 
Governor General of India, Syed Majid is equally 

open to the imputation of having kept 
up a secret correspondence with Syed Toorkee of Sohar, who 

was 
well known to be disaffected 

towards his suzerain at 
Muscat, and 

was 
actively plotting with the tribes and with the 

26 
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Wahabees to andermme his authority 
over 

Oman. The explanation given by Syed Majid of 
the guns, money, and munitions of war, 

despatched by him to Syed Toorkee in March 1859, 
is undoubtedly 

very 
plausible, but under the circumstances of the 

case 
it fails to carry conviction to the mind of any one 

well versed in the sophistry and equivocation of the Arabs. 
The letter also written by Syed Majid at the commencement of the current year to his brother 
at Sohar, advising him of 

a 
remittance of 2,000 dollars, which letter 

was 
intercepted by Syed 

Thoweynee, is another ground of suspicion against the former; and in a 
subsequent part of 

this report I shall have occasion to add 
some 

further considerations which will tend to confirm 
the opinion here expressed—that His Highness, Syed Majid, chiefly with 

a 
view to strengthen his 

own 
position, 

was not less actively engaged against Syed Thoweynee, through 
the medium of Syed Toorkee of Sohar, than 

was 
Syed Thoweynee, through his agent at Zanzibar, to weaken the authority of his brother, Syed Majid. 

" 
I have deemed it pertinent to enter into the foregoing discussion of the mutual 

attitude and conduct of the two rival brothers 
as a 

precaution against 
any unfair bias towards 

either. That done, it is of 
some 

importance 
to 

enquire what would have been the probable 
result had the two parties 

come 
into actual collision 

on 
the occasion of Syed Thovveynee's 

projected invasion of Zanzibar, 

" 
As regards the chances of Syed Thoweynee, I have already written 

as 
follows 

: 
' 
Colonel Rigby, in his account of the preparation made by Syed Majid 

to resist the expected invasion, represents the 
means at the disposal of the latter 

as 
ample to destroy 

any force brought against him, dwelling especially 
on 

the enthusiasm of the people in his 

cause. 
Subsequently, however, and long after the expedition of Syed Thoweynee had 

returned to Muscat, his report of the state of affairs at Zanzibar led the Government to 
conclude that the position of Syed Majid at Zanzibar 

was not secure; and later still, 
on the occasion of the outbreak, when the El Harth Arabs 

rose in support of Syed Burgash, 
all the force which Syed Majid could bring against them 

was 
ineffectual, and the rising 

was not 
suppressed until assistance from three British meu-of-war had been sent to co-operate 

with them, when, 
as 

it is averred, the Arabs yielded, because they would not fight against the 
British/ Subsequent inquiry confirms 

me 
rather than otherwise in the obvious drift of the foregoing quotation. The elaborate account given by His Highness Syed Majid of the 

insurrection at Zanzibar in October 1859, divested of its vain colouring, shows that he 
was hard pressed by the insurgents; and Colonel Rigby, in attempting to reconcile 

a 
former 

statement of his, that the faction opposed 
to 

Majid 
was ' 

utterly contemptible/ with the 
position which that faction had secured 

on 
the occasion referred to, renders it highly probable 

that, without the opportune assistance of the British, the struggle would have been prolonged, 
and the final result at least doubtful. 

" 
On the other hand, however, it is by 

no means 
certain that the success 

of the insur 
gents would have placed Zanzibar in the hands of Syed Thoweynee. Colonel Rigby is of 
opinion that the El Harth were 

actuated by private aims, and availed themselves of Syed 
Thoweynee's antagonism to 

Syed Majid, 
not for his sake, but for their own, 

anxious, if 
possible, 'to get rid of the whole family of the late Imam/ Besides which (and the 
reflection is of considerable importance in this inquiry) there is strong 

reasons tor 
believing 

that, had Syed Thoweynee persisted in the invasion of Zanzibar, the tribes in Oman would have' 
thrown off their allegiance to him, and elected another sovereign in his stead. 

This contingency 
was 

foreseen by the late Lord Elphinstone, and recorded by him in 
an able minute, "dated lOtb August 1859. His Lordship writes—' When Colonel Russell 

was at Muscat, he heard it said openly that it 
was 

well for Syed Thoweynee that he had 
listened to the advice of this Government and returned to Muscat; for, if he had not done 

so, 
Syed Toorkee would undoubtedly have attacked Muscat in his absence, and would 

probably have succeeded in making himself master of it, and of all the Imam's possessions 

in Oman. In grasping 
at the shadow of sovereignty in Zanzibar, Syed Thoweynee would 

have lost the 
^substance 

in Muscat/ Considering that Muscat would have been almost 
denuded of ships and troops; that the restless and mercenary tribes of Oman have never failed to seize any 

promising opportunity for bartering their influence and acquiring 

<rain and that 
Syed Toorkee was on 

the spot quite prepared 
to avail himself ot so 

favorable 

an 
occasion for promoting his own 

ambitious views, there is good ground for believing 

that 
a 

civil war* would have followed the continued absence of Syed Thoweynee, and 
that the sovereignty of Oman would have been lost to him perhaps for 

ever. 
Syed 

Maiid 
was 

doubtless fully 
aware of these weak points in the position of his antagonist, 

and was not backward to take advantage of them. His strategy could best be carried 
out through his brother at Sohar, who 

was 
accordingly subsidised by him to that end. 

Under the circumstances of the case, 'it was 
quite natural/ 

so writes Jjord Llphin- 

stone, ' 
that Syed M;ijid should send 

arms 
and ammunition to 

Syed Toorkee with the view 
of Sved Toorkee's creating 

a 
diversion in his favor at Muscat. 
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" 
To 

sum up: 
Considering the fact that the people of Zanzibar and its African dependencies did, 

on the death of the late Syed Saeed, elect his son, 
Syed Majid, 

to be their 
ruler in his stead ; 

considering that the altered condition of those dependencies during 
the last half century fully entitled them to that privilege; considering that, if Syed Thoweynee, the dected sovereign of the parent State, 

was 
justified in coercing them into submission, the people of the African dependencies, 

on 
the other hand, 

were 
equally 

justified in resisting him ; 
considering that it is very doubtful whether any such attempt 

on 
his part would have been successful, and considering the probability that, if persisted 

in by Syed Thoweynee, the projected invasion of Zanzibar would have led to the forfeiture 
of his supremacy over 

Oman, I arrive at the conclusion, 
on 

these grounds .exclusively, 
that Syed Majid's claims to the sovereignty of Zanzibar and its African dependencies 

are 
superior 

to any which 
can 

be adduced in favor of Syed Thoweynee." 
Brigadier Coghlan then proceeded to show how, 

on 
the ground of expe diency, it 

was 
advisable that Zanzibar should be separate from, and independent 

of, Muscat. This he showed from Colonel Hamerton's correspondence, and the replies given by that officer to certain queries 
on 

the subject addressed to him by Brigadier Coghlan. The arguments brought forward in favor of the separation 
on 

the 
score 

of expediency 
were 

briefly— 

That the connection which existed between Oman and 
a 

country 
so 

far 
remote as Kast A.frica 

was 
always 

an unnatural one, and 
ever 

prejudi 
cial to the interests of both countries ; That the 

severance of Muscat from Zanzibar would 
soon 

lead to the stoppage of the slave trade; and 
That if Zanzibar 

were 
constituted 

an 
independent State, the dominions of its ruler would extend into the interior, his power would be consoli dated, and, in time, it might form 

a 
considerable African kingdom. 

The Brigadier concluded— 

" 
It would be superfluous to add anything 

to these considerations in favor of the independent sovereignty of Zanzibar. Fortunately, the expediency 
on 

which they 
are 

based, and which alone would hardly suffice to 
justify the severance of that State from the parent State of Muscat, 

is 
adequately supported and confirmed by the arguments founded 

on 
ri-ht which have already been discussed in the foregoing pages." 

The Bombay Government, in 
a 

resolution passed 
on 

this subject, intimated 
their agreement in the conclusions arrived at 

by Brigadier Coghlan. 

22. Brigadier Coghlan's 
report. 

Question 
of subsidy from Zan 

zibar .—^ext as to the question of the Zanzibar subsidy, Brigadier Co^hlan 
wrote in 

continuation of the paragraph last quoted 
:— 

of 

o'm'm 

' ta 
!! dins ] h f 

e 
, 

combined considerations, Syed Thoweynee, 
as 

the sovereign 
of Gman, 

may still be deemed to have 
some claim 

on 
the African territories of the kingdom either 

m virtue of the relationship which has hitherto existed between those dependencies and the parent State, 
or 

by 
way of indemnity for any chance which, though having consented •m,/ 'l 

I >ro J eo 
ted invasion of Zanzibar, he may consider that he has forfeited for himself and his successors, or in 

consideration of his recognition of the future independence of the Zanzibar State, I judge that the compensation offered 
on 

that behalf by Syed Maiid is 
a bur equivalent for such pretens.ons. The amount of that compensation is n.ore than Sved 

first volmiteered to p-rant to 

^ 

was 
ackuowle 

, 
d g ed by Syed Majid himself when he 

.f hos.il,ties 
were going on 

in Oman, 

considZblyOn th^e^th 

of 

H^bi 

8 
ioThe m-gumen^OT sohe'tations^of 

1 

Mahemed^^n^alem^Sve^Ma^'d 

S 
" 
b 
®^ 

U(! " t ' l y. 
yielding 

amount to an 
annual subsidy 

of 40,000 Crowns. 
' ' * 

^ L,l ̂ a " 
to ra ' 8e 
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" 
With regard 

to the conditions averred by Syed Majid 
to have been insisted 

ou 
by him 

in voting this grant, namely,that he should be recognised by Syed Thoweynee 
as 

his 
father's 

successor over the Zanzibar territories, and secondly, that Syed Thoweynee should 
abstain in future from all hostilities with their 

common 
brother, Syed Toorkee, there is 

no 
evi 

dence whatever to corroborate His Highnesses allegation; and my firm conviction is, that 
no 

such 
terms were 

attached to the concession. It is, 
moreover, 

worthy of note that Syed Majid, in 
his written statement, entirely overlooks what he had before repeatedly declared, namely, that 
ten thousand of the stipulated 

sum 
of 40,000 Crowns 

were to be transferred to 
Syed Toorkee, 

and that it 
was on account of Syed Thoweynee's infringement of that condition that he dis 

continued the payment of the subsidy to the latter. Colonel Rigby, who had formerly hazard 
ed these statements on the authority of His Highness, 

now 
writes—' I consider it very unlikely that any 

stipulation 
was 

made relative to one-fourth of the promised subsidy being 
paid to Syed Toorkee. I have always had great doubts 

on 
this point, because Thoweynee 

and Toorkee 
were on 

bad terms with each other at the time the agreement with Mahomed 
bin Salem 

was 
made, and also because I was 

informed that the allowance made from the 
Muscat treasury to Sohar during the life of the late Imam 

was 
only 1,200 Crowns per annum. If the whole of the tribute to the Wahabee Chief is, and always has been, paid from the Muscat 

treasury, it is, I consider, 
a 

strong confirmation of the doubts which I entertain, for Syed 
Toorkee could have 

no 
possible claim to such 

a 
payment from the Zanzibar treasury/ These suspicions 

are 
confirmed by the tenor of Syed Majid's note to the Customs Master at Zanzibar, 

wherein he states as 
follows 

: * We have irranted to our 
brother Thoweynee bin Saeed 

a subsidy of 40,000 Crowns every year, from the beginning of the year 1274, half (to be paid) 
during the south-west monsoon, and the other halt during the north-east monsoon/—without 
hinting that the payment of the said gratuity 

was to be dependent 
on the observance of any condition by His Highness Syed Thoweynee. 

" 
Under these circumstances, I 

am 
of opinion that Syed Majid is bound to Syed Thoweynee in the sum of 40,000 Crowns per annum ; and further, considering 

that the existing variance between the two brothers originated in the non-fulfilment 
of that obligation by the former, under the false plea that the latter had violated the 
attached condition, I judge that it would be only fair that Syed Majid should be called upon 
to make good his original promise by disbursing 

to 
Syed Th.vveynee the 

arrears 
of the stipulated subsidy due since the date when its payment 

was 
suspended." 

On the question of the subsidy it 
was 

observed by the Bombay Gov 
ernment— 

" 
In seeking for 

a 
basis of compromise, attention is naturally directed to the terms on which it is admitted Syed Thoweynee 

was 
willing to resign his claims. Those terms were briefly 

an 
annual payment of 40,000 Crowns by Zanzibar to 

Muscat, but whether 
as tribute 

or 
a 

subsidy is disputed. The Hon'ble the Governor in Council is very 
willing 

to admit that 
the dispute involves 

a 
question of considerable importance, but he is of opinion that the negotiation indicates the nature of the compromise which the British Government should 

arrange. He thinks then 
as an 

indemnity for abandoning his claims 
on 

his father's African 
dominions 

as an 
adjustment of the balance between the two inheritances, the ruler of 

Zanzibar should make 
an 

annual payment to the ruler of Muscat of 40,000 Crowns, and that 
this payment should be regarded 

as a 
subsidy and not as a 

tribute. It would be unjust to 
the prosperous state of Zanzibar, exhibiting 

as 
it does 

so much evidence ot vitality and 
such aptitude for self -development, to make it tributary to any foreign sovereign, and espe cially to one of 

so 
effete 

a state as 
Muscat. A subsidy, 

on 
the other hand, would 

secure to Syed Thoweynee 
as 

much material advantage 
as he could fairly have expected, under all these 

circumstances, had he succeeded in dethroning his brother; it being always remembered, 
as clearly shown by Brigadier Coghlan and Colonel Rigby, that the defeat of Syed Majid 

would not, 
as a matter of course, have secured the recognition of Syed Thoweynee 

as 
sovereign 

of all the African dominions of the late Imam." 

23. Bxugadier Coghlan's Report. Duration of subsidy .—With regard 

to the duration of subsidy, Brigadier Coghlan thus expressed himself— 

" A 
question of considerable importance, touching the duration of this subsidy, here 

suggests itself. The arrangement, 
as 

it stands, has respect to the two brothers only, 
no pro 

vision whatever being made that it should continue in force beyond their 
own 

lifetime. But, 
althouo-h the strict letter of all 

we 
know of the mutual agreement might be held to sanction 

that 
limitation, 

the grounds 
upon which the subsidy 

was 
first offered by Syed Majid, and 

the considerations which subsequently induced him to increase the amount to 40,000 Crowns 
29 

٣٧ المرجع: IOR/L/PS/18/B150A حق النشر: رخصة حكومة مفتوحة

 http://www.qdl.qa/العربية/archive/81055/vdc_100023935572.0x000026 :اعرض على مكتبة قطر الرقمية 

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/2/
http://www.qdl.qa/%D8%A7%D9%84%D8%B9%D8%B1%D8%A8%D9%8A%D8%A9/archive/81055/vdc_100023935572.0x000026?utm_source=testpdfdownload&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=PDFdownload


"مُلخّص المراسلات المتعلّقة بشؤون زنزبار من ١٨٥٦ إلى ١٨٧٢." أعدّه
النقيب ب. د. هندرسون، الملحق بالإدارة الخارجية" [٩٩ظ] (١١٤/٣٨)

30 

Arljitration of Government of India. 

per annum, 
clearly imply that he 

was 
negotiating 

1 on 
the part of the Zanzibar State, and that 

the subsidy 
was to be 

a 
permanent charge 

on 
its revenues in behalf of the sovereign of 

Muscat. The transaction, indeed, 
as 

far 
as 

I 
can 

judge from the evidence adduced, 
was a fimily compact, entered into by Syed Thowevnee and Syed Majid 

as 
the representatives of 

their brothers and of the subjects of the two States, whereby it 
was 

agreed to divide the sovereignty exercised by their late father into two 
nearly equal shares,—the Zanzibar State engaging, throu<ih Syed Majid, 

to compensate the Muscat State for the loss which it would 
sustain by the partition 

to the extent of 40,000 Crowns per annum.^ 
With regard to this point the Bombay Government observed— 

" 
There 

are two 
points 

to be noticed before the Hon'ble the Governor in Council 
com mits this important question 

to the final decision of the Right Hon^ble the Governor 
General; 

" 
1st, is the subsidy 

to be permanent ? 

" 
2nd, is it to be paid with arrears ? 

" 
The Hon^ble the Governor in Council regards the first of these questions 

as one of peculiar difficulty. The British Government must 
naturally be reluctant to impose 

a 
perpetual 

burden 
on 

Zanzibar, for the purpose of buying off, 
as 

it were, a 
claimant to the sovereignty; 

but, 
on a 

balance of all the considerations which surround the question, this 
seems the onlv expedient which 

can 
be adopted. Syed Thoweynee 

can 
hardly with honor resign the 

claims of his country—not merely his 
own 

claims—for 
a 

payment which is to determine with 
his 

own 
life. A temporary assignment from the 

revenues of Zanzibar would only film 
over the wound which Muscat sustains by the loss of the African dependencies, and irritation 

would again break out on 
Syed Thoweynee's death. By the permanent subsidy, 

a 
motive 

is given 
to Muscat to abstain from all ambitious movements against its wealthier brother 

; it" that motive 
was 

removed, designs 
on 

Zanzibar would, from generation to generation, be 
the great point of honor,—the great centre of intrigue,—to which would converge all the daring and adventurous spirits in Oman. The subsidy will be well spent money, if it 
preserves Zanzibar from those attacks to which it must otherwise be liable from the needv 
ambition of Muscat. 

" 
Next 

as to the 
arrears. 

Brigadier Coghlan is of opinion that they should be demanded 
from Syed Majid. The Hon^ble the Governor in Council will not dispute the conclusion that, in strict justice, Syed Majid is liable to his brother for the arrears, 

though it is certainly 
open to 

question. But 
as 

the arrangement under discussion is essentially 
one 

of compromise, 
it should be considered whether the demand is expedient. The Hon^ble the Governor in 
( ouncil cannot think that it is. It must be remembered that Zanzibar has its financial 
difficulties 

as 
well 

as 
Muscat, and it is of obvious policy 

not to impose any burthens 
on Syed Majid from which he cannot be reasonably expected 

to free himself by careful 
and judicious administration. it is probable that, if not overwhelmed at the outset by extraordinary charges and embarrassments, Zanzibar, by the ordinary 

progress of 
a 

State possessing great materials and facilities for 
commerce 

will, at no very distant period, be able to pay the subsidy without any severe strain 
on its resources, to regard it 

as a mere 
premium of insurance ; but it cannot be doubted that the payment must for 

some 
time be regarded 

as a 
heavy burthen, and great 

care must be taken that the vessel 
is not swamped at once 

by overloading. To impose 
a 

large liability for 
arrears on 

Syed Majid 
would imperil the stability of the whole arrangement; it would put the heaviest weight 

on the weakest part; for, 
as 

before stated, it is only 
now 

and for the next few years that the subsidy will prove an 
embarrassing burthen to Zanzibar. No pretext should be afforded to either party tor breaking the agreement; and, under this view, the Hon'ble the Governor in 

Council would not recommend that Syed Majid be held liable for 
more than two years'* 

arrears 
of subsidy, 

or 
80,000 Crowns. Such 

a sum 
will be of material benefit to Syed Thowey 

nee, and its payment will not be 
an 

insuperable difficulty 
to Syed Majid." 

24. B rigadier 
Coghlan's 

report. H is opinion as to terms of arbi 
tration and guarantee for fulfilment thereof. 

—Recapitulating the 
con- ciusions arrived at 

through the foregoing discussions, Brigadier Coghlan 
wrote— 

I submit the following results 
as 

the most equitable terms for settling the existing 
dispute between the rival parties 

: that Syed Majid should be confirmed in the independent sovereignty 
over Zanzibar and its African territories 

: 
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"Ind, that, 
as 

reorards the succession to that sovereignty, neither the ruler of Muscat, 

nor the tribes of Oman, shall have any ri^ht whatever to interfere; but the sovereign of Zanzibar, 
or 

the sovereign in conjunction with the people, shall be left absolutely free to make whatever arrangements they 
may deem expedient for appointing future successors to Syed Majid 

: 
<f 

3rt?, that, in consideration of these concessions, Syed Majid shall be bound to remit 
to 

Syed Thoweynee the stipulated yearly subsidy of 40,000 Crowns \ 
and, further, 

to 
liquidate all the 

arrears due on that account since the payment 
was 

suspended 
: 

" 
4eth, that this subsidy of 40,000 Crowns per annum 

shall be 
a 

primary and permanent charge 
on the revenues of the Zanzibar State, payable by the sovereign of that 

State to the ruling sovereign ot Muscat and Oman. 

" 
The liberty accorded 

me 
by the Hon'ble the Governor in Council of recommendin<; 

a 
fair adjustment of the differences existing between their Highnesses Syed Thoweynee and Syed Majid, has warranted 

me in submitting these terms as, in my opinion, the best which 

can 
be proposed to that end. 1 do not feel authorised to exceed the limits of my commission by advising 

any 
precautionary 

measures 
for the due observance of those terms 

by the rival parties; nevertheless, 
as 

it does not appear that the Right Hon'ble the Governor General 
has undertaken to guarantee that his final arbitration shall be carried out, and 

as 
it is 

more than probable that pretexts will be constantly devised 
on 

both sides to evade the obligations 
imposed by His Lordship's decision,—pretexts which, by re-opening the existing dispute, will 
entail the most disastrous consequences to the welfare of the two States,— 1 venture with much 
diffidence to suggest whether the following subsidiary terms 

might 
not be insisted 

on as a 
safe guard against such evasions: 

" 
btA, that no cause 

whatever, other than 
an open attempt 

on the part of Syed 
Thoweynee 

or 
his successors to infringe 

upon the independence of the Zanzibar sovereignty, shall be held to 
justify Syed Majid 

or 
his successors 

in with holding the stipulated subsidy 
: 

" 
6t/i, that in the event of any such attempt being made by the ruler of Muscat, 

or, on the other hand, in the event of the sovereign of the Zanzibar State failing, under 
any 

plea whatever, to pay the aforesaid subsidy, the aggrieved party shall submit 
the 

case to the Viceroy and Governor General of India before proceeding 
to settle 

the dispute by 
an 

appeal to arms/' 

25. Brigadier Coghlan's 
report. Ability of Zanzibar to pat the 

subsidy 
.—Syed Majid had, 

on 
the 11th September 1860, written to Colonel 

Rigby representing the inability of his State to pay a 
subsidy of 40,000 

Crowns annually. In forwarding the above to the Bombay Government, 
Colonel Bigby had entered into 

a 
full statement of Syed Majid's pecuniary 

resources 
of liabilities. On this subject Brigadier Coghlan 

wrote— 

" 
I have deemed it desirable to insist 

on 
the payment of the subsidy agreed 

on 
between 

the two 
parties, because various excuses are 

urged by Syed Majid 
to evade that obligation. 

The most reasonable of these 
is 

the actual condition of His Highness 
s 

finances. On this sub 
ject Colonel Rigby writes—' The difficulty arises from the embarrassed state of the Zanzibar 
treasury. Syed Majid is entirely dependent 

on 
the will of his Customs Master for supplies of 

monev, and were he 
now to bind himself to the payment of 

an 
annual sum, and the 

Customs Master subsequently refuse to advance the amount, Syed Majid might be com pelled to break bis engagement without any fault of his own/ As an 
offset, however, 

against the difficulty, Colonel Rigby subjoins— 
f 
But if His Highness could be persuaded 

to establish 
a 

small force of disciplined troops, with 
a 

few light 
guns, m 

place of the 
useless rabble 

now 
in his pay, and would also get nd of most of the large ships 

which he now 
has, and which are 

of 
no use 

whatever, and 
in 

place of them beep two 

or 
three small vessels efficiently manned, it would be 

a 
great direct saving 

to him ; 
and, 

knowing that he had troops he could rely 
on, he would feel 

more 
independent of the Arabs 

from the north, and of the Chiefs of tribes amongst whom he squanders 
so much money. 

Syed Mai id himself estimates the amount which he pays 
yearly 

in 
gratuities to the northern 

Arabs 
at'15,000 Crowns; and Colonel Rigby gives 

a list of several of the principal Chiefs of 
Zanzibar, who are 

subsidised by Syed Majid, and whose aggregate 
incomes 

from his treasury 
exceed 10,000 Crowns per annum. 

The saving of these sums 
alone (and there would certainly 

be 
no reason 

for their being continued when once 
the sovereignty of Zanzibar 

was secured to 
31 
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Sved Maiid) would suffice to cover more 
than one-half of the Muscat subsidy; and if, in 

addition thereto, His Highness would abstain from other useless expenditure, there can be no doubt that he would be able to meet the obligation with comparative ease. As regards his 
debts to the Customs Master, amounting to 327,000 Crowns, and those to his orphan brothers, 
whose share of their father's inheritance he has borrowed to the extent of 

seven lakhs ot crowns. 
Colonel Kigby, after reviewing Syed Majid^s 

financial position, 
comes to the conclusion that, 

with prudence and care, his existing liabilities might 
soon 

be paid o{f. 

" 
But the finances of Syed Thoweynee 

are 
comparatively 

as 
much embarrassed 

as 
those of 

Syed Majid, and the payment annually of 40,000 
Crowns by the latter, considering the capabili 
ties of the Zanzibar territories, will still leave 
him in better circumstances than the ruler of 
Muscat.* In fact, without that aid I do not perceive how Syed Thoweynee 

can 
continue long to administer the government of Oman. 

Hence, 
as so many grave considerations 

are involved in the prompt and regular payment of 
the stipulated subsidy, I trust that the Right 
Hon'ble the Governor General (should His Lordship coincide in the view here taken of the subject) will attach such sanction 

as he may 
to ensure 

the faithful discharge of that obligation by His Highness Syed 

Zanzibab. 

* The revenue of Zanzibar is estimated at Syed Majid 's outstanding liabilities, inde pendent of seven lakhs of crowns borrow 
ed from his orphan brothers (for the greater part of which, however, he holds 
their shares of the moveable and im 
moveable property, which fell to them by inheritance from their father) at 

M uscat. 
The revenue of Muscat is estimated at Syed Thoweynee's liabilities at 
deem expedient 
Majid." 

Crowns. 206,000 

327,000 

129,500 
81,000 

26. Brigadier Coghlan's report. His opinion on certain colla 
teral points.— In the next succeeding paragraphs of his report, Brigadier 
Coghlan proceeded 

to consider 
some 

collateral points connected with the main 
subject under discussion 

: (a.)—The propriety 
or 

otherwise of providing for the succession to the 
sofereignty of Zanzibar 

on 
the death of Syed Majid, who had 

no male issue. His remarks 
on 

this subject need not be noticed, 

as 
the Governor General in his award declined to offer 

on 
opinion 

in the matter. 
(6.)—The claims of the younger children of Syed Saeed at Zanzibar. 

Syed Thoweynee alleged that Syed Majid had wrongfully 
assumed the guardianship of these orphans and appropriated 

their shares in their father's inheritance. Syed Majid acknowledged 
his liability 

to them to the extent of seven lakhs of crowns, and justified his 
use 

of their property 
on 

the ground that he had 
been appointed 

a 
joint 

executor to his father's will, which will 

was 
in the possession of 

one 
of the other executors who resided 

at Mecca. Should this document be forthcoming, said Brigadier 
Coghlan, there would be 

an 
end of the dispute, otherwise Gov 

ernment might afterwards 
move 

in the matter to prevent dis 
putes between the brothers. 

(c.)—The 
course to he pursued with regard to Syed Burgash. Should the independent sovereignty be awarded to 

Syed Majid, Brigadier 
Goghlan suggested that Burgash should be permitted 

to reside 
at Zanzibar under surveillance of the British Consul. 

27. Brigadier Coghlan's 
report. 

Independence 
op Sohar and 

concluding suggestions.— 
Brigadier Coghlan had been directed by Government 

to make enquiries, both at Muscat and Zanzibar, with regard 
to the justice of 

the claim advanced by Syed Toorkee to the independent sovereignty of Sohar. 
The discussions pertaining 

to this question belong 
more 

properly 
to the history 

32 
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of Muscat, and it need only be briefly noted in the present precis that Brigadier 
Coghlan decided against the claim, and recommended that Syed Thoweynee 
should be officially informed of his recognition by the Government of India 

as the paramount sovereign of Sohar, and 
an 

intimation to the 
same 

effect being 
formally made to Syed Toorkee. 

Other suggestions made by Brigadier Coghlan 
were— {a) that should Zanzibar be declared 

a 
separate State, treaties of 

commerce 
and agreements for the suppression of slavery should be 

concluded separately with both States, inasmuch 
as 

the existing 
treaties had been concluded with Syed Saeed 

as 
sovereign of the 

combined States; 
(6) that 

a 
duly qualified British Agent, well acquainted with Arabic, 

should be appointed at Muscat, and that he should be independent 
of the Resident in the Persian Gulf. On this subject the Bombay 
Government observed that they had already recommended to the Secretary of State the establishment of 

a 
Professional Chair of 

Arabic at one 
of the English seats of learning. 

28. Recommendations of Bombay Government .—The Bombay Govern 
ment 

suggested, for consideration, the following propositions 
as 

offering the 
best solution of the many difficulties that surrounded the 

case: 

" 
I.—That His Highness Syed Majid'be declared ruler of Zanzibar and the African domi 

nions of His late Highness Syed Saeed. 

" 
II.—That the ruler of Zanzibar pay 

annually 
to the ruler of Muscat 

a 
subsidy of 40,000 

Crowns. 
»III.—That H is Highness Syed Majid 

pay to His Highness Syed Thoweynee the 
arrears 

of the subsidy for two years, or 
80,000 Crowns.^ 

29. Award of the Government of India .—The important document (No. 1532, dated 2nd April 1861) conveying 
to the Bombay Government the 

decision of the Government of India in the matter referred to them for arbi 
tration, is quoted below in extenso 

: 

" I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter No. 6, dated 15th February, 
submitting 

a 
report by Brigadier Coghlan 

on 
the differences existing between His Highness 

Syed Thoweynee, of Muscat, and His Highness Syed Majid, of Zanzibar, together with 
a copy of the resolution recorded thereon by the Bombay Government. 

• The conditiona here referred to are " 
In 1 

am 
directed to state that His Excellency 

those mentioned in the preceding the Governor General in Council agrees to the three condi- 
paragraph of this precis. tions of settlement recommended in the resolution of the Bombay Government, paragraph 16.* 

" The limitation to 80,000 Crowns of the arrears of subsidy 
to be paid by Zanzibar to 

Muscat is expedient, because it 
names a 

distinct 
sum. In the opinion of His Excellency 

in Council the demand should be made rather in the form of 
a 

compromise than 
as 

the 
assertion of 

a 
strict right. It is understood, also, that the aggregate amount of the arrears claimable would not much exceed this 

sum. 
" 
The three conditions will constitute the decision of the Governor General 

as 
arbitrator, 

and it should be impressed 
upon both parties, at the time of delivering 

to them the Governor 
General's letters, that as 

they have solemnly accepted the arbitration, the Government of India 
looks to their abiding faithfully by His Excellency's award. 

" 
The annual payment of 40,000 Crowns is not to be understood 

as a 
recognition of any dependence of Zanzibar upon Muscat, neither is it to be considered 

as 
merely perconal between 
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Arbitration of Government of India- 

Syed Thoweynee and Syed Majid, but 
as a 

permanent arrangement, compensating the 
ruler of Muscat for the abandonment ot all claims upon Zanzibar, and adjusting the inequality 
between the two inheritances, which 

are to be henceforward separate. 

" The Governor General in Council offers 
no 

opinion about the rule of succession in 
Zanzibar ; to do 

so 
would, he considers, be travelling beyond the bounds of the question sub mitted for arbitration. 

"His Excellency in Council agrees with the Bombay Government 
as to the guardianship 

of the younger brothers, and requests that the necessary instructions may be issued to Her Majesty's Consul at Zanzibar. 

" 
Syed Burgash must, of course, be free to return to Zanzibar, if he pleases, and the Consul 

should be directed to recommend him to the clemency of Syed Majid. But there is strong objection 
to 

putting him under the Consul's surveillance. The Consul may very properly give him good advice 
on 

occasion arising, and 
warn 

him that he will receive 
no countenance 

or 
protection 

from the Consulate in the event of his behaving disloyally 
or 

turbulently 
; but the English 

Consul could not, with any 
propriety, 

or 
without risk of grave 

embarrassment, undertake to watch the doings of 
a 

suspected member of the ruler's family. 

"The opinion of Brigadier Coghlan and of the Bombay Government negativing the claim of Syed Toorkee to the independent sovereignty of Sohar appears to be 
perfectly^ 

just. 
The communication which it is proposed to make to that Chief will be very proper. 

"The proposal to appoint 
a 

duly qualified agent to Muscat is entirely approved, and I 
am directed to request that the Government of Bombay will lose 

no 
time in nominatino- 

a 
duly qualified 

person, if their suggestions for 
a new 

arrangement of the agencies in 
ArabiiT 

Persia and Zanzibar 
are 

likely 
to be delayed. 

" 
The Supreme Government heartily 

concurs in the commendation given by the Governor 
in 

Council to Brigadiar Coghlan. It is 
rare to see an 

intricate and difficult subject 
so com pletely and clearly dealt with 

as 
the 

one now 
before His Excellency in Brigadier Co^hlan's report, and His Lordship in Council trusts that Her Majesty's Government will not omit to mark their appreciation of this excellent officer's valuable services, past and present. 

•d 
" t 

l 
iank l of t 

^. 
e 

^ 
overIlor 

General in Council should also be conveyed to the Keyerend 
Mr. Badger for the important aid which he has given 

to Brigadier Coghlan in this 
matter His Excellency believes that there is 

no 
officer of the Indian Service who possesses 

so familiar and cultivated 
a 

knowledge of Arabic 
as 

Mr. Badger, and the services which this knowledge and his general ability enabled him to render to the army in Persia under Sir James Outram are well known to, and appreciated by, the Government of India. 

f 
Government of India would be glad to receive anv 

suggestions from the Govern ment of Bombay for encouraging the study of Arabic, 
more 

especially 
among the military 

servants of Government 
on that side of India. It is possible that the revival of the pecuniary 

he 
fTi 

0n t 
i 
h0se wh 

1 
0 
J 
attain 

a 
certificate of high proficiency in the language, 

the chances of staff employ, would offer sufficient inducements for the purpose. 

S 
vp 

/ 

m 
- 

T 
1D 

En 
f 
1 l ah the 

r, 
address of His Highness Syed Thoweynee and His Highness Wwifh 

f 

Tw 
7 

, , 

(j0vernor General, and conveying His Excellency's decision, 
are 

g 

ZTI 

C 

f 

y0 
n 

for 

. 
ransm,s ^n; 

copies 
are 

also enclosed. From these copies the 
1 

, 1 
en 

?l' 
a 

, 
ln 

^ 
n( r 

^quests 
that Arabic translations may be made, expressing fully transSn 

7 letterS 
' 

^ 0f Wbich is to be ils Arab.c 

made 

by^" 

him' ® 
a 
^ &er ^ 

om 
b 
a y, it will be satisfactory 

that the translations should be deterge 

6 
hoTX 

r 

StT 
ral 

i 

n 

if7 
n0iIleara to the Governor of Bombay in Conneil to 

ao-ain 
an awent or i oh" ̂  S 

' 
n + 

e sen t 
J 

observing only that there is 
no 

necessity 
to send again an 

agent 
or a 

ship specially 
to Zanzibar.-' 

The letters to Syed Thoweynee 
and Syed Majid 

were as 
follows 

: 
nnbal^ZJT 

TTf 
Prie!,d 

'- 
1 Yonr Highness 

on 
the snbject of the 

Imam of Muscat 

fro^nf 

between yourself and Your Highness's brother, the 
engaged to 

acceot' 
the arbltmf 3112 

'/^ 
the settlement of which Your Highness has engaged to accept the arbitration of the Vtceroy 
and Governor General of India. 

Government 
"of 

Her^Maipst 

0 re ' a 
tions which have always subsisted between the 

° 0f Her Ma J est y the and the Governments of Oman and Zanzibar, and 
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Arbitration of Government of India. 

desiring to prevent 
war 

between kinsmen, I accepted the charge of arbitrator between you, and, in order to obtain the fullest knowledge of all the points in dispute, I directed the 
Government of Bombay to send 

an 
officer to Muscat and Zanzibar to make the necessary inquiries. 

" 
Brigadier Coghlan 

was 
selected for this purpose, an 

officer in whose judgment, intel ligence, and impartiality the Government of India reposes the utmost confidence. 

" 
Brigadier Coghlan has submitted 

a 
full and clear report of all the questions at issue 

between Your Highness and your brother. 

" 
I have given 

my most careful attention to each of these questions. 

" 
The terms of my decision 

are as 
follows 

: 

" 
1st, that His Hiirhness Syed Majid be declared ruler of Zanzibar and the 

African dominions of His late Highness Syed Saeed ; 
" 

2nd, that the ruler of Zanzibar pay annually to the ruler of Muscat 
a 

subsidy of 40,000 Crowns ; 
" 

Zrd, that His Highness Syed Majid pay to His Highness Syed Thoweynee the 
arrears 

of subsidy for two years, or 
80,000 Crowns. 

"I 
am 

satisfied that these terms are 
just and honorable to both of you; and, 

as you have deliberately and solemnly accepted 
my 

arbitration, I shall expect that you will cheerfully and faithfully abide by them, and that they will be carried out without unnecessary delay. 

"The annual payment of 40,000 Crowns is not to be understood 
as a 

recognition of the dependence of Zanzibar upon Muscat, neither is it to be considered 
as 

merely personal 
between Your Highness and your brother Syed Thoweynee (Majid), it is to extend to your re spective 

successors, and is to be held to be 
a 

final and permanent arrangement, compensating 
the ruler of Muscat for the abandonment of all claims upon Zanzibar, and adjusting the in equality between the two inheritances derived from your father. His late Highness Syed Saeed, 
the venerated friend of the British Government, which two inheritances are to be henceforward 
distinct and separate/' 

Due arrangements 
were 

made by the Bombay Government for conveying 

to the parties concerned the decision of the Government of India with regard 

to the points 
at issue. 

30. Reception of the award of 
Government at Muscat .—The Revd. 

C. P. Badger 
was 

deputed 
to Muscat with letter to Syed Thoweynee, who 

heartily accepted the award of the Government of India. Describing 
an 

inter 
view with His Highness, Mr. Badger wrote— 

"His Highness then asked whether the British Agent at Zanzibar 
was 

empowered to insist 
upon the terms of the arbitration being fulfilled by Syed Majid. To this I replied that the 
supreme Government of India had directed the officers who should be charged with 

commu nicating the decision of the Right Honorable the Governor General to His Highness and to 
His Hio-hness^s brother, to impress upon them both that they 

were 
expected 

to abide faithfully 
by His Excellency's award; and that, although the Government 

was not bound to enforce the 
conditions of the arbitration by either party, I nevertheless entertained 

no 
doubt that the 

influence of the British Agent at Zanzibar would be used in 
a 
friendly 

manner to see that the 
award 

was 
duly carried out. Subject 

to this qualification, I 
saw no 

objection 
to His Hi^hness's 

proposition that the person whom he might authorize to receive the money from Syed Majid 
should be recommended to Colonel Rigby's good offices through the British Agent at Muscat, 
and I accordingly requested Lieutenant Pengelley 

to communicate with Colonel Rigby in that 

sense as soon as 
His Highness should inform him that he had appointed 

a 
deputy to treat with 

Syed Majid 
on 

the subject at Zanzibar." 

31. Reception of the award of 
Government 

at Zanzibar .—The letter 
to 

Syed Majid, conveying the decision of Government, 
was 

delivered to him by 
Colonel Righy. Syed Majid expressed himself 

as 
perfectly satisfied with the 

35 
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Arbitration of Government of India- 

terms of the arbitration, but only feared that he would have great difficulty in 
raising 

an 
amount sufficient to pay off the 80,000 Crowns, 

arrears 
of subsidy. 

As 
a 

question 
was 

subsequently raised by Syed Majid 
as to the terms used 

by him in accepting the award of the Government ot India, his letter intimating 

that acceptance is entered in extenso: 

<c After compliments 
,—I desire to inrorm you that I have been very much gratified by 

the receipt of the letters from His Lordship the Governor General ot India and His Excellency 
the Governor of Bombay, conveying to me 

the intelligence of the settlement of the disputes 
which existed between myself and my brother, Thoweynee bin Saeed, and regarding the deci 
sion that I shall pay to my brother, Thoweynee, the 

sum 
of 40,000 Crowns annually, and also 

the sum 
of 80,00l» Crowns on account of 

arrears 
for two years. I agree to pay these sums, 

and I accept and 
am 

satisfied with the terms of the decision, and they 
are 

binding 
on me. And it is the desire of the British Government (Janab-el-Sirkar) that each of us, that is 

myself and my brother, Thoweynee, shall be independent of each other in his 
own 

dominions, 
and Sultan 

over 
his 

own 
subjects; that is to say, that Zanzibar and the islands (Pemba and 

Monfea) and the dominions 
on 

the continent of Africa dependent upon it shall be subject to 
me, and that Muscat and its dependencies, with the land of Oman, shall be subject 

to my brother, Thoweynee bin Saeed; and that 
we 

shall dwell in peace and friendly alliance the 

one 
with the other, 

as 
is customary between brothers. I pray that it may be so, if it 

please 
God. I feel very much obliged to the British Government for all its kindness and favor, and 
for having averted from my dominions disorders and hostilities. During 

my lifetime I shall 

never 
forget the kindness which it has shown to me. 

" 
And 

now what I desire from you is this, that you will mention to His Lordship the 
Governor General of India that he should kindly determine that the payment of the 40,000 
Crowns per annum to mv 

brother, Thoweynee, shall be settled 
as 

follows, viz., that 20,000 Crowns 
shall be due and payable each year at the 

' 
Mousim^ (about April, when the south-west 

monsoon sets in), and that the other 20,000 Crowns shall be due and payable each year at 
the 

f 
Damani' (about September-October, when the annual accounts are 

made up and the 

revenue from the customs is paid), in like manner as I before agreed 
to do when 1 made the 

arrangement through 
ray cousin, Mahomed bin Salem, to pay 40,000 Crowns annually 

to 
Muscat. 

^ "And respecting the 80,000 Crowns 
arrears 

for two years, that it shall be paid 
as soon 

as 
I 

can 
possibly do 

so. 
" 

This I desire in order that there may be 
no 

grounds of dispute hereaftet. 

" 
This is what I wish for from the friendship of the Government. 

" And for whatsoever you may desire from 
me 

the sign is with you. 

" 
From the confiding slave in God's mercy, 

" 
(Signed) M ajid bin S aeed. 

"Written 
on the 19th day of the month of Zilhuz, in the year 1277 of the Hegira—corre 

sponding to the 29th June A. D. 1861." 

32. Appointment op a British Agent at Muscat .—Acting 
on 

the 
sanction of the supreme Government, the Government of Bombay appointed 
Lieutenant Pengelley, of the Indian Navy, British Agent at Muscat, 

on a 
salary 

of Rs. 600 per month, with Us. 100 as an 
allowance for 

a 
writer and boat hire. 

The following extract from the instructions which 
were 

communicated to the 
agent by the Bombay Government relates to his duties 

as 
regards the relations 

of Muscat with Zanzibar 
: 

" 
His Excellency in Council feels 

sure 
that you will always bear in mind the bond of friendship which has for 

so 
long 

a 
period existed between the Chiefs of Muscat and the British Government; that you will employ 

your utmost influence in cultivating between Muscat, 
Zanzibar, and Sohar those amicable feelings towards the establishment of which 

so 
much pains 

are 
being taken by the Government of Bombay and the Government of India." 

(Proceedings, A., April 1861, Nos. 34-45.) 
( 

„ „ 
August 1861, 

„ 
226-232.) 

( 
» a }> a }) 

276-280.) 
The Proceedings above-noted 

were 
reported to the Secretary of State in despatch No. 165, dated 8tli October 1861. 
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CHAPTER III. 

Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of subsidy. 

33. Failure 
of Syed Majid 

to pay the subsidy 
.—Writing 

on 
the 5th 

October 1861, Colonel Rigby reported that the arbitral award of the Governor 
General had been received very 

unwillingly and in 
a 

bad spirit by Syed Majid, 
who up to the time had taken 

no measures for paying 
any part of the 80,000 

Crowns arrears, or 
of the half-yearly instalment due to his brother. No provision 

had been made with the treasurer for providing the amount, 
nor 

had 
a 

single 
retrenchment been effected to meet the charge. Colonel Rigby 

was 
informed by the treasurer that the Sultan depended 

on 
obtaining possession of 1,80,000 

Crowns bequeathed 
to his aged mother by the late Imam; the shares of the 

younger children of their father's estate, amounting to seven 
lakhs of crowns, had all been expended.— (Folitical^ A., dated January 1862, Nos. 141-1413^. 

34. Application of Sultan of 
Muscat 

for payment of subsidy .—In September 1866 
a 

formal application 
was 

addressed to Colonel Pelly by Syed 
Salem, of Muscat,* requesting him to obtain pay- 
ment of the subsidy from Zanzibar. As the 

ar- bruary 1866 at the instigation, it 
rangement 

was 
made by the British Government, 

was 
supposed, of bis son 

Syed Salem. it was 
for them; he said) to en 

f 
ort . e 

payment.— 
(Political, A., October l&QQ, Nos. 146-47. No orders 

were 
passed in the matter 

at the time, and 
a 

renewed application to the 
same 

effect 
was 

made by Syed 
Salem in the following December. The Government of India thereupon replied 
to the Bombay 

(lovernment that 
as 

Syed Salem had been recognised 
as 

Sultan, 
the Government might well comply with his request for the interposition of 
British influence to procure payment of the subsidy overdue from Zanzibar. 
The Political Agent, Zanzibar, 

was 
directed to take action in accordance 

with this view, Syed Salem being informed.— (Political, A., February 1867, 
Nos. 201-205..; 

35. Protest of Syed Majid against payment of subsidy .—In May 
1S67 

was 
received 

a 
full report 

on 
the subsidy question from Dr. Seward, the Po 

litical Agent, Zanzibar, who forwarded 
a 

protest from Syed Majid representing— 
(ls%) that his engagement to pay dollars 40,000 yearly 

was 
personal 

to Syed Thoweynee, that he did not 
" 

think it proper to pay the above 

sum to every one 
who becomes the Governor of Muscat 

(2ndly) that Syed Salem, 
as a 

parricide, could not legally succeed to the 
throne of Muscat and demand the subsidy which 

was 
paid 

to his father. 
In support of the first argument, Syed Majid appealed 

to the terms of his 
letter announcing acceptance of the arbitral award {vide paragraph 31), 
declaring that his 

own copy of the said letter had been mislaid. Now, it is certainly true that the language of this letter, taken by itself, does give 
a 

color 
of personality 

to the settlement, owing to the fact of the ruler of Muscat being 

therein mentioned by 
name; 

yet the same 
document states 

explicitly that the 
writer accepts, and is satisfied with, the terms of the decision, which decision 
declares that the arrangement 

was 
between the parties to the dispute and their 

successor. 
Government accordingly addressed the Sultan direct, and pointed 

out 
that his objections to the payment of subsidy, 

on 
the ground of the personal 
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Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subsidy. 

character of the arrangement, 
were 

futile and utterly untenable. It 
was further shown that his second argument 

was 
equally weak, Syed Salem being, 

as a 
matter of fact, in possession of the government of Muscat and 

havin^ 

been 
recognized by the British Government. The letter concluded— 

"Every such successor, 
being of the dynasty of Syed Thoweynee, is entitled, under the provision above-quoted, 

to claim the established subsidy from Zanzibar, and I cannot admit 
the validity of Your Highnesses objection. 

"My Friend,—It is incumbent upon Your Highness 
to meet this obligation 

; ami I 
ex pect Your Highness, without further demur aud at once, to 

discharge the claims of Muscat/' 
In submitting the representations of Syed Majid, Dr. Seward, while ad mitting the equity of the Muscat claim 

on 
Zanzibar, adduced arguments, 

which 
were not without 

a 
certain force, based 

on 
the grounds of expediency, 

for countenancing the lapse of the subsidy. He observed— 

" 
Should the Government determine otherwise it must remain 

a 
living 

germ of quarrel, 
destined inevitably to reproduce those very troubles of the past to which the arbiters essayed 
to put 

an 
end. Add to this the hopelessness of any 

long obedience to an 
award, which ̂ives 

upon a 
rising State 

a 
perpetual debt without providing 

a 
single safeguard for its discharge, 

and 
we 

have already two strong 
reasons for following this 

course. ,, Again— 

" 
May not the Government aptly 

use 
Syed Salem's crime 

as 
the edge and opportunity 

wherewith to sever 
the last remaining link between the two Sultanats ? 

" 
Now the subsidy is 

an 
ever-threatening 

source 
of discord. It is the direct interest of 

the ruler of Zanzibar to impel Muscat to some act of aggression, which may be her justification 
for withholding the subsidy. 

" 
This 

can 
only be effected by veiled intrigue, for the aim must ever 

be to cause 
Muscat to sin, whilst Zanzibar rests tranquil in seeming sinlessness/'' 

* * * * * * 
" 

Muscat must always be unsettled whilst her adversary (because her subsidizer) has such 
cause for exciting disorder, and she would positively gain by the removal of this last pretext 
for the aggression of Zanzibar intrigues. 

" 
It tends, 

moreover, to fix the attention of Zanzibar 
on 

Muscat, gives it 
an 

unwhole 
some 

itching 
to meddle with its politics, keeps alive 

an 
ambition that were 

better dead, that for 
the reunion of Oman to 

Zanzibar, sustains 
an 

injurious correspondence between disafiected partisans, and maintains that cohesion and close relation between either capital, which, amongst 
other resultant evils, facilitates and vitalizes the international slave traffic." 

Dr. Seward's proposal 
was 

that Zanzibar should withhold, and Muscat 
waive all claim to, the subsidy 

as 
the 

" 
blood money" of Syed Thoweynee; all 

old 
scores 

being thus cleared, there 
was to be peace between the two States. 

These arguments 
were not noticed by the Government of India in their reply. 

—(Folitical, A., May 1867, Nos. 137-140>/. The above correspondence 
was 

for 
warded to the Secretary 

of State by despatch No. 107, dated 22nd June 1867. 

36. Syed Majid 
expresses willingness to pay subsidy through the Bombay Government .—On receipt of the letter from the Government of 

India, insisting 
on 

the continuance of the subsidy, Syed Majid, though still protesting 
at 

being compelled 
to pay 

anything 
to a 

paricide, expressed himself willing 
to pay the amount to the Bombay Government, and arrangements 

were 
accordingly made by him for liquidating the 

arrears 
due. The Govern 

ment oi India, in 
a 

letter addressed to the Sultan, intimated their consent 
to the proposal of the Sultan that the subsidy should be paid through the Bombay Government,— A., December 1867, Nos. 130-134.; The 
above correspondence 

was 
reported to the Secretary of State by despatch No. 8, 

dated 14th January 
1868. 
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uestion of the subsidy. 
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Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subsidy. 

37. Mr. Churchill promises to support the Sultan 
in his appeal 

against payment of subsidy .—Mr. Churchill, who had taken up the appoint 
ment of Political Agent and Consul at Zanzibar about the middle of 1867, 
in reporting the negotiations conducted by him with 

a 
view of obtaining certain 

concessions regarding the slave trade, informed Government that the Sultan 

was 
willing to make the concessions required, provided he might be allowed to 

revenge himself 
on 

Syed Salem, 
or to discontinue payment of the subsidy. Mr. 

Churchill addressed 
a very proper remonstrance to the Sultan against permit 

ting himself to be carried away by 
a 

spirit of revenge, and then proceeded 
to 

make 
a 

further communication to him, which will be related in Mr. Churchill's 

own 
words: 

"If, I added, it 
so 

happened that the thmne of Muscat became vacant by the death of Salem, then it might become a matter for consideration whether it would not be politic 
to allow him, Syed Majid, 

to rule 
over 

Muscat 
as 

well 
as 

Zanzibar; but that would necessarily depend 
very much 

on 
the 

manner in which he governed his 
own 

State. In the meantime, with regard 

to his final demand, namely, that the State of Zanzibar should henceforth be totally separated 
from that of Muscat, and that all claims between them should be disallowed, I begged 

to 
assure him of my 

hearty support." 

The Bombay Government, 
on 

receiving this unlooked for announcement 
of Mr. Churchill's proceedings, passed the following resolution 

on 
the sub ject, which met with the entire 

concurrence 
of the Government of India: 

"Mr. Churchill should be informed that, however desirous the Government may be to 
enter into arrangements with the Sultan which shall have the effect of discouraging and limit 
ing the traffic in slaves, it is 

no 
part of his duty to hold out, 

as 
inducements to the Sultan, 

the probability of concessions being made to him, which the Government has given the agent 
not the slightest authority to discuss. In the present instance the concessions he has enter 
tained the consideration of 

are 
impossible; they 

are 
contrary to the policy which the Govern 

ment has adhered to as 
regards 

a 
union of the two States, and to the express decision of the 

Government of India 
as 

regards the subsidy. And, 
moreover, the subsidy itself has been made 

the subject of special arrangement with the Sultan of Muscat in the late convention 
as 

regards 
Syed Toorkee. Mr. Churchill should take 

an 
opportunity of informing the Sultan clearly 

on these points, and state that 
a 

negotiation 
on 

the basis suggested 
was 

wholly unauthorized." 
(Political, A., February 1868, Nos. 174-176.^ 

38. Proposed enforcement of award by 
Government of India .—An 

advance of Dollars 40,000 to 
Syed Salem, repayable from the Zanzibar subsidy, 

had been sanctioned by Government in 1867- On being informed of this, 
Syed Majid addressed Mr. Churchill to the effect that he had not yet acknow 
ledged the payment of the subsidy 

to 
Syed Salem. 

His letter continued— 

" 
What we 

said in 
our 

former letter in reply to yours, was 
that if Government insisted 

on our 
paying this subsidy, 

our 
agent in Bombay should pay it to the Honorable Government, 

and the latter might do 
as 

it liked with it, but if it 
so 

please the Honorable (Government 
to make our money over to Salem we 

shall consider ourselves to have been ill used, and 
our claim in this matter shall not rest there." 

Mr. Churchill attempted 
to undo 

as 
well 

as 
he could the mischief he had 

caused by his 
previous indiscreet assurances, 

by representing the matter of 
the subsidy in its proper light 

as a matter between State and State, and not 
between 

Syed Majid and his hvoi \iQY.—( Political, A., May 1868, Nos. 55-56J 

The 
correspondence 

was 
reported 

to the Secretary of State by despatch No. 69, 
dated 27th April 1868, and it was 

said— 

<f 
To whatever source it is due, 

we are 
clearly of opinion that this refusal to execute an agreement guaranteed by the Government of India should be permitted to continue 

no 
longer. 

« So oreat are 
the necessities of the Sultan of Muscat, due partly 

to the Zanzibar subsidy 

havinc been so 
long withheld, that the Resident in the Persian Gulf has been compelled 

to 
advance 

no 
less than Rs. 1,08,834 in anticipation of the payment of that subsidy. 
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Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subsidy. 

"We propose, 
therefore, with the sanction of Her Majesty's Government, 

to address the Sultan of Zanzibar once more on the subject of the subsidy, tellinor him in plain terms that the payment will be insisted 
on. 

And in 
case 

he still refuses, 
we 

would propose the despatch 
of 

a 
man-of-war to blockade his port/' 

39. Views 
of Home Government 

on the subsidy question. With 
drawal of 

Political Agency from the control of 
Indian Government 

suggested .—In the meantime 
a 

despatch (No. 20, dated 15th February 1868) 
had been received from the Secretary of State 

on 
the general question of the subsidy. The English Foreign Office had expressed 

a 
wish to be informed whether, apart from the consideration that the treaty, which stipulates 

for the payment of 
a 

subsidy by the Sultan of Zanzibar to the Sultan of Muscat, 

was 
negotiated under the auspices of the Indian Government. 

" 
There 

are manv 
Indian interests involved in the political relations between Zanzibar and Muscat, which render it advisable for the British Government to require the Sultan of Zanzibar 

to continue the payment of the subsidy 
to Muscat." 

Should Indian interests not require the enforcement of the payment the Foreign Office observed— 
' 

" 
There 

are 
considerations cnonected with imperial interests which would 

seem to Lord 
o tan ley to warrant our 

leaving 
the Sultan free to act as 

he may think fit in this matter." 
These considerations 

were 
connected with the suppression of the slave trade, 

in 
order to effect which it 

was necessary to put 
a 

stop to the carriag-e of slaves coastwise from 
one 

part of the Sultan's dominions to another, and also 
to limit the number of slaves imported into Zanzibar, with the view, if possible eventually to put 

a 
stop to the importation entirely. 

" 
But 

' 
contlnued Foreign Office, it cannot be expected that Sultan Maiid will make the requisite concessions in 

this matter, unless some means are 
found to compensate him for the diminished income, which must 

necessarily be the consequence of his losino- the capitation tax on 
slaves introduced into Zanzibar. 

b 
^P^ation 

n 

'T 

wo 
. 

u1 
j ' 

however, be in 
a 

great 
measure made up to him, if he 

were not com 
pelled 

to pay the subsidy of 40,000 Dollars annually 
to the Sultan of Muscat; and considering the conduct and character of that Chief, Lord Stanley is of opinion that Her Mai est v^s Government would be perfectly justified in declining 

to use 
their influence to compd Sultan .lajid 

to continue the payment of this subsidy, and more 
especially 

as 
the Sultan of Muscat has not 

kept his treaty engagements with 
us 

for the suppression of the slave trade his 
own essels having been captured by British cruisers engaged in the traffic of slaves." ' 
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Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subsidy. 

" 
The salaries of both these officers are, as 

Your Excellency is aware, 
paid entirely from the 

Indian 
revenues. 

" 
I need not inform Your Excellency that the Agent and Consul at Zanzibar receives 

instructions from the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, mainly because 
an 

important 
part of the business which 

comes before him is connected with the suppression of the slave 
trade 

on the East Coast of Africa. It is obvious that the regulation of the measures to be 
taken for the prevention of this traffic must rest 

undividedly with Her Majesty^s Government, 

as 
represented by the Foreign Department. Questions also have arisen in connexion with the 

action of other European 
powers in that part of the world, which must be submitted for the 

decision of Her Majesty's Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs. 

" 
But, although there 

are 
substantial grounds for this partial control by the Foreign Office 

of 
an 

officer holding 
a 
situation under the Indian Government^ it is not the less apparent that 

this state of things is attended with considerable inconvenience. It engenders inconsistency 
of action, and conflicts of authority. It has happened, 

on some 
occasions, that the Agent 

at Zanzibar has received contradictory instructions from the Bombay Government and from the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, which have placed him in an 
embarrassing position. 

The commanders of Her Majesty's vessels in these waters are 
also subject 

to the receipt of 
inconsistent orders from the authorities in India and in England. 

" 
I 

am 
anxious, therefore, to be imformed whether, in Your Excellency's opinion, there 

are any 
political and commercial questions, arising 

out of the relations between India and Zanzibar, of sufficient importance 
to render it necessary that any controlling authority should 

be exercised by the Indian Government. I 
am 

well 
aware 

of the large body of British Indian subjects continually trading with, 
or 

settled in, the Zanzibar country; but I do not see that 
thin suggests anything 

more 
than 

a reason 
why 

a 
contribution from the Indian treasury 

should be made towards the cost of the consular establishment. 

" 
I 

am not 
forgetful of the intimate relations between the Chiefs of Zanzibar and Muscat, 

or of the references made from time to time to the British Government upon 
points 

con nected with mutual obligations contracted by them under 
our 

arbitraments, references of which 
the papers now 

forwarded to us 
furnish 

a 
suitable illustration. It is essential that, in dealing 

with these questions, the officers of the British Government should display 
no want of har 

mony among themselves; but it is to be apprehended that, if the Zanzibar and Muscat agencies 

were 
under different controlling authorities, it might be difficult to maintain that entire unity of sentiment and consistency of action which should be apparent in all 

our 
dealings with 

the Chiefs of Oman. I wish, therefore, to be favored with Your Excel] ency's opinion 
as to 

whether the disadvantages likely 
to arise from separation 

are such 
as to 

outweigh any benefits 
that may arise from placing the Zanzibar agency 

entirely under the control of the Secretary 
of State for Foreign Affairs." 

40. Reply of Government op India. Withdrawal 
of agency from 

control of Indian Government opposed .—The reply of the Government of India(despatcli No. 81, dated lith May 1868) to the above despatch is quoted 

in extenso : 

" 
We have the honor to acknowledge receipt of your 

political despatch No. 20, dated 
15th February 1868, submitting, for 

our 
consideration, 

a copy of 
a 

letter addressed to you 
by 

direction of the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, in which questions of much importance 

are 
raised regarding the future relations between Zanzibar and Muscat, and the position of the 

Political Agent and British Consul at Zanzibar. 
"In our 

despatch No. H of 14th January, Her Majesty's Government have already been 
informed of 

our 
decision that the payment of the annual subsidy of dollars 40,000 to Muscat is 

a 
delegation which the Chief of Zanzibar is bound to 

discharge; and 
we are of opinion that no evasion of this obligation could be countenanced by the British Government without prejudice 

to our 
good faith and the risk of serious political complications in the Persian Gulf. 

"The award given by Lord Canning in 1861 was 
expressly declared not to be 

a tem 
porary arrangement, but to be binding 

on 
the successors of the then ruling Chiefs of Zanzibar 

and 
Muscat^and 

to be 
a 
final and permanent arrangement, compensating the ruler of Muscat 

for the abandonment of all claims upon Zanzibar, and adjusting the inequality between the 
two inheritances 

' 
derived from' His late Highness Syed Saeed, which two inheritances 

were thenceforth to be distinct and separate. The negotiations which resulted in this award were undertaken at a 
time when Syed Thoweynee, of Muscat, had actually started 

on an 
expedition 

against Zanzibar, in which there was every prospect of his being successful, but which he 
was 41 

٤٩ المرجع: IOR/L/PS/18/B150A حق النشر: رخصة حكومة مفتوحة

 http://www.qdl.qa/العربية/archive/81055/vdc_100023935572.0x000032 :اعرض على مكتبة قطر الرقمية 

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/2/
http://www.qdl.qa/%D8%A7%D9%84%D8%B9%D8%B1%D8%A8%D9%8A%D8%A9/archive/81055/vdc_100023935572.0x000032?utm_source=testpdfdownload&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=PDFdownload


"مُلخّص المراسلات المتعلّقة بشؤون زنزبار من ١٨٥٦ إلى ١٨٧٢." أعدّه
النقيب ب. د. هندرسون، الملحق بالإدارة الخارجية" [١٠٥ظ] (١١٤/٥٠)

Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subsidy. 

induced to abaadon solelv 
on the 

promise of the British Government to effect 
a 
just settlement 

of his chims If it is to be left to the option of the Sultan of Zanzibar to evade fulfilment 
of 

an 
award 

so 
unequivocal in its terms and concluded under such circumstances, il appears to 

us that the moral influence of our 
political offh-ers in the Persian Gulf will be w.-akened, the 

Chief's of the Oman coast will prefer seekincr the adjustment of their quarrels by the sword 

to relvino 
on 

the mediation of the British Government, and there will be danger of 
a 

relapse 

to the state of anarchy in the Persian Gulf, which it has cost many years o( negotiation and not 
a 

little bloodshed to put down. 
"The annual subsidy, 

moreover, was 
intended 

as 
compensation 

to Muscat for the loss of 
valuable claims in Zanzibar, from which its revenues 

could be recruited. The State of Muscat is' 

poor, and if the Zanzibar subsidy be withheld, it will be difficult and probably impossible 

for 
the' 

Sultan to maintain 
a 

settled government, 
or preserve his position against Wahabee 

influence, which even now 
it is difficult to resist. The efforts of the British Government to 

preserve 
'the 

peace of the Persian Gulf and suppress 
piratical aggressions, which 

are 
liable to 

occur at all times, and more 
especially where Wahabee influence is felt, 

are 
intimately bound 

up with the establishment of 
a 

firm government at Muscat, and 
we 

strongly deprecate the 
adoption of any measures 

tending 
to weaken the authority of the Sultan. 

"With respect to the character and conduct of the Sultan of Muscat, it has never been 
satisfactorily proved that he murdered his father, Syed Thoweynee; and, however grave may be 
the suspicion that he did so, that suspicion 

can 
furnish 

no 
ground 

on 
which 

we can countenance 
the withholding of any of the right appertaining 

to him 
as 

Chief of Muscat after 
we 

have 
formally recognized him as 

ruler of that principality. It we once admit the propnetv of 
the refusal of the Sultan of Zanzibar to pay the subsidy, 

on 
the ground of the misconduct 

of the Chief of Muscat, to be consistent, it would be incumbent 
on us to retrace our 

steps and 
deny the right of Syed Salem to the throne of Muscat. In point of fact, however, 

we 
did not allow, 

as we 
ought 

not to allow the personal merits 
or 

demerits of Syed Salem to 
weigh in our consideration of the question of his recojrnition. Our duty is to support that ruler \Vhom 

the subordinate Chiefs and people have chosen for their head, and, 
so 

long 
as lie can 

maintain 
his position, 

we are 
bound 

on 
broad grounds of policy 

to 
give Syed Salem at any rate our 

moral 
support. 

" 
Having regard to the position of Zanzibar and its 

general relations to India, and to the 
tribes 

on 
the shores of the Indian Sea, it appears to us 

that the Political Agent there ought 

to be under the Government of Bombay, subject 
to the control of the Government of India, 

rather than under the Foreign Office j and that the agent should bd chosen by the Government 
of Bombay, who have the best 

opportunitits for making 
a 

good selection. Indeed, it would, in 

our 
opinion, be better that the present anomalous state of things, and the inconveniences 

alluded to in paragraph 7 of your 
despatch, should continue than that the control of political 

affairs at Zanzibar should be entirely transferred to the Jborei^n Office, which could not take 
cognizance of 

cases 
affecting the interests of Indian subjects, and subjects of neighbouring 

allied States, with the rapidity and convenience that are 
desirable. 

"At the same time we are 
of opinion that the inconveniences arising from double refer 

ences, and the risk of conflicting orders, would be best obviated by causing the Agent 
at 

Zanzibar to discontinue his direct communication wjth the Foreign Olfice. No real loss ot time 
would ensure 

from the transmission of communications affecting European subjects through 
the Bombay Government; and there can, in 

our 
opinion, be 

no more reason for direct com munication with the Foreign Office from Zanzibar, than from Muscat, where the Agent enjoys 

no such privilege. On the other hand, if Muscat be under the Government of India, and 
Zanzibar be under the Foreign Office, there will not only be 

a 
conflict ot directions, but sooner 

or 
later also 

a 
probable conflict of policy." 

To the above despatch the Duke of Argyll replied (No. 28, dated ISth 
February 1869) to the effect, that the whole question of the 

superintendence 

of the affairs of the Persian Gulf and of the East Coast of Africa 
was 

under the 
consideration of Her Majesty's Government, with 

a 
view to the rectification 

of the existing system which 
was 

admitted 
on 

all sides 
" 

to be fraught with 
much public inconvenience and embarrassment." In the meanwhile the Secre 
tary of State observed that, if the Political Agent at Zanzibar failed in report 
ing 

to the Bombay Government all matters connected with the agency as 
distinct from the consulate, he should be severely censured. 

" 
He is 

an 
officer for the time being of the Bombay Government, whatever may be his 

antecedents, and the Governor of Bombay 
can at any time 

remove 
him and appoint another 

person in his place." 

> 
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Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subsidy. 

The Secretary of State observed that, since the date of his despatch No. 
20, dated 15th Eebruary 1868. he had learnt that the Agent at Muscat, in 
virtue of his consular office, communicated directly with the Secretary of State 
for Foreign Affairs. 

4)1. Arrears of subsidy paid by Zanzibar .—On the 18th May 1868 
the Bombay Government reported that the 

arrears 
of subsidy due by Zanzibar to 

Muscat, amounting to Ks. 1,68,000, being the equivalent of Dollars 80,000, 
had been paid into the Bombay General Treasury by Jairam Sewjee, the 
Zanzibar Sultan's agent. The Bombay Government was 

thereupon directed 
to remit the amount, through Colonel Pelly, 

to the Sultan of Muscat, after 
deducting the advances already made to His Highness. As, however, there was 
a 

British Treasury 
at Muscat, the Bombay Government wrote that it had been 

arranged 
to remit the amount direct to the Political Agent at that place. The 

Secretary of State 
was 

duly informed of the payment.— (Folitical, A., June 
1868, Nos. 32-35 ; 

Political, A., July 1868, Nos. 46-48.J 

On receiving the 
arrears 

of subsidy, the Political Agent, Muscat, pointed 

out that the Zanzibar Agent had paid in the amount at a rate of exchange 

which had caused 
a 

loss to Syed Salem of lis. 6,000. Certain arrange 
ments sanctioned by Government about that time for earn 

ing 
on 

the operations 

of the Muscat Treasury 
were 

adopted partly with the view of obviating the 
evil complained of.— (Political, A., September 18G8, Nos. 296-298J 

42. Mission sent by Sultan to England to remonstrate against 
payment of subsidy 

.—Towards the end of 1868 intimation 
was 

received Ironi 
Mr. Churchill of the intended deputation of 

a 
mission from Zanzibar to England, in order to make certain 

representation 
to Her Majesty 

s 
Governmeiiu 

against the payment of the subsidy. The Sultan informed Mr. Churchill that 
he would make the next half-yearly payment, which was due in 

September, 
only under protest,— fPolitical, A., November 1868, ?sos. 1/2-173.^ 

43. Second despatch embodying views of 
Home Government. Sug 

gested payment from Indian revenues of subsidy to 
Muscat 

. 
-A secont despatch from the Secretary of State (No. 1, dated 6th Januaiy), 

on t ie su 
yjtc 

of the subsidy, 
was 

received in the beginning of 1869. 

^ 

It 
was 

written after the 
Sultan of Zanzibar had sent the above -mentioned 

mission to England; alter 
Mr. Churchill, the Political Agent and Consul, had personally represented 

to 
Her Maiestv's Government that, by 

ceasing to enforce payment, the Britisli 
Government could purchase from the Sultan concessions 

which would enable 

our 
cruizers to deal effectively with the slave trade, and, 

as 
^ 

er 
jesec 

n { 
revolution at Muscat, which had resulted iu the expulsion of Syed Salem by 

Azan bin Ghes, hrother-in-law of the ex-Sultan. 

It 
w r 

as as 
follows: 

« 
Her Majesty's Government have lon^ had under their consideration the complicated 

— 

of those arrangemen.s between the two rulers, whieh h.therto we appear to have entoreed. 

"Your Excellency's Government is aware that, in the year 1860-tll, the Governor ( 
' e " t ' nl 

j 

and Viceroy consented to arbitrate between Syed Thoweynee, the ru er o u^i 
^ 
aiu 
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Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subsidy- 

Majid, the ruler of Zanzibar, who 
were 

brothers, and that, after 
a 

searching- enquiry and 
elaborate report by Brigadier Coghlan, Lord Canninor, in communication with the Governor 
of Bombay (Sir George Clerk), determined that it would be just that Syed Majid should 
be maintained 

as 
ruler of Zanzibar, and that 

' 
the ruler of Zanzibar should pay 

annually 
to the ruler of Muscat 

a 
subsidy of 40,000 Crowns/ Announcing this reward to the two Chiefs, Lord Canning wrote to each of them saying— 

< 
I am 

satisfied that these terms are just and honorable to of you; and 
as you have deliberately and solemnly accepted 

my arbitration, I expect that you will faithfully and cheerfully abide by them, and that they 
will be carried out without unnecessary 

delay. The annual payment of 40,000 Crowns is not 
to be understood 

as 
merely personal between Your Highness and your 

brother, Syed 

. 
It is to extend to your respective 

successors, and is to be held to be 
a 

final and 
permanent arrangement, compensating the ruler of Muscat for the abandonment of all 
claims upon Zanzibar and adjusting the inequality between the two inheritances.' 

"It is clear, from these words, that the subsidy 
was not intended to be merely personal, 

but 
was to be paid at least to the successors of the Sultan of Muscat. But it is not equally 

clear, since the contemplated succession 
was 

spoken of 
as an ' 

inheritance/ whether the subsidy is still to be considered 
as 

due from Zanzibar, whatever changes 
or 

revolutions may 
occur in the ruling 

power in Muscat. 
"Two such changes have already taken place. In 1866 the Sultan of Muscat, Sved Thoweynee, died, under circumstances which left little doubt of the fact that he had been put 

to death by his son, 
Syed Salem, who was 

then declared Sultan in the place of his father. 
Your Excellency's Government recognized him 

as the de facto ruler of Muscat; and, although 

some 
question 

was 
naturally raised 

as to whether the Sultan could justly be called upon 
"to 

recognize the legitimacy of this succession, your Government enforced the continued payment of the subsidy by that ruler. I 
now 

learn that another and more 
complete revolution has taken place 

at 
Muscat, and that Syed Salem has been deposed. His successor is Syed 

Azau bin Ghes, brother-in-law of the ex-Sultan. But the power by which he is represented 
to have succeeded in possessing himself of Muscat, is said to be of the nature of 

a 
foreign 

power; and the result 
seems to have been, in fact, the conquest of Muscat by the Wahabee 

Arabs of the interior. I assume, however, that in the event of Syed Az;in finally establishing 
his authority 

at 
Muscat, he will be recognized 

as 
the de facto ruler of that country 

; but I do not know whether, in your view, it would follow from such recognition 
as a necessary consequence that he would be entitled to the rights guaranteed under British arbitration to Syed Thoweynee and his 

successors. • 
" 

Her Majesty's Government, at all events, cannot be surprised that the Sultan of Zanzibar should be encouraged by violent changes of this kind, which, he declares to be illegal usurpations, to assert his right 
to be relieved from the payment of the subsidy 

to Muscat. This charge 
presses severely 

upon his limited revenues, and he frequently alleges it 
as a reason 

why he 
is 

unable, to the full extent desired by 
us, to suppress the slave trade 

on 
the East Coast of Afaca. He has recently had, 

as 
Your Excellency is aware, a 

mission in this country charged with the duty of representing his 
case to Her Majesty's Government and sohcitmg, 

on the part of His Highness, relief from the payment of the subsidy, in return for which he professes his willingness 
to abandon the 

revenues 
derived from the slave trade and to enter into a new 

treaty with the British Government respecting the prohibition of the tramc an 
object which Her Majesty's Government have long been anxious to attain. 

,, 
" 
T *P 

< 
i 
U 
!? ti0 i 

8 ? 
h f 

w ® ver ' 
arise with respect to this proposal,—the first is, 

' 
How far 

is the faith ot the British Government 
in 

India pledged 
to enforce payment of the subsidy by the Sultan of Zanzibar and the second is, ' 

Supposing 
us to be free in this matter, 

so 
far 

as our honor 
is 

concerned, how far have 
we any political interest in desiring that it should 

continue to be paid ? 
"As regards the first of these questions, I have to observe that 

an 
arbiter, 

as 
such, does not necessarily bind himself to enforce his awards; but under the circumstances which have hitherto existed, 

we appear to have undertaken this duty; nevertheless, it may well be 
onen to serious 

doubt whether 
we 

should continue to do 
so. It appears to me 

that there is much to be said in 
favor of the claim advanced 

on 
behalf of the Sultan of Zanzibar, 

to the effect that the recent revolutions 
in 

Muscat have 
so 

entirely changed his relations to its ruler that he ought 
no 

longer 
to be compelled to pay the subsidy. Were it not for 

our 
interference this question would probably be decided by 

war; but 
we 

forbid 
war 

between the two States because of the danger 
it involves to the peace and safety of the seas. If 

we 
do this it appears to me that 

we 
ought 

to construe very strictly the original contract, which 
was 

imposed by 
us under very different c.rcumstances, and that 

we are not justified in enforcing 

byTr 

superior power the continued payment of this contribution by Zanzibar, if there is any reasonable 
44 
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Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subsidy. 
M^cat Lfnowr^ 

f . 
t0 be PUt 

0n 
^ and if the Government of 

was 

ort m'llv 17 

T t 

Kf""T 
SenSe 

' a 
, 
Part ,,he inhe 

" ta >>«' "f Sultan, 
to whom it 

I 
n 

11 
even be argued, with 

some 
force, that if 

we consider 
our honor pledged 

to this payment and refuse to allow the Sultan of Zan 
Z 
ibar to get rid of it by 

war 
India" 

' 
^ 

0n 
0UrSelveS 

' 
and to m " 

ke " a the 

revenneTof 

questionTfl;DCLT 

t 

1% 

any 0f POliC ^ tha ̂ 
we lna y have in connexion with this 1 

, 
apprehend that 

we can 
have 

no 
other interest in maintainino-existino-relations 

MuIcTt'shldd 

b 3 ' ffi anZl 

!T 

r 
than ,his 

'- 
tha 

. 
t 't has ̂ een considered desirable that the ruler of 

P 
P r R , a n r 1 f f 

be 
® 
ufficie f tl y stron g ^ exercise some 

substantive power and authority in the 
wafers 

T 1 
e 

whht 1 

C 
r 

merCe 30(1 the SUI,p0rt of the P"Hee of those 
Sultan of 

i 

. 
8U 

^ 
raoreo 

^ 
r . 

may 
possibly induce, 

or even 
compel, the 

u tan of Muscat to resort to, 
or connive 

at, illegitimate methods of increasing- his revenues 

^T' 

q 
t0 P r 

?f 
cute host il^ies against Zanzibar for the recovery of what 

he"has 
lost On the other hand, if Muscat 

is now 
conquered and governed by the Wahabee Arabs thev 

mav 
whicl 

ts h^rtZn ptfj" 

by 

2^^° 

bef0re 
' 
and Wh0lly independent 0f 

ihe 
Subs1 

^ 

aA '' 
U l th 

1 
® t 
\ 

011 * careful review of a11 the circumstances of the 
case as 

above indicat 
chanecs in the g 

'f V 

m 
h0n0r 

- 

0f the British GOT ernment, notwithstanding 
all changes 

in the government of Muscat, 
is 

committed to the continued enforcement of the payment of the subsidy by Zanzibar, it may be considered whether, by taking the P av- ment upon ourselves, 
we 

might 
secure 

adequate advantages 
on the side both of Muscat and of Zanzibar to compensate 

us for the sacrifice. On the side of Muscat 
we 

mi-ht 

WO 
a n 

con(ilt, ? 
n s as 

regards the peace and security of the Persian Gulf, which 

u d amount to an 
equivalent to the money expended; and, 

on 
the side of 

Zanzibar' 
by 

re- 
hevmg the bultan from the payment of the subsidy, 

we 
might obtain concessions in respect of the siave trade, to which Her Majesty's Government attach a 

high value. But 1 should be sposed to take the payment of the subsidy 
on ourselves only in the 

case of our 
honor beino- very 

clearly committed to its continuance, and in the case also of the payment being substaif 
tiaHy usefu' to our interests in 

the Persian Gulf. On 
a 
former 

occasion Her 
Majesty'? 

Secretary 
(f State for 1 oreign Affairs stated unreservedly his inability 

to recommend the Lords of the Treasury 
to make 

an annual payment to Zanzibar, with 
a 

view to the suppression of the slave bv' h.Tv 1° 

P 
amount 

, 

of 

. 

the subsid 7. therefore, such 
a 

payment is to be undertaken 
)y the British Government, 

it must be made 
a 

charge 
upon the revenues of India, and this could only be done with propriety, 

so 
long 

as 
the payment is advantageous 

to India by 
pre venting 

serious 
complications in 

the^ 
Persian Gulf, and thus relieving 

our 

Government 
from expenditure which otherwise might be incurred. 

"With reference to these considerations I have to request that, 
at your earliest possible convenience, you will furnish 

me with the views of Your Excellency's Government with 
res- pec 

^ 

e 
f 
e 

£ 

eC 
. 

0 

V 
r? 

rec 
1 
ent cha 

- 
n » es m government of Muscat upon the relations between that State and Zanzibar, and the 

more 
general question of the construction which 

1 1 

^ 
0 
:r T 0ove 

™ ment 

. 

to 
P^ 

ce upon the word ' successors' in the letter address ed by the Viceroy of India to the Chiefs of Muscat and Zanzibar, 
as 

quoted in 
a 

former paragraph of this despatch. It 
is 

obvious that this question, if not now set at rest, is likely 
to be 

one 
of very 

frequent 
recurrence, and that, until it is placed 

on such 
a 
footing 

as will pre- vent continual references to Her Majesty 
s 

Government 
on the subject, much inconvenience and embarrassment must arise 

both in this country and in India. I am anxious fherofnrp that it should be finally disposed of with the least possible delay; but before 
passing 

any final orders 
on 

the subject, I wish to receive from Your Excellency's Government 
a 

full exposition of your views as 
bearing 

on the several points indicated in this despatch." 

44 Opinion 
of the Bombay Goveenment 

on points noticed by the Secketakt 
op State .—The Government of India requested the Bombav 

t to express their views thereon.—(Political, A, February 1869, 

On the 6th March the Duke of Argyll telegraphed asking the Viceroy 
to 

telegraph the substance of his 
" 

views 
as to maintenance of Zanzibar subsidy in present state of Muscat affairs." ^ 

The reply (No. 86, dated 10th March 1869) from the Bombay Govern- 
ment was as 

follows: 

" The first question is, how far the faith of the British Government in India is pledged 
to enforce payment of the subsidy by the Sultan of Zanzibar to the present ruler of 

Muscat 
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Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subsidy. 

" It is suggested that, although it 
was 

expressly stated in Lord Canoing's award that the 
annual payment of 40,000 Crowns was not to be understood 

as 
merely personal between the 

two Sultans, Majid and Thoweyoee, but 
was to extend to their respective 

successors, 
yet the 

fact of the term * 
inheritance^ being applied 

to the possessions ol the two Sultans, the 
inequality in which 

was to be adjusted by the annual payment, makes it doubtful whether 
the subsidy should still be considered 

as 
due from Zanzibar after the changes which have 

occurred in the rulinor power at Muscat. 

"If this question is to be settled by 
a 

reference to the intention of Lord 
Canning, 

so 
far 

as 
this 

can 
be ascertained, it will be difficult to support the view 

that the term 'successors' should be interpreted with the limitation suggested. It 
was shown by General Coghlan that constitutionally there could not be such 

a 
thing 

as a 
succession 

by inheritance to the Sultanat of either Muscat 
or 

Zanzibar, the validity of each succession 
being dependent 

on 
the will of the Arab tribes. Moreover, the question of the succession to Syed Majid 

was 
discussed and 

was 
disposed of by the Government of India saying 

that to 
offer any 

opinion about the rule of succession in Zanzibar would be travelling beyond the 
bounds of the question submitted for arbitration.—fTwfc paragraph 6 of Government of India's 
letter No. 1532 of 2nd April 1861.; 

" As further showing that the term ' successo^s , was 
used without any limitation 

as to 
the mode of succession, it may be noted that the permanency of the subsidy 

was 
made 

an article of the award rather out of policy than as 
settling 

any 
point in the dispute between the 

two Sultans. The dispute which led to the arbitration 
arose out of 

an 
arrangement for the 

payment of the subsidy of which General Coghlan wrote in his paragraph 

. 
f 
The arrange 

ment, 
as 

it stands, has respect to the two brothers only, 
no 

provision whatever being made 
that it should continue in force beyond their 

own 
life-time/ And be added that 'the 

strict letter of all 
we 

know of the mutual agreement might be held to sanction that 
limitation / but he then goes on to argue that the arrangement ought to have been made 

as between the two 
States, and not merely 

as 
between the two 

brothers, Majid and Thoweynee. 
And this 

view was 
adopted by the Bombay Govornment, who wrote in paragraph 14 of 

their resolution—' Syed Thoweynee 
can 

hardly with honor resign the claims of his country, 
not 

merely his own 
claims for 

a 
payment which is to determine with his 

own 
life/ It is clear, 

therefore, that the British Government, holding that it 
was 

for the true interests of both 
States that a 

permanent motive should be given to Muscat to abstain from ambitious 
move 

ments 
against Zanzibar, and holding, also, that it 

was 
for their 

own 
interests that the power of 

Muscat in the Persian Gulf should be permanently increased by the subsidy from Zanzibar, 
supplemented the arrangement made between the two brothers by declaring that it should 
hold srood between their successors as 

well 
as 

between themselves. 
O 
" 
It must be observed, further, that in stating the terms which he submitted for adoption 

in order to settle the dispute between the two Sultans, General Coghlan did not use 
the word 'inheritances/ 

or any 
expression tending 

to limit his recommendation to an 
arrangement 

between families of the two Sultans; and the Government of Bombay, in submitting their opinion 
to the Government of India in accordance with General Coghlan's 

recom mendations, in the same manner 
evidently contemplated 

a 
premanent arrangement 

in 
no way 

dependant 
on any 

question of succession by inheritance 
as 

regards either Oman 
or 

Zanzibar. General Coghlan, indeed, suggested, in order to prevent any 
re-opening of the dispute between the two States, that the Government of India should insist upon a 

subsi diary term being adopted, to the effect that 
no cause 

whatever, other than 
an open attempt 

on the part of Syed Thoweynee 
or 

his successors, to infringe the independence of Zanzibar 
sover eignty, should be held to 

justify Syed Majid, 
or 

his successors, in withholding 
the stipulated 

subsidy. 

" 
In dealing with the third paragraph of the Secretary of State's letter, it appears to 

His Excellency in Council that His G.^ce is under some 
misapprehension 

as to what has lately 
occurred at Muscat. His Excellency in Council thinks that he is premature in considering 
that Syed 

Azan bin Ghes 
can be considered 

as the successor 
of Syed Salem, although, for 

the present, he appears to have partially established himself at Muscat, and at any rate the 
revolution which has taken place cannot be considered 

as a 
conquest of Muscat by the 

Wahabee Arab of the interior. Although holding 
some 

religious tenets in common with them, 
he is, 

on 
the contrary, hostile to the Wahabee power, and it is probale that, if the deposed 

Sultan regains power, it will be owing 
to Wahabee aid. 

" 
Without therefore going 

so 
far 

as to say that it is impossible that any such changes 
or revolutions should 

occur in the ruling 
power of Muscat 

as to render the decision 
of^Lord 

46 
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Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subsidy- 

Canning inapplicable, His Excellency in Council is clearly of opinion that, under the circum 
stances which 

now 
exist, the subsidy has not ceased to be legally payable according to the 

"^rms of the arbitration. 

" 
The question how far the faith of the British Government in India is pledged to enforce 

ment of the subsidy by the Sultan of Zanzibar, 
as 

stated in paragraph 6 of the Secretary 
Itate^s despatch, does not present itself to His Excellency in Council exactly in the form 
ested in paragraph 7. The Secretary of State intimates that the question will arise 

as to 
.scherthe Government would be justified in refusing 

to allow the Sultan of Zanzibar to get 
i of his liability to pay the subsidy by 

war. 
It is probable, however, that, if British compul- 

ion 
were 

removed, the Sultan of Zanzibar would simply 
cease 

paying the subsidy, and the question which the Government would have to decide would be whether they would be justified 
in refusing 

to the Sultan of Muscat the opportunity of enforcing his rights by 
war. 

His Excellency in Council is of opinion that in such 
a 

refusal the Government would not be justified. 
In connection with this subject, I 

am 
directed to draw attention to a 

letter No. 523 of 20th 
November last, from the Acting Political Agent at Muscat, herewith enclosed. 

" As regards the second of the two 
questions stated by the Secretary of State in his 

6th paragraph, namely, how far we 
have any 

political interest in desiring that the subsidy 
should continue to be paid, it appears to His Excellency in Council that the same reasons whfch existed when the arrangement 

was 
made exist now, 

and, therefore, 
as a matter of policy, the payment of the subsidy 

to Muscat ought to be continued. 

rf The question bhen arises whether 
we 

ought to take this payment 
on 

ourselves. In his paragraph 9 th^ Secretary of State suggests that by doing 
so we 

might 
secure 

adequate 
ad vantage'on the side both of Zanzibar and Muscat to compensate 

us 
for the sacrifice. He ad^s^hat 

the payment, if assumed by 
us, would be 

a 
charge 

on 
the Indian 

revenues. 

" 
The advantage to be gained 

as 
regards Zanzibar is certain concessions in respect to the 

e trade to which Her Majesty's Government attach 
a 

high value. But it appears to Excellency in Council that this is 
so 

clearly 
an 

object of imperial interest that the 

■nues of India could not be justly charged with any payment in order to secure 
it, and 

ii.s 
Excellency in Council would add that he believes this is the first time that 

a 
proposition 

has been made to burden the Indian revenues for such 
an 

object. 

" 
On the side of Muscat the Secretary of State intimates that 

we 
might obtain 

Important conditions 
as 

regards the peace and security of the Persian Gulf, which would 
amount to an 

equivalent of the money 
expended. His Excellency in Council would, however, 

Observe that 
we 

obtain these conditions already by treaty, and he does not see what further 

. 
oncessions could be obtained from Muscat in this direction which 

we 
do not possess already. 

■*"*1 is argued that beyond the conditions referred to the payment of the subsidy 
to Muscat 

'ould be 
"advantageous 

to India by preventing serious complications in the Persian Gulf, His 
Excellency in Council believes that the same amount might be expended much 

more 
advan- 

' 
ovously by placing at the disposal of the Government 

a 
force sufficient to ensure that the listing 

treaty should be observed, and to prevent any 
complications arising that may disturb 

t peace in the Persian Gulf. 

" 
Reviewing the whole circumstances. His Excellency in Council does not hesitate to 

iress the opinion that it is undesirable that the existing relations between Zanzibar and y 

• 
.iscat should be disturbed." 

In the letter referred to in 
paragraph 

9 of this despatch, the Political 
A^nt, Muscat, had dwelt 

on 
the extreme and immediate probability of 

an expedition being directed by the people ot IVIuscat against Zanzibar, it 
would, he was 

told, be 
so 

popular that 50,000 
men 

could readily be collected 
to take part in it. 

Ho 

o f -»i 

45. Reply op 
Government op India dissenting pugm views of 

Government .—The Government of India then wrote to the Secretary 

i 
ate, No. 100, dated 20th March 1869, saying— 

n 
adopt, in their entirety, the arguments set forth by the Bombay ^Government, and 

nly desire to add 
a 

few remarks of 
our own. 
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Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subs 
' 

" 
We 

can have 
no 

doubt whatever, from 
an 

attentive consideration of the minute of 
Enclosure No. 5 of Political despatch No. 165 of 1861, 

Lord Canning of the 26th of March 
Para. 5. The annual payment of 40,000 Crowns is not to 

and from the letter which, 
on t be understood as a 

recognition of any dependence of Zanzi- 2nd of April following, he caliscd to 
bar upon Muscat, neither is it to be considered as 

merely addressed to the Government of Boml personal between Syed Thoweynee and Syed Majid; but, 
as on • j i. i • a permanent arrangement, compensating the Ruler of Muscat extract Of which 

IS 
quoted 

in for the abandonment of all claims upon Zanzibar, and margin, that it 
was 

that statesman's' adjusting the inequality between the two inheritances, which tention to Create a 
real rio-ht in 

are to be henceforward separate. q . , ^ ^ , ,, . 6. The Governor General in Council offers no 
opinion about 

Muscat to the subsidy, 
as vy« 

the rule of succession in Zanzibar. To do so, would, he as a rea l obligation 
on the part of lh rbSdf 

b 
or?bItS 

n 
be5,<> 

° d th6 b0lmds of the ,luesU 
° n 

f. 
4 "' 0 

of 

, 

Zanzibar to pay it. la using 

• + i ii . , 
i'" 6 word inheritances' Lord Canning, 

it seems 
probable to us, 

merely meant to indicate that the then disputant parties claimed 
o succeed by inheritance; and it is 

expressly stated, too, that he offered 
no 

opinion whatever 
on the questions of succession. 

n , 

"^, 
e 
, 
ai 
i 
e f,irth 

er of opinion that the recent events which have occurred in Muscat ought not to be considered 
as 

having altered the relations between the two States as far as this subsidy 
is 

concerned. We also think that the honor and good faith of the British 

reasons 

"whir- 
f 

a t 
t0 
a o 

6 contlnued P a 
yment of the subsidv, and that the political 

and intensity m(iuced Lord Canning 
to effect the arrangement still exist in all their ioren cannrt^WnJ!? 

1 
!? 

111 ' 

^ 
11 ̂ Bomba 

- 
y 
r 

Government in opinion that the 
revenues of India 

see anv reason for 6 
rpp 

1 1 an 
^.P 

oltlon ot tllis payment, and all things con'sidared 
we 

do noc see au) icason for recommending that the present arrangement be modified 
or 

annulisd." 

• 
0^1^'i 

^ 
1ed ^ ajid encouraged in withholding payment On 

i 
26tli February 1869, Mr. Churchill sent to the Bombay Government copie« letter 

8 
from Her Majesty 

the Queen and the 
Secretary 

of 

StatTforEore 

biought these 

letters, 

^ ^ that the Sultan 
' S ^ 

affairs 

had^IaUerly 

^ 
press Syed Majid 

to continue 
,4 

parent and that WOl • 
l •' 

to the Government of 
India."-j/MarcA 

1869, Mi. 

247-52;! 

^ m ***** 

t: i7. GG^E^NMENT 
OF 

INDIA 
DESIRED TO INFORM THF Sttttatvj 

rrt THE ARRANGEMENTS UNDER THE VRB1TRAT 

AWAT^TTSULTAN 
TU 

- 

the Zanzibar subsidv to tlu I 
tlle continued and regular pavment oi' f, 

sul 
- 
)sid 

. 
v t0 the legitimate 

successors of Sved Saeed if fhev hod 

CSf-Ji'S'SSa 
f 

n 
- 

.T—• 

"1»" 

tteSiS s 

ptaa autw., 

arbaS 
ftjSK'Awagr 

•«* h 
» 

the 

B2irG™:L 

m 

a:rwilLt 

0 

Sl!^ 

G 
T 

Said 
' " 

inf0 
™ 

th 
« 

Sultan of Zanzibar that 
communicated to His Hio-hness irT 

1 
m I 

r" 
ie 
, 
ai 
1 
ran ̂ em 

J !nfc vvlllcl1 
was made in 1861, at^d 

have lapsed 
on 

the 
erpuWon 

o 

SvJ sS 

8 

l 

6 "" of the 2nd April of that vear, to (Syed Majid) 
to enterinto sueh 

en^L^, ^ 
Mu8Cat ', a " 

d " "i" rest with him 
altered circumstances he may 

consider"to 
be 

advisabk'. 

0 """ " 01 JIuseat 
23 m 

the P rescnt 

of 

Za^ibltdMntartL h'fKsh^ 

H 

'm "T/Tf 
t0 im P reSS U P 0n 

tbe S 

4^ 

prevail between the ruler« of the two <1' 
' ' 

Cr 
( . , 

aj 
i 
) 
' 3 

Government that peace should that, moreover, it will be i 
nc 

lt 

n t 

Ion vouTinf 

f " of 

SyJ 

Saeed,.aud be.ng undertaken, which will cause 
disturbances in 

fhe Perln Guir' 

naVal 
T™ 

Excellency" GOTemUL^^ whillt 

7 

!^ 
llraftin ? definitc instructions for the guidan 

.r 4S ' Ve "" l ' ent 
' 33 whd st I 

am 
writing 

some new and unexpected turn 
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Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subsidy. 

may render them olisolete and useless. Indeed, I have received advices direct from Muscat 
sin(;e the preceding' paragraphs 

were 
written, which point to the probiibility of some 

member 
of Syed Saeed's family regaining the ascendency 

at that place. But if the authority of the 
o 

d family 
were to be re-established, it might be again subverted; and I do not perceive that 

it is our 
duty 

to provide with reference to the arbitration of 1861 for all the varying circum- 
s^tances of 

a series uf revolutions and counter-revolutions arising 
out of events which 

we cannot control. It is obvious the successor of Syed Thoweynee has not been able to maintain his authority 
at Muscat; and 1 do not conceive that it is incumbent 

on your 
Excellency's 

Government 
on 

the occasion of every political necessitude which may place him 
or any member of his family 

at the head of affairs, perhaps only for 
a 

time, to restore to him the privileges 
guaranteed to 

Syed Thoweynee and forfeited by the misconduct 
or 

incapacity of his son." 

48. .Renewed representations of Government 
of 

India .—To the above despatch the Government of India replied 
on 

the 22nd February 1870 (No. 17)—Premising 
that the position of Azan bin Ghes 

was 
still far from 

secure, an 
opinion 

was 
expressed that, should he retain his power, it would be 

necessary 
formally 

to recognize him. Before doing 
so, 

however, the Govern 
ment of India 

was 
desirous of learning the final decision of the Home Government with regard to the subsidy. On this subject the despatch 

continued— 

" 
In 

our 
telegiam of the 10th December 

we 
again drew attention to this subject, and 

we 
think it necessary that your Grace's final decision should be conveyed 

to us 
before 

we 
take 

Vide aracra hs 4u and 45 
positive steps for the formal recognition of Azan. In 

our 
No. 

siTdated 

14th May 1868. 
former despatches marginally noted we have 

so 
fully discussed 

„ 
100, 

„ 
20th MarcJi 1869. the considerations of justice, policy, and good faith which, 

in 
our 

opinion, render it incumbent 
on us to insist 

on 
the 

continued payment of the subsidy by Zanzibar to the Muscat State irrespectively of dynastic 
changes, that 

we can 
do little 

more than refer to them. 

" 
It is quite true, 

as 
observed in the 7th paragraph of your Grace's despatch No. 1, dated 

6th January 1869, that 
an 

arbitrator does not necessarily bind himself to enforce his awards. 
But the 

case of the Zanzibar subsidy is different from 
an 

ordinary arbitration. The negotia 
tions which resulted in Lord Canning's decision were, as we 

have pointed 
out in former des patches, undertaken at a 

time when Syed Thoweynee of Muscat had actually started 
on an expedition against Zanzibar, in which there 

was every prospect of his being successful. Our 
interference 

was 
supported by vessels-of-war, and we have already 

on two occasions actually 
enforced the award and required the Sultan of Zanzibar to pay up the subsidy with arrears. In 

one 
particular 

case 
the arrears clue amounted to $SO,000, which 

sum was, after a 
protected 

discussion with the British Agent, paid by the Sultan of Zanzibar and forwarded to Muscat 
in 

one of Syed Thoweynee's men-of-war. 
"The argument 

moreover, however in accordance with the ideas of European diplomacy, 
is 

one 
which 

no 
Oriental nation 

can 
appreciate. In the eyes of the ruler of Muscat and of 

all the Chiefs and tribes of the Persian Gulf 
we are 

bound to see our 
just decision carried out; 

and it will be impossible 
to 

persuade these people that 
an 

arbitrament 
so 

made and actually 
enforced by 

us 
differs in any way from 

a 
solemn treaty. We apprehend, therefore, that little 

respect will be paid 
to our 

awards either in the Persian Gulf 
or 

elsewhere if the idea gain 
ground that they may be evaded by either party. It has been 

nur 
consistent policy for the 

last fifty 
years in the Persian Gulf and the 

sea 
of Oman to induce the predatory tribes to abandon their internecine 

wars 
and rely for the settlement of their disputes 

on the arbitration 
of the British Government. This policy has saved much bloodshed, has averted many political difficulties, has suppressed piracy, and rendered 

commerce in those regions 
secure. But 

we 
fear that, for the future, these Chiefs will prefer the adjustment of ther quarrels by 

the sword, if 
we 

give them ground to believe that we are 
indifferent to the execution of 

our awards. 

" 
We have already stated that 

we 
consider the subsidy 

to be due to the Muscat State, 
and not 

merely 
to the ruler of it for the time being; that the honor and good faith of the 

British Government are 
pledged 

to the continued payment of it; and that the political 
reasons which induced Lord Canning to effect the arrangement still exist in all their force and intensity. 

To that opinion, after the most mature consideration,-we still adhere, and having been placed 
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Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subsidy 

bv the visit of Colonel Pelly to Calcutta in possession of 
more 

complete information, 
we 

feel it 
to be our 

duty to state to your Grace that our 
former views have been much strengthened 

thereby. 

«rfhe subsidy 
was 

intended 
as 

compensation 
to Muscat for the abandonment of valuable 

claims in Zanzibar from which its revenues 
could be recruited. It is expressly 

so 
described in 

the deed of arbitrament. The Muscat State is poor, and its 
resources 

have been 
so 

exhausted 
by internal revolutions that, 

as 
already noted in paragraph 5 of this despatch, Azan bin ghes 

has difficulty in raising money to defend himself from Wahabee invasion, and he naturally 
looks to the subsidy 

to recruit his resources. The loss of this annual payment will be felt 
not 

only bv the ruler of Muscat, but by the 
numerous 

subordinate Chiefs whose interests 
are affected, and who look to it as 

the source from which their honorary presents from the 
Sultan are 

defrayed, and from which they 
are 

enabled to meet the cost of the tribal forces 
, necessary for the defence of the State. 

"The Resident in the Persian Gulf informs 
us 

that every man 
amongst these Chiefs is impressed with the idea that British faith and British honor 

are 
pledged 

to the punctual 
payment of 

a 
subsidy, 

a 
portion of which they have long been in the habit of receiving, and 

which has formed in many cases 
the only bond of union between them and the ruler of the 

Muscat State. 

« 
Though it is not within 

our 
province 

to offer any 
opinion 

upon the amount of 
success or failure in the suppression of the traffic in slaves 

on 
the eastern coast of Africa which has 

attended the proceedings of Her Majesty's squadron in those waters, 
we 

feel it our 
duty 

to 
state that, having heard the views of those best qualified 

to 
give 

an 
opinion 

on 
the subject, 

we are 
convinced that the release of the Zanzibar State from the payment of the Muscat 

subsidy is not 
likely 

to have any 
perceptible influence in the extinction of the slave trade. 

" 
We cannot, therefore, fail to look upon the cessation of this subsidy 

as a matter fraught 
with danger to the permanence of the Muscat State. Our recognition of the de facto Govern 
ment in Muscat will be of small value, and will be little appreciated if 

we are not prepared 

to accompany it with the assurance that 
we 

intend to maintain the 
same 

position with regard 

to Azan bin ghes 
as 

with former rulers, and that the payment of the Zanzibar subsidy, 
so essential to the maintenance of 

a 
settled Government, will be continued. We 

can 
conceive nothing 

more 
detrimental to our 

good 
name, more 

damaging to our 
legitimate influence in 

Oman, 
or more 

likely to encourage a resort to force and violence in the settlement of the quarrels that 
are 

constantly arising in the Persian Gulf, than 
a 

declaration that we are prepared to countenance the Sultan of Zanzibar in the evasion of the just demands of the 
Mascat State." 

49. Opinion of Government of 
India 

on recommendations of the Slave Trade Committee .—In February 1870 the Report of the Slave Trade 
Commissioii (dated 24ith January 1870) that had been recently sitting in Eng 

land 
was 

forwarded to the Government of India, whose opinion 
on 

the subject 

was 
called for. The Commission had suggested that any loss of revenue resulting from 

measures 
which the Sultan may be moved to adopt for the 

suppression of the slave trade should be made good to him from the subsidy 
payable 

to the Muscat State. On this point the Government of India 
observed.— (Despatch No. 29, dated lOthMayY&lO)— 

" 
The question of the Zanzibar subsidy has 

no 
connection with that of the slave trade, 

and in our 
opinion the discussion of the two questions ought 

to be kept quite separate and 
distinct. The subsidy is 

a matter of international agreement, in which the 
name 

and good 
faith of the British (lovernment are 

intimately concerned, and in which important interests to 
Oman and the Persian Gulf 

are 
involved. The question, whether the Sultan of Zanzibar can 

be 
relieved from the payment of it, ought to be discussed solely with vide paragraph 48 reference to 
the considerations set forth in 

our 
Secret despatch No. 17, dated 22nd February. Little loss of 

revenue will probably be caused to Zanzibar if, 
as 

suggested by the Commission in paragraph 

1 7, the cessation of the export of slaves be effected gradually. If, however, any 
compensation 

to the Sultan be deemed necessary, we are 
of opinion that it cannot with justice 

or 
propriety 

be provided by cancelling the obligation of the Zanzibar State to pay the subsidy 
to Muscat/' 
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iplete information, 
we 

feel it 
ive 

been much streng-thened 

the abandonment of valuable 
t is expressly 

so 
described in 

urces 
have been 

so 
exhausted 

this despatch, Azan hin ghes 
invasion, and he naturally 

annual payment will be felt 
jO 

Chiefs whose interests 
are honorary presents from the 

the cost of the tribal forces 

man 
amongst these Chiefs is 

ire 
pledged 

to the punctual 
the habit of receiving, and 

i 
them and the ruler of the 

pon the amount of 
success or coast of Africa which has 

;ers, we 
feel it our 

duty 
to ive 

an 
opinion 

on the subject, 
he payment of the Muscat 
iction of the slave trade. 

s 
subsidy 

as a matter fraught 
lition of the de facto Govern- 
ited if we are not prepared 

le same 
position with regard 

of the Zanzibar subsidy, 
so 3ontinued. We 

can 
conceive 

) our 
legitimate influence in 

nee 
in the settlement of the 

n a 
declaration that 

we are of the just demands of the 

icommendations of the ;eport of the Slave Trade 
recently sitting in Eng- 

e 
opinion 

on 
the subject 

at any loss of revenue 
5 

moved to adopt for the 
to him from the subsidy 

Government of India 

vith that of the slave trade, 
to be kept quite separate and 

i 
which the name 

and good 
which important interests to 
the Sultan of Zanzibar 

can 
be 

vide paragraph 48 reference to 
22nd February. Little loss of 
he Commission in paragraph 
f, however, any 

compensation 

inot with justice 
or 

propriety 

pay the subsidy 
to Muscat." 

Again, in a 
despatch No. 31, dated 27th May 1870, regarding the recogni 

tion of Azanbinghes, the Government of India wrote— 
"If in recognizing Azanbinghes 

as 
the ruler of Muscat we were 

authorized to intimate 
to him that the payment of the Zanzibar subsidy, 

so 
essential to the prosperity of his Govern 

ment, will be continued, and that 
we 

intend to maintain the 
same 

relations with him 
as 

with 
former rulers, 

we 
anticipate little 

or no 
difficulty, by the exercise of 

our 
legitimate influence, in preserving the peace in the 

sea 
of Oman, 

on 
which the prosperity of the neighbouring countries 

so 
intimately depends. Without such 

an 
intimation 

our 
recognition would be of little 

or no value ; and unless 
we are 

prepared to secure to him the subsidy, 
to which not only he but every Chief in Oman and on 

the shores of the Persian Gulf considers 
our 

guarantee and good 
name 

are 
pledged, 

we 
consider that 

we 
should not be justified in preventing him from endeavourinjj, by 

force of arms, to recover those rights of which he considers himself to have been unjustly de prived. We need hardly remind your Grace that it was with the express purpose of preventing 
such hostilities that Lord Canning intervened to mediate between Muscat and Zanzibar; that 

our mediation 
was 

offered when 
an 

armed expedition had actually started against Zanzibar ; and 
that the promise of the payment of the subsidy by that State formed 

one 
of the principal 

conditions of peace." 

In the 
same 

despatch the decision of the Secretary of State was 
solicited 

on 
various points relating to Zanzibar and Muscat, and among others 

as to— 

" 
Whether the payment of the Zanzibar subsidy is to be enforced, and, if, not enforced, 

whether 
we are to inform the ruler of Muscat that we should interfere to prevent 

a recurrence to that state of things which existed when Lord Cannin<r intervened to mediate between 
Muscat and Zanzibar; and in the event of hostilities being threatened, 

as 
they then were, whether 

we 
should send 

an 
armed force to prevent the ruler of Muscat from enforcing that to which he 

doubtless considers he has an 
indefeasible right. 

50. Mr. Churchill directed by Home Government to hold out hopes 
to the Sultan of relief from payment .—In the instructions given to 
Mr. Churchill 

on 
his return to Zanzibar in May 1870 by the Secretary of 

State for Foreign Affairs, it was 
said, with the 

concurrence 
of the Secretary of 

State for India— 

"You are aware that in view of the altered state of things which has arisen from the recent 
revolutions at Muscat, Her Majesty's Government have had for sometime under their consi 
deration the justice and expediency of releasing the bultan from the obligation 

to continue 
this payment, and you may, on your return to Zanzibar, intimate to His Highness that you have 

a 
well-grounded expectation that at no 

distant period 
y<m will receive formal instructions from 

the Government of India to announce to the Sultan that the arrangements existing under the 
arbitration of 1861 are at an 

end/' 

The Government of India expressed their regret that the arguments 
brought forward in its numerous 

despatches 
on 

the subject had failed to con 
vince Her Majesty's Government of the existence of 

an 
obligation 

to 
require 

the continued payment of the subsidy 
on 

grounds alike ot 
justice, national 

faith, and good policy. 

51. Government of 
India urge necessity for continuance of subsidy 

on Syed Toorkee's accession .—On the 23rd May 1871 (despatch 
No. 27), 

after the accession of Syed Toorkee to the throne of Muscat, the Government 
of India addressed the Secretary of State as 

follows with regard to the pay- 
ment of the Zanzibar subsidy 

; 

" As regards the claim to the Zanzibar subsidy, it appears to us 
clear that many of the 

0 reasons 
conveyed in your Grace's Secret despatch No. 7, 

* Vide paragraph 47. dated 30th July 1869,* 
as 

having induced Her Majesty's 

Government to consider the British authorities under 
no 

obligation 
to maintain the payment, 

do not applv in the case 
of Syed Toorkee. 'Whatever,' your Grace then wrote; might have 

been the 
obligations 

on 
the part of the Indian Government to exert their influence to mantain 

51 
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Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subsidy. 

the continued and regular payment of the subsidy 
to the legitimate 

successors of Syed Saeed, 
if they had maintained their supremacy, it is not incumbent upon them to interfere any longer, 

now 
that the succession has been intenupted by 

a 
revolution which has placed the authority in the hands of 

a 
member of another family. 

1 Now that the Govrenment of Muscat is re-established in the hands of 
a 

member of the old dynasty, 
we 

consider that the 

• Vide paragraph 48. 
argaments by which, in 

a 
series of despatches, and 

more especially in that of February 22nd, 1870, No. J7,* 
we uro-ed the obligation of the British Government, 

on 
the grounds of good faith and the requirements 

of good policy, 
to maintain the arrangement negociated by Lord Canning in 1861 as an agreement of 

a 
permanent character between State and State, have acquired additional force, 

t Vide paragraph 58. 
We ,iave aske(1 the Bombay Government to inform 

us 
in what 

precise terms f Mr. Churchill may have intimated to the 
late bultan of Zanzibar the cessation of the obligations 

to pav the subsidy to Muscat. But with reference to the views which 
we 

have from time to time laid before your Grace 
on this 

su 
ject, 

we 
earnestly hope that it may not be too late to secure the continuance of 

a payment to which we 
believe that 

our 
good faith is pledged, and which 

we 
consider to be of vital 

im portance to the establishment of a 
strong government in Oman/' 

, , 

Jn 

« 
despatch 

N 
o. 

35, dated 23rd June 1871, and again by telegram 
dated 11th August, the Government of India pressed for 

an 
early replv 

as 
regards the subsidy question. 

i xx 

5 a* ■^ FLATI0NS between Zanzibar 
and Muscat endangered —In his letter No. 

5 
A, dated 1st June 1871, Dr. Kirk, the Political Agent, 

Zanzibar, 
des cribing the reception given 

by Syed Burgash 
to Admiral Cockburn, 

wrote— 

V u 
" 

HlS 
i- 

^. 

, ? h 
" es 

? is 
' 

hwever, himself 
aware of his situation, and I know that the Question ot his prohahle relatrons with his brother at Muscat has been latelv the subject of many serious discuss.ons, 

in consequence of what has been reported by the Native Agent of Messrs'. Jairam 

r. i 
as ' 0 

"J 

13 
'. 

le sa 
- 
v6 was t " 

ld b™ respectinff the policy of the Government by the Bombay Secretariat. In this Native Agent's report, addressed to Ludha Damiee ii 
was Stated that Syed Toorkee would be allowed to claim the subsidy with arrears for two years back. \\ hcther such 

a report is correct or 
not, it has been treated by Syed Bursas!, 

as 
"if 

it 
were well founded, and I 

am 
told he will pay at first with 

a 

seemin/good 

will the subsidy if 
teTowed 10° "tackTa^bar!" 

34 " 6 
gr0UIld 

^ 
^ might Wlth show of 

^ 

' In transmitting this letter to the Secretary 
of State, it 

was observed hv tho Government of India (despatch 
No. 50, dated 7th 

Scptemtel 

1871)- 7 

"We would add this consideration to the 
manv other« tn whiVK 

^ k ^ 

dated 23rd May 1871 (No. 985P), had requested the Bombay 

GoCnmenUo 

ascertain, if possible, the exact terms in whiob Mr i ' 
'-""' "'""ent to 

to Syed Majid 
the intimation 

whirh^s 

dkected to 

^ 

the Secretary 
of State for Foreign Affairs to the 

effectThat 

he 

lnd^ 
GoTer/ 

ment would probably 
announce the termination nf ti.^ 

„ 
^nuian uovern- 

;™r 
J 

- 
»• 

transmitted to the Government of Bombay. In that letter T 

toil 

. 

7 
a eopy W as 

period I should ^eiue ,.0.0, 

^Z^S&StSS.'SS 

Yukparagraph 60. 1861 
en 

"T 
me,lto eJ,Sti,l ff uudet 'he arbitration of 

I am 
glad 

to say that I never for 
a moment lost sicrbf nP +v. ̂  ^ 

that I waste receive this intimation, but 1 did invite % Sultan, 
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Proceedings subsequent to the arbitration relating to the question of the subsidy 

discuss with 
me 

the terms of the 
new 

treaty, 
as 

if the, by him, much desired decision of the 
Government of India had reached him ; but it 

was no 
pledge 

on my part that such 
a 
decision 

would 
ever come; and my letter to Syed Burgash, in which I tell him that he is liable to the 

payment of the subsidy, will go to show that 
no 

pledge 
was ever made of the kind/" 

On reference to previous correspondence, however, it 
was 

ascertained that 
the letter referred to 

by Mr. Churchill contained only the substance of the communication, and not the communication itself. In reportins: this 
corres pondence 

to the Secretary of State's (despatch No. 66, dated 17th October 1871), the Government of India expressed 
a 

hope that it might 
even 

yet be possible for Her Majesty's Government to accept the views which had been 

so 
often and 

so 
strongly expressed with regard to the subsidy. The despatch 

continued— 

"We venture to draw your Grace's attention to. this correspondence, 
as 

illustrating the 
difficulties to be apprehended from continuing the present dual control of the relations of the 
British Government with Zanzibar. In this case while 

as 
yet the question of the 

con tinuance 
or 

non-continuance of the subsidy 
was a matter of correspondence between the 

Government of India and your Grace, and while yet the final decisian of Her Majesty's 
Government had not been communicated to us, the Political Agent at Zanzibar receiving, 
in his Consular capacity, instructions from Her Majesty's Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, 
gave the Sultan to understand that he might 

soon 
expect to be relieved of the payment." 
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CHAPTER IV. 

Events at Zanzibar from the arbitration to the death of Syed Majid. 

54. Proposed cession of the 
Comoro Islands to the 

British Govern 

ment —i 
n 

December 1800 the Government of India learnedithat the Sultan of 
Johanna was 

desirous of ceding the Comoro Islands to the British Government, 

, f ̂  , 
and Colonel Pelly 

was 
according directed to proceed 

* The result of Colonel Pelly's enqui- J 
.. n -u i i Z\ m ries at the Comoro Islands does not thither OU lllS Way to Zanzibar tO taKC Up tllC Om- 

appear to have been reported. ciating appointment of Agent there.* (FoliticCll. A, 
September 1861, JSos. 111-112.^ 

5 
. 

Unwilling acceptance of the arbitral award by the Sultan. 
His changed conduct .—In 

a 
letter dated 5th October 1861, Colonel Rigby 

wrote 
that, since he had communicated to 

Syed Majid the terms of the arbitration, he 
had observed 

a 
marked change in the Sultan's 

manner : 
the arbitral award had 

been accepted unwillingly and in 
a 

bad spirit by Syed Majid, who had not expect 
ed that he would be 

called 
on to make any payment to his brother. When 

communicating the terms of the arbitration. Colonel Rigby had recommended the 
Sultan to conciliate the El Harth tribe, and release 
this Chief, Abdulla bin Salem, then in confinement 
at Lamoo; but, instead of following this advice, the 
Sultan caused Abdulla to be put to death in prison, and seized all his property.* Syed Majid 

was 
fast alienating all the Arabs from him by his 

apathy and neglect of all business, and 
was 

rapidly 
ruining his 

own 
health by debauchery and 

excess of every kind. Another circumstance showing the animus of the Sultan 
was the re-appointment 

to the 
governorship of Lamoo of his nephew, Syed 

Saood bin Hillal. This Syed Saood 
was 

the indivi 
dual who seized and ordered to be put to death 

an Arab, named Salim Jubran, who had given informa 
tion to Colonel Kigby regarding the slave trade.f 
Colonel Rigby had hauled down his flag, and in 
sisted 

on 
the man's dismissal from the governor ship of Lamoo ; but 

on 
the very 

day following 
Colonel Rigby's temporary departure from Zanzibar, 
he 

was 
reinstated by the Sultan. 

• Colonel Higby subsequently reported 
(30th October 1861) that he was led to believe that the Chief died a natural death, but was not quite 
satis tied on the point.— ( Political, 
A, January 1862, Vo. 234.) In a letter of 2ist November 1862, Colo 
nel Pelly expressed 

an 
opinion that 

no 
proof 

was 
forthcoming, and that 

further enquiry into the matter was unadvisable. 

t Salim Jubran was attached to the 
Consulate a« an 

informer, and was dismissed in 1862 for taking 
a bribe 

from a slave-dealer. Colonel Play- 
fair, the Acting Agent in 1864, expressed 

a favorable opinion of the 
man, and recommended his employ 
ment, on a nominal salary, by the 
Consulate, so that protection might 
be afforded him, his life having been endangered by the information he 
had given regarding slavers. 

56. Colonel Felly's appointment to Zanzibar Agency .—On the 16th 
October 1861 Colonel Pelly assumed the appointment of Agent and Consul 
at Zanzibar. He took 

Syed^Burgash, 
who appears to have aqcompanied him 

to Zanzibar, to an 
interview with the Sultan, who plainly showed that his 

brother's presence was 
distasteful to him. Towards Colonel Pelly the Sultan 

was agreeable, and, in discussing business matters, showed 
a 

frank and conciliatory 
spirit. 

57. Portuguese mission to Zanzibar deputed to settle boundary 
questions and conclude a commercial treaty 

.—On the 30th October 
Colonel Pelly announced the arrival at Zanzibar of the Governor General 
of the 

East' 
African Portuguese Settlements, whose object 

was to con- 
55 
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Events at Zanzibar from the arbitration to the death of Syed Majid- 

elude 
a 

commercial treaty with the Sultan and to arrange certain boun dary questions. The boundary of Zanzibar 
on 

the south, it may be here observed, is conterminous with that of the Portuguese Settlements 
: a 

line 
drawn from Cape Delgado inland would, Colonel Pelly said, define the two territories. It 

was 
apparently the object of Portugal 

to secur 
v 
e a 

line northward 
of that point, with the view of embracing the valley of the Koovoma River, 
and thus command the trade which might be expected to develope along that line. Colonel Pelly 

appears to have succeeded in gaining the confidence of Syed Majid 
very soon 

after his arrival at Zanzibar, for in November he wrote that the latter had consulted him regarding the treaty with Portugal. Colonel Pelly suggested many modifications in the draft treaty 
more 

favorable to the Sultan and to Pritish interests. 

On his way to Zanzibar Colonel Pelly had visited the Comoro Islands, and thence touched at the Portuguese Settlement at 
Iboo, of which he gave an unfavorable description. 

The place 
was 

notorious for its export of slaves. 
one ot these settlements. Colonel Pelly said, paid their expenses.— (Political Ai January 1802, ivos. 211.22S.J 

58. O utbreak on mainland of Z anzibar.— An outbreak 
on 

the main land opposite to Zanzibar 
was 

reported by Colonel Pelly in November 1861. 
Lnr^r 

8 C 

ri 
d 

T 
0n 

^? 
r 

Tf 
trlbes from the interior 

> as 
usual, annoying the 

more direct subjects 
of the Sultan 

on 
the coast line 

: 

1 " 
7 
hc P 1 ? 

1 
. 
11 

fact 
18 " 

said Colonel Pelly, 
" 
that the Sultan's power is 

verv 
slight and undefined ong bis African possessions. He has stepped into the shoes of the Portuguese 

• 
he holds the islands 

as 
forts; he exercises over the softer and agricultural tribes, and mixed breeds the low shore, 
a certain 

degree 
of 

authority, but dare not tax them, 
nor 

advance 
any "overn mental claim 

on the soil. As to the 
more 

inland tribes along his 

ill-recoa-S fron^r the^r 

of th 0 
eir 

Imm^™^ 

^ ^ ^ ^ 
^ 

by the 

re^rn^ 

Colonel Pelly concluded—• 

tion 

I '/m IIIT 

an ' 
ioi [ ,a 

1 
tc 

' no 
1 
wth 

f 
the supply of the northern blood is cnt off by the 

senara as.- 

• 
d ™' 

lli^by's rio-ht to haul flf>u-n u i r 

1? 
ca 

lled 
m 

question Colonel 

'■ 
undoubted national offence," 

and 

thktln c^nmttiteT' 

81011 
^ n0t 0116 ̂ 

British rep 

resell 
tative^a 

the 
r 
1 
1 h 

a 

if 

to 

"his 
soirm^hd^Ttm h^rfflelafpls^ 

^ tbe 

that the Government trusts. Colonel Pelly 
wrot e 

The Lail l^ 
us 

sell,acknowledging 
Lieutenant-Pnlnnoi 

p* i > 
tions, instructs me to acquaint His Hiffhnoss fh s if c 

'gby 
s 
report of the 

same transac- 

s. 
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Events at Zanzibar from the arbitration to tho death of Syed Majid. 

fiom the governorship of Lamoo for his conduct to Salim Jubran has been entirely approved by 
Her Majesty^s Government, who will hold the local authorities responsible for any 

injuries that 
may be committed either Irom Salim Jubran 

or any other persons who may be employed in furnishing 

1 
the English Consul 

or 
Her Majesty^s naval officers with information respecting the slave trade. 1 have communicated these instructions to the Sultan by letter, and His High- 

ness s 
reply is to the effect that Salim Jubran 

was 
imprisoned 

not for giving information to the English Consul but for ill-conduct in the town." Meantime, 
as 

Syed Saood had been reinstated 
as 

Governor of Lamoo, 
Colonel Felly asked for instructions 

as to what steps he should take in the matter, adding that Syed Saood 
was 

the only 
man 

fit for the post. The Bombay 
Government desired Colonel Pelly to express neither approval 

nor 
dis approval of the measure, and these instructions 

were 
approved by the Govern 

ment of India. Later in the year Colonel Pelly received instructions from 
the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs to demand the instant dismissal of Syed Saood. Colonel Pelly explained 

to Earl Russell his 
reasons 

for thinking 
the 

measure 
highly inexpedient, reported that the Sultan entertained strong objections 

to the step, and that he had, therefore, refrained from pressing the 

• The result of Colonel Felly's 
remon- 

flatter Until receipt of further instructions. All 
strance was not reported for the in- 

the foreign consuls had protested asrainst the 
formation of the Government of India. demarid being ilisisted 

on< * 

60. Unsuccessful 
expedition against tribes on the mainland .—On 

the 1st January 1862 Colonel Pelly reported the return to Zanzibar of 
an unsuccessful expedition against the Chief of the Wazaramo tribe 

on the main land, who 
was 

in rebellion against the Sultan.— (Political, A, April 1862. 
Nos. 178-185, May 1862, Nos. 172-173.^ 

61. Conclusion of a commercial treaty between Zanzibar and Portugal .—In 
a 

letter dated 10th January 1862, Colonel Pelly submitted 
information regarding the negotiations carried 

on 
by the Governor General of 

the Portuguese Settlements for the conclusion of 
a 

commercial treaty— {vide 
supra 

paragraph 57.) The Governor General had attempted to introduce 
a 

clause providing for 
an 

alteration of the existing frontier between Mozambique and 
the Zanzibar territory. The River Mimnene had hitherto formed the actual boundary, but it was 

sought to extend the Portuguese territory slightly to the 
northwards by giving 

as 
the boundary 

an 
imaginary line drawn inland trom Cape Delgado. At Colonel Pelly's advice, given in his private capacity, the 

Sultan demurred to the proposal, 
on 

which the Portuguese Governor General 
threatened to break off the commercial treaty and take his departure. 
Colonel Pelly then, 

as 
British Agent, officially informed the Sultan that only 

a few months had elapsed since he accepted the definition of his kingdom 
under the arbitration of the Viceroy of India, and that it would not 
be seemly 

to alter that definition without first consulting the Viceroy. 
Colonel Pelly had, 

as 
Her Majesty's Consul, been ordered to protest against 

granting the Portuguese 
any further concessions of territory which might 

give them any pretence for interfering with the mouth of the 
iloovoma River, 

and he announced his intention of carrying out these instructions, if the 
Sultan showed any 

disposition 
to cede territory 

to the Portuguese. Thus encouraged, the Sultan showed 
a 

bold front, and the Portuguese Governor 
General 

was 
obliged 

to content himself with obtaining 
a 

commercial treaty 
minus the boundary clause. During the progress of negotiations 

a 
question 

arose 
regarding 

an 
article in it providing for the mutual deputation of Consuls. 

The Portuguese Governor General objected that, if the functions of a Portu 
guese Consul at Zanzibar 

were 
limited to questions of trade, while 

some of 
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Events at Zanzibar from the arbitration to the death of Syed Majid- 

the other Consuls exercised political functions, the dignity of his Government 
would be 

compromised. 

" 
But," said Colonel Felly, 

" the Sultan's advisers reminded His Excellency that upon this 
point the position of his Government was not ana^olous with that of other Crovernments; that 
the law generally obtaining is, that where there is 

no 
Ambassador 

or 
Minister residing in 

a 
State, 

a 
Consul exercises the functions of 

a 
Minister ; but that in the case of Portugal, in her relations 

to Zanzibar, His Excellency himself, 
as 

Governor General of Portuguese territories contiguous 
with those of Zanzibar, stood virtually in the position towards Zanzibar of Ambassador from 
the King of Portugal 

; and hence that in political questions there could be 
no 

necessity for interpolating 
a 
third and inferior agent between His Excellency and His Highness. What 

the advisers of the Sultan feared, in truth, 
was 

this, that, if 
a 

Consul, having daily 
access to 

His Highness, possessed political 
powers, he might elicit, 

on some 
unforeseen occasion from 

His Highness, 
a 

verbal promise, having reference to boundaries, inconvenient in itself, and 
less likely to be elicited, if writing should remain the sole 

means 
of political communication.' 

, 
Colonel Felly's proceedings 

were 
approved by the Government of India.— 

(JPolitical, Ay April 1862, Nos. 241-243^. 

62. Detention of Dr. Krapff at Pangani .—In March 1862 Colonel 
Pelly reported that, although under Articles I. and II. of the Treaty with Zan 
zibar, British subjects 

were to 
enjoy full 

" 
liberty to enter, reside in, trade with, 

and pass 
through," all parts of the Zanzibar dominions, there had, nevertheless, 

been 
a 

strong tendency always shown by the Sultan to evade these obligations 
and to hinder strangers from residing in, 

or even 
travelling through, his pos 

sessions 
on 

the Arabian Coast. Only recently Dr. KrapfF, who had been strongly 
recommended to Colonel Felly's good offices by the Foreign Office, 
and had received 

a 
passport from the Sultan, 

was 
reported to have been 

detained with his party by the Governor of Fangani—a place only 40 miles from 
Zanzibar. Colonel Felly immediately remonstrated with the Sultan against this 
infraction of the treaty, and, not receiving in due time 

a 
satisfactory reply, 

threatened, if the captives 
were 

not released, to proceed himself to 
Fangani and 

release them by force. This threat produced 
an 

effect, the captives 
were 

releas 
ed, the Governor of Pangani 

was 
ordered to Zanzibar in disgrace, and 

a proper apology for the 
occurrence was 

made by the Sultan. All the European Consuls 
waited in 

a 
body 

on 
the Sultan and insisted 

on 
his issuing 

a 
circular to all his 

Governors, enjoining 
on 

them the observance of the treaty provisions. Colonel Pelly's action 
was 

approved by the Bombay Government and the Government 
of India, and he 

was 
desired to express to the Sultan the regret of Government 

at this illegal detention of British subjects and the tardy reparation afforded. 
It may here be mentioned that during the progress of the negotiations Colonel 
Pelly 

was 
much embarrassed by the action of the senior naval officer at 

Zanzibar, who, when required by Colonel Pelly to convey him to 
Pangani, if 

such 
a 

step 
were necessary to obtain the release of the prisoners, raised numer 

ous 
objections in regard to coal, sailing, coastal difficulties, and other causes, so much so, that Colonel Pelly had made up his mind to 

proceed in 
a 

Native dhow. 
To obviate such difficulties for the future. Colonel Pelly proposed that 

a war 
steamer of light draught should always be placed at the disposal of the Agent. 
No such vessel was, 

however, available at the imiQ.— 
^Folitical, A, May 1862, 

Nos. 190-92.^ 

63. E xpedition headed by the 
S ultan against rebels on the main 

land 
.—Syed Majid 

was 
compelled in the end of 1863 to head in person an 
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expedition against the town of Sewee 
on 

the mainland, which had thrown off 
its allegiance 

to him 
some 

time previously. The expedition 
was 

successful in re-establishing the authority of His Highness, who 
was now 

strong enough to impose taxation at Lamoo, the commercial capital of the District which had 
hitherto been exempt from the payment of any duties.— (Political, A, April 
1864, Nos. 29-30^1 

64. Concessions 
made to the French in the 

Comoro Islands .—In January 
1865 Colonel Playfair, the Political Agent, reported that 

on 
the death 

of the King Consort of Mohilla (one of the Comoro group of islands), who 

was a 
connection of Syed Majid, the Queen had made important concessions 

to a 
Frenchman, named M. Lambert, of Madagascar notoriety. It 

was 
sub sequently ascertained that M. Lambert had been offered any amount of land 

for the purpose of sugar cultivation 
on 

almost nominal terms. 

" 
If," said Colonel Playfair, 

" this be all, M. Lambert's settlement at Mohilla must be 
considered 

as an 
important step towards the civilization of that island, and, 

as 
such, 

a 
sincere 

matter of congratulation 
to all who have the interest of that beautiful group of islands at heart; but it is too well known that it has long been 

a 
favorite scheme of the French 

Government to unite them all into 
a 

French colony, and there is reason to believe that it is 
rather 

as a 
step towards the attainment of this object than to develope the resources 

of the island, 
or to benefit himself that M. Lambert has been induced to settle there. 

" 
His Highness Syed Majid lately informed 

me that the Chiefs of Angazilla (Great 
Comoro) had invited him to assume 

the sovereignty of their island, and he asked my advice 
as to whether he should accept it. I strongly dissuaded him from doing 

so, as 
the island is 

barren, without water, and its possession would only be 
a source 

of weakness to him ; besides 
which it would probably bring him into unpleasant relations with the French—a contingency 
by all 

means to be avoided/"' 

In 
a 

subsequent letter of February 1865, Colonel Playfair wrote— 

" 
While the French steamer Loiret was at Mohilla, Sultan Ahmed, 

one 
of the Chiefs of 

the Great Comoro (Anga Tihei) residing at Maroni, 
a 

port 
on 

the south end ofthe island, wrote 
to the commander of the Loiret to represent that his sons 

had rebelled against him, and soli 
cited the aid of the French. The Loiret proceeded thither, landed 

a 
party of 27 men to lead 

the King's followers, and with these the insurgents 
were 

completely routed. The French lost 

one man 
killed and several slightly wounded. The numbers actually engaged 

were 
about 

1,700 
on 

each side."— (Political, A, April 1865, Nos. 9-10, fy May 1865, Nos. 76-77.^ 

65. French protest against introdttction of a new tax at Zan 

zibar .—The French Consul at Zanzibar protested in 1863 against 
a 

tax* 

• The nature of thi* tax i. M t stated, 
recently introduced by the Sultan, 

on 
the ground 

but Colonel Playfair says it must be regarded 
as a moderate land tax. 

f This treaty, which was concluded with 
the late Imam, is published in the Bombay 

" Persian Gulf Selections," 
No. XXIV., 

new series. 

that it 
was a 

contravention of Articles X. and XI. 
of the French treaty.f The former of these articles 
merely provided that the duty 

on 
imported French 

merchandize should not exceed five per cent., and 
the latter prescribed that, subject to the above 
duty, all import and export trade should be per fectly free. The Advocate General at Bombay gave it as 

his opinion that there 

was no 
article in the treaty which deprived the Sultan of the right to impose 

a tax on 
lands. No further information regarding the protest made by the 

French 
was 

reported.— (Political, A, May 1865, Nos, 255-256.) 

66. Differences between Syed Majid and Abdool Azeez.—A serious 
disagreement took place in March 1865 between Syed Majid and his younger 
brother, Abdool Azeez, then 

a 
youth of eighteen. On the latter demanding in an 
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unbecoming 
manner, and in open Durbar, the share due to hira of his deceased 

father's estate, Syed Majid told him he 
was a 

silly boy, and slapped him 
on 

the 
face. Abdool Azeez half drew his sword, but 

was 
removed by the guards in attendance, and shortly after this he 

was 
imprisoned in irons in the fort, 

on the grounds that he had entered into 
a 

conspiracy against his brother's life 
and contemplated rebellion. The Sultan determined 

on 
banishing him, and 

he 
was 

accordingly made 
over to the 

care 
of Syed Burgash, who 

was 
just then 

about to proceed 
to 

Bombay 
to obtain medical advice for himself. It may 

here be mentioned that, according 
to Colonel Playfair, Syed Burgash's conduct 

since his return to Zanzibar had been most exemplary. He had lived in 
strict seclusion, and had 

never 
attempted, by word 

or 
deed, to weaken his brother's influence, 

or 
regain his 

own. 
Syed Majid, however, refused distinctly 

to be reconciled to him, 
or to make him any 

allowance.— (FoliticaL A, June 1865, Nos. 149-150.; 

67. V 
isit of 

S 
yed 

M 
ajed to bombat .—On the 6th June 1865 Syud 

Majid landed in Bombay, whither he had been invited 
on a 

visit to His Excellency 
the Governor. Colonel Taylor, 

c. b 
., 

of the Retired List, 
was 

deputed 
to attend His Highness. 

^ 

The Sultan brought 
some 

presents valued at 
twenty- 

six thousand odd rupees, in return for which the Bombay Government proposed presenting him with the steam yacht Thule, which 
was to be had for Rupees 45,000. The Government of India 

were at first unwilling 
to make 

a return present 
so 

far exceeding in value those received; but the Bombay 
Government received the instruction too late to retrace the steps that had been taken in respect to the Thule, which 

was 
eventually presented 

to the Sultan by Dr. Livingstone 
at Zanzibar.— A, November 1865, Nos. 210-211 July 1866, No*. 27-28.; 

tvt 

68 

* 

proposei) 
establishment of a coal dep6t at A bd el 

K 
oori 

.—- In March 1867 Dr. Seward proposed that the Island of Abd el Koori should 
be occupied 

as a 
coaling and provision depot for the squadron employed in the 

suppression of slavery in the Zanzibar waters, and also 
as a 

temporary depot for treed slaves. This island lies between Socotra and Gardafui, and is owned hy the Sultan of Socotra. It 
was 

represented by the Resident at Aden to be uninhabited. ?so supplies 
were 

procurable, and it would have been necessary to transport all the requirements of the station from Aden. The Commodore 
on the east coast station gave an 

opinion adverse to the proposal, which was, therefore, abandoned.— A, March 1867, Nos. 219-21.^ 
i-enfrpnm^wf 
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vessels under British protection, i. e., vessels belonging 
to British subjects, 

residents at Zanzibar, 
or 

subjects of Native States in alliance with the Gov 
ernment of India, when carrying 

passes from the British Consulate at Zanzi 
bar, might be allowed to 

fly the British ensign, 
or 

the colors of their own country. 

The Political Agent, in November 1867, represented to the Bombay 
Government the necessity for his having issued passes to vessels in the coasting 
trade belonging 

to British subjects, residents at Zanzibar, and suggested that 
such vessels should be allowed to 

fly either the British ensign 
or the colors of 

their 
own 

country. 
On this the Bombay Government referred the question 

to the Advocate 
General for his opinion. 

The Advocate General stated that, under Section 24 of Act X. of 3 841, the 
Governor of Fort William, 

or 
the Governor in Council of any 

Presidency, alone 
had the power to grant passes to any 

ship 
or 

vessel belonging to subjects of 
Native Princes 

or 
States, and that the issue of such passes 

by Her Majesty's 

Consul at Zanzibar 
was not warranted by that Act; consequently he had not 

the power to allow such vessels to hoist the British colors. 
The above opinion 

was 
combated by Mr. Churchill; but the Advocate 

General, 
on a 

further reference being made to him by the Bombay Government, 
considered his former opinion not at all weakened by the reasoning of the 
Political Agent. 

Mr. Churchill, however, resumed the issue of passes to vessels, the pro perty of British Indian subjects, and subjects of Native protected States, 
on a suggestion made to him by Commodore Heath, who 

was 
of opinion that such 

vessels, without 
a 

consular pass, would be liable to be treated 
as 

suspicious 

craft to the detriment of legitimate trade. 
The Bombay Government, in forwarding the papers for consideration 

• Namely, that it did not provide with special reference to the omissions* in the law 

for the granting of temporary regis- (Act X. of 1841), expressed 
an 

opinion that Mr. p„" hLa 
ri by h 

B 
C 
riS 

l3 
p 

'rotSd 
Churchill has clearly exceeded his powers in 

re- 
subjecta in foreign ports. 

SUming the grailt of paSSCS. 
The reply of the Government of India, based 

on an 
opinion given by Mr. 

Maine, 
was as 

follows 
: 

" 
His Excellency in Council agrees in the views expressed by the Government of Bombay 

and by the learned Advocate General 
on the subject, and he is of opinion that Zanzibar is not 

within the ordinary legislative 
powers of the Government of India, and, therefore, that the provisions of Act X. of 1841 cannot be applied to that place. From this it follows that it is beyond the competency of the Supreme Government to 

delegate to the Consul of Zanzibar the 
power of admitting- the ships of British protected subjects to the privileges of British ships 
under Statutes 3 and 4 Victoria, Chapter 56, Section 54."— (Proceedings, Political, A, 
December 1868, Nos. 403-12.; 

71. I ntrigues of S yed T oorkee .—In June 1868 Syed Toorkee, who 

was 
deported from Muscat in the autumn of 1867 owing to his machinations 

against Syed Salem, the reigning Chief, and had since been under the surveil 
lance of the Bombay Government, wrote a 

letter to his brother, Syed Majid, 

the Sultan of Zanzibar, calling upon him to foment discord in Muscat. This 
letter Syed Majid showed to Mr. Churchill, the Political Agent at Zanzibar, 
and eventually the matter was 

brought to the notice of the Supreme Govern 
ment, which caused Syed Toorkee to be warned against 

a 
repetition of such 

conduct. The Government of Bombay also intimated the displeasure of the 
Viceroy to 

Syed Majid, who, in return, observed that he 
was 

quite 
aware 

of 
the 

impropriety committed by his brother in sending him such 
a 

letter, and 
that it 

was on 
this account he made its contents known to Mr. Churchill.— 

(Political Progs., August 1868, Nos. 23-25, October 1868, Nos. 312-13, ̂  
February 1869, Nos. 29-30.; 
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72. A lleged designs against Z anzibar by A zan bin 
G 

hes. V iews 
of G overnment of I ndia as to protectorate of Z anzibar and M uscat .—In 
December 1809 the Agent at Muscat reported that there 

were 
indications 

then of 
an 

intention, if not on 
the part of Azan bin Ghes himself, 

at least 
on that of 

some 
of the 

principal members of his Government, to invade Zanzibar. 
Dr. Kirk.appears 

to have assured the Sultan that 
on 

his 
own 

responsibility 
he 

would suppress 
by force any 

attempt to disturb the peace of the place. The 
Government of India, therefore, desired that the Political Agent should be 
informed— 

" 
that the Government of India is not bound, under all circumstances, to undertake the 

protectorate of Zanzibar, and that he should abstain from all proceedings likely 
to give rise to 

the idea that Government is inclined to 
place itself in such a 

position. The Government of 
India has 

already refused to allow the State of Muscat to attack Zanzibar by sending 
a 

naval 
force against it, and the envoys 

recently sent from Zanzibar to 
Bombay have been informed 

that the orders of the Supreme Government for the preservation of peace in the waters of the 
Persian Gulf admit of 

no 
exception, and preclude the possibility of sanctioning 

any 
expedition 

against Muscat by 
sea. 

While acting in this way for the common 
good of Zanzibar and Muscat, the British Government can 

give 
no 

pledge that it will protect either Zanzibar 
or Muscat from invasion, but will, under all circumstances, 

reserve to itself perfect freedom of 
action."— (Enc. despatch to Secretary of State, No. 615 P, dated *±th April 1870.^ 

Colonel Pelly, 
on 

being referred to, expressed 
an 

opinion 
to the effect that Syed Azan had not really contemplated 

any attack 
on 

Zanzibar. Syed Majid, 
however, 

was 
apprehensive of 

an 
invasion, and issued 

a 
proclamation that any 

vessel coming from Oman and bringing to his dominions the people of that State 
after the monsoon, would be burnt, and the 

owner 
punished. This 

was ex plained by Dr. Kirk 
as not 

being intended to interfere with trade, but to 
give 

to the Sultan the power to arrest and detain suspicious 
persons, and to prevent 

them from landing without being liable to 
subsequent claims for compensa 

tion. Since the rumour, current in the fall of the previous 
year, about the 

ambitious designs of Azan bin Ghes, all passengers from Oman had been 
watched, and 

some 
arrested. To these 

measures 
Dr. Kirk attributed the peace 

of the country. 

73. C 
ost of P olitical A gency, Z anzibar, how to be borne 

.—In 
acknowledging receipt of the report of the Commission 

on 
the slave 

trade that sat in 1870, the Government of India observed in their despatch 
to 

the Secretary of State, No. 29, dated 20tli May 1870— 

" 
In providing for future administrative arrangements, such 

as 
those which form the subject of paragraphs 75 to 80, it is expedient that the political duties of the Agent should be kept entirely distinct from those relating- 

to the slave trade. The correspondence of the Agent 
regarding political affairs should be addressed to the Government of India, and regarding the 
slave trade, to Her Majesty's Government in England. It is, of course, not 

contemplated 
that, in providing such additional agency establishments 

as may be required in connection with 
the recommendations of the Commission, any fresh charge should be thrown on 

the revenues of India. No additional agency is needed for the discharge of the political duties at Zanzibar. 
We consider, therefore, that the political charges, 

as 
they stand at present, may 

properly 
continue to be borne by the Indian Government, which should retain its present control over the political duties of the Agency." 

In the correspondence forwarded under 
cover 

of despatch from the 
Secretary of State, No. 55, dated 8th July 1870, which contained 

an 
intimation 

to the effect that the arrangements made under Lord Canning's arbitral award 
would probably be discontinued, the Government of India were 

made aware 
of the fact that Lord Clarendon had addressed the Lords of the Treasury, in 
support of a 

proposal made by the Parliamentary Commission, that a 
portion 
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of peace in the waters of the 
of sanctioning 

any expedition 

nmon 
good of Zanzibar and 

ivill protect either Zanzibar 
or 

i to itself perfect freedom of 
t/i April 1870 J 
opinion to the effect that 

i 
Zanzibar. Syed Majid, 

a 
proclamation that any 

is 
the people of that State punished. This 

was ex- 
e 

with Irade, but to 
give 

3 persons, and to prevent 

it claims for compensa- previous 
year, about the 

from Oman had been 
Kirk attributed the peace 

iow to be borne. —In 
tnmission 

on 
the slave 

•ved in their despatch 
to' 

uch 
as 

those which form the 
duties of the Agent should be 

i 
correspondence of the Agent 

it of India, and regarding the 

, 
of course, not 

contemplated 

^e 
required in connection with 

d be thrown on 
the revenues he political duties at Zanzibar, 

and at present, may 
properly 

tain its present control over 

r 
of despatch from the 

li contained 
an 

intimation 
Manning's arbitral award 
f India were 

made aware iords of the Treasury, in 
emission, that a 

portion 

Events at Zanzibar from the arbitration to the death of Syed Majid. 

of the charges of the Zanzibar Agency should be borne by the Imperial 

Government. On the receipt of this despatch the Government of India wrote—(Despatch No. 45, dated 12th August 1870.) 

"In the event of 
our 

being instructed to convey t'» the Sultan this decision (i. tf., regarding the subsidy) 
on 

the part of Her Majesty's Government, 
we 

would represent that, 
with the release of the Sultan from his obligation to Muscat, \he interest of the Government 
of India in the affairs of Zanzibar will be at end. Under such circumstances there would 

no longer exist any reason 
why this Government should retain the control of the Political Agency 

in that State, 
or whv any 

portion of the cost of the Asrency should be debited to the 
revenues of India. We, therefore, request that 

we may be freed from all official connection with the 
Agency, and that the Agent may henceforward be appointed and controlled by Her Majesty's 
Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs. 

" 
With reference to the letter addressed by Lord Clarendon to the Lords of the Treasury, 

we 
would repeat 

our 
opinion that the suppression of the slave trade 

on 
the east coast of Africa 

is not an 
object for which the Indian revenues 

should be forced to contribute. It is 
a matter exclusively connected with Imperial policy, and in which the Government of India have 

no 
concern, and the expenditure which it necessitates should, therefore, be defrayed solely from imperial 

sources. We cannot consent to debit any 
portion of such outlay to the Indian 

Budget, and 
we trust that Your Grace may think fit to urge Her Majesty's Secretary of 

State for Foreign Affairs to re-consider this proposal. As already observed in paragraph 

3 of this despatch, 
we 

consider it right that, under the altered relations of Zanzibar to the 
State of Muscat, the Government of India should be relieved of all connection with Zanzi 
bar and all expenditure in that quarter. But should Her Majesty's Government think other 
wise the only alternative arrangement which wuld command 

our assent is that proposed in paragraph 
10 of 

our 
despatch No. 29, dated the 20th of May 1870, 

m., that we should continue, 

as 
heretofore, to pay the political charges and have control of the Political Agency at Zanzibar, 

the entire cost of the arrangements for the suppression of the slave trade being borne by the 
imperial 

revenues. We cannot believe it to be just, under any circumstances, to impose a portion of the latter charges 
on 

the revenues 
of India." 

73«. D eath of S yed 
M ajid 

.—In 
a 

letter of the 7th October 1870 
Mr. Churchill reported the death of Sultan Syed Majid after 

a 
brief illness 

of only 
a 

few days' duration. 
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CHAPTER V. 

Events in Zanzibar from the death of Syed Majid, 

74. A ccession of S ted B urgash— P roceedings of M 
r. 

C hurchill on 
the death of S ted 

M 
ajid .—When reporting the death of Syed Majid, 

Mr. Churchill submitted to Government, in 
a 

letter dated 7th October 1870, 
the following report of his proceedings with regard 

to the choice of 
a successor; and it must be here noted that these proceedings 

were 
taken 

a 
few hours before Syed Majid's death: 

" 
I sent Dr. Kirk to 

Syed Burgash, inviting him to come to the Agency with 
a 

view to seeing what his intentions were, and before I shaped my course, for there 
were 

several pretenders 
to the throne,—one, Syed Kulfan, 

a young 
prince of about thirty 

years of age, a younger brother 
of Syed Burgash 

; 
another, Syed Hamed bin Salem, of Muscat; and 

a 
third, Ali bin Soond—this 

latter 
was very 

objectionable 
on account of his declared fanaticism and vicious propensities. 

Syed Burgash 
came 

immediately, and the result of the interview 
was 

that he pledged himself 
not to do anything without first consulting this Agency. He repudiated all fanatical ideas, 
and promised to satisfy Her Majesty's Government with regard to the ultimate suppression of 
the slave trade ; he pledged himself to take my advice with reference to Syed Majid's stand ing debt to Messrs. Jairam Sewjee, of Bombay, and to honor and respect Sheik Sooliman, whom 
I 

was 
determined to protect 

on account of the services he had rendered to Her Majesty's Gov 
ernment during the lifetime of Syed Majid. 

" 
I spoke 

very 
plainly 

to the prince, and told him that I required to be assured, before I pledged myself to back his candidature, that he would be f riendly towards England, and would 
not revert to 

bigotry 
or to mutawa 

principles with which Her Majesty's Government could 
have 

no 
sympathy." 

In the afternoon of the 
same 

day, after the Sultan^ death, Mr. Churchill 
waited upon His Highness Syed Burgash, in company with the officers of the 
Agency and those of Her Majesty's ship Teazer, and congratulated him 

as 
his 

brother's 
successor. 

He advised Sheik Sooliman, who 
was 

in command of the troops, to 
proclaim to the soldiers the change that had taken place in the 

head of this government, and he undertook himself to see some 
of the most 

influential Chiefs of the place in order to prevent disturbances. Next day Mr. 
Churchill wrote to Government— 

" 
I 

am 
happy to say that everything is quiet in Zanzibar. The decided attitude of this Agency, with regard to the succession of Syed Burgash, has closed the mouths of many who 

were 
inclinded to reject his candidature. In reality there 

was not a 
single 

man in Zanzibar 
who could have opposed him with success, while the prince 

was 
made to understand that he 

himself had 
no 

chance if Her Majesty's Government were 
against him." 

On the 10th, however, Mr. Churchill wrote to the Bombay Government— 

" 
Since I last had the honor of addressing 

you on 
the subject of Zanzibar politics, 

mat 
ters have developed themselves unfavorably 

: 
Burgash has thrown off the mask he had put 

on just before and after his accession, and makes 
no secret of his inclinations to the fanatical 

party of which the head quarters 
are at Muscat. 

« A council of priests is to direct the affairs of the State, the law of the koran is to be 
revived, and there is 

now a 
talk of making the Zanzibar dominions 

an appena^e of the 
Imamat of Muscat, 

as 
it 

was 
in Syed Saeed's time. It is to be regretted that there should not 

be at the present moment any one 
in Zanzibar to 

dispute the succession. Syed Burgash's 
promises regarding the slave trade 

are all repudiated. 

" I shall lose 
no 

time in bringing His Highness to book for this glaring instance of want 
of faith, and it is urgent that in these troubled times 

a 
man-of-war be sent to Zanzibar to protect British interests." 

The Political Agent transmitted copy of 
a 

letter he had written to Syed 
Burgash, asking for an 

explanation of his proceedings, 
to which the latter 

replied 
that he did not recollect making 

any 
pledges, and added— 

" 
If, 

even, the question referred to at the time 
were in my hands, I could not have pro mised you its fulfilment before calling together the great 

men of the State from all parts of 
65 
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the country and taken their advice; and 
was 

it possible when my brother Majid 
was still alive ? " Mr. Churchill observed, in forwarding the correspondence to the Bombay 

Government— 

" 
His Excellency the Governor will jud^e from this how little the 

new 
Sutlan 

can be relied upon, and how desirable it would be to unseat him 
on 

the first pretext. Syed Toorkee 
who is older than Burgash, is the only member of the Bu Saidi family who could dispute the right of succession 

: 
but he should 

come 
here, if at 

all, with English influence to back him.■' 
, The Bombay Government replied to Mr. Churchill— 

" 
From a 

perusal of the proceedings of the Muscat-Zanzibar Commission, and its recom mendations 
on 

the question of the future succession to the sovereignty of Zanzibar in the event of that State being permanently severed from Muscat, it would appear that His Highness Syed Toorkee, 
as 

the elder brother of Syed Burgash, could establish 
no 

absolutely preferential 
claim to the throne 

on 
the ground of his seniority. On the other hand, it would appear that 

he 
was 

equally eligible with Syed Burgash. His Excellency the Governor in Council consi ders that your action, therefore, in lending 
your support 

so 
actively 

to the latter, and 
so 

far committing 
your Government, has been precipitate and injudicious. 

" 
The only 

excuse 
could be the necessity, if it existed, of having 

some 
ruling authority 

established without delay; but this, I 
am to state, your despatches do not sufficiently show to have existed.^ 

It appears from 
a 

letter written by the commander of Her Majesty's ship 
Teazer, who 

was 
present at Zanzibar when Syed Majid died, that the Arabs 

intended to have had 
no 

Sultan in succession to Syed Majid, but 
" a 

kind of 
re public," and 

were 
quite taken by surprise 

at Syed Burgash ascending the throne. 

75. O pinion of the 
G 

overnment of I 
ndia on M 

r. 
C hurchill's 

proceedings .—On receiving 
an account of Mr. Churchill's proceedings, the 

Government of India wrote— 

" 
The Viceroy and Governor General in Council, after 

a most careful consideration of Mr. 
Churchill's reports, 

can 
arrive at no 

other conclusion than that the Political Agent has, in the present instance, entirely misunderstood his position and his duties. Not only has he erred by in terfering in the succession, but, by making the religious opinions of Syed Burgash 
a 

condition 
on which the countenance of the British Government should be given 

or 
withheld, he has violated 

one 
of the cardinal principles which actuate the Government of India in its dealings with its 

own 
subjects and foreign States alike. His Excellency in Council, therefore, entirely dis 

approves of Mr. Churchill's proceedings. The Government of India, I 
am to observe, has no wish to interfere in any way in the succession to the throne of Zanzibar, but prefers 

to leave 
the question 

to be settled by the people themselves. Whatever form of government may be adopted in that country, 
or 

whoever may succeed to 
Supreme power, the treaties and engagements 

concluded between the British Government and Zanzibar will still be binding 
on that State. 

Their validity is not affected by 
any 

change in the succession or 
in the constitution of the government."— (Enclosure to despatch to 

Secretary of State, No. 60, dated 21^ December 1870.,/ 
An explanation 

was 
subsequently, in January 1871, submitted by Mr. 

Churchill of his proceedings, which, however, did not induce the Government 
of India to alter the views already expressed by them 

on 
the subject. 

(S. I. 1871, Nos. 6-9.; 
Writing subsequently with regard 

to the succession of Syed, Dr. Kirk, Mr. 
Churchill's successor, observed (letter dated May 1871)— 

" 
I may, however, state that, in my 

opinion, looking 
at what has happened with the advan tage of subsequent experience, Syed Burgash would have assumed the throne 

as 
quietly and surely had Mr. Churchill taken 

no 
steps in the matter as 

he did under his auspices; 
nor 

would 
any 

rival, put forward by Mr. Churchill, have had the least chance of success, unless backed with 
the active interference of the English agent and the commander of the ship-of-war then pre 
sent ; and I doubt not that 

even then Syed Burgash would have been supported by all the other 
Consulates. 

" 
Indeed, I see now 

that Burgash, with 
an 

insignificant but organized party of fanatics, 
and aided by his old friends, the Harthi tribe, could not have been kept down unless arrested 

or 66 
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punished; 
nor 

do I find among the members of the family of Syed Saeed, with whom I 
am ac quainted, 

any one who would have suited 
our purpose a 

whit better, 
or 

granted the concessions 
we 

asked for after his accession. 

" 
In every other respect Syed Burgash has shown himself master of the situation by 

having been able quietly to throw off the fanatics and take the direction of affairs into his 
own 

hands." 
Copies of several intemperate letters, written by Mr. Churchill to the 

Sultan, 
were 

forwarded by the Government of Bombay about 
a year after 

date. These served to confirm the opinion previously expressed by the Govern 
ment of India regarding Mr. Churchill's proceedings.— (Political, A, November 
1871, iVbs. 25 to 36J 

76. G overnment of I ndia suggest severance of their relations 
with M uscat. C orrespondence with S ecretary of S tate on the 
subject .—In reporting the matter to the Secretary of State (despatch No. GO, 
dated 21st December 1871J the Government of India intimated disapproval 
of Mr. ChurchiU's conduct, and the despatch concluded— 

"We would take this opportunity of representing 
to Your Grace our earnest desire that 

our official connection with the Zanzibar State should cease. The existence of 
a 

Political Agent 
there in 

no way serves the interests of India, whilst, 
as has been shown by Mr. Churchill's 

recent proceedings, there is the risk that such 
an 

officer may commit himself to a 
policy which 

we cannot 
regard 

as 
safe 

or 
wise. Under these circumstances 

we 
deem it necessary to repeat the request which 

we 
proferred in 

our 
despatch No. 45 of 12th August, that there 

should be a 
complete and early 

severance 
of existing relations between the Indian Gov 

ernment and the Political Agency at Zanzibar." 
On receipt of the above despatch, the Secretary of State for India 

addressed the London Foreign Office in the following terms: 
"It will be 

seen that His Excellency is of opinion that the interests of India require 
that the present connexion between the Government of India and the Zanzibar State should 
be entirely severed. The Duke of Argyll, 

as at present informed, cannot see how this severance, 
however expedient it may be in the abstract, 

can 
be accoooplished without great embarrass 

ment, so 
long 

as the superintendence and control of the Muscat Agency, and generally of 
the affairs of the Persian Gulf, 

are in the hands of the Indian Government. 

" 
Upon this subject the Duke of Argyll desires to be favored with the views of Lord 

Granville. His Lordship is 
aware 

that the inconvenience of the present divided authority, 
in the countries to which reference has been made, has frequently been 

a 
subject of con sideration and discussion by successive Governments, whilst the evils of the existing 

system have been found difficult to substitute for it any other, which would not 
equally be 

open to 
objection." 

So far, then, 
as 

the instructions to Mr. Churchill relating to the slave 
traffic 

were 
concerned, the Duke of Argyll— 

" 
would leave it to the discretion of Lord Granville to shape them in such 

a manner as may 
be consonant with the views of His Lordship, Mr. Churchill 

on 
all questions of general policy 

receiving his instructions from the Government of India."— (Proceedings S. H., 1871, Nos. 28 

The correspondence 
was 

forwarded for the information of the Govern 
ment of India, who replied (despatch j\o. 1G, dated \th April 18/17, 

- "Your Grace has intimated to Lord Granville that you cannot see how this course, expedient it may be 
on 

general grounds, 
can be accomplished without gieat einbanass- 

ment, 
so 

long 
as 

the superintendence and control of the Muscat Agency, and generally of the 
affairs of the Persian Gulf, 

are 
in the hands of the Indian Government. In answer to this 

we would express our 
opinion that the only interests which the Government of India has, 

or ever has 
had, in Zanzibar, has arisen out of the intimate relations which formerly existed between that 
State and Muscat. When Syed Saeed 

was 
Sultan, the two States formed 

one 
kingdom, and, 

therefore, only 
one 

Political Agent 
was 

needed. In 1840 the Sultan removed the head quarters of 
his government from Muscat to Zanzibar, whither the Political Agent followed him; and from that"time 

until the year 1861, when the kingdom 
was 

split in two, there 
was no 

Agent at 
67 
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Muscat. Oq the division of the State, two Political Agents 
were 

appointed. When the tri 
butary dependence of the one 

State 
on 

the other 
was 

severed by the resolution of Her 
Majesty's Government, that the obligation of the Sultan of Zanzibar to continue to pay the 
subsidy to Muscat was at an 

end, 
our interest in Zanzibar ceased. So far, then, from the fact 

of 
our 

maintaining 
an 

Agent at Muscat being 
a reason 

why 
we 

should keep 
one at Zanzibar, 

it is rather, 
we 

consider, 
a reason 

why 
our connection with that State should be discontinued." 

77. Sted Burgash announces his accession .—On the 17th October 
1870 Mr. Churchill forwarded 

a 
letter from Syed Burgash announcing his 

ac cession to the throne of Zanzibar and its dependencies. The letter concluded— 

" 
I shall, please God, continue to maintain friendship in perpetuity according to the 

agreement entered into between my father, the late Saeed bin Salem, and your Government." 
A similar communication had been addressed to the Bombay Govern 

ment. The Sultan's khureeta 
was not sent forward by the Bombay Govern 

ment until the 9th Eebruary, and the Government of India, before replying 

to it, desired the Bombay Government to ascertain and report the events that 
had occurred at Zanzibar during the interval.— (S. M. 1871, Nos. 10-16.; 

78. Propositions of Bombay Government in favor of the annexation 
of Zanzibar .—Very 

soon 
after his succession Syed Burgash, 

as 
reported by 

Mr. Churchill, issued 
a 

proclamation to his. subjects— 

" to eject all natives of India from their plantations, and to prevent them from carrying 
on their trade beyond the precincts of the town." 

No copy of the proclamation, however, 
was 

forwarded, and, from 
a 

letter 
addressed by Mr. Churchill to Syed Burgash, it appears that the proclamation, 
if there 

was one, 
merely enjoined His Highness's subjects— 

"not to allow British subjects to establish themselves 
on 

Native estates, but that they 
should not be interferred with when established 

on 
their 

own 
estates." 

r The Sultan himself explained that the only orders issued 
were to the effect 

that those natives of India who 
were 

in the habit of inciting the slaves to steal cloves, should be prevented from frequenting the plantations of Arabs. Mr. 
Churchill, in several most peremptory letters, remonstrated with the Sultan against these orders restricting the liberty of British subjects 

as con trary to treaty. Incidently it appears from the correspondence that 
Mr. Churchill had about the same 

time addressed 
a 

letter to the Sultan, 
enquiring whether he recognized the treaty engagements, proclamations, and 
declarations of his predecessors 

as 
binding 

on 
himself 

or not. The Bombay 
Government requested the Political Agent 

to inform the Sultan that such 
an infraction of the treaty 

as was 
contemplated by the Sultan's proclamation 

would not be tolerated, and, in forwarding the correspondence (some two 
months and-a-half after receipt of the 

same to the Government of India, made 
the following startling propositions. They observed— 

" 
Syed Burgash has 

no 
claim to succeed to the throne 

as next heir to Syed Majid, 
nor, 

as 
His Excellency ia Council gathers from Mr. Churchill, whom he has 

seen 
within the past week, has he any hold whatever 

on the support of the people. 

Had it not been for Mr. Churchill's precipitate action in supporting his claims, Syed Burgash would probably 
never have been 

on 
the throne. Further, he has manifested 

an open hostility to us, and 
a 

desire to evade the engagements entered into by his predecessors. He has 
no 

claim 
on our 

good will or 
support. Sir L. Heath has 

more than 
once 

urged that Zan- ziba should become 
a 

British possession, both with 
a 

view to the suppression 
of'the 

slave trade and the development of the trade with the East African Coast. As long 
as the territory 

was under the sovereignty of 
a 

well-disposed ruler, such 
an 

annexation would 0 not, in His Excel lency in Council's opinion, have been desirable. But the 
case 

is much altered when the sovereignty has been seized by 
an 

individual who has no 
right, either by lawful succession 

or election, and manifests 
an open 

hostility 
to our power. 
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« It is difficult to foresee what the result of the present contest at Muscat may be. The Right Hon 
J 
ble the Governor in Council doubts much whether, if Syed Toorkee succeeds 

in his attempts to establish himself there, it would be desirable that Muscat and Zanzibar 
should be united under 

one 
authority. But if he fail, the Governor in Council has no 

doubt 
that his establishment in power at Zanzibar would be in every way 

preferable to the rule of Syed Burgash. 

" 
It is for the consideration of the Government of India whether 

an 
active and 

immediate intervention by force at Zanzibar is not advisable, leaving it for future decision 
whether some other ruler should not be placed there, 

or 
whether it should be brought under 

the direct authority of the British Crown. It would 
seem not unlikely, if we 

do not intervene, that, in 
a 

few years, some 
other power may be established in the island." 

Mr. Churchill left Zanzibar 
on a 

visit to Bombay about the end of 1870, 
and Dr. Kirk, who temporarily assumed charge of the Agency, wrote on 

the 
24!th December— 

" 
Since taking 

over 
charge, subsequent to Mr. ChurchilPs departure, His Highness Syed 

Burga 
u 
h has shown 

a 
marked change in his attitude and bearing towards the Agency. Not only have the arbitrary and unjust 

acts of himself and fanatic councillors to British subjects 
been set aside, but these very cases have been placed in my hands for settlement, and His Highness has shown himself peculiarly anxious to do nothing that could be taken 

as a 
slight 

by 
me. 
" 

The despatch of business is thus greatly facilitated, and 
our 

protected Indians saved 
from much annoyance to which they had been subjected, while, I think, that we 

stand in 
a better position to bring His Highness to reason on the more 

weighty 
matter that will be pressed 

upon him,—the suppression of the slave trade,—on which I have 
as 

yet 
no reason to think that His Highness has altered his views." 

The improvement in the Sultan's conduct noticed by Dr. Kirk did not, 
said the Bombay Government, induce them to recede from their former proposal. 

v 79. V iews of thf G overnment of I ndia on propositions of B ombay G overnment. S uspension of M r. 
C hurchill .—With regard to Mr. 

Churchill's enquiry from the Sultan 
as to whether he considered his predecessor's 

engagements binding 
on 

himself, the Government of India wrote in reply 
to the Bombay Government— 

" 
Mr. Churchill displayed great want of judgment in putting such 

a 
question to His Highness. As 1 have had the honor to observe in my former 

Vide paragraph (5. letter No. 2194< of the 16th December 1870,* the treaties and engagements concluded between the British Government and Syed Saeed, when ruler of Muscat 
and Zanzibar, 

are 
binding 

on 
the latter State, whoever its ruler and whatever its form of 

government may be." 
The letter continued— 

"To judge by recent events, His Excellency in Council cannot but fear that the hostile 
attitude assumed b> Syed Burgash may be accounted by the discourteous tone in which 
Mr. Churchill has lately addressed His Highness. This view is strengthened by the fact 
that, since Mr. Churchill's departure, the Sultan has set aside his unjust and arbitrary 
order, and has placed the cases 

of the British subjects, against whom he had 
cause to 

complain, 
in Dr. Kirk's hands for settlement. Under the circumstances of the case, His Excellency 
in Council feels it incumbent 

on him not to 
permit Mr. Churchill to resume 

the duties of 
Political Agent at Zanzibar, until the pleasure of Her Majesty's Government shall be known." 

The Government of India next 
proceeded to comment on 

the propositions 
put forward by the Bombay Government for the annexation of Zanzibar. It 

was 
remarked— 

" 
His Excellency the Governor of Bombay in Council, although admitting that there 

has been 
a 
favorable change of demeanor 

on the part of Syed Burgash, has not been induced 
thereby to recede from the proposal made in the earlier of the two letters umler acknowledg 
ment, viz., that recourse 

should be had to an 
active and immediate intervention by force at Ziinzibar, and, that it should be left for future decision whether 

some other ruler should not be placed 
on 

the throne, 
or 

whether that State should be brought under tne direct authority 
69 
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of the British Crown. To this proposal for the annexation of Zanzibar, His Excellency 
in Council is most decidedly opposed. He considers that it is contrary to the principles of justice and sound policy. It is possible that the annexation of Zanzibar would tend towards the suppression of the slave trade 

on 
the east coast of Africa, but this is 

a 
question which is 

not in the hands of the Government of India; but 
even 

if such 
a 

result 
were certain it would not 

justify, in His Excellency's opinion, 
a 

deliberate act of spoliation. The remark that the territory of Zanzibar is not under the sovereignty of 
a 

well-disposed ruler is 
one which, if accepted 

as a 
justification of the 

course 
proposed, would be equally applicable 

to many other States in Asia. For similar 
reasons 

His Excellency in Council is unable to attach any force to the argument which would justify the interference of the British Govern 
ment by the anticipation that, unless such 

a course is taken, 
some 

European 
power mio-ht hereafter 

establish itself in these regions. The Viceroy and Governor General in Council cannot approve of 
a 

proposal which would be 
a 

deliberate and unjustifiable breach of treaty and 
a 

declaration 
of 

war 
with Syed Burgash. As pointed 

out 
by Dr. Kirk, the commercial treaty, and the tariff which it prescribes, give the British Government complete 

power to make the ruler of 
Zanzibar fulfil his engagements. 

,, These proceedings 
were 

reported to the Secretary 
of State in 

a 
despatch 

No. 10, dated 22nd March 1871, with the remark— 
"We cannot admit the force of the arguments by which the Bombay Government under takes to justify such 

a measure. 
On the contrary, 

we 
hold that the annexation of Zanzibar 

would be 
a 

deliberate and unwarrantable breach of treaty, and opposed to every principle of justice and sound policy— (S. I. 1871, Noa. 10-22). 
The Bombay Government, 

on 
the 24th July 1871, submitted 

an 
explana 

tion with regard to the propositions advanced by them, and which had been 
so 

unhesitatingly condemned by the Government of India. It 
was as 

follows 
: "His Excellency the Governor in Council would observe that he 

never 
contemplated 

an annexation of Zanzibar, it it were found possible to place 
it under the government of 

a member of the reigning family who 
was 

well disposed 
to the British Government, and desirous of continuing 

on 
amicable terms with the British Government. There 

are other descen dants of Syed Saeed, who would have 
a 

superior claim to the throne of Zanzibar; and, with reference to 
Syed Burgash himself. His Excellency in Council would remark that 

a 
reference 

to my letter will show that his removal from the throne 
was 

suggested for considerations not 
on the ground merely of his not being 

a 
well-disposed ruler, 

as 
might be inferred from your letter, but of his possessing 

no 
claim, either hereditary 

or 
elective, 

to the throne which he had seized. Syed Burgash is simply 
a usurper, who had infringed 

a 
fundamental treaty, and had manifested 

an open 
hostility 

to the English alliance. 

" 
With reference to the remarks 

as 
regards the conduct of Mr. Churchill, of whose proceedings His Excellency in Council had already expressed his disapprobation, I 

am directed to 
point 

out that the Sultan's proclamation 
was 

the cause, and not the result, of the 
angry 

correspondence between the British Agent and His Highness. 

" 
Finally, the complications which have from time to time arisen between the British and other European 

powers on 
the east coast of Africa may have caused His Excellency in Council to regard the possible 

presence of another European government at Zanzibar with greater apprehension than is entertained by His Excellency the Viceroy in Council. But 
a recollection of events of no 

distant date, both at 
Mayottee and Mozambique, impresses His Excellency the Governor in Council with the conviction that such 

an event as 
the assump tion of 

a 
protectorate 

over 
Zanzibar by 

a 
European 

power, whose policy 
as 

regards the slave trade would be different from ours, would be 
a source 

of continued danger and anxiety.^ 
This explanation of the Bombay Government did not induce the Govern 

ment of India to modify the views previously expressed. As it 
was not known 

what recent events at 
Mayottee 

and Mozambique 
were 

alluded to, information 
on 

this subject 
was 

called iw.—{Secret, 1871, Nos. 305-324.) 
The Bombay Government replied 

on 
the 4th October 1871 that the allu 

sion to 
Mayottee and 

Mozambique— 

" 
refers to the difficulties which have from time to time arisen in respect to the suppres sion ot the slave trade 

on 
the east coast of Africa with the French and Portuguese Govern ments, and which have, His Excellency in Council thinks, 

more 
than 

once been the subject of discussion in 
Parliament. The observation 

was 
general, and had no 

reference to anv 
difficul 

ties experienced by the Indian Government."— A, November 1871, Nos. 25 Sc 26J 70 
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80. C 
ompensation paid by S ultan to a man under B ritish protec 

tion illegally punished .—The Bombay Government in March 1871 for 
warded 

a 
letter from Dr. Kirk reporting that 

an 
African, in the service of Captain Eraser, had been flogged by the Arab authorities 

on a 
charge of simple 

drunkenness without reference to the Consulate, such 
a 

proceeding being in 
violation of Articles IV. and V. of the Commercial Treaty of 1839. On Dr. 
Kirk's representation of the matter, the Sultan disowned all personal knowledge 
that the 

man was 
entitled to British protection, and at once 

paid the 
sum 

of 
50 Dollars demanded by the Political Agent 

as a 
compensation to the injured 

party. Dr. Kirk's action 
was 

approved by the Government of India.— {Political, 
A, April 1871, Nos. 22-24J 

81. Views of Home Government 
as to relations with 

Zanzibar.— 
Quoted below, in extenso, is 

an 
important despatch from the Secretary of State 

for India (No. 3, dated list April 1871^, regarding the relations of the Govern 
ment of India with Zanzibar, and the general policy to be pursued with respect 
to that State. 

" 
I have had for 

some 
time under my most serious consideration the affairs of Zanzibar, and 

the relations of the Sultan of that territory with the British Government. But the course of events 
continually presenting fresh complications in respect not 

only of the Zanzibar State itself, but also of its Connection with Muscat and the affairs of the Persian Gulf, has rendered 
it difficult, if not 

impossible, for Her Majesty's Government to dictate any 
general policy 

with respect to those States which might not, and 
as events have proved, actually would have 

been rendered, by 
some new 

revolution, inapplicable 
to the existing state of affairs at the time 

of the arrival of my instructions. 

" 
But there appears, after this succession of vicissitudes, to be 

a 
prospect of 

a 
settlement 

of the affairs of Zanzibar and Muscat 
on a more 

permanent basis. The Sultan Syed Majid 
is dead, and has been succeeded by his brother, Syed Burgash. The usurpation of Syed 

Azan bin Ghes is at an 
end, and Syed Toorkee, another member of the family of Syed Saeed, 

is now 
reported to be supreme at Muscat. The present time, therefore, 

seems to be opportune 
for 

a 
re-consideration of the several important questions involved in the correspondence before 

me. 
" But before I enter upon the family 

or 
dynastic questions arising out of the events 

which have occurred since the death of Syed Thoweynee, it 
is 

expedient that I should refer to Your Excellency's letter of the 12th August 1870, No. 45 
• r? < 

fep.r ,g ra 
pi73. (Secret)* in which you indicate 

a course 
of policy which 

would render all further consideration of the affairs of Zanzibar, 
on 

the part of the Indian 
department of Her Majesty's Government, altogether unnecessary. You are of opinion that, 
except in 

so far as 
there may be certain engagements 

or 
guarantees to be maintained by the 

British Government, there is no reason 
why Your Excellency's Government should retain 

the control of the Political Agency in that State, 
or 

why any 
portion of cost of the 

Agency should be debited to the revenues 
of India; and you add—' We therefore request 

that we may be freed from all official connection with the Agency, and that the Agent 

may be appointed and controlled by the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairsand again, 

on the 21st December 1H70, No. 60 (Secret),! Your Excel- 
t Vide paragraph 76. lency's Government wrote—' We would take this opportunity 

of representing to Your Grace 
our earnest desire that 

our 
official connection with the Zanzibar 

State should cease. 
The existence of 

a 
Political Agent there in no way serves the interests 

of India/ 

" 
With reference to these observations, I have to invite Your Excellency's attention to the 

views* expressed by the Government of your 
predecessor. In 

• Vide paragraph 40. 
reply to an 

enquiry put by the Secretary of State for India, 
as 

« t- j ;. 
to whether, in the opinion of the Viceroy, there 

were ' any 
15th Febraar 

/i868 
(No. 20). 

political and commercial questions arising out of the relations 
between India and Zanzibar of sufficient importance 

to 
render it necssary that any 

controlling authority should be exercised by the Govern 

ment of India/ the Viceroy in Council stated, 
' 
having regard to the position of Zanzibar 

and its general relations to India, and to the tribes 
on 

the shores of the Indian sea, 
it appears to us 

that the Political Agent there ought to be under the Bombay Government, 
subiect to the control of the Government of India, rather than under the Forfiign Office; and 
that the Agent should be chosen by the Government of Bombay, who have the best opportu 
nities for making 

a 
good selection. Indeed it would, in our 

opinion, be better that the pre 
sent anomalous state of things should continue, than that the control of political affairs at Zanzibar 
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should be transferred to the Foreign Office, which cnuld not take cojrnizance of 
cases 

affecting 
the interests of Indian subjects, and subjects of neighbouring allied States, with the rapidity 
aiid convenience that are 

desirable/ 

" 
Your Exoplb'ncy is 

aware 
that the anomalous state of things here adverted to wns 

brought 
by Her Majesty^s Government under the consideration of a 

special committee 
on 

the East African 
slave trade, in which the Foreign Office, the Colonial Office, the India Olfice, and the Admiralty 

were 
represented, and of which Mr. Churchill, your Agent 

at Zanzibar (then 
on 

sick leave), 

was a 
member. The committee 

were of opinion that as 
the duties of the Agency and Con 

sulate at Zanzibar 
were 

of 
a 
two-fold character,—one part concerning the Indian, and the other 

the Imperial, Government,—it 
was 

expedient that the controlling authority should be divided 
between the Foreign Office and the India Office, and first that the cost of maintaining this 
two-fold establishment should be equally divided between the Imperial and the Indian Govern 
ments. This recommendation 

was 
supported by the Foreign Office and the India Office; 

but it is with much regret that I have to inform you that the proposal has been negatived by 
the Lords Commissioners of the Treasury,* who refuse to Vide paragraph 83. burden the Imperial Exchequer with any part of the expendi 

ture necessary for the support of the Zanzibar establishment. 

" 
Against this decision I have protested. I concur 

in opinion with Your Excellency^ 
Government that the revenues of Indii should 

on no account be charged with any part of 
the expenditure entailed by the efforts made for the suppression of the East African slave 
trade. But I do not agree with you in considering that the interests of India 

are in no wise promoted by the residence at Zanzibar of an 
officer appointed and controlled by the Indian 

Governments. There is a 
large and increasing trade between India and Zanzibar, and many subjects of Her Majesty and of neighbouring Indian States are located in that territory. 

Apart from all political considerations, it appears to me, 
indeed, open to serious question 

whether 
an 

entire severance 
of the existing connection between your Government and the 

Sultan of Zanzibar would not be highly injurious to 
large numbers of the people under your rule. 

"If, therefore, it should be finally determined by the Lords of the Treasury that 
no contribution shall be made by the Imperial Exchequer towards the maintainance of the 

Briiish establishment at Zanzibar, I should consider it my 
duty, in communication with Your Excellency, to place the Agency 

on an 
entirely 

new 
footing, 

so 
that no 

payment should there 
after be made from the Indian 

revenues on account of any 
proceedings connected with the suppression of the slave trade, 

or any other 
measures not having for their object the benefit of the people of India. But it will be obvious to Your Excellency that at a 

time when the Financial Department of Her Majesty's Government refuse to entertain 
a 

proposal strongly recommended by other departments for 
an 

equitable division of the expenses of the Zanzibar establishment, 
I could not, if I thought it desirable, recommend that the Imperial Government should 
relieve India altogether of the charge of the Zanzibar Agency and Consulate. 

u 
Another proposal of 

a very opposite character has been brought 
to my notice since this despatch 

was 
commenced. I learnt, in the first instance, through the Foreign Office, that 

Mr. Churchill, having 
gone to Bombay, had put himself in communication with Sir Seymour 

Fitzgerald witb respect to the expediency of annexing the dominions of the Sultan of Zanzi- 

* Vide ar a h 79 
^ 
ar to our 

■'■ 
nc 
^ 
an 

Empire,* and that the proposal would be 
recommended by Your Excellency. On learning this, I lost 

no 
time in telegraphing 

to the Governor of Bombay that 
no 

such proposal would be entertained by Her Majesty's Government, and that I hoped it would 
never 

be submitted. 1 have since 
learnt with regret that it has taken 

a more 
substantive official shape than I had expected. 

With respect to the proposal, it only requires that I should communicate to you the absolute disapproval of Her Majesty's Government of any project for the annexation of Zanzibar, 

or the assertion of any right to interfere with the succession in that country, and I do 
so 

with 
greater satisfaction, from the knowledge that Your Excellency's views 

are 
in accordance 

with my own. 
" 
With regard, however, to the recent proceedings of Mr. Churchill, both at the time of 

the death of the late Sultan Syed Majid and subsequently 
on the occasion of his visit to Bombay, I cannot refrain from expressing my opinion—an opinion in entire accord with that expressed by Your Excellency—that he has altogether misunderstood his position and manifest 

ed 
an amount of indiscretion which proves him to be wholly unfitted for 

so 
important 

a 
post. 

Mr. Churchill, 
as you are aware, is not like his predecessors, 

an 
officer of tlie Indian estab lishment, but 

a 
member of the Consular Service of Great Britain. By 

an 
interchange of ap pointments, which I have 

never 
been thoroughly able to 

understand, and such 
as 1 hope will not be sanctioned again, Her Majesty's Consul-General in Algeria became Agent and Consul at Zanzibar under the Government of Bombay. 1 

am 
anxious now, as soon as 

pos-ible, 
to see 72 
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the Zanzibar Ag-ency again placed under the charge of 
an 

Indian officer, in whose knowledge 
and experience ^our Excellency's Government 

can repose entire confidence, and to whom you 
can 

safely 
entrust any difficult and delicate duties of 

an 
exceptional character, which recent events may 

impose 
upon the representative of the British Government in that part of 

the world. 
Indeed, the circumstantial changes 

to which I have adverted at the commencement of 
this despatch 

seem to render it advisable that something of a 
special character should be given 

to the 
new 

mission at Zanzibar. It would be highly expedient that the British Government should avail itself of the coincidence of two new 
rulers, both of the old family of Syed Saeed, being established in Zanzibar and in Muscat, to ascertain the wishes of both Chiefs, to recon cile any differences that may exist between them, and to place their relations with each other 

on 
such 

a 
footing 

as to call for the least possible amount of interference from the British 
Government. Should 

an 
officer be available competent to perform these special duties 

with advantage 
to a 

State, and at the 
same time willing to accept the permanent office of Agent at Zanzibar, it will be so much gain to Your Government. But if not. Your Excellency's Government might consider it desirable to send 

an officer of rank and experience 
to Zanzibar, who, after arbitrating 

on 
all special questions that might arise, and placing affairs 

on a 
substantial footing 

not 
likely 

to be disturbed, might leave the direction of the Agency 
with its diminished responsibilities, in the hands of 

an officer of inferior rank. 

" 
It is my wish, 

as 
I am sure 

it is Your Excellency's, that the British Government should 
endeavour to establish on an 

endurino: basis amicable relations between the rulers of Zanzibar 
and Muscat, and at the same time so to contribute to their security, in their several posses sions, 

as to render future appeals 
to British arbitration, and future necessities for 

our 
inter ference, 

as few 
as 

possible. 1 have been strongly impressed by the public inconvenience resulting from the vast amount of correspondence thrown upon the Indian Government, 
abroad and at home, by the engagements which 

we have contracted, and the arbitraments 
we 

have undertaken with respect to these distant alliances. Our great object is the preserva tion of the peace of the Persian Gulf and the adjacent waters, and, 
so 

long 
as 

this is secured, 
the less 

we 
have to do with the internal relations of the several States the better. It is naturally the wish of Her Majesty's Government that the descendants of 

our 
old and faith 

ful ally, Syed Saeed, Imam of Muscat, should continue to rule 
over 

the possessions which 
he bequeathed 

to them. But we must not be unmindful of the fact that revolutions have been, and again 
may be, frequent in Omam, and that, therefore, 

our 
best policy is that which 

least connects us 
with personal engagements of any kind. We should be at all times free to recognize any ruler accepted by the people, without thereby renewing 

or 
discarding 

any previously contracted obligations, 
or 

being entangled in any difficult questions of public 
faith arising out of previous pledges and promises actual 

or 
constructive." 

82. R eply of G overnment of I ndia regarding relations with Z anzibar .—To the above despatch the Government of India replied (despatch 
No. 35, dated 23rd Jwie 1873J— 

" 
With reference to paragraphs 1 to 7, 

we 
would observe that the opinion given by the 

Government of India in their despatch No. 81 of 14th May 1868, 
to the effect that the political affairs of Zanzibar should be solely controlled by 

an 
officer appointed by the Bombay 

Government and not 
by the Foreign Office at home, 

was 
given at a 

time when the payment 
of the Zanzibar subsidy to Muscat had not been discontinued, and 

on 
the supposition that the 

intimate relations between the two States which the subsidy involved 
were to be permanent. 

On the supposition that the annual payment of the subsidy 
to Muscat by the Zanzibar State is 

to continue, 
we 

entirely 
concur in the views then expressed that, if Muscat be under the Govern 

ment of India, and Zanzibar be under the Foreign Office, there will not 
only be 

a 
conflict 

of direction, but 
sooner or 

later also 
a 

conflict of policy. 

" 
But if the obligation of Zanzibar to pay the subsidy to Muscat be declared to have ceased, matters have entirely changed, the intimate relations between the two States 

are severed, and there is no 
longer 

reason to apprehend that evil will result from the control of the political affairs at Muscat being under 
To Secretory of State (Secret). No. 17, dated 22nd February 1870. one 

authority) and those of ZaDzibar 

" 
eo', 

2lst December under another. The recommendation 

„ „ 
13, 

„ 
23rd April 1871. made in our 

despatches marginally 

>» » » " " 
noted, that 

we 
should be released 

from all official connection with the 
Zanzibar Anency, rested chiefly, if not 

entirely, 
on 

the supposition that the subsidy is to be 
no longer paid. 
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" 
In our 

despatch No. 16 of 4th April, of which 
an extract is given in the margin, 

we stated 
our 

opinion 
on 

this subject at some 
length, and 

we see no Tide paragraph 76. reason to 
modify the views therein expressed. The fact of Indian 

subjects having 
a 

large trade with Zanzibar does not appear to us to be 
a 

sufficient 
reason 

for 
having 

a 
Political Agent there. An equally large and remunerative trade is carried 

on 
by 

our Indian subjects with many other ports where 
a 

consular establishment is found sufficient for all 
the duties which arise."" 

Until 
a 

decision 
on 

the subject of the subsidy 
was 

received, the Govern 
ment of India expressed their inability to carry out the suggestions of the 
Secretary of State with regard 

to the constitution of the mission at Zanzibar 

on 
its new 

footing. 

83. C orrespondence regarding expenses op Z anzibar C onsulate.— 
In June 1871 copies of correspondence that had taken place between the 
London Poreign Office, the India Office, and the Lords Commissioners of 
the Treasury, with regard 

to the expenses of the Consulate at Zanzibar, 

was 
forwarded for the information of the Government of India. Of that 

corre spondence the following is 
a summary : 

The Foreign Office appear, in sub 
mitting the report of the committee 

on 
the East African slave trade, to have 

recommended 
an 

increase of expenditure 
on 

account of the slave squadron, 

and 
on 

account of the establishment of 
new 

Consulates, and also the assump 
tion by the Imperial Government of 

a 
half share of the cost of the Political 

Agency at Zanzibar. The Lords of the Treasury would not consent to any 
increased expenditure for the objects mentioned, and their reply concluded— 

" 
My Lords, without stating what their view might be if the absolute extinction of the 

East African slave trade 
were in question, 

are not 
disposed 

to expend 
a 

greater amount than 
at present of public 

money upon measures 
which have the appearance of lending at least 

a partial 
countenance to it. M}' Lords think that the continuance of the present expenditure 

upon such terms requires serious consideration." 
Thereupon the Foreign Office, believing that the objection 

was 
founded 

on 
a 

misconception of the question and of the policy advocated by the committee, 
represented that the complete, though gradual, cessation of all conveyance of 
slaves by 

sea was 
contemplated, and that 

a 
system by which less than five per 

cent, of the slaves exported 
were 

rescued 
was 

obviously inadequate. The 
Lords of the Treasury 

were 
asked to re-consider their decision, and, with 

re gard 
to the expenses of the Zanzibar Agency, it 

was 
said 

— 
" a 

great portion of this officer's duty is in connection with the slave trade, which is 
a 

sub 
ject of imperial interest; that the system of divided superintendence in slave-trade matters, 
which has hitherto prevailed, has led to the issue of conflicting orders at considerable detri 
ment to the public service abroad, while at Home the two-fold action of the two 

departments 
multiplies correspondence and retards the despatch of business. 

"It is, therefore, most advisable that the superintendency of slave-trade matters at 
Zanzibar should rest 

entirely with this department; and I 
am to state that the Government of 

India have lately expressed 
a very strong opinion that under the altered relations of Zanzibar 

to the State of Muscat, the Indian funds should be relieved of all expenditure 
on account of 

the A<rency, and that the onlv alternative arrangement which they would consent to would be 
that the entire cost of the arrangement for the suppression of the slave trade should be borne by the imperial revenues." 

The arrangements had, however, 
no 

effect 
on 

the Lords of the Treasury, 
who 

were 44 
unable to arrive at any conclusion" than that 

previously 
an nounced. On being informed of this decision, the Secretary of State for 

India expressed his regret thereat and observed, with regard to the refusal 
of the Treasury to bear half the cost of the Agency,— 

" as 
the Lords Commissioners of the Treasury have refused to accede to this proposed 

arrange 
ment, the Secretary of State for India in Council is compelled 

to 
regard the question oi the 

74 
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Events in Zanzibar from the death of Syed Majid- 

cost of the Zanzibar establishment from 
a new 

point of view, and to state distinctly his opinion 

on 
the subject. 

" 
The proceedings of the special committee sitting at the Foreign Office, the report of 

which 
was 

laid before the Parliament 
on 

the 2ith January 1870, clearly show the importance 
which the Imperial Government attached to the suppression of the East African slave trade. 
This, 

as 
observed by the Slave Committee Trade, is not an 

Indian, but 
an 

Imperial, question. 
The Government of India have, indeed, 

on more 
than one 

occasion protested against the justice 
of any part of the expenses 

attending the suppression of the East African slave trade being charged 
against the revenues 

of India. In the opinion thus expressed, the Duke of Argyll 
concurs. It is only in consideration of the fact that there is 

an 
extensive trade between some 

parts of 
India and Zanzibar that the Secretary of State for India in Council 

can 
sanction any 

expendi 
ture at all 

on 
the maintainence of 

an 
establishment in this outlying territory. He desires, 

therefore, that you will state, for the information of Earl Granville, with 
a 

view to its com munication to the Lords Commissioners of the Treasury, that His Grace will take immediate 
steps, through the Government of India, to place the Zanzibar Agency 

on an 
entirely 

new footing with reference to the requirements of Indian interests and commerce." 
The Foreign Office then transmitted 

a copy of the Duke of Argyll's letter 
to the Lords of the Treasury and remarked— 

" 
As this change will involve the loss of all control over, and probably the entire neglect 

of, all slave trade questions 
at Zanzibar, Lord Granville must 

again 
express his great regret 

at the decision which has provoked this resolution on 
the part of the Government of India, 

and his strong hope that it may yet be rescinded. 

The Lords of the Treasury replied that- 

in thinking that the policy suggested in their 
the imperial expenditure already incurred 

on " 
they cannot agree with His Lordship 

correspondence 
warrants any addition to 

account of it." 
Upon which the Foreign Office asked the India Office— 

" 
whether, in saying that the Agency is to be placed 

on an 
entirely 

new 
footing with 

reference to the requirements of Indian interests and commerce, the Secretary of State for 
India means that the Agent is 

no 
longer to interfere in matters of imperial interest, such 

as 
the slave trade and traffic in slaves, and that he is to cease, as 

hitherto, to be under the 
control of this department in regard 

to such questions/' 

The India Office replied— 

" 
The Governor General of India in Council has, 

on more 
than one 

occasion, in the 
interests of the great dependency under his charge, protested against 

any 
appropriation of the 

revenues 
of India to such imperial objects 

as 
the suppression of the slave trade, and has 

even 
suggested the withdrawal of the Agent altogether, 

as an 
officer whose services are 

but 
little, 

if 
at all, required for purposes of 

a 
purely Indian character. Lord Granville 

is aware 
that 

'in 
this opinion the Duke of Argyll has not concurred; but he considers it to be his 

duty to limit the employment of the Agent, and the expenditure of the Agency, to such 
objects 

as may tend directly to the promotion of the interests of India; and 
in 

this view it would be requisite that all instructions furnished to the officer selected by the Government of 
Bombay, 

or the Government of India, should emanate from these authorities, and that the 
ultimate controlling authority must be vested solely in the Secretary of State for India. 

The last mentioned letter was 
dated the 22nd June, and 

on 
the ^8th of 

the following month the Secretary of State addressed the Indian Government 

as 
follows: 

" 
The whole question of the relations of the British Government with Zanzibar is at the 

present time under the consideration of 
a 
Select Committee of the House of Commons and that 

it is desirable, therefore, that only such action maybe taken pending the receipt of further 
instructions, 

as may be necessary to prevent inconvenience and embarassment in 
the conduct 

of the current business of the mission. It is not desired that the views 
which I have express 

ed respiting the relations of the Foreign and Indian departments of Her Majesty 
s 

Gov 

ernment with the Zanzibar slave trade should be acted upon precip lt ate y, or 
that anything 

should be done, pending the enquiry 
to which I have referred, to obstruct the elforts 

now being made for the 
suppression of the illegal traffic. 

^ 
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To this the Government of India replied— 

" 
We have not taken, and will not take, any steps to alter 

our 
existing relations with Zanzibar, until 

we 
shall have received the views of Her Majesty's Government in reply to the 

various despatches 
on 

the subject which 
we have addressed to Your Grace from time to time. 

Our opinion 
on the followino; points remains unchanged, viz., (1) that the suppression of the 

African slave traffic is not an 
object to which any 

portion of the Indian revenues can 
with propriety 

be devoted ; 
(2) that the payment of the subsidy by Zanzibar to Muscat should 

be continued; and (3), that if it be discontinued, then the political connection of the Indian 
Government with Zanzibar should altogether case."— (Despatch No. 56, dated 1th September 
1871.) 

84. R ecognition of S 
ted B tjugasii by H 

er 
M ajesty's G overnment.— On the 17th July 1871 Dr. Kirk forwarded for information 

a copy of 
a 

letter 
from Earl Granville, recognising Syed Burgash 

as 
Sultan of Muscat. The letter congratulated him 

on 
his accession, expressed satisfaction at 

learning that he 
would observe the engagements concluded with his predecessors, told him 
that the Political Agent would make certain proposals with the view of further ing the suppression of the slave trade, and earnestly recommended these pro posals to Ilis Highness's attentive consideration. The Bombay Government 
observed— 

" 
Any further acknowledgment of His Highness Syed Burgash's succession to the Sul 

tanate of Zanzibar 
seems now unnecessary, in consequence of the formal recognition of His Highness by the Foreign Office." 

And in this opinion the Government of India concurred, and did not deem 
it requisite 

to reply to Syed Burgash's letter announcing his accession to the 
throne of Zanzibar, 

an answer to which had been deferred pending the receipt 
of information from Bombay 

as to the position of affairs in Zanzibar. 

85. I nconveniences of dual representation at Z anzibar exempli 
fied by the recogniton of S 

yed B urgash .—In forwarding the 
corre spondence regarding Syed Burgash's recognition, the Bombay Government 

observed—" The inconveniences 

( 

of 
a 

dual representation at jthat place {i. e., Zanzibar) is instanced by the present correspondence," and the Government 
of India in forwarding the papers to the Secretary of State observed— 

"We solicit Your Grace's attention to the forcible illustration therein aflforded, of the 
evils resulting from the present duel system of conducting the relations of the British Gov 
ernment with Zanaibar. From considerations of the doubtful aspect of affairs there, 

we 
had 

refrained from according to Syed Burgash any further recognition than what 
was 

due to the 
de facto possessor of authority at Zanzibar for the time being. It is readily conceivable that, 
had the affairs of Zanzibar taken 

a 
different turn (of which there appeared at one 

time 
some probability), 

we 
might have felt it 

our 
duty 

to have withheld formal recognition. In such 
an event serious difficulties would have arisen, if, after this had become known to the Sultan, he 

had received 
a 

letter of recognition from Her Majesty's Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs. 
So long 

as 
the present system continues, there is at all times 

a 
liability 

to complications of 
a similar character; and if the political relations of the Government of India with Zanzibar 

are to continue, 
we would urgently 

press upon Her Majesty's Government the absolute necessity of placing them 
on 

such 
a 

footing 
as 

will effectually prevent the possibility of any difference taking place in action authorized by Her Majesty's Secretarv of State for Foreign 
Affairs and the Government of India/' 

8G. Q 
uestion as to the appointment of D 

r. 
K 

irk at Z anzibar.— A question 
\\as 

simultaneously 
raised by the Bombay Government regarding 

the appointment of Dr. Kirk at Zanzibar. They observed— 

" 
Dr. Kirk has been appointed only 

to act as 
Political Agent 

at 
Zanzibar, and he cannot, 

in the opinion of this Government, complain of the appointment of Political Agent and Con- 
su 

being fi led from India, where, 1 
am to observe, the permanent appointment is justly 
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looked forward to by officers who have rendered long- and valuable service in the political 
department, and who will with pood 

cause 
complain if they 

are 
superseded by 

a 
medical gentleman who has been selected for temporary employment solely because he 

was on 
the spot. 

cf 
If the Zanzibar Agency is not to be continued, it would be satisfactory to His Excel lency in Council that the matter should be 

so 
decided now, as 

the terms in which the Foreign 
Office speak of Dr. Kirk's service will render the appointment by t|iis Government of any of 
its officers whose claims rest on 

distinguished service 
in the political department 

an 
invi dious duty." 

To this the Government of India replied— 

" 
Her Majesty's Secretary of State for India has desired that 

no 
change shall be made 

in the existing arrangements till the result of the parliamentary enquiry held during the late 
sessions is made known. Among the arrangements to be maintained in the interim, it 

seems desirable that Dr. Kirk should be permitted 
to continue in his present post 

as 
acting for the holder of the substantive appointment absent 

on 
leave." 

Dr. Kirk represented in 
a 

letter of the 18th July 1871, that his influence 
at Zanzibar had been much lessened by 

a rumour 
that he 

was to be superseded 
in consequence of his policy 

not 
being in accord with that of the Bombay 

Government. 

87. Q 
uestion as to whether any lien was retained by M 

r. C hurchill on the Z anzibar appointment .—The Secretary of State enquired 
by telegraph 

on 
the 1st September 1871, with reference to his Secret despatch 

• ride 
■ 

] si 

^-P 
r 
^ 21st,* for 

an 
immediate report whether 

any successor to Mr. Churchill had been appointed, 

or 
whether he 

was to be regarded 
as 

Zanzibar Agent 
on 

leave. The query 
was 

put by telegram 
to the Bombay Government, which replied by telegram 

of 5th, that 
a 

letter from Mr. Churchill regarding his appointment had been 
referred to the Accountant General, who had not yet replied. 

With regard to this matter it was 
observed, in Bombay Political Proceed ings for March 1871, there 

was 
entered 

a 
letter from the Accountant General, 

saying that Mr. Churchill could retain 
a 

claim to his appointment for five 
years from the 12th December 1871, provided he obtained sick leave for that period under the existing rules. This period of five years was 

probably 
men tioned because Mr. Churcbill did not start by being in the Indian service; 

and to turn him out of his Zanzibar appointment would really be to turn him 
out altogether, which could not be done till after 

a 
period of five years. 

On this the Bombay Government ordered that he should be allowed leave 
of absence for six months 

on 
medical certificate. The Government of India accordingly informed the Secretary of State that Mr. Churchill must be regarded 

as 
Political Agent 

on 
leave, and Dr. Kirk officiating for him at Zanzibar. Attention 

was 
invited to the despatch {vide paragraph 75) in 

which the Government of India had condemned Mr. Churchill's conduct. 

88. A ttitude of S 
yed 

B urgash towards E ngland and M uscat.— A despatch from Dr. Kirk to the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs (dated 
18th July 1871, iVo. 7G—281) contained his views 

as to the attitude of Syed 
Burgash towards both England and Muscat. 

He wrote— 

w 
Much 

as 
His Highness has in his outward and official bearing affected 

an 
independence 

of recognition by foreign nations, I have been well aware of the inward importance he attached 
to that of England, and of the strenuous endeavours he has of late been making bv alleging himself to his brother, Syed Toorkee at Muscat, to ward off the danger that he had 
reason to 

apprehend in that quarter. His aim has steadily been to convince his 
brother that any hints at the recovery of the old subsidy paid by the late Syed 
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Majid under protest after the murder of Thoweynee, and subsequently in abeyance, 
could only be dictated by personal motives on the part of those who ̂ ave them, and that 
the two brothers might make a better arrangement, themselves. How far he has reason to be 
satisfied with the results of his negotiations may be judged by the tenor of a letter from Syed 
Toorkee that reached Zanzibar on the 15th instant . 

The letter alluded to from Syed Toorkee was as follows ; 
" After compliments,—* * * * * And we await with anxiety receipt of your letter, for we 

are convinced that we are of one mind, and the bonds between us as of a building each support 
ing the other ; but let us not give way to the whispers of those who would try to make differ 
ences between us; let them not obtain their desire. Our unity will be for the best, and by the 
Providence of God are endowed with a good discernment and clear understanding. ***** 

The Government of India desired that Colonel Pelly should be asked 
whether he was aware what Syed Toorkee's views were with regard to the 
subsidy, and whether there were in his opinion any grounds for believing that 
there was a disposition on the part of Syed Toorkee to compromise the matter 
with the Ruler of Zanzibar. Colonel Pelly replied— 

" I have no reason to suppose that His Highness Syed Toorkee meditates compromising 
the Zanzibar subsidy. He looks, I believe, to Government to provide that the arbitrament of 
the late Lord Canning is carried into effect."— (Proceedings, Secret, October 1871, .Mw. 325-4)5.^ 

89. F rench opposition at Z anzibar. D eclaration on the part of 
G reat B ritain and P rance to respect the independence of Z anzibar and 
M uscat .—In a despatch to Earl Granville, dated 20th June 1871, on the sub 
ject of the slave trade, and relating more especially to the capture of a dhow 
by the Wolverene, Dr. Kirk wrote— 

" Now, however, we had occasion to observe the deep-rooted hatred and jealousy of local 
French officials to our proceedings for the suppression of the slave trade. These officials, who 
indirectly give the great moral support to the slave trade in these seas, never lose an 
occasion to create difficulties and put our acts in a false light before the natives and the 
local authorities. On this occasion Mr. DeVienne addressed me a long letter, setting out 
a variety of ways in which it seemed to him our acts for suppressing the slave trade were 
direct attacks upon the independence of Zanzibar. To this 1 returned answer that I declined 
entering into any discussion with him on such subjects, and thus closed the correspondence. 

" Mr. DeVienne, who had in the morning without success been active in trying to excite 
His Highness Syed Burgash to resent the search made by Her Majesty's Ship IVolverine, then 
addressed His Highness a long Arabic letter, in which he urged him to resist our actions with 
slavers as a direct interference with his independent rights, asserting at the same time that 
England and France by an international convention, signed at Paris on the 10th March 1862, 
were pledged to respect the independence of Zanzibar and Muscat. As I find no reference 
elsewhere to any such deed, I would ask to be informed whether the French Consul has any 
ground for asserting that such documents exist. 

"His Highness, in reply to my enquiry, showed this letter of the French Consul, in order 
to convince me that the action of the French Consul had been spontaneous and not asked for 
by him." 

It was not deemed necessary by the Government of India to take any 
notice of this matter, which was simply reported to the Secretary of State. 
The question indeed was hardly intelligible without certain enclosures, which 
Dr. Kirk transmitted to the Poreiern Office only.— (Folitical, A, October 1871, 
Nos. 126-29.) 

It was not understood by the Government of India what convention was 
alluded to by Dr. Kirk, but that officer subsequently {vide enclosure of Bombay 
Government letter No. 2110, dated 9th April 1872) drew attention to a copy 
of that convention in the Report of the Select Committee on the East African 
Slave Trade (Appendix No. 4, page 304). He observed—" It seems to me to be 
a most important document, fully authorising the Government of the one or 
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Events in Zanzibar from the death of Syed Majid- 

other power to question 
any act seeming to be at variance with its provisions." 

The Secretary of State 
was 

asked by the Government of India to send 
a copy 

of the correspondence which led to the interchange of this declaration, and 
His Excellency the Viceroy remarked with regard to it—" This must be recol 
lected in any 

question relating 
to Muscat." The declaration 

was as 
follows 

: 

Ci 
Declaration between Great Britain and France, engaging reciprocally 

to respect the independence 
of the Sultans of Muscat and Zanzibar.*—Signed at Paris, 10M March 1862. 

" 
Her Majesty the Queen'of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland and His Majesty the Emperor of the French, taking into consideration the importance of maintaining 

the independence of His Highness the Sultan of Muscat, and of His Highness the Sultan of Zanzibar, have thought it right 
to engage 

reciprocally to respect the independence of these Sovereigns. 

" The undersigned. Her Britannic Majesty^s Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiar 
at the Court of France, and the Minister Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs of His Majesty the Emperor of the French, being furnished with the necessary powers, hereby declare, 
in consequence, that their said Majesties take reciprocally that engagement. 

"In witness whereof, the undersigned have signed the present Declaration, and have affixed 
thereto the seals of their 

arms. 

" 
Done at Paris, the \ Qth March 1862. 

(l. 
s 
.) COWLEY. 

(l 

. 

s.) E. THOUVENEL." 

90. E inancial position of Z anzibar 
.—A valuable memorandum 

was transmitted by Dr. Kirk in August 1871, showing the financial position of 
Zanzibar at the time of Syed Majid's death, and the situation of Syed 
Burgash, and also of some of the members of his family 

on 
whom, in case 

of 
his death, the throne would probably devolve. 

" 
By the peculiar constitution of the Zanzibar Government, confirmed by the practice 

followed 
on the death of Syed Saeed, and again 

on 
the accession of Syed Burgash, there exists 

no 
public 

or state treasury: the ships of war, merchant vessels, guns, arms, as 
well 

as 
houses, 

plantations, &c., 
are 

all valued 
or 

sold, and the net proceeds divided amongst creditors 
and heirs. 

" 
On the death of Syed Saeed, 

a vast fortune 
was 

then left and divided amongst the sons, daughters, &c., the elder members of the family receiving in full their shares, while Syed Majid 
held in trust that of the younger brother's, to whom, from time to time, he made 

advances, which he charged against the trust funds. 

" 
Syed Burgash 

was one 
of those who received in full his share of the late Syed Saeed's 

estate, but most of his patrimony 
was 

exhausted in consequence of the attempt made by him 
to wrest the throne from his brother. 

" At Syed Majid's death there 
was a 

debit to Jairam Sewajee of ̂  423,000, and the 
unpaid-up shares still due to younger brothers amounted to $ 420,000, making the total liabi 
lities 

on 
his estate $ 843,000. 

" 
This estate included the ships, 

arms, guns, 
plantations, &c., &c., for which S^cd Majid 

had paid 
or 

taken over on 
his father's death, and of which Syed Burgash has already received 

his share. 

" 
The sale and valuation (for such things 

as 
ships, 

arms, &c., 
were not sold by auction, but 

valued) produced $ 610,000, of which Ludda, 
as 

agent for Jairam, received $ 808,700, and 
Syed Burgash took up to the value of $ 391,004$, being in part 

a 
re-purchase from Ludda of 

certain things. 

* Signed also in the French language. 
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Events in Zanzibar from the death of Syed Majid- 

" The outstanding- debt to the house of Jairam, on the 2'2nd August 1871, or before the 
new arrangement, was as follows : 

1. Balance of Syed Majid 's debt undischarged 
2. Liabilities incurred to enable Syed Burgash to take over the 

ships of war, palace, plantation, &c. 
8. Old private debt of Syed Burgash before his accession 
4. New debt incurred by Syed Burgash since his accession 

Total Liabilities ... 540,002 81 i 

By the settlement effected on the renewal of the right to farm the customs revenues 
dating for five years from the 22nd August 1871, $ 340,002.80 of the above liability was 
cancelled by Ludda, and the balance of $ 200,000 consolidated under a written acknowledgment 
of obligation, which, however, bears no interest, while the customs remain in Jairam's hands, 
or for the term of five years. 

a Syed Burgash has also discharged $ 280,000 of the trust debts owing by Syed Majid 
to the younger brothers ; and this is probably the last they will ever receive. 

" Even with the aid obtained from Ludda, His Highness has been obliged to part with 
many of the landed estates formerly in Syed Majid's hands; the average yearly produce of 
those left with him not exceeding now $ 10,000 with which $ 300,000, yearly rent ol customs, 
makes a total sum of § 310,000 (£65,263-3 -2), or an income of § 15,000 less than that of his 
predecessor, for the tax levied on the Hadima of the island has been remitted. Syed Burgash 
has, however, effected a saving by stopping political pensions formerly paid to such as Syed 
Suliman bin Hamed, who received $ 5,000 yearly, and others of lesser sums, and he has yet 
refused assistance to the insolent beggars from Oman who obtained from Syed Majid in later 
years. This retrenchment, however, with the present Sultan, amounts in many cases to mean 
ness, and he is most impolitic in dealing with those independent of him but whose interest it 
is to conciliate." 

" The Sultan's present montly expenditure on ships, soldiers, &c., &c., amounts to 
$ 22,000, or $ 264,000 yearly, leaving a margin far too small for contingencies, and no 
provision for gratuities to his brother Toorkee at Muscat, still less for the payment of any 
regular subsidy which it would be for many other reasons most impolitic to re-establish. 

" The information I have gained regarding the means of other members of the royal 
family shows that their incomes are, in many cases, not sufficient for their support. Of the 
male children of Syud Saeed there are now ten alive ;—of these, two are in Muscat and eight 
in Zanzibar. 

" Abdool Azeez, now with Syed Toorkee in Muscat, has an estate here, but his property is 
so deeply mortgaged to Ludda as to be worthless. 

" Next to Syed Burgash in age, comes Syed Khuleefa, the favorite brother of Syed Majid, 
a lad of no energy, but personally popular; his property is worth about $19,000, but, wilh a 
mortgage of $7,000 on it, his income cannot exceed £200 per annum. 

" Syed Ali has an estate worth $35,000 mortgaged to Ludda for $3,300. 
" Syed Abbas, an active lad, who speaks English very well, but cannot read or write any 

language, has an estate worth very little. 
" Among the youngest, Syed Abderab is, perhaps, the most independent, his estate being worth $88,0U0, with mortgage on it of only $9,000. 
" No care whatever has been taken with the education of these young lads, who are pur 

posely left in ignorance, and kept, as much as possible, from mixing with people; and any 
attempts 1 have made to alter this system have proved fruitless. 

f lhe above information, as also that connected with the now arrangement regarding the 
custom house, being given to me in confidence, it would obviously be injudicious to allow it to 
become public first through official channels. In town, the terms on which the customs have 
been rented are still unknown, and commonly said to be at five lakhs. Concerning the more detailed statistics of the Zanzibar liabilities, nothing certain whatever is known." 
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Events in Zanzibar from the death of Syed Majid. 

91. R epresentation to L ords of the T reasury regarding cost of Z anzibar A gency .—The following communication 
was 

addressed by the London 
Foreign Office to the Lords of the Treasury in October 1871, respecting the 
question of dividing the cost of the Agency at Zanzibar between the Imperial 

and Indian Governments {vide paragraph 83): 

" On receipt of your letter of the 2nd June, intimating the renewed refusal of the 
Lords of the Treasury to sanction any further expenditure from imperial funds for the suppression of the slave trade 

on 
the East Coast of Africa, and for contributing 

to the main 
tenance of the Agency at 

Zanzibar, Lord Granville thought it necessary to ascertain from the 
Secretary of State for India what would be the position of this department with respect to the 
control of slave-trade questions 

at Zanzibar, and how far the Agent of the Government of 
India would be allowed to interfere in them. 

" I 
am now to transmit to you, for the serious consideration of the Lords of the Treasury, 

a copy of the reply from the India Office, stating that their Lordships' decision has compelled 
them to determine that the duties and employment of their Political Agent shall, in future, 
be limited to such objects 

as to tend directly to promote Indian interests, that all instructions 
sent to him must emanate from the Indian Government, and that the ultimate controlling 
authority must be vested solely in the Government of India. 

" As the Indian Government have always held the suppression of the slave trade to be 
a question of imperial and not of Indian interest, this decision will probably involve the neglect 

of slave-trade questions, and certainly the loss of control 
over the Agent at Zanzibar, hitherto 

exercised by the Foreign Secretary. 

" 
The Lords of the Treasury must be aware of the heavy and important duties that 

devolve upon the Agent at Zanzibar 
as 

Judge of the Vice-Admiralty Court in the trial of 
slave-trade cases, and they 

can 
appreciate, 

as 
well 

as 
Lord Granville, the serious mischief 

likely 
to ensue from 

a 
neglect of these duties, 

as 
well 

as 
from the absence of instructions from 

the only department competent to direct the Agent in slave-trade matters; but, unless this 
decision is reversed, it is evident either that the department must entirely surrender the 
direction of slave-trade affairs 

on 
the East Coast, 

or that Her Majesty's Government must appoint and pay 
special Agents of their 

own. 
" Matters are now at a 

complete dend-lock. No instructions 
can 

be sent to the Agent 
from this department; and the question is reduced to the single and simple issue, whether the 
Imperial Government shall persevere in or 

abandon its endeavours to suppress the slave trade 

on 
the Coast. 
A Select Committee of the House of Commons, recently appointed, has, after hearing the 

best evidence that could be produced, reported strongly* in 
» J ide paragraph 13. favor of perseverance and increased expenditure 

on a 
system, 

and, without endorsing all their proposals, which have not yet been sufficiently considered, 
Lord Granville cannot doubt that, looking 

to the strong feeling which pervades the country 

on 
the subject of the slave trade, the spirit of their report will find 

a response in Parliament, 
and in the public generally, who will insist upon more 

being done. 
"Lord Granville is decidedly of opinion that such 

a 
general feeling cannot be disregarded 

by Her Majesty's Government, and at all events, 
as 

Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, 
he will not assume the responsibility of disregarding it. It must rest, therefore, with the 
Lords Commissioners of Her Majesty's Treasury to decide whether they will 

as 
the first 

step grant 
or 

withhold the 
sums necessary to meet the expenditure for such 

an 
establishment 

as may be required 
at Zanzibar for carrying out a more 

vigorous and better organized policy 
for the suppression of the slave trade 

on 
the east coast of Africa under the direction of Her Majesty's Government." 
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CHAPTER VI. 

Slave Trade. 

92. B rigadier C oghlan's 
report of 1860 on slave trade .—After the completion of bis labors 

on 
the Muscat-Zanzibar Commission, Brigadier 

Coghlan submitted, 
as 

he had been requested to do, 
a 

report dated 1st November 
1860, 

on 
the actual state of the slave trade 

on 
the East Coast of Africa, and suggested 

more 
effectual 

means for its extirpation than those then in force. 
The following is 

a 
brief 

resume 
of that report: Brigadier Coghlan stated that 

within the few previous 
years the slave trade 

on 
the East Coast had largely in 

creased, 
more 

especially in the Portuguese settlements, where it 
was 

carried 
on without risk and with the connivance of the local authorities. With 

a 
view to 

check it, he suggested that the Cape Squadron should be strengthened with 
a sufficient number of steam vessels to watch the Portuguese Coast from Delagoa 

Bay to Cape Dilgado, having 
a 

haven at the island of Johanna 
on 

the north 
and at Iniack Island, at the extreme 

point of Cape Dilgado, 
on 

the south. 

As regards the slave trade from Zanzibar, Brigadier Coghlan reported 
that, by the treaty of 1845 with the Imam of Muscat, the import of slaves from 
Africa to any 

portion of His Highness's possessions in Asia 
or 

Arabia, 
was prohibited, and British cruisers had power to seize any vessels, whether belong 

ing to His Highness 
or 

not, conveying slaves, except in transit from 
one 

port 
in His Highness's African dominions to another. This treaty 

was, 
however, 

constantly evaded, and it 
was 

calculated that about 4,000 slaves annually 
were carried from Africa to Arabia and the Persian Gulf. There 

was 
also 

an exten 
sive trade in slaves carried 

on 
under foreign colors, the chief agent in which 

was one 
Buonoventura Mass, whose proceedings 

at Zanzibar had 
so 

often been 
reported to Government by Colonel Eigby. The system of domestic slavery in 
Zanzibar 

was 
said to have become the principal 

source 
of the extensive supply 

of slaves for foreign exportation. About 30,000 slaves 
were 

annually brought 

from the African territories. 
Syed Majid 

was not 
unwilling to check the trade to the extent of the 

treaty of 1845, but his orders 
were 

evaded, and he 
was 

unable to resist the in 
fluence of those around him. Brigadier Coghlan thought that the trade to the 
northwards might easily be stopped by the squadron in the Persian Gulf. A 
small steamer, 

or two schooners, stationed between Rasil-Hadd and Muzlvia 
Island, and 

a 
similar guard 

at the Persian Gulf during the 
season 

when Arab 
craft returned from Africa, would, he considered, be effectual. He proposed 

to 
separate these vessels from the Persian Gulf Squadron and make them 

a sepa 
rate command from March to June each year, and he suggested that there 
should be 

on 
board of each vessel 

an 
officer conversant with the Native lan 

guages. He also suggested 
some more 

speedy method of 
adjudicating 

on 
slave 

prizes, and proposed 
to station 

a steam gun-boat of light draught 
at Zanzibar, 

from January to March, to 
prevent the shipment of slaves and arrest the foreign 

trade. 
Brigadier Coghlan 

was 
in favor of endeavouring to effect 

a 
revision of t he 

treaty of 1845, 
so as to 

prohibit all export 
or 

import whatever by 
sea 

in His 
Highness's dominions, giving three years notice of the prohibition. In para 
graphs 34 to 39 of his report, Brigadier Coghlan treated of the objections which 
might be brought against this proposal, the chief of which 

was 
the loss which 

would 
ensue to the revenue 

of Syed Majid. His Highness levied 
a 

duty o( two 
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Slave Trade 

dollars a head on slaves, which yielded him between £5,000 and £8,000 a 
vear. But Brigadier Coghlan suggested that Her Majesty's Government 
might, perhaps, be induced to give His Highness compensation for this for a 
space of, say,' 10 or 12 years. " Nothing is needed," he said, " beyond an insis 
tent urgency, coupled with an offer of reasonable indemnification and our sup 
port to ensure them against any overt acts of their subjects in consequence of 
the concession, to obtain the consent of either Syed Thoweynee or Syed Majid 
to the measure here suggested" for the more effectual abolition of the slave 
trade. 

Brigadier Coghlan further proposed that the co-operation of France, and 
the United States of America might be secured, and a joint convention con 
cluded for the total suppression of the slave trade on the East Coast of Africa. 
No orders were passed by Government on this report at the time, pending the 
decision of the Home Government with regard to the reduction of the Indian 
Navy.— {Proceedings, May 18G1, Nos. 9-11.) 

93. L ieut.- C olonel R igbt's report of 1861 on slave trade.— A 
further report on the slave trade was received in May 1861 from Colonel 
Riirbv, who stated that the treaties with Muscat for the suppression of 
the slave trade had been considered a dead letter from the day they were con 
cluded. About 10,000 slaves a year were exported northwards. The trade in 
slaves was recognized as a distinct traffic, and gave employment to about 150 
vessels. Colonel Kigby was of opinion that the slave trade could only be effec 
tually checked by operations on the African coast. During the previous year 
Her Majesty's ships Lyra and Sidon had captured 25 slaves. If this were fol 
lowed up by active measures on the following year. Colonel lligby thought 
that it would prevent the piratical tribes of the Persian Gulf from coming to 
the Zanzibar coast in future, and thus put a stop to at least half the traffic in 
slaves on the East Coast of Africa. 

Her Majesty's ships Lyra and Sldon had returned to England, but 
Colonel Rigby stated that if two steam gun-boats were stationed at Zanzibar 
during the months of March and April, and also during the months of Sep 
tember and October, scarcely a vessel would escape. During the other months 
Native vessels cannot go north owing to the winds. 

The Bombay Government considered the expediency of adopting Colonel 
Rigby's proposal to be urgent. On receipt of this report the Government of 
India announced its intention of addressing the Secretary of State with a 
view to adequate measures being taken for the presence of Her Majesty's 
cruisers at the station of Zanzibar during the proper months. As a temporary 
measure, the Government of Bombay were authorised to station two gun-boats 
at Zanzibar, if such were available, authority for the destruction of dhows 
having slaves on hoard being given to the commanders of such vessels. With 
regard to the revision of the treaty, a measure proposed by Colonel Rigby, it 
was said that any overtures for a revision would be premature in the absence of 
a naval force adequate to the suppression of the Zanzibar slave trade.— 
(Proceedings, Political, A, October 1861, Nos. 92 93J 

In October 1861 Colonel Rigby, in a report to the Bombay Government, 
gave several instances of the Sultan's apathy regarding the northern slave trade, 
and his neglect to carry out his treaty engagements. He had also refused to 
enter into negotiations for the modification of the existing treaties. The 
presence of Her Majesty's ship Gorgon had been most successful in checking 
the northern slave traffic. 

Government still declined to interfere with the Sultan until there was 
a sufficient naval force in the Gulf. 
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Slave Trade 

94. C onflicting instructions of H 
ome and I ndian G overnments. C 

olcnel P ellt's views on the slave trade .—A report dated 1st 
February 

1862 received from Colonel Pelly 
on 

the East African slave trade, 
serves 

admira bly to illustrate the difficulties attending the position of the officer at Zanzibar, 
who at that time received conflicting instructions from the Home and Indian 
Governments with regard 

to the slave trade. It possesses also peculiar value 
as throwing 

a 
light 

on 
the effect of the action taken by the British Government 

to repress that nefarious traffic. When Colonel Pelly 
was 

appointed 
to Zanzibar, he 

was 
directed by the Bombay Government to give his earliest 

eiTorts towards procuring the acceptance by Syed Majid of— 
"all treaties and agreements entered into by the British Government and the Imam of Muscat, 

as 
binding 

on 
the now 

recognised Sultanet of Zanzibar." 
He 

was further desired to take 
no 

further active 
measures 

for the sup pression of the slave trade 
on 

the East Coast of Africa than such 
as 

might be 
warranted by existing engagements and treaties with the family of the late Syed bin Saeed. 

" 
Accordingly," 

wrote Colonel Pelly— 

<f my first intention 
was 

given to an 
examination of the treaty upon which 

our anti- slavery relations with the Imam 
were 

founded, and 
on arrival at Zanzibar, I took the 

earliest opportunity of proposing to the Sultan 
an 

acceptance of all subsisting treaty 
engagements. 

"I found the slave treaty to be 
a 

document bearing date 2nd October 1845, for 
f 
the suppression of the, exportation of slaves from his Highness' African dominions/ but acknow ledging the right of the Imam to transport slaves along the coast of his African dominions 

within spacified limits; and I found also that 
a 

letter from the Imam to Lord Aberdeen, 
dated 8th April 1844<, and the reply of Lord Aberdeen to the Imam, dated 21st December 
] 84-4, gave greater clearness and precision 

to the t^rms of the treaty, and tended to show 
that the treaty 

was mooted on account of the desire of the 
' 
British people that no 

slaves 
should be taken from Africa to Arabia, Persia, and the Red Sea;' and went, moreover, to declare 

4 
that Her Majesty's Government claim 

no 
right to interfere with the passage of 

slaves in your (His Highness') ships between the above-mentioned ports (Lamoo and Keelwa, 
including the islands of Zanzibar, Pemba, and Monfea) and islands 

on 
the coast of your African dominions. And accordingly, in the draft of agreement to be proposed to Your High 

ness, the right 
to continue such transport of slaves has been treated as a 

reservation made by Your Highness rather than 
as a 

concession made to you 
by Her Majesty.' 

"This, then, 
was 

the treaty that, in obedience to instructions, I proposed to His Highness 
to confirm in the month of October last. His Highness readily agreed and suggested only 
the introduction of a clause providing that his coasting craft within the specified limits should 
not be injured by 

our cruizers without being in the first instance brought 
to Zanzibar for adjudication by the Consul. The Sultan 

was 
evidently anxious 

on 
the question of the slave 

treaty, assured me that already his coasting trade 
was 

in a 
large 

measure 
destroyed by 

our cruizers, and begged 
to be informed whether, if he should now 

ratify the old treaty, he would 
be left at peace on 

the subject. 1 submitted it to be the wish of Government to accept the treaty at present obtaining, and that it was not the desire of Government to urge any active 
measures 

unsanctioned by the terms of that treaty. 
* * * * 

" 
After the lapse of some 

time, however, I learned that, prior to his departure from 
Zanzibar, Lieutenant-Colonel Rigby had received instructions from the Foreign Office 

f to de 
mand from His Highness such 

a 
modification of his treaties with Her Majesty for the sup pression of the slave trade, 

as 
should authorise Her Majesty's ships 

to seize all vessels belong 
ing to his subjects who might be found transporting slaves coastwise wilhiu his dominions ;' 
that, acting under these instructions. Colonel (iighy had entered upon a 

series of discussions 
with the Sultan ; that eventually the Sultan had declined to accede to the demand, and that 
Lieutenant-Colonel Rigby had animadverted 

on this refusal to Government." 
Colonel Pelly, therefore, felt it his duty to tell the Sultan that the demand 

of Her 
Majesty's Government remained uncomplied with, and that he must 

expect it to be repeated probably with increased emphasis. The Sultan showed 
that a 

compliance with the demand meant expulsion 
or 

death to himself and 
ruin to his country. 
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Slave Trade 

According to the view taken by Colonel Pelly, the question of slavery 

involved two 
leading considerations— 

(■) the 
exportation of slaves northwards to the coasts of Asia; and 

(■) the status of slavery within the territories of Zanzibar itself. 

Taking up the second point Colonel Pelly, after entering into 
an 

elaborate 
examination of the 

position of the Sultan, the organisation of society, and the 
condition of the slaves themselves, 

came to the conclusion that the proposed 
abolition of the slave trade within the limits of the Zanzibar would be in the 
highest degree inexpedient. The Sultan had but very little political 

power, and 110°naval 

or 
military force. If he issued 

a 
proclamation abolishing slavery, it 

would not be obeyed, and he would be deposed; and if the British Government 
issued it, they must carry it out by force of 

arms 
and take the Sultan under their protectio'n. 

Colonel Pelly summed up 
by saying that, to root out slavery in 

Zanzibar itself, it would destroy the trade, ruin the Sultan, convulse society, 

leave slavery itself 
as 

rife 
as ever, and only succeed in exciting hatred of the 

Europeans along the liiast Coast ot Africa. 
Regarding the 

exportation of slaves northwards, however. Colonel Pelly 

uro>ed that it should be put down. The northern slavers, he said, 
were 

pirates, 

who committed every kind of atrocity; and both the Sultan and his people 

would gladly put 
a 

'stop 
to their visits. But the Government of Zanzibar deprecated 

the 
proceedings of the British cruizers, who had seized many vessels 

and liberated many slaves belonging to the home trade, contrary to existing 
treaty. 

Colonel Pelly represented that the conduct of the British has so exas perated the northern slavers, and 
even 

the people of Zanzibar, that he consider 
ed his life is in danger. 

The Government of India concurred with the Bombay Government in 
their opinion, that the object which it 

was 
desired to attain would be 

more effectually secured if the British Agents at Zanzibar and Muscat conducted 
their relations 

w r 
ith the Sultan and Imam in the spirit of the instructions 

o-iven to Colonel Pelly by the Bombay Government when he took up his 
appointment at Zanzibar. In the absence of 

a 
sufficient naval force 

in 
the 

Gulf, and of 
a 

clear indication of the policy of the Home Government with 
regard 

to the slave trade, the Government of India did not consider it desirable 
that those instructions should be exceeded. In forwarding these papers to the 
Secretary of State the Government of India drew attention to the dilemma in 
which Colonel Pelly 

was 
placed in consequence of conflicting orders, and 

solicited early instructions with respect to the 
policy 

to be 
pursued with Zanzi 

bar, Muscat, and Persia 
as 

regards the suppression of the slave trade.— {Fohtwal, 
A, May 1862, Nos. 119-29.) 

95. E fforts of S ted M ajid in the suppression of slavery 
.—Colonel 

Pelly reported 
to Government in March 1862 that the Sultan had seized 

an imprisoned three sets of Northern Arabs engaged in 
shipping slaves irom 

Zanzibar in defiance of 
a 

proclamation which had been issued 
by 

him some 
months previously.- After issue of the 

proclamation Colonel Pelly bad o 
the Sultan that he confided 

on 
him to carry it out. No further communica 

tion passed 
on 

the subject, and the Sultan justified the confidence place 
on 

him by the seizures reported. 

" 
Certainly,^ wrote Colonel Pelly, 

" 
I 

am 
of opinion that so 

lonj* 
a ® of Zanzibar, it is on 

all accounts more 
fit and politic that the treaty should be iu e y 
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j, the question of slavery 

coasts of Asia; and 
f Zanzibar itself. 
entering into 

an 
elaborate 

nisation of society, and the 
nclnsion that the proposed 

} 
Zanzibar would be in the 

ry little political 
power, and 

ation abolishing slavery, it 
I if the British Government 
take the Sultan under their 
at, to root out slavery in 

Sultan, convulse society, 
ed in exciting hatred of the 

ds, however, Colonel Pelly 

avers, he said, 
were 

pirates, 
the Sultan and his people 

lc 
Government of Zanzibar 

7ho had seized many vessels 

e 
trade, contrary to existing 

)f the British has so exas- 

" 
Zanzibar, that he consider- 

le 
Bombay Government in 

to attain would be more ibar and Muscat conducted 

ic 
spirit of the instructions 

ment when he took up his 
sufficient naval force in the 

3 
Home Government with 

did not consider it desirable 
awarding these papers to the 
attention to the dilemma in 
of conflicting orders, and 

cy to be 
pursued with Zanzi- 

■ 

the slave trade.— 
(Political, 

3ssion of slavery. 
—Colonel 

the Sultan had seized and 
^d in 

shipping slaves from 
i been issued by him some 
tion Colonel Pelly had told 

it. No further communica- 
fled the confidence 

placed 
on 

hat so 
long 

1 as 
there is a 

Sultanet 

le 
treaty should be fulfilled by the 

voluntary act of the Sultan himself, rather than that I 
or 

Her Majesty's cruisers should 
appear on 

the scenes as 
judge and jury." 

The Sultan had, said Colonel Pelly, shown a 
real desire to expel the 

Northern Arabs, who 
on 

their part attributed the proceedings taken against 

them to Colonel Pelly. In forwarding the above report the Bombay Govern 
ment observed— 

" 
The state of affairs therein disclosed exhibits the great difficulties which the Sultan 

must encounter in repressing the exportation of slaves from Zanzibar and the coast of Africa, 
and the impossibility of expecting that, while he is thus endeavouring to effect its gradual 
suppression, he should also take active measures 

for suppressing the internal traffic in slaves 
among his 

own 
subjects; 

measures 
which would at once 

excite against him their anger and 
disgust 

as 
well 

as 
that of the Arab slave dealers from the Asian coasts, against whom his 

• "I * j •« 
operations 

are now directed. 
No action 

was 
taken by the Government of India 

on 
this report, the pro ceedings connected with the slave trade having already been 

reported 
to the 

Secretary of State.— {Political, A, May 1862, Nos. 86 to 89.) 

96. B oats of H er M ajesty's cruisers prohibited from entering 
ports on A frican coast .—In April 1862 Colonel Pelly reported 

an encounter 
between some 

Arabs and the boats of Her Majesty's Ship Ariel. In 
conse 

quence of this affair Captain Oldfield, the commander of the vessel, interdicted 

the boats of Her Majesty's cruisers from entering 
any of the ports 

on 
the 

African coast, except 
as 

ports of refuge; and, in intimating this order, observed 

to Colonel Pelly, that the anti-slavery policy of the Sultan rendered the services 
of the boats unnecessary " 

and 
more 

injurious to legal traffic than beneficial in 
the stoppage of the slave trade." 

This intimation Colonel Pelly adduced 
as a 

testimony to the good faith of 
the Sultan, and 

<£ to the results of 
our 

undue interference upon 
legitimate 

trade,"— {Folitical, A, July 1862, Nos. 15 ̂  16.) 

97. D how engaged in coasting slave trade seized by the sulfan.--- 
On 

the*30th 
August 1862 Colonel Pelly reported that it having 

come to his 
knowledge that 

a 
large dhow with 300 slaves 

on 
board 

was 
about to leave Zan 

zibar harbour for Lamoo, he had addressed 
a 

friendly representation to the 
Sultan 

on 
the subject, admitting at the same 

time that under treaty engagements 

he possessed 
no 

right 
to remonstrate 

on 
the subject. The Sultan immediately 

ordered the slaves to be landed. This being the first instance in 
which any 

measure 
bad been taken by the Sultan to prevent coasting traffic 

m 
slaves, the 

Bombay Government deemed it worthy of attention.— Ay November 
1862, Nos. 121 8r 122.) 

98- Treaties concluded with S huhur and 
M aculla 

.—-Treaties 
were 

concluded in 1863 between the British Government and 
^ ^ 

l 

^ 

bs 
0 

f 

Shuhur and Maculla, by which the latter 
agreed 

to 
prevent the export and 

import of slaves to those ports. This closed two of the 
prmcipal slaTe depo 

s 
to the slave dealers from Zanzibar and the East 

Coast.—(PoWwa/, 

1863, Nos. 58 to 60.) 

99. S lave trade carried on under the F rench plag 
.—In September 

1863 Lieutenant-Colonel Play fair, Acting Political Agent a, 

l^ 

n 
, 

zlba 5; 

mitted to the Government of India copy of 
a 

despatch addressed b> him 
87 
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Slave Trade- 

Earl Russell regarding 
a new 

phase in the slave trade. Compelled by the vigi lance of Her Majesty's cruisers to try every possible expedient for 
evadrrW 

search, the slavers found the protection they needed under the Prench fla^ The right of search being in such 
cases 

denied to cruisers, it became the object of all slavers to procure French registers, and these 
were 

obtained with 

• French colonic in the Comoro 

ff 
NoSS * B 

f, 
and Magotta.* 

When 
Islands. Colonel .Playfair wrote there 

were ten countrv 
vessels under the French flag in Zanzibar harbour, 

w lose 
character 

was more than doubtful.— {Proceedings, Political A December 1863, Nos. 309 310.) 
' 

A 
' 

o i 
10 

, 

0 V 
1 , ' 

sl 

, 
avers tkansfek their operations to K eelwa —Lieutenant. 

o onel Playfair, 
in 

October 186-!, wrote that the slave dealers, failini; 
to obtain 

cargoes of slaves at Zanzibar with the 
same 

facility 
as 

formerly, had transferred their operations to Kcelwa upon which the Sultan immediately 
issued orders for controlhng the traffic at that port with the view of confining 

the slave 

A-os.V^ 

B ) 6 
enjoined by the treaty.-(P^Vica/, A, January 

1864,' 

101. Repressive measures recommended bt 
Colonel Platfair— Being called upon for his opinion 

as to the best method of,stopping 
the exportation of slaves from the East Coast of Africa, Colonel 

Plavfafr, 

on 
the 0th September 1863, suggested that 

a 
powerful steamer, aided if possible bv 

a 
gun-boat, should be stationed between the island of Socotra and the 

mainlLd 

, 
] 
nC 

r , 
reC0 

7 
raCnilcd aIso tllat 

a 
Na tive agent should be stationed at Keelwa, and 

a 
Consul appointed 

at 
Mozambique. 

In the openin"- para^ranhs of his memorandum, Colonel Playfair observed— 
0 a 0 

raphs 

"There 
is do 

treaty prohibition regarding the transport of slaves from port to nor+ in dominions of His Highness the Sultan of Zanzibar namelv from Pin,, 

nil 

, 0 
.f 
ort in 

i 

tbe 
hrait to 

Magdushoua, the northern boundary, bit 
His 

Holiness 
S inidf^ 

which materially interfere to prevent any but his' aetual 
subject 

thns 

transTortingZer 

10 ' 18 First, he has given authority 
to our 

cruisers to seize any vessel earrvino- 
- j 

ed with 
a 

custom-house manifest, statin^ the exact numW 
• 

arr 
- 
,n 

" s 
j 
aves nn P r 

ovid. 
those in which 

a 
single slave may be 

fouod" 

n exeess of 

TmUV ^eT f 

the 
T 

and second he has engaged to prevent the transport of slaves entirelv 

pi 

n f 
^ 

to port 
in 

his 
own 

dominions, durin<* the 
season whpn Amlic f n i r 

^ or eoast for the purposes of the slave 
trade^ay 

from the 1st of 

January! thelSth 

of 
th,S 

" 
If 

we are not to interfere with the aetual of slavery 
on the east pn.-f f a • 

these 
concessions appear to me as much as can 

reasonably be demanded ol Hi hf h 
j asmnchashecan make without imminent danger 

ofLing 

hisa 

^b'abty 

1 

! 

anthorifytliSw^lmtrloZii^ 

his police regulations 
are so 

defective, that he 
can 

do little 
nu tp 

tV 
011 6 18 80 Weak 

' 
an{i 

of slaves from the port of Zanzibar." prevent the open exportation 

102. Colonel Felly's 
opinion on the opetmtmxrc 

^ 
squadron.— In December 1863 Colonel Pellv thon 

it -T 

. 
T 
1 
BE SLAVE Gulf, submitted to the Bombav Governmont 

Vnr. ^ 
e 
sident 

in 
the Persian 

trade, and suggested that the nivil divi«i* njc i 
f 
3mai 'ks regarding 

the slave 
if it 

was 
stationed 

on the coast line of Arabia. ̂  0 P erate wit h 
more effect 

and 
z^ 

88 ^anziuar, with whom 
our 

slave treaty is 

٩٦ المرجع: IOR/L/PS/18/B150A حق النشر: رخصة حكومة مفتوحة

 http://www.qdl.qa/العربية/archive/81055/vdc_100023935572.0x000061 :اعرض على مكتبة قطر الرقمية 

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/2/
http://www.qdl.qa/%D8%A7%D9%84%D8%B9%D8%B1%D8%A8%D9%8A%D8%A9/archive/81055/vdc_100023935572.0x000061?utm_source=testpdfdownload&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=PDFdownload


"مُلخّص المراسلات المتعلّقة بشؤون زنزبار من ١٨٥٦ إلى ١٨٧٢." أعدّه
النقيب ب. د. هندرسون، الملحق بالإدارة الخارجية" [١٢٩و] (١١٤/٩٧)

Slave Trade. 

of a 
character to 

hamper seizures of slave crafts and to throw 
on us 

the suspicion of usinsr 
the authority which 

we possess under that treaty towards 
an 

illeg.il interference with the 
slaves status which that 

same 
treaty sanctions, thus exciting against 

us 
the doubts, opposition, and hatred of those whom the action of the treaty should rather convince and 

conciliate. 
,, With regard especially to the limits of his 

own 
charge, the Persian Gulf, 

Colonel Pelly remarked that obviously the best position for a 
cruiser would 

be the Straits of Mussendom, at the opening of the Persian Gulf: 

" 
Still/' he continued, 

" even when 
so 

stationed, 
a 

cruiser would not make 
a very great 

number of seizures for 
more 

than 
one or two seasons, since the slave 

runners 
would doubtless 

land their slaves before entering the Straits, and contrive to pass them overland to market; atd 
the margin for profits 

as 
between the price of 

a 
slave bought in East Africa at from 6 to 1£ 

dollars and the price of 
a 
slave sold in the markets of Asia at from 6(3 to 100 or 200 dollars 

is so 
great that it is worth the while of 

a 
dealer to run 

almost any risks and sustain almost 
any losses, provided he eventually succeed in selling 

a 
moderate percentage of his drove. On 

the whole, however, my personal observation of slave trade, 
as 

well along the East Coast of 
Africa 

as 
alonij the coasts of Arabia and Southern Persia, induces 

me to think that, if one cruiser 
were 

stationed in the Straits of Mussendom, 
a 

second at the turning point of Rasel Had, with boats near 
Soor, and 

a 
third in the neighbourhood of Socotra, with boats towards Maculla, these vessels would find themselves in the best position practicable for suppressing 

the slave trade between East Africa, the Berbera Coast, and Southern Central Asia, because 
a craft taking her departure from Africa would be compelled to sight 

one 
of these points, 

whether fur the sake of water or of verifying her position. Again, these cruisers would prove 
of great, and since the abolition of Her Majesty^s Indian Navy, of almost essential importance 
for our 

continually increasing interests along these shores."— [Political, A, May J 864, Nos. 169 ^70.) 

103. P resent of ordnance made to S ultan of Z anzibar .—In recog 
nition of the services rendered by Sultan Syed Majid in the suppression of 
the slave trade, and with 

more 
special reference to his recent prohibition against 

the transport of slaves even 
from port to port in his dominions during the 

monsoon, the Government of India sanctioned the presentation 
to His Highness 

of six mountain train guns with carriages and limbers complete, and 
a 

moderate 
supply of ammunition,— [Folitical, A, May 1864, Nos. 173 Sf 174.) 

104. R enewed efforts of the S ultan to suppress slavery.— Writing in March 1864 Colonel Play fair reported that contrary to the practice 

of all previous 
years the most perfect tranquility prevailed at Muscat, and 

that, comparatively, few Northern Arabs,—less than half the usual average,— 
had made their appearance during the season. As their object in coming 

was merely to procure a 
supply of slaves, their absence had 

no 
effect 

on 
the 

commercial prosperity of Zanzibar.— (Politiccil) A, 31(ii/ iVos. 1/1 ^ 172.) 

Colonel Play fair reported, in November 1864, that the Sultan had abolished 

a tax that he had recently imposed 
on cocoanut trees, and had substituted in 

its place 
an 

increased tax on 
slaves.— {Folitical, A, February 1865, Nos. 25 

fy 26.) 

105. C olonel P layfair's comments on the operations of the 
slave squadron .—A 

correspondence that had passed between Colonel Play- 

fair and Her 
Majesty's Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, 

was 
forwarded 

for the information of Government by the former in June 1864. It appears 
that Colonel Play fair, writing in May 1863, had represented to Earl Russell 
that, to use 

his 
own 

words— 

" a 
series of arbitrary acts on 

the part of Her Majesty's vessels, and the capture and 
destruction of numerous 

dhows, whose complicity in the slave trade 
was at best extremely 

89 
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doubtful, bad engendered throughout the entire African and Arabian coast a 
feeling of the 

most bitter animosity against the English 
; that in few places 

was a 
Christian's life safe beyond 

the immediate precincts of the Sultan's forts; and that such 
a 

feeling of insecurity 
was engendered, that legitimate 

commerce 
languished and threatened to collapse." 

The Lords of the Admiralty, while admitting 
an 

unauthorized destruction 
of certain dhows by the boatswain of the Gorgon, took exception 

to the state 
ments of Colonel Playfair, who, when called upon for 

an 
explanation, defended 

his remarks 
on 

the authority of Colonel Pelly, Captain Oldfield, himself 
a naval officer, and all the European residents of Zanzibar. He further in 

stanced the case 
of a 

Turkish dhow 
improperly destroyed by the Lidon for 

which Her 
Majesty's Government had to pay 

damages to the amount of £5,771, 
and the proceedings in Mombasa harbour of the boats of Her Majesty's ship 

Ariel. Of this latter case, Colonol Playfair 
wrote— 

"Dr. Krapff, the celebrated African traveller, who 
was an 

eye-witness of the affair, says 
in regard to it; f 

It is the indiscriminate destruction of property which enrages the Natives 
against the English, not the suppression of the slave trade itself/ I could enumerate other 
acts of 

a 
similar nature were 

it necessary, but the above 
are 

sufficient, and I have 
no 

desire to 
make specific accusations against 

any officer." 
With regard 

to the dhow captured by the Gorgon, Colonel Playfair 

observed— 

" 
People who 

are 
only too ready to take exception to our acts, will not be content to abide 

by the decision of 
a warrant officer, and they will naturally ask whether it is right that he 

should be judge, who is also captor and pecuniarily interested in the capture, and whose social 
standing does not offer 

a 
sufficient guarantee for his impartiality." 

Colonel Playfair defended himself from the imputation of adopting the 
statements of interested persons which had been made against him by the 
Admiralty, and asserted that he had always lent his cordial support in the 
suppression of the slave trade, which duty he, nevertheless, wished to see 

carried 

out with care 
and circumspection. He concluded— 

" 
I believe that 

no 
naval officer 

now on 
the station will deny that 

f 
arbitrary acts' 

have been committed, and it is mainly owing 
to these having been fearlessly reported that 

they have ceased to exist, and, 
as 

I have before 
now 

pointed out, that the recollection of them 
has in 

a 
great 

measure been effaced." 
Earl Russell entirely concurred in the views set forth in Colonel 

Play fair's reply.— {Folitical, A, March 1865, Nos. 206 fy 207.) 

106.— C olonel P latfair's views on the slave trade .—The following 
observations 

are 
extracted from 

a 
despatch addressed by Colonel Playfair 

to 
Earl Kussell in May 1865, reporting 

on 
the 

measures 
adopted for the sup pression of the slave trade during the 

season 
then closed, and their results. 

He wrote— 

" 
From what I have stated, it is evident that 

our 
operations during all the years over which they have extended, have had 

no 
appreciable effect in stopping the slave trade, and from 

the experience 1 have gained at Zanzibar, I have no 
hesitation in saying that nothing, 

we can do will ever 
stop it. Many slavers may be taken, and, if we 

put sufficient pressure, the 
export may even 

be entirely suspended for 
a 
time ; but the moment that pressure is removed, 

and 
our 

efforts relaxed, it will be resumed with 
as 

great activity 
as ever. 

" 
The whole fabric of Arab society is 

so 
interwoven with slaverv, and the manners 

and 
customs of that race are so 

unchangeable, that it is hopeless 
to expect that they will ever permanently abandon their pursuit of slaves. Their fathers have possessed them ever since 

Arabia 
was 

peopled, and they have no 
idea of 

a state of things in which slaves do not occupy 

a 
prominent place. The institution is one 

sanctioned by their religion; such 
a 

thing 
as civil 

law 
or any other not contained in the Koran is unknown to them ; and I fear that no 

efforts ot 

ours can 
induce them to regard slavery with the horror which its name 

excites in 
a 

Christian 
mind. 
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" 
There is one 

thing to be said in favor of slavery amongst Arabs, and that is that no class of the community is 
so 

happy, 
so 

free from care, and 
so 

well treated, 
as 

the Mahomedan 
slave; nine out of ten would hardly regard freedom 

as a 
boon; and, but for 

our 
intervention, 

which compels slavers to resort to all kinds of expedients to procure cargoes, the suffering of 
the slaves after their arrival 

on 
the coast would be hardly appreciable. 

" But it is that word after which says so 
much; 

we 
shall 

never 
known the amount of 

sufferins-, the 
severance 

of family ties, and the misery resulting from the depopulation of large 
tracts of country, which is caused by the pursuit of slaves in the interior of Africa "— 

{Political, 
A, July 1865, Nos. 125 ̂  126.^ 

107. P rotest of S ultan against interference with vessels in Z an 
zibar waters 

.—Consequent 
on 

the destruction of 
a 

dhow in Zanzibar waters, 
and the detention of another in the vicinity of Pemba Island, Syed Majid, in September 1866, protested against the interference in any way with vessels in 
the Zanzibar waters 

by Her 
Majesty's cruisers employed in the slave trade. 

In addition to this the Sultan preferred 
a 

claim— 

" to the whole 
area 

of water included within lines drawn parallel to the African coast, north 
and south from the outside, 

or eastern shores of Pemba and Zanzibar islands, to 
Cape Delgado 

and Lamoo." 

Dr. Seward informed His Highness that, pending 
a 

reference to Govern 
ment— 

" 
the extent of his territorial waters must be regulated by 

an 
appeal to international usage 

that to demand the discontinuance of the tight of search within the wide limits of his claim, 

was 
in effect to demand 

our 
abandonment of the treaty." 

Lord Stanley replied— 

" 
The three engagements which, taken together, contain the positive international obli 

gations of the Sultan of Zanzibar to Her Majesty, 
are the 

treaty of 184-5,* the formal concession of 1850,t and the 
engagement of 18634 By these instruments Her Majesty's 
ships 

may seize and confiscate Zanzibar slavers generally 
on the high 

seas, and also vessels transporting slaves from port 
to port in the Zanzibar dominions during January, February, 

. 

March, and April, and Her Majesty's ships 
may enter creeks, 

rivers, and harbours in Zanzibar territories 
' 
from Songhe Manara to 

Tonghe' fur the purpose 
of destroying slavers. 

"Now, if this last engagement be binding, which Her Majesty 
s 
Government consider it 

to be the question of the inviolability of the territorial waters within this limits does not arise.' 
With respect toother territorial waters, upon 

general principles of international law, 

the Sultan is not entitled to claim jurisdiction beyond three miles from the shore; and Her 
Maiestv's Government do not consider that His Highness's claim to the lai^er 

area of waters 
mentioned in your 

despatch 
can 

be supported either by usage, or 
by 

reasons arising from the 
natural configuration of the coast." 

The Political Agent 
was, 

therefore, directed to inform the Sultan that— 

"in no 
event can Her Majesty's Government recognize his right to a 

wider claim 
over territorial waters than the usual limit of three miles from the shore; and that, when His 

Hiffhness fulfils that part of his engagement which binds him to suppress in every way the 
slave trade Her Majesty's Government will consider whether, consistently with their sole 
obiect the suppression of'the slave trade, they 

can 
abandon the practice sanctioned by such 

lon£ usage, and never 
before complained of, of capturing slavers 

in the waters of 
Zanzibar." 

Before Lord Stanley's reply could reach the Political Agent, 
a 

further 
protest against the 

proceedings of Her 
Majesty's cruisers 

was 
made by the 

Sultan 
.~(Po^w?«Z, A, June 1867, Xos. 39 ̂  40.) 

108. P olitical A gent urges withdrawal of slave squadron from 
Z vnzxb\r waters 

.—In the meantime. Dr. Seward had addressed 
a 

letter to 
91 

♦ Vide Appendix C. 
f Vide Appendix D. 
I This is the engagement alluded to 

in paragraph 103. No copy of it is 
traceable in the records of the Gov 
ernment of India [vide concluding 
portion of paragraph 308.) 
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the Bombay Government strongly urging the absolute withdrawal of the slave squadron from Zanzibar waters. His arguments 
were as 

follows 
: 

" 
Its presence and its operations 

are in complete antagonism to the settled policy of Indian administrators, who desire, if I understand that policy aright, to leave the slave status untouched in Zanzibar, to 
strengthen the hands of the Zanzibar ruler, to add to his power 

to govern a coast as 
yet but under 

a 
weak control 

or none, and to await the upgrowth amongst 
a 
well-ordered and thriving population of good influences, which may 

by-and-by 
overshadow slavery with liberty. 

a 
Under existing adverse conditions, the operations of the fleet have been, by 

common consent, absolutely futile, and these conditions unaltered and the powers of cruisers further restricted, its labors must continue to be thankless and barren of good rusult, nay harmful. 

" It destroys the prestige of the ruler, who, in his 
own 

waters, should, in the 
eves 

of his people, be absolute; and worse than this, 
as some 

injustice is inseparable from its working 
its acts are a 

chronic 
source of irritation, begetting hate amongst 

a 
people otherwise disposed to trust and attach themselves to the English beyond all other nations. 
" Next he drew attention to the inconsistency 

of allowing the importation 
of slaves to the Island of Zanzibar while it 

was 
prohibited in another direction. 

He observed— 

" 
At this moment hnglish capital, distributed by 

an 
English agent, is busy in Zanzibar in setting 

on 
foot enterprises wholly dependent 

ou 
slave labor; and to obtain this fresh hundreds of Africans must be enslaved, 

new 
villages depopulated, 

new 
crimes committed. 

" 
And thus it is that the presence of 

our 
anti-slave fleet is 

an 
anomaly. They leave untouched the crowded dhow, and whose slave freight is dest-ned, perchance, for the estates of a 

British sugar 
planter in Zanzibar; 

we 
confiscate that dhow without remorse, if found in another latitude. They blow hot, and 

we 
blow cold; 

we 
employ 

our 
fleet to limit enslava^e 

* we 
employ 

our 
capital to encourage it." & ' He concluded— 

" 
On the ground, then, of its inutility 

on 
the 

one 
hand, its antagonism to the policv of the Indian administration 

on 
the other, to say 

nothing of the anomaly of its presence I advocate the entire removal of 
our 

slave squadron from Zanzibar waters to a 
cruisinc 

e ruund whereltmay actwUhraJ efficieQcy, andw.thcmt provoking 
comment on the misapplication 

oi -Dntisn capital to the encouragement of slavery in Zanzibar." 
Colonel Pelly, whose opinion 

was asked 
on 

the matter, observed 

" 
Judging the question 

as 
it stood when I left Zanzibar, I consider that 

we 
have 

no treaty right to interfere with the Sultans slave trade, carried 
on 

within Zanzibar water-- within certain 
specifild latitudes, and which latitudes 

are, I believe, that of Cape DcKido 
on the south, and that of Lamoo, 

on 
the north; and that the only ground that 

wo 

have' 
for visiting 

a 
craft carrying slaves 

,n 
those waters is our 

suspicion of her intending 
to carry 

hZ 

slaves to some point exterior to the specified limits." y 

* * * * 
" Tt 

is 
obvious that the Sultan of Zanzibar not 

having conceded to us any right to interfere with hi» slave craft within certain limits, and having conceded to us the right to seize his craft exporting slaves beyond those limits, the rightful stations for 
our 

shL 

would be at 

rhir; 

on 

b^dw™ 

000111 bc 
no 

<)uestiwi that 

^^ 

Colonel Pelly concluded— 

" 
The subject alluded to by Dr. Seward, of English capital creating slavery for its 

own 
profit, 

requires, in my deferential opinion, very careful handling. My 
own 

experience leads 
reb^h.* 

U f A 
t 
rrica 

" 
lab0 [ 

0n 
u 

an 

estate^t 

Zanzibar 
or elsewheie, is 

suscepUble ol anangements under which the employer shall receive fair labor and the laborer fair remuneration, without any 
injustice 

to either party." 
The Bombay Government, 

in 
acknowledging 

Dr. Seward's letter, wrote— 
"I 

am at the same time desired to draw your attention to the memorandum by 

• Tirfc paragraph 101. Colonel Play fair, dated the 20th September 1863* and the 
u i L- ri ' k 4-u i i 

Conc 
f 
S81ons 

hy the Sultan of Zanzibar, which vou aonear to have overlooked 
in 

both your letters above quoted. y appear to 

١٠٠ المرجع: IOR/L/PS/18/B150A حق النشر: رخصة حكومة مفتوحة

 http://www.qdl.qa/العربية/archive/81055/vdc_100023935572.0x000065 :اعرض على مكتبة قطر الرقمية 

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/2/
http://www.qdl.qa/%D8%A7%D9%84%D8%B9%D8%B1%D8%A8%D9%8A%D8%A9/archive/81055/vdc_100023935572.0x000065?utm_source=testpdfdownload&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=PDFdownload


"مُلخّص المراسلات المتعلّقة بشؤون زنزبار من ١٨٥٦ إلى ١٨٧٢." أعدّه
النقيب ب. د. هندرسون، الملحق بالإدارة الخارجية" [١٣١و] (١١٤/١٠١)

Slave Trade- 

" 
If the Sultan has en^ajjed 

to 
prevent the port-to-port trade in slaves in his 

own 
domi 

nions from January to April in each year, and if His Highness has also expressly authorized 

our 
cruisers to seize Zanzibar vessels carrying slaves without regular manifest, 

or 
in excess of 

the number manifested, the Governor in Council is unable to see how your present proposal 
could be acted upon witiiout abandoning concessions already freely made, and so 

entering upon 
a 

retrograde 
course. 

" 
You will be 

so 
good 

as to afford 
some 

explanation 
on 

this point, and also to state whether 

• The reply to this call was not re- 
the concessions made in 1863, above referred to, were 

reduced 
ported to the Government of Tndia. to 

writing.*"— [Foli/ical, A., February 1867, Nos. 208 <§* 210 ; Political, A., March 1867, Nos. 219-221 ; and Political, A., March 1867, Not. 229 ̂  30.) 

109. Labour contracts of Messrs. Phaser and Company. —In July 1866 
Dr. Seward, the Political Agent, solicited 

We, the undersigned, agree and undertake to supply an 
expression of Opinion Concerning the 

to Messrs. H. A. Fraser and Company (400) four hundred ' 
. 

1 i • ^ male and female able-bodied laborers, and we engage 
legality of Certain Contracts entered llltO 

that the said laborers shall beat the sole disposal of ^JeSSrS. PraSer and Company, British 
ypara^after^^ch^ernTwe'^b^nd'^ourwl^s 

^©"guarantee 
merchants of Zanzibar, with Arab slaVC- 

the 'reedom of all the said laborers, who shall be slaves, own p rs 
for the SUDdIv of slaves tO WOrk 

on condition that Messrs. H. A. Fraser and Company pay 
. , 

7fVio 
to us for every laborer one 

year's pay, at the rate of two on tlieir CStatCS. ested OI tne pCT- 
dollare per month per laborer on 

delivery, and hall a S0Da 
^ 
ma tters raised in the subsequent 

dollar per month for each laborer for €he succeeding four 
^ 

i. 4. xu years: the balance of wages, one dollar and-a-half per dlSCUSSlOnS On tllC SUOJCCt, the CaSC Was month, to be payable to the iaborers from wliora we ag 
f ol ] ows; 

MeSSrS. PraSCr and Company 
bind ourselves not to exact or receive any portion 01 tn 

. ,,1, i. e pay on any pretext whatever. For the first year Messrs. entered into a 
COntmct, tlie text OI WtllCn 

il A, Fraser and Company shall ciothe and jg marginally appended, with certain 
laborers at their own expense, and for the four succe a » r I 1 . , , . ing years of this contract they shall not be called on to 

Arab SlaVe-OWIierS iov HIS iabOF SUpply. 

make any disbursement on this account. S ewar( 
l 

was 
of Opinion that the 

Con 
tract effected 

a 
virtual transfer of all property in the slave to the firm, lie 

said— 

" 
The twelve months' wages, at two dollars per laborer per month, handed 

over to the 
contractor in one 

lump 
sum on 

delivery, puts him in possession of the average cost of 
an 

adult 
slave who thereafter stands at the complete disposal of the firm, who immediately become 
responsible for the slave's food and clothing. It is true that freedom—ultimate freedom—is 

a 
stipulation 

on 
the promise of the contractor; but I would submit that we 

should not be 
blinded by the illusory veil of philanthropy thrown over the transaction." 

The Advocate General, Bombay, expressed 
an 

opinion, 1^, that the vali 
dity of 

a 
contract being, 

as a 
rule, decided by the law of the 

place where it is 
to be 

performed, and slavery being allowed at Zanzibar, he could 
see no 

o-round for holding the contracts in question 
to be invalid ; 2 )idly, that assum 

ing they 
were 

invalid. Dr. Seward had 
no 

right to interfere until 
on 

the 

occurrence of 
a 

dispute between the parties, the matter should 
come 

before him 
for 

adjudication under the provisions of the treaty. The Advocate General 
concluded— 

" 
The Assistant Political Agent, though residing in 

a 
slave country like Zanzibar, cannot 

legally constitute himself 
a censor morum or contractum in regard to British subjects. 13v the 

treatv of the 31st May 1839, articles 1 and 2, British subjects have a 
right to reside, and to pur 

chase or hire lands 
or 

houses, &c., at Zanzibar; and Captain Fraser's legal 
status seems somewhat analogous to that of Englishmen holding estates in our 

West India Inlands, 

a.nd to that of planters in the slave states of North America, whilst slavery 
was 

allowed 
in those countries. Bearing in mind, therefore, that slavery 

is not contrary to the law 
of nations, I think that Dr. Seward has no 

right at P™ sen 
J 

to concern himself with 
the validity 

or 
invalidity of Captain Eraser's contracts with the Arab slave-owners, and that, 

if Dr Seward of his own 
accord should take any action 

in 
the matter. Captain Fraser will 

have just ground for complaining of 
a 

clear violation of his (Captain Fraser) liberty and right 

as a 
British subject." 

In forwardin"- the Advocate General's opinion for Dr. Seward 
s 

guidance, 

the Bombay Government remarked that, in addition to the 
legal aspect ot the 

question, it had also another aspect; for it 
was 

observed— 

" 
This is not merely 

a case 
of connection with slave-holding by 

a 
British mercantile firm, 

but of slave-trading; it is 
a case 

of large contracts made by such 
a 

firm with those who 
93 

١٠١ المرجع: IOR/L/PS/18/B150A حق النشر: رخصة حكومة مفتوحة

 http://www.qdl.qa/العربية/archive/81055/vdc_100023935572.0x000066 :اعرض على مكتبة قطر الرقمية 

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/2/
http://www.qdl.qa/%D8%A7%D9%84%D8%B9%D8%B1%D8%A8%D9%8A%D8%A9/archive/81055/vdc_100023935572.0x000066?utm_source=testpdfdownload&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=PDFdownload


"مُلخّص المراسلات المتعلّقة بشؤون زنزبار من ١٨٥٦ إلى ١٨٧٢." أعدّه
النقيب ب. د. هندرسون، الملحق بالإدارة الخارجية" [١٣١ظ] (١١٤/١٠٢)

Slave Trade- 

supply the slave labor market, and 
can 

supply it only by kidnapping- their victims in the in terior, and conveying them 
across 

from the mainland in 
a state of slavery." 

The Political Agent 
was, 

therefore, directed to enquire from Messrs. Fraser 
what precautions had been taken by them to prevent these large demands 
from operating 

as a 
direct and dangerous stimulus to increased activity in the 

slave traffic with the interior, and also what guarantee they had that the labor 

ers 
at the expiration of their five years' term of service would be declared free. 
The Government of India 

on 
the 14th November 1866 observed to the Bombay Government that, whatever the legal aspect of the 

case 
might be— 

" 
it is evidently incumbent 

on 
the Government to do what lies in its power to discourage 

and repudiate 
a 

line of conduct in any of its subjects 
so 

inconsistent with the attitude which 
it holds towards the State of Zanzibar and other countries in respect of slave dealing." 

The Messrs. Fraser 
were to be informed distinctly that the Government 

and its representative will in 
no case 

support such contracts, 
or 

aid in respect of 
any difficulties which might arise from them. 

In the meantime the matter had been reported by Dr. Seward to the 
London Foreign Office, and 

on 
the 5th November 1866 Lord Stanley replied— 

" 
Having consulted the proper law officers of the Crown, I have to imform you that 

Her Majesty's Government are of opinion that in entering into this contract, Messrs. Fraser 
have violated the provisions of Act 6 and 7 Victoria, Chapter 98, which renders applicable 
the provisions of the Act 5, George IV., Chapter 113, 

to all British subjects wherever they 
may reside. 

"The contract stipulates that for five years certain the laborers 
are to be at the sole disposal of Messrs. Fraser and Company, after which term they 

are to be set free. During the interval they 
are 

clearly slaves, and the 
case falls within the following words of the Act'cf George IV., viz. (section 2), 

' 
deal 

or 
trade in persons intended to be dealt with 

as 
j-laves'; 

* con tract for the transfer of persons intented to be dealt with 
as 

slaves' 

" 
I have, therefore, to instruct you to apprize Messrs. Fraser and Company that by entering 

into these contracts they have incurred the penalties of the Acts in question, and you will enquire and communicate to Her Majesty's Government whether anything, and what, has been done under the contracts, and also whether Messrs. Fraser and Company have any 
representation 

or 
submission to make upon the subject before proceedings 

are taken." 

^ 

On being made 
aware 

of the decision of Her Majesty's Government, Captain Fraser, who until then apparently had 
no 

opportunity of stating his 
case, 

represented that the contract had been framed 
on a contract 

previously 
drawn out by Colonel Playfair when Political Agent at Zanzibar, and which 
had been approved by the Bombay Government. Dr. Seward urged that 
there 

was no 
similarity 

in the terms of the two contracts, but, 
as a copy of the agreement framed by 

( olonel Playfair 
was not submitted to the Government 

of India, there 
are no 

grounds for forming 
an 

opinion in the matter. Mr. Maine, the Legal Member ot Council, observed 
on 

the case— 
ith the main question the Government of India does not seem to me to have anything 

further to do. But it is 
a 

somewhat awkward element, in the 
case that Messrs. Fniser's 

contracts should have been 
so 

fully concurred in by the former Consul, Colonel Playfair. 
^ 
ir . 

S ewar 
^ 

s 
part has been in the matter I fail to collect from this most unin- 

tei 
igible letter.) Ihe offence against, the statutes is not holding slaves (which cannot 

generally 

' e ' le 
'p 
e ̂  

a 
slave-holding country) 

or 
employing, but contracting for their labor." 

In March 1867 Dr. Seward informed the Secretary of State for Foreign 
Affairs that the Sultan had, at his instigation, liberated 711 slaves who had been working under contract with Messrs. Fraser and Company. Lord Stanley 

ex- pressed satisfaction at the intelligence, 
and intimated that 

no 
proceedings 

would be taken against Messrs. Fraser, provided they could undertake to abstain 
in future from similar offences.— fFolitical, A, November 1866, Nos. 45-47; May 1867, Nos. 141-43; May 1867, Nos. 181-83; June 1867, Nos. 24 ^ 25; 
and April 1868, Nos. 145 8f 146.; 
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increased activity in the 
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3e 
would be declared free. 
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case 
might be— 

lies in its power to discourage 
sistent with the attitude which 
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or 
aid in respect of 
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n, I have to imform you that 
50 

this contract, Messrs. Fraser 

■ 
98, which renders applicable 
ritish subjects wherever they 

laborers 
are to be at the sole 

are to be set free. During the following words of the Act'of 
3 
be dealt with 

as 
j-laves'; 

' con ies' 

r 
and Company that by entering 

ts in question, and you will 

r 
anything, and what, has been 

)mpany have any 
representation 

aken." 

sr 
Majesty's Government, 

opportunity of stating his 
1 on a contract 

previously 

it at Zanzibar, and which 
Dr. Seward urged that 

-acts, but, 
as a copy of the 

nitted to the Government 
nion in the matter. Mr. 

ic case— 
3t seem to me to have anything 
the 

case that Messrs. Fn.ser's 

rmer 
Consul, Colonel Playtair. 

collect from this most unin- 

• 
slaves (which cannot 

generally 
ing for their labor." 
stary of State for foreign 
)d 711 slaves who had been 
npany. Lord Stanley 

ex- ated that 
no 

proceedings 

could undertake to abstain 
temher 1866, Nos. 45-47; 

me 
1867, ISos. 24 25; 

110. E xportation of slaves as crew of vessels trading to B ombay.— 
In December 1866 it 

was 
stated by the commander of Her Majesty's 

steamer 
Wasp that the crews 

of the Zanzibar dhows trading to 
Bombay 

were 
all slaves 

belonging to 
people 

at Zanzibar; that they 
were 

paid nominally 
two or 

three 
dollars for the voyage to Bombay and back, but many were taken on to the Per 
sian Gulf. The Commissioner of police at Bombay stated that every 

precaution 

was 
taken by the water police to 

guard against the importation 
or 

exportation of 
slaves, the crews 

and passengers of all dhom being mustered both 
on 

arrival 

at and departure from the harbour.— (JPoliticcil, d., jUavch 1867, Aos. 
242 8f 243.) 

111. N egotiations for reduction of limits of slave traffic 
.—Mr. 

Churchill assumed charge of the Zanzibar Agency about the middle of 1867, 

and shortly after entered into negotiations with the Sultan, having for thcii 
object the reduction of the limits within which the transport of slaves for 
domestic purposes would be permitted. After considerable pressure the Sultan 
agreed to fix 

Bas-ya-dege, in S. latitude 7 
as 

the southern, and Mombas, in 
latitude 4°, 

as 
the northern limits for this traffic. The extent of the 

con 
cession comprised about three-fifths of the Sultan 

s 
seaboard. In obtaining 

this concession, however, Mr. Churchill had held out 
hopes to Syed 

^ 

Majid 

of bein 
0 * 

relieved from 
payment of the subsidy to Muscat. A negotiation 

on 
this basis 

was 
declared by the Bombay Government, with the concurrence of 

the Government of India, to be wholly unauthorized.— A, February 
1868, Nos. 

174-76.) 

112. Establishment of a V ice -A dmiralty C ourt .—From 
a 

letter dated 
30th November 1867, addressed to Lord Stanley by Mr. Churchill, it appears 
that with the consent the Sultan, 

a 
Vice-Admiralty Court had been estab 

lished 
a 

short time 
previously in Zanzibar. 

113 R ights of 
K utchees to hold slaves .—In 1867 

a 
question y 

as 
raised by the Political Agent 

as to whether the British Government had 
a 

right 

to interefere with the subjects of the Kao of Kutch who held slaves, but who had 

not 
registered their names as 

entitled to British protection. Irom xlr. 
Churchill's letter of the 22nd December 1867, it appears that, previous to 
Colonel Rigby's departure from Zanzibar, all natives of India, whether subjects 

of the British Government, 
or 

of independent Native Mates, 
were 

under Bu 
is 

j 

Diotection 
• 

but in 1863 those of the latter class who had not 
formally applied 

for such 
protection and 

registered their names at the British Consulate, 
were deprived of consular protection, and 

were 
allowed to 

place themselves 
un ei 

the 
protection of the Sultan. 

ThP ponrse 
then followed by the Political Agent 

was 
supported by the 

Bombay Government; but in 1806 it bad been ruled (Foreign Department letter 

No. 
lOi, 

dated 3rd February 1866) by the Government of India with regard 
to 

Kutchees resident in Muscat that— 

" 
the subjects of any Native State bound, 

as 
Kutch 

'3 

powers, are 
morally entitled to be admitte 

in 0 ' u ̂ " Sultan of Muscat and the subjects 
natives of British India enjoy 

in 
the 

~fmarSy 

quoted, neither of 
of Kutch, residents 

in 
his dominions, seem, ^ 

c » ci , 
c 
y 
on 

q ccive6 that there 
them to cnteiUin any doubt 

on his point 
samc 

authorit 
, 
y i 

n r e S 
peet 

The Political Agent should be autbori 
Z 
ed to 

act in accordance with this opinion. 
^ 
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It is obvious, said the Political Agent, that— 
"the above-quoted resolution of His Excellency the Governor General in Council is meant for Zanzibar 

as 
well 

as for Muscat; and His Highness the Sultan of Zanzibar like the ruler of Muscat, has 
never 

doubted the right of the British Government to exercise iurisdic 
tion over the natives of Kutch 

or any other protected State in India; but since the abandon- 
ment by my predecessors of the right of protecting such of these natives of India who did 
not seek our 

protection, His Highness 
assumes that 

we 
have 

no 
further ri<rht to iurisdiction 

over them. 
B J 

n 1 

^ 

T 

? 
rr 

1 

iva 
! 

ZaTlz ^ 
:)ar 

Mr- Churchill had ascertained that, although Colond Righy had succeeded in emancipating 
all the slaves in the possession 

of the natives oi India established 
in 

the dominions of the Sultan of Zanzibar upwards of one 
thousand two hundred slaves 

were still held in bondage bv natives of that country, and that they enjoyed this privilege because 
^thev 

were under the protection of His Highness Syed Majid. Mr. Churchill there fore, represented 
to the Sultan that he 

was under 
a 

necessUy 
of 

puttinra 

.top to the holding 
of slaves by all natives of India in 

"Zanzibar, 
and 

e 
further claimed jurisdiction 

over all natives of independent 
states in India, 

n 
though 

t ey had forieited British proteotion and placed themselves under that of the Sultan. The Sultan pleaded that Colonel Plavfair had 
h^.r^r/p't "l 

H 
• 

10 
- 
Se natives of independent States in India who had not entered their 

names in 
the Consular Register should be considered 

as 
Arabs. 1 bey 

were 
thus, he said, under Arab law, and bad, therefore 

a 
rk'ht 

menf 
Tblli f 

th 
« 

SuIta ̂ request the 
matter'was 

rcterreTto Govern! 

ment. 1 he Bombay Government observed— 

' 
The British Government have practically said to certain Kutchees 

f mn « f 

SI Csi-iSS= 

have'no^^ht to^iuterfere!'^ 

4 Hon 
' 
ble Govei 

' I1 or 
in Gouncil that the British Government 

aj 

dr 

^ 
^::r: 

]1 
ieT 

c wh 
1 

cht Xz* 
s 

?:'iX 

tax-paver, and not the Indian will W 
p t 

? compensation, which the British 
that the Rao will not/ 

1 ' 
pay, 38 11 may be almo8t certainl y taken for granted remarked—^ 

Indla 
' 

to wljom 
case was 

referred for decision, turnso^n the^olLwing'i^ues 

6 

^ 

0 ' 
Genera ' Ceuneil that the deeisioo of the question raised 

" 

11—0° 
Sab 

- 

iects in I" 68 '' 011 
merely 

own and hold slaves ? 
tantamount to 

slave-dealing 
? ' ^ ma ̂ e con ̂ racts 

regarding, slaves involving 
transactions 

" 
HI.. Does their 

ease resemble t, lat of Messrs H. A. Fraser and Company 
at Zanzibar 

* 

sat 

qoestion^ilfame 
a^to^vhTther 

0 thm 

franfT 

*'"" 
k " 

1 t0 anionnt 10 
slave-dealing, 

then 
a transactions of Messrs. Fraser and Company 

i'zanzLr 
^'^d'^fes"™.TiTr ^ 
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——— 

Mb <533) 

British subjects. And this question 
turns on 

another, viz., 
can 

the people of Kutch be 
in this particular respect put 

on 
the footing of quasi-British subjects, that is to say, in matters 

in which the British Government is concerned, 
as 

it is in the suppression of slave-dealing ? 
Can that Government, 

as the lord paramount of the State, to which their immediate allegiance 
is due, exercise 

a 
check 

over 
them in transactions beyond the boundaries of India ? 

" 
The last point will obviously demand legal consideration. But this might well be 

deferred till the questions of fact have been taken up, and it has been decided whether the 
Kutchees 

are 
engaged in slave-dealing 

or not. If they 
are 

merely slave-holders, then there 
would 

seem to be no 
sufficient legal 

warrant for interfering with them.^ 
Information 

on 
the issues of fact above mentioned 

was 
called for by the 

Government of India.— (Political, A, April 1868, Nos. 144-46.) Eor the 
continuation of the correspondence 

on 
this subject vide paragraph 120. 

. 

114. S lave trade statistics, 1868. —The following statistics of the slave 
trade 

were 
given by Mr. Churchill in 

a 
letter dated 4th March 1868 

: 

" 
In former times slaves were 

brought down to various parts of the coafct. At present 
Kilwa appears to have monopolized this nefarious trade, which has, to some 

extent, increased 
of late. Thus, in counting from September 

to 
September in each year, the number of slaves 

exported in the five last years has been— 
For 1862-63 

„ 
1863-64 

„ 
1864-65 

„ 
1865-66 

„ 
1866-67 

18,500 
17,500 
16,821 
22,344 
22,038 

making 
an average of 19,440 per annum. 

They 
were 

embarked at Kilwa and sent to various 
places, namely, Zanzibar, Pemba, Lamoo, Arabian Coast, Mohilla, and Madagascar, 

in the 
following proportion: 

In 1862-63 

1863-64 

1864-65 

1865-66 

1866-67 

f 13,000 
came to Zanzibar. 

5,000 went elsewhere. 

f 1,400 
came to Zanzibar. 

*" 
C 3,500 went elsewhere. 
| 13,821 

came to Zanzibar. 

-{ 

3,000 went elsewhere. 
18,344 

came to Zanzibar. 
4,000 went elsewhere. 

17,538 
came to Zanzibar. 

4,500 went elsewhere. 

" 
From these figures it will be observed that in the course 

of the last five years 
nearly 

one 
hundred thousand registered slaves have been exported from Kilwa beyond those who 

have been 
smuggled 

out of the country unknown to the authorities ; ot the tormer, 70 ,703 

were 
brought to Zanzibar. 

Now when I say that a tax of 2i dollars per head is levied at Kolwa 
on every slave 

ex- 
norted and 

a 
second 

tax of 2 dollars per head is levied at Zanzibar 
on every slave imported, it 

mav 
be wondered why 

so 
large 

a 
proportion of the slaves exported from Kilwa should 

come to 
Zanzibar without having the effect of over-stocking the market. The simple 

reason is 
this, that 

it is not safe for a 
slave-dealer to 

keep his slaves 
on 

the mainland, because they would be apt lo 

run awav 
They must 

necessarily be brought to some 
island, whence escape would be out 

nf the 

Question 
and Zanzibar is preferred, because it is 

a 
central place and the residence of the 

Arabs who usually act as 
agents to the people of Arabia, with whom slaves 

are in 
great 

demand. 

The value of 
a 

slave, when brought to the coast was, Mr. Churchill says, a 
little more than five dollars. 

97 
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115 Doubts regarding jurisdiction op V ioe- A dmiraltt C 
ourt.— 

A doubthad been raised by Dr. Seward in May 1866 as to the competency of 

the Vice- Admiralty Court to 
adjudicate, under existing treaty arrangements, 

within the Zanzibar territories in the matter of confiscating vessels the pro- 

per tv of subjects of the Sultan of Zanzibar, which might be seized by the 

shins of Her 
Majesty's Navy 

on 
suspicion of being engaged 

in 
the slave 

trade within the Sultan's dominions. The Secretary of State for Foreign 

Affairs decided that— 

"Dr. Seward 's doubts on 
this subject 

were not well founded and that any decisions he 
might have s ivcn as 

Judge of Her 
Majesty's Vice-Admiralty Court m the temtones of Zan- 

zibar would have been perfectly valid." 

116 HuLiss issued by S ultan to check slave tuafpic 
.- 

The Political 
A-ent, Zanzibar, in 

a 
letter of the 9th April 1868 forwarded, for information, 

a copy of 
a 

stringent set of rules issued by the Sultan, 
m 

order to check the 
trade in slaves. Of late the Sultan had, he said, been making endeavours to 
put down the traffic.— (Political, A, July 1868, j\os. 83-84.) 

117 Stjltan threatens confiscation oe all dhows belonging to 
Northern A rabs 

.—Shortly after this, the Sultan addressed letters to the 
several Sheikhs along the Arabian Coast, giving them notice that as the 
Northern Arabs were 

in the habit of 
repairing to the East Coast of Arabia with 

no 
other motive than that of running slaves to the Persian Gulf, all dhows 

coming to Zanzibar, 
or any part of the Sultan's dominions, would be forthwith 

seized and burnt. The Government of India expressed satisfaction at the 
evidence of the Sultan's desire to 

co-operate with the British Government.— 
[Political, A, July 1868, Nos. 

85-87.) 
Subsequently, Mr. Churchill pointed out to the Sultan that Her 

Majesty's 

Government would be bound, by its treaty engagements, 
to take notice of any 

hostile proceeding against the Arab tribes in treaty with it, so 
long 

as ley 
did not engage in the slave traffic. The Sultan accordingly modified his 
original notice to the Arab chiefs, and declared that he would confine himseit 
to 

destroying the vessels of such chiefs 
as 

*had failed to fulfil 
engagements with Her Majesty's Government.— [Political, A, August 

> Nos. 262-64!.) 

118. Mr. Churchill's unfavorable ofinion of existing measures 

for the suppression of the slave trade .—In 
a 

despatch 
to Her Majes j s Secretary of State for Eoreign Affairs (dated 22nd August 1868), 
a copy o w ic 

was 
forwarded for the information of Government, Mr. Churchill discusset ie 

condition of the East African slave trade, and 
proposed 

more 
effectual 

s eps 
for its suppression. He also suggested precautionary 

measures 
by 

w uc i 
British cruisers would be better able than they had done to distinguis 

i s 
aye 

vessels from regular traders. With regard to the mistakes 
frequently 

commi 
ted by the cruisers, Mr. Churchill observed— 

"In order to stimulate the officers and men 
of Her Majesty's Navy in the 

fulfilment 
of 

the onerous 
duties devolving 

on 
them, it is thought necessary to offer 

a 
premium or 

^ 

slaver or 
slave captured 

; and as 
the investigations made to ascertain whether 

a dhow is re y engaged in the illicit trade are not always very minute, it not 
unfrequently 

occurs ia a ®- 
trader engaged in legitimate trade is captured and destroyed. This mode 

o P r 

°^ 
e 
? 

^ 
^ 

against which, I am sorry to say, many 
complaints have been forwarded to Her aje y 

Government without any result, has had the unhappy end of estranging from us those wio friendly disposed towards us in former days, and of 
crippling the legitimate trade^ 

w ic 
most powerful instrument 

we 
have in hand calculated to 

supplant the slave trade. 
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A dmiralty C 
ourt.— to the competency of 

; 
treaty arrangements, 

iting vessels, the pro- ght be seized by the engaged in the slave 
of State for Foreign 

and that any decisions he 

; in the territories of Zan- 

raffic.— The Political 
arded, for information, 
in order to check the making endeavours to -84.) 

dhows belonging to ddressed letters to the 

sm 
notice that, 

as 
the 

ist Coast of Arabia with 
'ersian Gulf, all dhows 
ms, would be forthwith 
sed satisfaction at the 
British Government.— 

Itan that Her 
Majesty's 

;s, to take notice of any 
with it, 

so 
long 

as 
they 

;cordingly modified his 

e 
would confine himselt 

i to fulfil their treaty 
ditical, A, August 1868, 

of existing measures sspatch to Her Majesty 
s 

st 
1868), 

a copy of which 

. 

Churchill discussed the 
>ed 

more 
effectual steps 

iry measures 
by which 

one to 
distinguish slave 

ikes 
frequently commit- 

's Navy in the fulfilment of 
y to offer 

a 
premium for every 

ain whether 
a 
dhow is real y nfrequently 

occurs that 
a 

leira 
I, This mode of 

proceeding, 

forwarded to Her Majesty 
s nginji from us 

those who were 

[ 

legitimate trade, which is tl»o 
b the slave traded 

In this letter was 
given the first intimation of 

an 
intention 

on 
the pait 

of the Sultan to send 
a 

mission to 
England 

to discuss the slave trade question, 

and to appeal against the payment of 
subsidy .—{Political, A, September 18()8, 

Nos. 302-4; and Political, A, October 1868, Nos. 357-59.) 

119 P ropositions regarding suppression of slave traffic made by 
C ommgdore H eath .—In August 1868 certain propositions regarding the slave 
trade 

were 
made to the Sultan by Commodore Heath, the Naval 

Chief These were, 
\st, that the slave trade should be made 

a 
Government 

monopoly; Indly, that vessels employed in the trade should either be of European 

build or, if 
dhows, should have a 

distinctive mark; %rdly, that the traffic shou d 

be confined to one 
port 

on 
the coast of Africa and 

one 
port 

m 
Island of 

Zanzibar; Mhly, that all intermediate traffic should be 
stopped. 

that the 

traffic should be legal only between 1st May and 1st January. T 
Age#t in the following month 

reported 
the substance of 

a cooTersa ion 
which 

took rilace in his presence between Commodore Heath and the Sultan on subject, and sent also 
a copy of a 

letter in which His Highncss ormaUy 
recoi 

^ his approbation of the second proposition only. The conveisation wascUrecteU 

to this point, and also to the 
question of the trade being mad 

government 

monopoly, and of restricting the traffic to certain limits. 

Jo 

tbe 

tj 

last ot 
these suggestions, the Sultan would give no 

countenance .but he took 

the^p 

portunity of recurring to bis grievance concerning p y 
ma tters under 

discussion. The Government of India, 
in tonvaiu 

a 1 
0 p 0ge( 

i 
the Secretary of State, stated their d'sappiova 

B t;L14 
. 

political. 
Commodore 

{Political, A, Oct 18c8, 
A, December 1868, Nos. 114-17.) 

I 
120. decision o. the 

govek n mekt 

tt'nfol^" 

SLAVE-HOLDERS— Mr. Churchill, 
in 

Aiigu 
' 

PP 
h Klltchee 

s 
i a ve pro- qnired by the Government ot ^ 

* 

7%[ 

s 

Ye 

p l v was to the effect that 
pnetors of Zanzibar {vide paragraph 

1 
0 
)- P Sved Maiid's protection— 

Kutchees who had elected to 
place themselves under ̂ yea maj ^ 

"do not merely 
own 

and hold slaves by place to 
place. In purchasing them, bartering, transferring, 

T , o u an ̂ 
pretentions 

are that Her Majesty 
s point of fact, they 

are 
regular slave-dealers. 

_ . , 
(British subjects 

as 
well 

as 
Kutchees 

, Consulate having declined »» they 
Ire 

at liberty to aet in h,s 
whose names were not 

registered 
in 

the hooks of anything against the laws ol his 
dominion 

as 
they may 

please, 
so 

long 
as h 

f 
do 

""f .Vp 
further, and says, 

country, and 
so 

far his claims cannot be contested, 
^ natives of India, whose country IS ^all jurisdiction 

over 
them, they may do 

as 
the 

The 
position of the Kutchees being 

Messrs. Fraser 

tdtXVny.rqurd^peciaTanswer. 

The Government of India 
replied 

to the Bombay Government 
as 

follows 
: ^ ^ ooa.derat.on to this 

" 
His Excellency in Council has gtven mo ^ slave 

. 
trad ^ wheu 

whole subject; but whatever may be the 

^^orn sheets, 

H.s Excellency in Council 
carried 

on 
by the Sultan of Zanzibar or h 

* s 

^ 

ra intei 
. 
fere w 

ith a 
high hand, and authonta- 

can 
have no 

doubt that it is our 
bounden dut y 

^ 

the sub : ectg 0 
f 

a 
Native State with which 

lively 
to put down slave-dealmg when car 

"^ 

1 0 

^ 

entat ivc, and which is bound to be 
guided 

we have 
a 

treaty, where we 
have an 

accrcdlt 
® 

^ 

v 
ia matters so 

intimately connected with 
by the advice and influence of the P 

^mouut pow^r 

m 
the very first 

principles of public morah } J ^ 
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Slave Trade. 

" 
In this view, His Excellency in Council desires that you will at once 

address the Political Agent in Kutch 
on 

the subject. The Agent should point 
out to the Rao the inequity and cruelty of this traffic, and he should inform him that the British Government, which, by the 

• See page 67, Reeord. of the Bom- « 
1863, had evidently used 

bay Government, No. XV. its autnoiity to prevent the importation of slaves into that principality, will by 
no means 

permit any of his subjects, 
when residents 

or 
domiciled in foreign parts, to engage in the slave-trade, 

on 
the pretence that they have acquired 

a 
right 

to do 
so 

either by residing 
at Zanzibar 

or 
by neglectino- 

or 
refusino- to register themselves before the British Consul at that place. All traders 

or 

othersrsubjects 
ofthe Rao, who are 

proceedin<r to Zanzibar, 
or 

who 
are 

actually residing there, should be warned that though 
mere 

domestic slavery by Kutchees may be tolerated for the present, the British Govern 
ment will take steps to interfere with any prosecution of the traffic in human beings 
and that no 

claims for loss 
or 

compensation, in the event of the release of any number & of captives, sold 
or 

being hurried into slavery, will be listened to for 
a moment. 

" 
The Bombay Government is further requested similarly 

to address Mr. Churchill the Consul and Agent at Zanzibar, to the 
same 

effect, and to authorize him to interfere actively 
and authoritatively, and by all the 

means at his disposal, 
to put down slave-dealing when earned on or 

attempted by Kutchees. His Excellency in Council observes that the results^f the otter to the subjects of Kutch to register themselves before the British Consul, though undoulftedlv 
well meant, appears to have been unfortunate, 

as 
it would 

seem 
that the Kutchees, not registered have conceived the notion that they 

are 
emancipated from all control 

or 
interference, and that the Sultan himself favors 'these pretentions. Mr. Churchill should be instructed to inform the Sultan that the Government of India by 

no means 
recognizes 

any such claims and the traders from Kutch should be plainly told that, though the retention by them of domestic slaves 
in 

their households may, for 
a 
time, be tolerated, all attempts at purchasing- selling 

or 
trafficking 

in 
slaves, will be summarily put down, and that this Government 

vMil not entertain any claims for redress 
or 

compensation. 
". H 

. 

is Eicelleney in Council is also constrained to say that he 
can 

hy 
no means endorse \r!iTlT 

S^u 
hy 

tYBombay 
Government in the 3rd paragraph of your letter, dated 31st March last viz., that slavery 

is no cr.me either 
in the country, in which these Kutchees reside, 7,nJk,r 

I f 

t" 
1 W u t 

T" 
6 
' • 

T 7anha PpiIy be no crime against the laws of Zanzibar, but it would certainly be 
a crime if committed in the territories of the Rao of Kutch and it would be 

one 
which, if it occurred on 

the coast of India, 
or in any part ofthe dominions 

the paramount power." 0 ' ^ W0Uld be ̂  with effect *^ and by 

at 
were 

reported to the Secretary 
of State by despatch Iso. 207, dated oth December 1868, and opportunity 

was taken to ask for 
an ear y 

reply 
to a previous 

despatch, No. 81, dated 14th May 1868 (vide paragraph 40 
m 

which the desirabilty 
of placing 

the Agent 
at Zanzibar under the Indian Government had been urged.~(P 

0 
^a/, A, December 186S ^os. 4o-ol ; and Political, A, January 1869, Nos. 294-95.) 

* 

rv, 
1 
? 
1 
n 

VlEWS G ™™ nt of I ndia as to domestic slavery —Mr Churchill 
on receiving the above instructions, 

called 
on 

all British Indian subjects 
to state the number of slaves in their possession, and said that 

as it 
bv S fh f 

1C 
f 

V distinguish between domestic slaves and those possessed by them for the purpose of engaging in the slave traffic, he intended to limit the number which they might have in their Dossos^inn in 
A™ 

. +i i- to the circumstances of the owner 
Passion to two 

or 
three according 

riiercupon 
the Bombay Government told Mr. Churchill that 

were 

t^L™ 
^^eTsed 

^^ilLh 
Mkif 

sul^^^ 

tl 
f 
1 he 

co 
? 1(1 be Reported, and 

as 
(2) the Sultan had written strongv tn remonstrate against such action towards 
an Indian whn 

w a 

V 
i 

^ 

lon S 1 y to tion. and as 
(3) he had rejoined denying 

that- 

' 
Under hlS t )rotec 

- 
under the Sultan's protec«on, W wcreWs 0 

subjec\ 

0 s." Jny Cn tlle s,ave tra<le bai l placed themselves 
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Slave Trade. 

Perceiving, 
on 

receipt of the Bombay Government s 
letter, tliat he had 

exceeded his instructions, Mr. Churchill again wrote to the Sultan, saying 

" 
I will not object to allow the Kutchees under your 

protection the possession of the 
slaves they 

now 
hold, provided they do not buy any more, or 

sell those they have. Ihis 
concession will have the effect of covering your 

Highnesses 
amour propre, for so 

long- 
as the 

Kutchees under your 
protection do not traffic in slaves, I shall not interfere with them, 

but, in order to keep 
a 

check over 
them, I should wish your 

Highness to order them to give 

you the names and description of their slaves. Any Kutchee under your protection 

a 
slave, 

or 
selling 

one, shall be deemed to have committed 
a 

heinous crime, and shall be 
amenable to British jurisdiction; but if your Highness will pledge yoursell 

to 
punish such 

individual condignly, I will gladly suggest to the Bombay Government our 
non-interference. 

" 
All future arrivals from India shall be deemed amenable to British law in every way 

and there shall be no excuse for their purchasing 
or 

holding slaves 
in your 

Highnc 

dominions/^ 

To this the Sultan rejoined (1) 
as to the past 

"The correspondence that passed between our 
Government and Colonels Pelly and Playfair 

some 
time back acknowledges 

our 
right to protect all natives of Kutch whose names are not 

inscribed in the 

(Consular 
register books kept in Zanzibar, and to eons.der tben. 

as onr own subjects in every 
way." 

(2) As to the future, 

"we can 
easily understand the natives of Bombay and Surat and other parts of India 

subiuo -ated by Great Britain should be subject to your 
jurisdiction, but that 

thosewho^ine 

be that 

o^ e\"?sutiects. U 

however, with 
a 

view to ronrln^ar^n.™ 

1 India, when 
we trnst that the most 

perfect understanding w.U 

be arrived at on 
this subject between us. 

Oa receiving this 
correspondenee, the Government of India said— 

"The Bombay Government mijht take 
an 

opportunity of intimating to the Political 
u* wiitif using.» 

1: 

No*. 229-40.) 

199 wf-trade under P bench P lag 
. 

When roporiing in his 

Xn 131 30 dated 10th April 1869. the destruction of 16 slaving dhows by 
tt'S A Offieicat^g 

Political Agent. Dr. Kirk, wrote- 

" 
Captain Mcara tells 

me 
that to ̂ c BOutWImost 

eve^ 

that when last year 
only five a lows 1 0 an( 

j t ̂  at so we ]l 
the natives know the 

cruise in the same ports, this }e.ir 
^ 

•' i,^ ^at dhow owners 
told him plainly that he had jealousy with which France protects politely 

showing 

their papers at the 
L 

n 
,ht 

to touch 

them^ 

even 
they bad 

a e.go 

of^slaves, 

po 
_ 

1 1 ven^Joon 

the French flag will be the only 
one in use on 

this coast, giving, as it 
docs, perfect 

protection alike to tbe honest trader and the regular slaver. 

In sendinK 
on 

the paper to the Secretary of State. No. 183, dated 10th June 

X869 the Government of India drew attention to this 

A, June 1869. Nos. 76-78.) 

19S Destruction of Zanzibar craft by British cruisebs -The reports 

f the Mitica 

™-ont 

at Zanzibar, and the Political Resident at Aden throngh- 
1 

the summer 

o! 

1869, abounded in 
repeated 

instances of illegal 
seizures 

and 
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Slave Trade. 

destruction of innocent dhows, which acts caused considerable hardship 
and great irritation among the chiefs and all classes of the population 

on 
the 

coast, seriously checked honest trade, and tended still 
more to drive the 

native vessels to sail under the French flag. 

124. P roclamation of R ao of K utch regabding nis subjects at Z anzibar engaged in the S lave-trade.— In No. 213, dated 1st June 1869, 
the Bombay Government reported that the Rao of Kutch had issued 

a pro clamation addressed to the inhabitants of Kutch generally, but 
more 

parti 
cularly to those trading with Zanzibar, and the Arabian and African coasts, warning them against the penalties incurred by such of them 

as may be 
en gaged in the slave-trade, 

an 
1 saying that their claims and suits should be 

settled by the British Government in the same way as 
if they 

were 
the sub jects of the British Government. 

When this proclamation 
was 

communicated to the Sultan, he at first refused 
to allow the proclamation 

to be enforced, 
or to recognize 

as 
Kutchees under 

British jurisdiction 
any but those who registered their 

names at the British 
agency. 

Dr. Kirk insisted 
on the acceptance of the terms of the proclamation, 

• This matter had already been answered by the an 
^ the Sultan yielded the point and 

Governrrxent of india's letter of ISth July, approving wrote simply acknowledging the 
re- Mr. Churchill s 

policy of allowing the Kutchees under 
• , i i • His Highness's protection the possession of the slaves 

CCipt Ol the proclamation Without 
^ Il0t traffi0 " 

its force, and asking that 

. , . 

the minor questions* regarding 
our 

ju 
risdiction 

over the limited number of Kutchees, who formerly enrolled their 
names as under Arab protection, might be considered. 

Dr. Kirk thought 
a 

great 
success 

had thereby been achieved, remarking— 

. 

While the 
n 

itives of Kutch established in Zanzibar 
were 

under 
our 

sole protection and juriMhction, 
we held the most 

wealthy and enterprising 
among the mercantile community, 

and our 
infiueuce 

was 
in all matters paramount. 

A tie: wards, 
as a 

settlement of certain vexed questions connected with the slave-trade, 
each Kutchee was allowed to elect his protecting State, and His Highness, by holding forward 
tie ra pnvi ege ot 

buying and selling slaves to all who did not register their 
names at the Jknglish agency, secured every new 

arrival from Kutch to himself, and confidently looked 
nrwar to t le time when British influence would be reduced to an 

equality with that of 
ranee ant other foreign 

powers having 
no material stake in the country. During the pas -t 

i«>ur years, registrations at the British Agency have become almost unknown." 

125. L iberated S laves. T heir disposal and expenses.— The officer 
in command of Her Majesty's 

Naval Forces 
on 

the east coast of Africa having 
applied 

to the Secretary 
of State for Foreign Affairs through the Admiralty, 

for information 
as to the condition and distribution of the slaves that had been 

liberated at the Mauritius, the Seychelles, Aden, and Bombay, the Foreign 
Oilice a.sked the India Office for the information. The call 

was 
passed 

on to the ombay Government and the Resident at Aden, and the reply of the latter 
showed that the slaves liberated at Aden 

were a cause of very great embarrass 
ment to the authorities there, and were 

necessarily kept in circumstances which 
mvolved^ 

considerable hardship 
to themselves.— {Political, A, January 1870, 

, 

The Bombay Government also sent a return showing the following facts. 
unng the previous five years, about three thousand slaves had been landed 

an ibciatcd at Aden. Ot this number, 524 had been sent to Bombay, 143 
102 ' 
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Slave Trade. 

were on 
18th October 1869, awaiting transport, 684 had been distributed locally 

for employment by the Harbour Department, the Peninsula and Oriental Company's Service, 
or 

by respectable natives of India resident at Aden, whilst 
about 1,000 had been allowed to search for employment 

or return to their 
own country; 549 slaves had been received at Bombay, during the previous five 

years, inclusive of those despatched from Aden, and out of this number, 
361 had obtained empoyment, 114 had been sent to an 

African school main 
tained at Nassick, and 36 had been sent back to Zanzibar. 

The expenses involved in the transport and maintenance of these slaves during the preceding five years amounted to 
Rupees 1,53,903, 

an 
expenditure 

w 
hich in despatch No. 17, dated 18th January 1870, the Secretary of State 

was 
requested 

to recover 
from the Imperial Treasury. 

The Home Government demurred to one 
item of the account, viz.. 

Rupees 7,141-8-6, expended 
at Nassick prior to the Act of Parliament of 1865, 

which extended the jurisdiction of the Yice-Admiralty Court established at 
Aden in 1861, to vessel's 

name 
and nation unknown, and vessels captured under 

treaties with the Imam of Muscat and Sultan of Zanzibar, and the Chiefs 
of Sohar in Arabia. The Bombay Government stated that the slaves 

on whose 
account the above-mentioned 

sum was 
expended, had been received from Chiefs 

in ihe Persian Gulf, by the British Agent at Shargah from Bassadore in virtue 
of the treaty of 1856. As nothing regarding the treaty 

was 
traceable in the 

Eoreign Office records, the Bombay Government was 
asked for information 

regarding it, and they replied by enclosing 
a copy of the treaty referred to, 

from which it appeared that the Chief of Bahrein and five maritime Arab 
chiefs had in 1856 each concluded 

a 
treaty with ^the British Government," 

by which they bound themselves to seize slaves brought to their territories, and 
to deliver them up to British vessels of war; and further to 

lay 
an 

embargo 

on anv 
vessels which had landed slaves, and await the instructions of the British 

Agent at Bushire regarding them. The enquiry 
was 

made from the Bombay 

Government 
as to the authority 

on 
which the treaty 

was 
concluded, and 

whether it 
was 

reported 
to the Government of India at the time. It 

was 
fur 

ther 
represented by the Bombay Government that there was a 

further itcrn of 
Rupees 50 

on account of five slaves received from the Political Agent, to which 
exception might be taken by the Home Government. Ihe Bombay Go\em 

inent 
replied 

to the reference made to them that the treaty abo^ 
o 

alluded to had 
been concluded under instructions from the Court of Directors, and had not 
been reported 

to the Government of India. XJnder these circumstances the 
Secretary of State 

was 
informed (despatch No. 127) dated 30th August 1871,) 

that the expenditure prior 
to 1865, and also the Rupees 50 had been deducted 

from the claim against the 
Imperial 

Treasury.—J 
8 

' 
0 
' Nos. 183-89 and 323-25; June 1870, iVbs. 136-40 ; March 1871, Nos. oS2-83; 

May 1871, Nos. 391-93; and August 1871, Nos. 28-41.; 

126. A dmiralty instructions to 
N aval O fticers .-—In February 1870, 

the Political Agent, Zanzibar, forwarded 
a copy of the instructions recently 

issued by the Board of Admiralty 
to the Naval officers employed 

in suppressing 
the slave-trade 

on 
the east-coast of Africa with 

a view 
of checking the 

irregularities in dealing with 
captured slaves which had bee 

^ 
^ 

r0 "o ht 
^ 

tlie 
notice of Her 

Majesty's Government.— [Political, A, June 1&/0, Isos. 8/-8 .) 

127. N egotiations for fresh T keatt stopped bt S ultan's 
death.— 

On Mr Churchill's return to Zanzibar in the middle of 1870, he received 
in 

structions from Lord Clarendon to inform the Sultan generally of certain 
103 
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' 

Slave Trade- 

measures 
which the Parliamentary Committee of 1870 had proposed for the suppression of the slave trade, and to report whether the Sultan would 

con sent to enter into 
a new 

treaty for that oh]eci.—{Political, A, November 1870 
Nos. 65-66.) 

Before, however, the negotiations could be completed, Syed Majid died. 

128. 

^ 

D estruction of dhows belonging to S ultan .—The Political A^ent Zanzibar, 
in 

April 1871, reported to the Secretary 
of State for Foreio 

-n 

Affairs' 

that two dhows belonging 
to the Sultan, having 

been used for convevino- 

slaves' 

had been condemned and 
destroyed. 

The Sultan declined to prefer 
anv ap peal 

in 
^ 

the case, and contented himself with declaring that his vessels had been unjustly dealt with 
on 

the ground, Dr. Kirk presumed, that they 
were captured 

in territorial waters, and that the 
owner 

ought 
not to suffer for the acts 

o is 
agent, the Captain. Dr. Kirk solicited the expression of 

an 
opinion 

on the subject by the Secretary 
of State. 

. r 

.; sl 

, 
a 

. 

ve 
1 

tr 

. 

a:de French 
flag.— Dr. Kirk, when reporting in March 1871, 

) 

his h 
a Ting 

adjudicated 
in two cases of slave vessels seized by 

Hei Majesty 
s 

ship Columbine, observed with regard to 
one 

of them. 
The evidence given in the first 

case 
established clearly that the French flao- is used to cover 

slaving transactions/'- A, August 1871, Nos. 112-13.; 

1 30. I ntentions oy S ted B urgash regarding Slave-trade.— After 
PoHticd Agent 

wrote- 
7 ^ Home GoTernrccnt in Jul y ^l, the 

,11 

l" 
So 

, 
me 

, 
ti 
" c 

5?° 11 ; ad reason to think that His Highness might be willine to abolish all slave tiada by dhows between Qmloa and Zanzibar, and to pnt 
oJ> 

one 
of his 

skatnTrs 

for at service. If he could be induced to make Dar Salam, and not Quiloa the port 
on 

that side, 
more than has been asked would be o-ranted in ill 

kn 

P nf 
' 

iT 

• . 

13 0bV,O f' 
0nce 

1 
this traffio eDters inl 

° 

^e 

bands of the Arab Government 

^one 

fPro., Secret, October 1«71, Nos. 325-45.; 100 im W ^ P ro P 08ltlon 111 
person." 
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Slave Trade- 

As to the consequent loss of revenue to Zanzibar, the Committee remarked 
that it had been suggested to compensate the Sultan by releasing him from the payment of the Muscat subsidy, but that it 

now appears that the circum 
stances under which it 

was 
supposed that this release mi'jrht be effected have 

altered. 
(3).—That the Consular establishment should be increased, and the 

expense shared by the Indian and Imperial Governments. 
(4)—That 

"so 
complicated 

are our 
political relations at present with 

the Sultan, and 
so 

difficult will be the task of dealing with him," 
the services should be retained of the Acting Political Agent 
(Dr. Kirk). 
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